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This Annual Report contains forward-looking state-
ments that reflect management’s current views
with respect to certain future events and potential
financial performance. Although Nordea believes
that the expectations reflected in such for-
ward-looking statements are reasonable, no assur-
ance can be given that such expectations will prove
to have been correct. Accordingly, results could dif-
fer materially from those set out in the for-
ward-looking statements as a result of various fac-
tors. Important factors that may cause such a
difference for Nordea include, but are not limited to:
(i) the macroeconomic development, (ii) change in
the competitive climate, (iii) change in the regulato-
ry environment and other government actions and
(iv) change in interest rate levels and foreign
exchange rate levels. This report does not imply
that Nordea has undertaken to revise these for-
ward-looking statements, beyond what is required
by applicable law or applicable stock exchange
regulations if and when circumstances arise that
will lead to changes compared with the date when
these statements were provided.
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THIS IS NORDEA

Who we are

Nordea is a Nordic universal bank with a clear purpose. We help our
customers realise their dreams and aspirations — and have done so for 200
years.

We want to make a real difference for our customers and the communities in
which we operate. When our customers succeed, we feel proud, because we
have succeeded too.

We are the largest bank in the Nordics and have a strong market position
within our four business areas: Personal Banking, Business Banking, Large
Corporates & Institutions and Asset & Wealth Management.

We recognise that we have a responsibility to help our customers and
society shift to a sustainable future. We will support our customers in their
transition, enabling them to make sustainable choices. We will also be an
active owner and drive change through our lending and investment
decisions.

Our purpose

Together, we lead the way, enabling dreams and everyday aspirations
for a greater good.

Our vision

Our vision is to be a strong and personal financial partner.



THIS IS NORDEA

Our customer promise

Everything we do starts with our customers. When they bank with Nordea, we
want them to experience us as easy to deal with, relevant and competent,
anywhere and anytime, personal and digital, and safe and trusted.

Our people and values

Our success depends on highly competent teams with a passion for serving
customers and creating great customer experiences. Our employees are given
equal opportunities to grow and become great at what they do.

A core set of values influences our culture and guides our behaviour:

Collaboration Ownership
For the common good It starts with me
Passion Courage
To serve our customers To do what is right
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CEO LETTER
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CEO LETTER

Dear shareholder,

As a strong and personal financial partner, we want to represent care
and support for our customers — in both good and challenging times
— and enable their dreams and everyday aspirations for a greater good.

The year 2020 was extraordinary for
individuals, businesses and societies.
The COVID-19 pandemic has chal-
lenged us to adapt to new and different
ways of living, working and consuming.
COVID-19 has not only been a health
crisis. It has also had serious societal
and economic consequences, which the
world will need time to fully recover
from.

This exceptional situation has truly
shown our purpose as a bank. Over the
past year, we have done our utmost to
support our customers, keep our
employees safe and maintain business
continuity.

At the beginning of the pandemic we
reacted quickly and offered instal-
ment-free periods on loans. Even
though we had to temporarily close the
branch offices in some of our home
markets, our advanced digital capabili-
ties have enabled us to continuously
support and connect with our custom-
ers. The majority of our customer meet-
ings in 2020 were held online.

| am very happy to see that we made
good progress in 2020. We improved
our performance, delivered on our busi-
ness plan and key priorities, and contin-
ued to progress towards our 2022 tar-
gets. Our business volumes grew and
we gained market shares across the
Nordics.

We improved customer satisfaction
scores and reduced customer com-
plaints by more than 20%. At the same
time, we reduced our costs and
increased operational efficiency. Our
work to build a strong cost culture has
started well and we are determined to
continue on the same track.

Our full-year 2020 operating profit
was EUR 2.96bn and our cost-to-income
ratio improved to 54.8% — our target is
50% in 2022.

Our credit quality has remained
strong throughout the pandemic. Our
realised loan losses have been at low
levels, but we have chosen to have a
prudent approach to loan loss provi-
sions, as the full economic impact of the
pandemic remains uncertain. We have
therefore retained our EUR 650m man-
agement buffer for 2021.

We entered the COVID-19 crisis with
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a robust capital position, which we have
strengthened even further. Our capital
position is among the best in Europe,
with a CET1 ratio of 171%. Our financial
strength means that we are well posi-
tioned to support our customers and
the societies around us — and pay out
dividends.

Dividends are important to our share-
holders and benefit both them and soci-
ety at large. However, we understand
the reasoning behind the exceptional
measures promoted by the European
Central Bank (ECB) for the banking
industry. We have followed the ECB's
recommendations, even though they
might be less relevant for us as a
strongly capitalised bank.

Our capital and dividend policy is
unchanged. We consider dividend pay-
ment to be a matter of timing only. Our
Board has proposed a dividend of EUR
0.39 per share for 2020, in line with our
dividend policy. Including the delayed

We believe that both our employees
and culture are key to our sustainable
value creation. We trust that diversity
and inclusivity contribute to better col-
laboration and engagement, leading to
better decisions and results.

| couldn’t be any prouder of the
efforts of our employees. First of all,
they have done their utmost to support
our customers. They have also imple-
mented new ways of working — and
they have engaged with local communi-
ties, assisting senior citizens in using
digital banking services, guiding young
people in developing financial skills and
supporting start-ups.

| would like to take the opportunity
to thank our dedicated and highly com-
petent employees, who will also ensure
our future success.

It is times like these that require us to
be an even safer and more trusted part-
ner to our customers. We are a strong,
customer-centric and well-capitalised

“We are a strong, customer-centric
and well-capitalised bank, even
in the most turbulent times."”

2019 dividend of EUR 0.40 per share,
this would mean a total payout of EUR
0.79 per share in 2021.

One of the highlights of 2020 was our
updated plan to fully integrate sustain-
ability into our business strategy. The
plan includes updated targets and a
long-term objective to become a net
zero emissions bank by 2050 at the
latest.

We firmly believe that the increasing
demand for sustainability-linked prod-
ucts and services is good for our busi-
ness and for society. We want to make a
difference for a greater good — and for
generations to come.

We will deliver on our targets by
working together with our customers
towards a sustainable future. Successful
implementation of our sustainability
plan requires the entire bank to take an
active role.

bank, even in the most turbulent times.

| believe that 2020 proved that noth-
ing is certain but the unforeseen. In the
months to come we will most likely be
balancing recovery with some setbacks.
The good news is that there are signs
we are heading towards brighter times.

We are well on track and committed
to delivering on our plan and financial
targets. We will continue to focus on our
three key priorities: to create great cus-
tomer experiences, drive income growth
initiatives and optimise operational effi-
ciency. In doing so, we will create sus-
tainable value for our customers, share-
holders and societies as we move
towards 2022 — and beyond.

Best regards,

Frank Vang-Jensen
President and Group CEO

NORDEA



NORDEA IN SOCIETY

Nordea in society

Customers, investors, regulators and policymakers increasingly
expect banks to take responsibility and play their part in addressing

the world's growing social and environmental challenges.

With a view to fulfilling our responsibili-
ty and becoming an even more sustain-
able bank than we are today, we have
developed a long-term plan to fully
integrate sustainability into our busi-
ness strategy. Our focus is on reducing
the negative impact and increasing the
positive impact of our business activi-
ties and internal operations, and setting
sustainability-linked targets and objec-
tives in line with society’s expectations.
The plan, which is the culmination of
intensive work throughout 2020, rests
on four pillars: financial strength, cli-
mate action, social responsibility, and
governance and culture.

Financial strength

We are a financially strong bank: our
business is well diversified, our credit
quality is strong, and we have solid fund-
ing and a robust capital position. Our
financial strength enables us to act on
our responsibility to support our custom-
ers and society, including in tough times.
In fact, it's when times get tough that we
have an especially important role to play.
During the COVID-19 pandemic, we were
quick to offer instalment-free periods to
Nordic retail and corporate customers
who needed help overcoming temporary
liquidity problems.

Managing risks related to environ-
mental, social and governance (ESG)
areas is key to maintaining our financial
strength. In 2020 the materiality assess-
ment for ESG-related risks associated
with financial exposures focused on the

impact of physical and transitional cli-
mate change factors on our corporate
loan portfolio. The assessment conclud-
ed that ESG-related risks are material to
our credit risk profile. We will therefore
manage ESG-related risks in line with
internal rules for all material risk types.

Climate action

Our commitments in relation to climate
change are described in our Position
Statement on Climate Change. In addi-
tion, we have several sector guidelines
and investment policies which address
the issue of climate change and clarify
what we expect from customers and
investee companies in terms of their
commitment to the Paris Agreement.
While we achieve our greatest

positive impact on the climate through
investment and financing, we also work



to minimise the climate impact of our
internal operations. We engage in vari-
ous ways to reduce our carbon emis-
sions from business travel, energy con-
sumption, and physical mail and distri-
bution, among other things. Despite our
active efforts to reduce our carbon foot-
print, we have some emissions that are
difficult to reduce. For these, we buy
carbon offsets to ensure that we are
carbon neutral.

Social responsibility

For us, social responsibility is about
caring — for individuals, businesses and
society. It's about taking sustainability
issues like human rights, labour rights
and equality into consideration across
our entire value chain — empowering
and supporting our customers, invest-
ing responsibly, having a sustainable

NORDEA IN SOCIETY

supply chain and being an inclusive
employer. It's also about engaging with
local communities: we help young peo-
ple across the Nordics to develop finan-
cial skills, assist senior citizens in
accessing digital banking services and
support start-ups through financing
and advice.

Governance and culture

Leveraging the combined strength of
our purpose-led culture and sound
operating model will enable us to both
support the economy in transitioning to
a greener, more sustainable future and
reduce sustainability-related risks.

We are therefore enhancing our
existing governance and risk manage-
ment structures to align with our long-
term plan for integrating sustainability
into our business strategy and meet

regulatory requirements and stakehold-
er expectations. Going forward, our
governance fora will facilitate the forth-
coming integration of sustainability into
our business strategy and oversight,
emphasising the importance of a sus-
tainable business model.

1) For more information about how Nordea works with
sustainability, see the Non-Financial Statement in the
Board of Directors' Report (pages 57-61) and our Sus-
tainability Report 2020 at nordea.com.



PRIORITIES AND FINANCIAL TARGETS

Our priorities and financial targets

Our priorities

Drive income growth Create great customer Optimise operational

initiatives experiences efficiency

Execution and accountability

A strong and personal financial partner

We are committed to delivering on our three key priorities to support our customers and society as a whole. Our priorities
guide us in how we run the bank, helping us to ensure loyal and satisfied customers, improve our financial performance and
become truly competitive.

We are creating a solid and consistent performance culture. We are focused on executing our business plan, and have given
the business areas full accountability. Our aim is to deliver a little bit better every single day. This drives us to be a strong and
personal financial partner for our customers, shareholders and society.

Our financial targets

50% >10%

Cost-to-income ratio in FY22 Return on equity in FY22

We continue to progress towards our 2022 financial targets. Our cost-to-income ratio is improving in line with

our 2022 target of 50%, decreasing to 55% in 2020 from 57% last year. Return on equity for 2020 was 7.1%,
demonstrating good underlying progress towards the target of above 10%. Our financial strength means that we are
well positioned to both support our customers and pay out dividends.

Our capital and dividend policies

Capital policy Dividend policy

150-200bp 60-70%

payout of the net profit for the year to share-
management buffer above the holders'; excess capital intended to be
regulatory CET1 requirement distributed to shareholders through buy-backs

1) For 2020 Nordea proposes a dividend of EUR 0.39 per share.
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NORDEA AS AN INVESTMENT

Nordea as an investment

We are committed to continuously growing income faster than costs

Strong business momentum, driving income growth... ..together with cost discipline, means a sustainable
business

Loans to the public Assets under Income and costs (indexed)

(EURbnN) management (EURbn)

+4% +9% 110
318 354
105
100
304 325
95
%0 e Total income
e Total costs

419 420 419 420 85
q q Q Q Q42019 Q42020

We are operating in structurally attractive, low-risk and digitalised Nordic economies
Solid GDP growth and public finances in all Nordic countries

GDP development (2007—2020) Fiscal balance and gross debt, % of GDP, 2021E
135 | emmw Denmark e Finland Eurozone 135 Denmark P
== Norway Sweden Finland
130 130 Norway ——
125 125 Sweden —
120 \/ 120 France
115 115 Germany
Italy
10 M0 gpain
105 e 105 Eurozone
100 |#”7 N 100 UK
USA
9 95 China
90 90
07z 08 09 10 M 122 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 07 20 -10 24 58 92 126 160
Net lending/borrowing, % of GDP B Government gross debt, % of GDP

Our capital position is the strongest in We are ranked as a digital leader

.the Nordics and among the best Digital customer experience recently recognised for richness of
in Europe features and efficiency of digital journey and contact channels

Significant excess capital provides attractive dividends,
financial flexibility and opportunities to increase returns

Nordea's CET1 capital buffer vs peers'

6.9% Efficient Rich & efficient
— 11 banks of which 1 Nordic
5.8% Nordea
5.3% and 17 other
banks

Average
7 banks

Laggard

11 banks of which 1 Nordic

Nordea Nordic peers average European peers average

Positioning of EURO-58 banks in terms of the richness and/or efficiency of the digital proposition.
(Source: D-Rating 2020)

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 12 NORDEA



NORDEA AS AN INVESTMENT

We are a trusted long-term financial partner with scale
We are a Nordic universal bank with a strong market position

HI1H Credit portfolio Assets under management
~9.2 mllllon per country as at distribution (EUR 354bn as
D ber 2020 tD ber 2020
Household customers ecember at December 2020)
D Denmark D Finland D Inst. sales D Life & pensions

~540'000 D Norway D Sweden D Private banking D Retail

Small & medium-sized companies

~2,350

Large corporates & institutions

We are a leader in sustainable banking
We are fully committed to making the financial sector more sustainable

Q| ] il

Increase in
AuM in sustainability- Growth in green transaction volumes

.O‘a

. e Growth in green
enhanced funds corporate loans for sustainability- mortgages

linked loans

EUR36.3bng EUR1.2bn § EUR 15.5bn

(+265%) (+110%) (+256%)

FY 2020 FY 2020 FY 2020

EUR 207m

(+143%)

FY 2020

We have had lower-than-average loan losses over the business cycle

Generating low credit losses over the business cycle means sustainable and low-risk growth
Track record of strong credit quality with diversified portfolio, de-risked over past ten years

Loan loss ratio including similar net result (bp)

100 European banks average (2008-2020)"

50

55
31 26 26
19 23 21
15 14 15 5
L] B R R B A
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

1) Company data, Deutsche Bank Research.
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Our people

Our purpose establishes a clear link between our daily efforts to
help our customers fulfil their dreams and aspirations and our
commitment to work for a greater good and be a sustainable
part of the societies in which we operate.

Our values are a clear expression of the
culture we want to build, where people
can be passionate about customers, col-
laborate across the organisation, retain
a true sense of ownership in their work
and have the courage to speak up and
challenge each other.

We continue to empower our people
by creating a simpler and flatter organi-
sation. This enables better communica-
tion and faster decision-making, and
helps us to take ownership and be more
adaptable, especially in a work environ-
ment that is increasingly virtual.

Learning organisation

Opportunities for learning and personal
growth are a leading source of motiva-
tion for employees not only to join but
also to remain with Nordea. To further
support employee development, we are
working towards a more modern learn-
ing offering via enhanced digital deliv-
ery channels. The latest learning evalu-
ation data show higher satisfaction
scores for virtual classes compared with
in-person classes.

Our renewed focus on our internal
job market means that talent develop-
ment has become a very important
lever to increase retention and acceler-
ate professional growth. During 2020
we had almost 14,000 individual talent
reviews, and analysis of the insights
gained will form the basis of our 2021
talent strategy.

Future ways of working

The COVID-19 pandemic proved to be a
fast track for Nordea to trial new prac-
tices for flexible work. We will monitor
and assess the long-term impact of
flexible working on well-being, perfor-
mance, culture and productivity.
Remote leadership is becoming
increasingly important in driving perfor-
mance and sustaining engagement.
Early on, we established instructions
and e-learnings for leaders to guide
them on how to manage the COVID-19
situation during the extended period of
remote working. Transparent and fre-
quent communication also contributed
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OUR PEOPLE

Christina Gadeberg
Chief People Officer

to increased engagement levels,
according to our quarterly “People
Pulse"” survey results, with 91% of
respondents “agreeing” or “partially
agreeing” that they had received appro-
priate guidance and support from their
leaders.

We took all these aspects into
account when we started evaluating the
flexible working practices in the fourth
quarter of 2020.

Income development, digitalisation
and automation will most likely continue
to drive a need for adjustments to our
organisation and how we work to help
us reach our financial targets. In cases
where this could lead to certain job
changes, we will play a key role in
securing the right strategic approach for
engaging our people, while respecting
labour market conditions. Together with
the unions, we are committed to treat-
ing our people with respect and care.

Our values

Collaboration * Ownership
Passion * Courage

Number of
employees (FTEs)

28,051

97

Nationalities
across total

workforce

Diversity and inclusion make us better

Our ability to grow sustainably depends
on the people we employ, the environ-
ment we provide and the extent to
which we succeed in achieving diversity
of thought. We aim to attract and retain
talent, regardless of gender, age, eth-
nicity, nationality, cultural affiliation,
sexual orientation, physical ability or
any other aspect.

We work to ensure equal opportuni-
ties for all our people, equal pay for
equal work, and inclusive workplaces
—and we condemn all forms of discrim-
ination and harassment.

We are taking initiatives to raise
awareness and support more diversity
in our succession pipelines.

During 2020 we maintained the gen-
der balance in our overall workforce.
However, we have not yet reached this
gender balance at the top leadership
level.

In 2020 we launched our latest
Employee Resource Group, which will
focus on cross-generational aspects,
since age diversity plays an important
role in improving organisational perfor-
mance and maximising productivity.

49%
51%

Workforce age
distribution

D <30 D30-50 »=50
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BUSINESS AREAS

Business areas

Our four business areas support our relationship strategy for each customer segment.
They are united under one operating model and share the same end-to-end value
chain, which ensures optimal delivery, increases the time spent with customers

and reduces the time required to bring new products and services to market. Each
business area is individually accountable for its income, costs, risks, customer
experience, investment decisions and capital management.

Personal Banking Business Banking La;(s:zs(;ﬁruﬂ?;:;es A“;sae:agé\e”::rlltth

* Serves Nordic house-  Serves Nordic small e Serves large corpo- e Serves Nordic high net
hold customers and medium-sized rate and institutional worth customers and

« Offers full range of corporate customers customers institutional investors
financial services « Offers financial e Offers range of financ- e Offers full range of
through combination of solutions, digital ing, payment, invest- asset management and
physical and digital services, and relevant ment banking and cap- life and pensions prod-
channels and competent advice ital markets services ucts and services to all

« Strong digital « Strong digital « Top ranked in large business areas
capabilities and capabilities and corporate customer ¢ Leading market
offering offering satisfaction position

 Leading market  Leading market
position position

Business areas and Group Functions contribution, 2020

Operating income Operating profit FTEs Economic capital
1%

1%

10% 5%

D Personal Banking D Business Banking b Large Corporates & Institutions D Asset & Wealth Management » Group Functions D Group Business Support
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Personal Banking

In Personal Banking we strive to deliver great customer

experiences to our household customers. We offer a full range
of financial services and products through a combination of
physical and digital channels, providing easy and convenient

everyday banking, as well as sound advice.

Business development

Throughout the year we saw strong
business momentum in mortgages,
resulting in higher market shares in all
four Nordic countries compared with
last year. We also launched several digi-
tal services to improve customer experi-
ence. For example, we launched a digi-
tal mortgage loan promise in Denmark
and Norway. In Denmark, this has led to
an initial reduction of more than 50% in
the loan process handling time when
customers use our digital solutions. Our
customers say they find the new solu-
tion intuitive, easy to use and
trustworthy.

We improved our savings advisory
experience to make it easier for our cus-
tomers to start saving, both through
in-person advisory meetings and
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through the mobile bank app. The
improvements have been well received
by customers, resulting in a significant
increase in the number of sessions held
with our digital advisor, Nora (+120%
compared with 2019).

In consumer finance we continued to
focus on strengthening our digital capa-
bilities. One of our key achievements
was to make the consumer loan appli-
cation process smoother for customers
through increased automation. During
the period of turbulence related to the
COVID-19 pandemic, we carefully and
continuously reviewed our lending
approach to ensure that we provided
the best possible support to our cus-
tomers and maintained our position as
a responsible lender.

18

Sara Mella
Head of Personal Banking

With the new mobile bank app live in
all countries, we continued to expand
our common digital platforms by imple-
menting the new netbank in Finland
and Sweden. We launched an account
aggregation service in our mobile app
in Denmark, Norway and Sweden,
enabling customers to get an overview
of all their accounts, including those
with other banks. The service, which
was launched in partnership with the
fintech Tink, will go live in Finland in the
first quarter of 2021. We also upgraded
our chatbot, Nova, to actively perform
certain tasks on behalf of customers in
Denmark, Finland and Sweden.

Customer satisfaction increased in all
countries compared with 2019.

NORDEA



Results

Total income decreased by 2% in local
currencies compared with last year due
to lower payment and card fee income,
which was attributable to the impact of
COVID-19, and high conversion activity
in the Danish mortgage market in 2019.
However, we were able to partly miti-
gate the negative impact with a record-
strong 6% annual growth in mortgage
volumes.

Net interest income increased by 1%
in local currencies across all countries,
driven by the mortgage volume growth
and increased deposit margins in Swe-
den. This development was somewhat
offset by lower deposit margins in Fin-
land and Norway resulting from rate
changes. Furthermore, consumer lend-
ing volumes were negatively affected
by the pandemic.

Net fee and commission income
decreased by 6% in local currencies due
to lower payment and card fee income
in 2020 across all countries, as well as
the high mortgage conversion activity
in Denmark during 2019. Our underlying

BUSINESS AREAS | PERSONAL BANKING

lending fee business development was
strong throughout the year, and savings
income reached the same level as last
year despite the market turbulence
caused by the pandemic.

Net result from items at fair value
decreased by 29% in local currencies
compared with last year, as 2019 includ-
ed high positive revaluations booked in
Denmark.

Total expenses decreased by 8% in
local currencies compared with last
year due to lower activity levels in gen-
eral following the pandemic.

Net loan losses and similar net result
increased significantly compared with
last year due to the additional manage-
ment judgement allowances booked in
the second quarter. As a result, operat-
ing profit decreased by 10% compared
with last year.

To support our household customers,
we granted COVID-19-related instal-
ment-free periods on loans for approxi-
mately 90,000 customers, equivalent to
a total loan amount of EUR 13bn.

Strategic focus areas and value drivers

In Personal Banking our aim is to create
great customer experiences and fulfil all
customer banking needs. In particular,
we focus on savings and mortgage
advice. We leverage our Nordic scale
and local market adaptability, driving
cost efficiency and digital development.

Our strategy focuses on building
strong and personal relationships with
our customers, and establishing our-
selves as a safe and trusted partner that
truly cares for their financial well-being.
We will ensure a caring and personal
approach in all interactions, both digital
and in-person, and intensify our
engagement with customers through
the effective use of digital channels.

We are also focusing on creating a
great omnichannel experience for our
customers, where they can obtain the
same high-quality advice through mul-
tiple channels and perform an increas-
ing number of tasks digitally. We want
customers to have a consistent experi-
ence of us, regardless of the channel
they use.
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Sustainability offering

We continue to see an increase in cus-
tomers who wish to save in a sustain-
able way. We also see more and more
customers taking advantage of our
green loan offerings, which include
green mortgages, green car loans and
energy renovation loans. Sales of sus-
tainability-enhanced funds were up by
around 300% and green mortgages
were up by around 140% compared
with last year.

We will continue to add new products
to our sustainability offering. We are also
entering into new partnerships to help
our customers to be more sustainable.
Most recently, we teamed up with a heat-
ing pump company to help customers in
Denmark make more sustainable choices
and increase the value of their homes by
replacing boilers running on fossil fuels
with energy-efficient heating pumps.

19

Our achievements
in 2020

» Optimising operational efficiency
by reducing cost-to-income ratio
by 3 percentage points to 55%
Driving income growth through
6% annual growth in mortgage
volumes — highest growth rate
since 2011
Creating great customer experi-
ences, resulting in increased cus-
tomer satisfaction in all countries

Total income: EUR 3,319m
Costs: EUR -1,815m
Operating profit: EUR 1,233m
Cost-to-income ratio: 55%

Sales of sustainability
-enhanced funds

+~300%

in 2020

2021 priorities

Optimise operational efficiency

¢ Leverage digital opportunities to
increase cost efficiency

¢ |nstil cost-conscious mindset
across business area

Drive income growth initiatives

¢ Continue to increase mortgage
volumes through speed and
availability
Accelerate savings income
through targeted customer
dialogues and effective use
of digital channels
Grow consumer finance by
focusing on loans and credit
cards, in particular through
digital channels

Create great customer
experiences

e Strengthen customer relation-
ships through care and focus on
financial well-being
Leverage best of digital techno-
logies and our people to create
great customer experiences
Engage and empower employees

Target 2022

Cost-to-income ratio

~50%

NORDEA



Business Banking

In Business Banking we offer banking and advisory products and
services to our small and medium-sized corporate customers.
Business Banking also includes Transaction Banking, which
provides payment and transaction services, and Nordea Finance,
which provides asset-based lending and receivables finance.

Business development

In 2020 we continued to grow lending
and deposit volumes, which were up
8% and 20% respectively compared
with last year. We saw strong momen-
tum in Norway and Sweden due to
enhanced engagement with new and
existing customers.

We onboarded more customers to
our digital solutions, further rolling out
our enhanced netbank for corporate
customers, Nordea Business. More than
240,000 customers in Finland and Swe-
den are now able to use the enhanced
service, which we also plan to expand
to Denmark and Norway. Moreover, we
now offer a mobile version of our
enhanced netbank to customers in Den-
mark and Finland and the majority of
customers in Sweden.

In April Nordea Startup & Growth
arranged a hackathon together with
one of Sweden'’s leading tech news
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sites, Breakit. More than 40 start-ups
competed to come up with the best
solution to help the elderly make use of
digital solutions to overcome
COVID-19-related isolation.

We also continued to develop our
Digital Dashboard solution for corporate
customers, which supports them in cash
planning and provides overviews of
transactions and upcoming payments.
The platform currently has 20,000 users
across the Nordics.

In the second quarter we started pro-
viding data insights for the greater good
of societies through the launch of the
Corona Barometer, a weekly report ana-
lysing the economic impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on different sec-
tors, based on card transaction statis-
tics. The Barometer is the first time we
have utilised product statistics to analyse
macroeconomic trends for markets and
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Nina Arkilahti
Head of Business Banking

governments on a Nordic level. The
news was well received by media, gov-
ernments and markets, and was cov-
ered by 134 national media publications,
reaching over four million people.

Customer satisfaction improved
across all four home markets compared
with 2019. Improving customer experi-
ence and satisfaction in Business Bank-
ing continues to be one of our key focus
areas.

We finalised the acquisition of SG
Finans in October and rebranded the
company Nordea Finance Equipment
(NFE). The integration of NFE is running
according to plan. The acquisition sup-
ports our Group strategy to focus on
core business in the Nordic market. In
particular, it will increase our competi-
tiveness in the equipment and receiv-
ables finance market.

NORDEA



Results

Total income increased by 4% in local
currencies compared with last year due
to good business momentum and high
lending volume growth.

Net interest income increased by 6%
in local currencies, mainly due to higher
lending and deposit volumes. Lending vol-
umes increased by 8% in local currencies,
driven by strong growth in Norway and
Sweden and the consolidation of NFE.

Net fee and commission income was
unchanged in local currencies com-
pared with 2019, as higher lending fee
income and high equity market activity
were offset by lower payment and card
fee income and lower mortgage refi-
nancing activity. Corporate card com-
missions in particular were negatively
impacted by lower levels of economic
activity related to the COVID-19
pandemic.

Net result from items at fair value
decreased by 2% compared with 2019
due to low market product activity
during the first wave of COVID-19 and
lower income from interest rate prod-
ucts, which was partly offset by
increased income from FX products.

Total expenses decreased by 2% in
local currencies compared with last
year, reflecting our continued drive for
cost efficiency along the value chain, as

BUSINESS AREAS | BUSINESS BANKING

well as lower travel and representation
costs due to the pandemic.

Credit quality remained strong
thanks to our well-diversified portfolio
and limited exposure to vulnerable sec-
tors. Net loan losses and similar net
result totalled EUR 316m (34bp) and
was driven by the management judge-
ment buffer related to COVID-19. Oper-
ating profit amounted to EUR 894m, a
decrease of 4% compared with 2019.

Return on capital at risk (ROCAR)
decreased from 11% to 10% for the full
year, driven by loan loss provisions,
which were partly offset by higher
income, lower costs and lower econom-
ic capital.

To support our corporate customers,
we granted COVID-19-related instal-
ment-free periods on loans, which
totalled EUR 6bn. Approximately 9,000
customers benefited from this measure.
The demand for payment holidays
decreased throughout the year and we
have now resumed our normal credit
process for customers needing an
instalment-free period or other relaxed
terms. So far, the vast majority of cus-
tomers have returned to normal amorti-
sation schedules following the expiry of
their payment holiday.

Strategic focus areas and value drivers

In Business Banking our aim is to be the
leading bank for businesses and entre-
preneurs in the Nordics, while achieving
a cost-to-income ratio of around 45%
by 2022.

Our strategy focuses on protecting
and developing our customer relation-
ships, developing digital and self-servic-
ing options for our corporate customers,
and increasing operational efficiency by
simplifying and improving key processes.

We aim to create great customer
experiences when interacting with our
customers. In particular, we want our
customers to feel valued and appreciat-
ed by our advisers, who understand
their business and can provide access to
a wide variety of specialists across the
bank. We are therefore working on free-
ing up more time for our advisers to
spend with customers by simplifying
and improving our “know your custom-
er” (KYC) and credit processes.

Freeing up time will also support us
in further improving our financial per-
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formance, as it will enable our staff to
be more proactive and carry out more
targeted customer acquisitions and
cross-selling.

Another key priority is to continue
developing our digital solutions and
self-servicing functionalities to enable
simple and easy daily banking for our
customers. This will improve our cus-
tomer experience, digital offering and
cost to serve.

Sustainability offering

In Business Banking we support cus-
tomers seeking sustainable options by
offering and raising awareness about
sustainable financing and investment
opportunities, for example green car
leasing, green corporate loans and sus-
tainability-enhanced investment prod-
ucts. In 2021 we will further enhance
the focus on environmental, social and
governance (ESG) guidance and devel-
op ESG capabilities to meet customers’
expectations.
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Our achievements
in 2020

e Optimising operational efficiency
by reducing cost-to-income ratio
by 3 percentage points to 47%
Driving income growth through
integration of Nordea Finance
Equipement (NFE)

Creating great customer experi-
ences by launching Nordea Busi-
ness Mobile in Denmark, Finland
and Sweden

Total income: EUR 2,288m
Costs: EUR -1,078m
Cost-to-income ratio: 47%
Operating profit: EUR 894m
ROCAR: 10%

Green lending

+80%

in 2020

2021 priorities

Optimise operational efficiency

¢ Improve “know your customer”
(KYC) processes
¢ Simplify credit processes

Drive income growth initiatives

* Increase profitability through
targeted customer acquisitions
Free up time for further
cross-selling and business
selection

Create great customer
experiences

¢ Continue to provide competent
advice, both digitally and in
person
Enhance use of self-servicing
options to enable easy daily
banking
Continue roll-out of digital solu-
tions and front ends

Target 2022

Cost-to-income ratio

~45%

NORDEA



Large Corporates & Institutions

In Large Corporates & Institutions (LC&I) we provide financial
solutions to our large Nordic corporate and institutional
customers. LC&l also services a broad range of Nordea
customers through our Markets, Investment Banking and
International Division.

Business development

In 2020 we achieved a clear improve-
ment in return on capital at risk
(ROCAR), from 4% to 7%, through high-
er income, lower costs and reduced
capital.

The high demand for lending facili-
ties at the height of the COVID-19 crisis
gradually returned to normal levels
during the second half of 2020. Lending
volumes excluding repurchase agree-
ments decreased by 8% and lending
margins increased slightly compared
with 2019, in line with our strategy to
improve profitability.

We saw high levels of customer
activity overall throughout the year. In
Debt Capital Markets this was reflected
across investment-grade and high-yield
segments. For Nordic equity capital
markets and mergers and acquisitions,
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an eventful year resulted in all-time-
high Investment Banking revenues and
the receipt of Euromoney’s award for
Best Investment Bank in Finland. Signif-
icant transactions with Nordea's
involvement included rights issues in
Finnair, the initial public offering of Hus-
Compagniet, and the merger of Cargo-
tec and Konecranes, among many
others.

Customer satisfaction remained high
during the intense business reposition-
ing. In the 2020 Prospera customer sat-
isfaction survey we were awarded #1
positions in Corporate Banking Den-
mark (third year in a row), Debt Capital
Markets Investment Grade Issuers in
the Nordics, Finland and Sweden, and
Debt Capital Markets High Yield Issuers
in Sweden.

Martin Persson
Head of Large Corporates
& Institutions

We increased our focus on envi-
ronenmental, social and governance
(ESG) areas and continue to be a lead-
ing platform within sustainable advisory
services.

In 2020 we were the top arranger of
Nordic corporate sustainable bonds,
with a market share of 19%, and sus-
tainability-linked financing increased
significantly compared with 2019.

Nordea Markets saw increased cus-
tomer activity and improved pricing lev-
els during the pandemic, and main-
tained solid risk management through-
out the year. Leveraging our size and
diversification, we generated higher
aggregated risk management income
compared with 2019, most notably in
the FX, rates and equity product
franchises.

NORDEA
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Results

Total income was EUR 1,790m, a 13%
increase compared with 2019, mainly
driven by high levels of business
activity.

Net interest income amounted to
EUR 877m, up 3% compared with last
year. Lending volumes excluding repur-
chase agreements decreased by 8%, in
line with our strategy.

Net fee and commission income
increased by 3% to EUR 446m.

Net result from items at fair value
amounted to EUR 467m, a 58% increase
compared with last year, mainly due to
continuous solid risk management
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic.

Total expenses were EUR 841m,
down 10% compared with 2019, driven
by strict cost control: 2020 saw a 16%
reduction in staff and significantly lower
costs related to travel and marketing.

Operating profit amounted to EUR
681m, a 64% increase compared with
last year, due to higher income and
lower costs.

Economic capital continued to
decrease, standing at EUR 6,305m, a
15% reduction compared with last year.
The development was driven by lend-
ing-related efficiencies, a gradual
reduction in unused commitments,
reduced inventories and further nor-
malised financial markets. Regulatory
changes to the treatment of software
assets also contributed to the reduction.

ROCAR increased from 4% in 2019 to
7% in 2020, driven by higher income,
lower costs and reduced capital, despite
having been significantly impacted by
the COVID-19-related loan loss provi-
sions booked in the first and second
quarters.

Strategic focus areas and value drivers

In LC&I our aim is to create the leading
large corporate and institutional fran-
chise in the Nordics, significantly
enhancing our current return profile,
while positively contributing to the soci-
eties we operate in.

Our strategic direction is to create a
more focused and more profitable busi-
ness area, with reduced volatility of
income and capital, and a ROCAR of
more than 10% by 2022. This plan rests
on four main pillars: reduce low-return
assets, streamline the Markets business
model, invest in ESG and LC&Ix (our
digital incubator), and optimise the
international footprint.

To further reduce our low-return
assets, we are continuously refining our
customer strategies, focusing on capi-
tal-light ancillary income and prioritis-
ing return requirements. In Markets we
are redirecting the focus to the profit-
able core while continuing to reduce
costs and capital through customer,
product and geographical
prioritisations.

Increasing customer ESG engage-
ment and meeting regulatory ESG
demands are key to further developing
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our leading sustainable finance plat-
form. LC&Ix will continue to develop
and scale AutoFX 1Q, a new digital FX
service for small and medium-sized
enterprises.

We are optimising our international
footprint by preserving our presence
where our core Nordic customers need
it the most. Our operations have been
terminated in Frankfurt and we will
continue to wind down our Singapore
operations and our Nordic desk in Rus-
sia, with minimal disturbance to existing
services.

Furthermore, our ambitious diversity
and inclusion agenda, together with
skills development and new ways of
working, will be essential to our contin-
ued repositioning of the business.

Sustainability offering

We have a strong sustainability focus
and hold the lead league table position
for Nordic corporate sustainable bonds
in 2020. We will continue to further
develop our sustainability offering for
customers, focusing on ESG research
and green loans.
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Our achievements
in 2020

e Optimising operational efficiency
by reducing costs and economic
capital by EUR 90m and EUR
1,113m, respectively
Driving income growth by main-
taining #1 league table positions
for Nordic corporate sustainable

bonds and syndicated loans
Creating great customer experi-
ences, as evidenced by top rank-
ing for large corporate customer
satisfaction in Prospera survey

Total income: EUR 1,790m
Costs: EUR -841m
Cost-to-income ratio: 47%
Operating profit: EUR 681m
ROCAR: 7%

Green bond volumes

+61%

in 2020

2021 priorities

Optimise operational efficiency

e Reduce low-return assets

e Streamline Markets business
model

e Optimise international footprint

Drive income growth initiatives

¢ Invest in ESG advisory services
and further develop sustainable
finance platform

¢ Develop new digital FX services
for SMEs in Nordic region

Create great customer
experiences

Defend position as leading Nor-
dic large corporate customer
franchise

Increase customer satisfaction
Continue to focus on employee
well-being and engagement,
and talent management

Target 2022
ROCAR

>10%

NORDEA



ASSET &\ Azt H I ANAGEM ZNT

Asset & Wealth Management

In Asset & Wealth Management we offer an extensive range of
award-winning savings products through internal and partners’
distribution channels, and provide financial advice to high net

worth customers and institutional investors.

Business development

In 2020 our customers entrusted us with
record-high assets under management
(AuM), which exceeded EUR 350bn
during the year. End-of-year AuM stood
at EUR 353.8bn, an annual increase of
EUR 29.1bn.

Customer investment appetite
returned during a year that was heavily
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.
While investment markets experienced
a downturn following the outbreak of
the virus in the first quarter, a sharp
recovery saw the rest of 2020 character-
ised by strong performance and a very
strong flow of new investments.

Proactive customer service was at
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the top of the agenda in Private Bank-
ing. COVID-19-related uncertainties and
market volatility called for even stron-
ger ties between customers and advis-
ers. Private Banking customer satisfac-
tion remained high in all markets, and in
November we were recognised as the
Best Private Bank in Denmark, Finland,
Norway and Sweden by Global Finance.
Institutional clients and third-party
distributors of Nordea funds increased
the number of mandates awarded to
Asset Management. In particular,
requests for responsible and sustain-
ability-enhanced investment solutions
grew throughout 2020. Our leading
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Snorre Storset
Head of Asset & Wealth
Management

position within responsible investments
was confirmed when Asset Manage-
ment was announced winner of the ESG
engagement initiative of the year 2020
by Environmental Finance.

Life & Pensions continued to grow
business throughout 2020, focusing in
particular on growing occupational
pension business. As part of the growth
strategy, Life & Pensions Norway
acquired the pension portfolios of Fren-
de Livsforsikring AS. The transaction
included a long-term distribution agree-
ment whereby customers of the Norwe-
gian savings banks that own Frende will
be offered Nordea pension products.

NORDEA



Results

Total income amounted to EUR 982m,
on a par with 2019. Net interest income
was EUR 67m, up 26% compared with
last year, mainly driven by a 14%
increase in lending volumes in Private
Banking.

Net fee and commission income was
EUR 810m, up 3% compared with last
year, reflecting the increase in AuM. Net
result from items at fair value was EUR
95m, a year-on-year decrease of 4%,
due to the divestement of Velliv and
lower return on own funds in Life &
Pensions.

Total expenses decreased by 9%,
year on year, mainly due to structural
changes in Asset & Wealth Manage-
ment and reduced travel.

Net loan losses and similar net result
amounted to EUR 3m, compared with
EUR -8m in 2019.

Operating profit was EUR 472m, up
10% compared with 2019. The cost-to-
income ratio was 52%, 5 percentage
points lower than last year.

Wealth Management

Total income was EUR 570m, a year-on-
year increase of 1%. Total expenses
were down 1% compared with last year
and operating profit amounted to EUR
253m, down EUR 6m compared with
2019.

AuM in Private Banking stood at EUR
100.8bn, up 10% compared with the end
of 2019. The client base increased by 8%
to 99,406, compared with 91,873 at the
end of last year. The increase was a

BUSINESS AREAS | ASSET & WEALTH MANAGEMENT

result of improved sales capacity and a
focus on client acquisition, especially
across the growth markets in Norway
and Sweden.

In Life & Pensions AuM amounted to
EUR 53.2bn, up 9% compared with the
end of last year. Life & Pensions' perfor-
mance resulted in a return on equity of
20%, broadly unchanged from 2019.

Life & Pensions’ gross written premi-
um (GWP) reached EUR 5.7bn, on a par
with 2019. Market return and risk prod-
ucts accounted for 99% of the total
GWP, unchanged from last year, while
market return products’ share of total
AuM remained stable at 81%.

Asset Management

Asset Management income amounted
to EUR 405m, down 1% compared with
2019. Total expenses were up 2% com-
pared with last year, primarily due to an
increase in the number of employees.

Operating profit was EUR 238m,
down 2% compared with last year. The
cost-to-income ratio was 41%, 1 per-
centage point higher than last year.

AuM in Asset Management amount-
ed to EUR 253.8bn, up 8% or EUR
18.7bn compared with the end of 2019.
Improved business momentum in our
internal channels generated net flows
of EUR 3.3bn, while EUR 5.9bn was
delivered by institutional and third-par-
ty fund distribution channels.

Our investment performance remains
strong, with 75% of composites provid-
ing excess return on a three-year basis.

Strategic focus areas and value drivers

In Asset & Wealth Management our aim
is to be the leading wealth manager in
each Nordic market and a leading Euro-
pean asset manager, with global reach
and capabilities.

We have a clear growth strategy and
plan for improved productivity, which
involve leveraging our strong product
and distribution platform to drive
growth and positive net flows.

We focus on prudent resource man-
agement and prioritisation by balancing
new investments with efficiency gains
and allocating resources to where the
most value is created.

Sustainability offering

In Private Banking 55% of our clients
stated a preference for their portfolios
to be focused on our sustainability
offering in 2020, an increase of 11 per-
centage points compared with 2019. In
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response, we are expanding our sus-
tainable choice offerings, providing sus-
tainable investment publications and
developing webinars on sustainable
finance topics.

In Asset Management we expanded
our comprehensive range of sustainability-
enhanced investment products, which
accounted for around 29% of AuM. We
saw continued significant inflow into our
climate and environment equity strategy
and, together with 29 other leading asset
managers, we founded a global initiative
to support the goal of net zero green-
house gas emissions by 2050 at the latest.

In Life & Pensions sustainability contin-
ues to be a key priority. We are committed
to transitioning Life & Pensions’ invest-
ment portfolios to net zero emissions by
no later than 2050. Interim targets for
2025 are being developed and will be
communicated in the first quarter of 2021.

25

Our achievements
in 2020

e Optimising operational efficiency
by reducing cost-to-income ratio
by 5 percentage points to 52%
Driving income growth by swiftly
recovering AuM following dis-
ruptions caused by COVID-19
Creating great customer experi-
ences, resulting in highest quar-
terly net inflow in four years

Total income: EUR 982m
Costs: EUR -507m

AuM: EUR 354bn

Net flows: EUR 13.6bn
Cost-to-income ratio: 52%
Operating profit: EUR 472m
ROCAR: 23%

AuM in sustainability
-enhanced investment
products

EUR 73.7bn

in 2020

2021 priorities

Optimise operational efficiency

¢ Leverage internal channels and
strengthen product offering
Grow digital presence and
simplify client journey across
channels

Drive income growth initiatives

¢ Increase and deepen distribution
reach by expanding market pres-
ence and developing new
INEGS
Maintain strong investment per-
formance through appropriate
and suitable asset selection

Create great customer

experiences

e Become a leading and trans-
parent ESG provider

e Expand Life & Pensions'
protection product range

Target 2022

Cost-to-income ratio

<50%

NORDEA



GROUP FUNCTIONS

Group Functions

Group Business Support (GBS), role and responsibilities

GBS provides the business areas with the services, data and technology infrastructure needed for Nordea to
be a strong and personal financial partner. It also provides the operational backbone for Group's three
largest processes: lending, credit and anti-money laundering operations. GBS drives the optimisation of
Nordea's operational efficiency, letting the business areas focus on what they do best: serving our customers
and driving income growth initiatives.

Erik Ekman

Head of Group

Business Support

Chief of Staff Office (CoSO0), role and responsibilities

CoSO0 supports the organisation in delivering on Group-wide priorities by providing advice and offering
services in areas of common interest. CoSO enables sustainable value creation for the Group by coordinating
and leading sustainable banking activities, ensuring proper internal governance, supporting on strategy-re-
lated topics and managing mergers and acquisitions.

Johan Ekwall

Chief of Staff
Group Risk and Compliance (GRC), role and responsibilities
GRC represents Nordea’'s independent second line of defence function. It oversees the implementation of the
Group's financial and non-financial risk policies, and monitors and controls the risk management framework,
including the compliance risk framework. GRC thus oversees the identification, assessment, monitoring,
management and reporting of key risks that Nordea is or could be exposed to.
Matthew Elderfield
Chief Risk Officer

Group People (GP), role and responsibilities

GP supports the employee lifecycle across the Group via dedicated services, including recruitment,
onboarding, performance management, remuneration, professional development and off-boarding.
Together with the business areas and other Group Functions, GP drives the Group's strategic agenda
with respect to workforce planning, organisational setup and employee development.

Christina Gadeberg
Chief People Officer

Group Internal Audit (GIA), role and responsibilities

GlAis Nordea's independent third line of defence function, mandated by Nordea's Board to support the
Board and Group Leadership Team in protecting the assets, reputation and sustainability of the Nordea
Group. GIA helps Nordea accomplish its objectives by evaluating and improving the effectiveness and
efficiency of its governance, risk management, and control processes, applying a systematic and
disciplined approach. The Group Chief Audit Executive reports functionally to the Board and its Audit

James Graham Committee and administratively to the Group CEO.

Chief Audit Executive

Group Legal (GL), role and responsibilities

GL is responsible for providing effective and high-quality legal advice within the Nordea Group, covering
banking, business, contracts, mergers and acquisitions, litigation and many other legal areas that are
relevant for Nordea. In addition, GL is responsible for corporate governance and regulatory manage-
ment, including reporting to and interacting with authorities. GL is a strategic adviser and business

partner, engaging with professionalism and integrity in all areas where Nordea operates.
Jussi Koskinen
Chief Legal Officer

Group Brand, Communication and Marketing (GBCM), role and responsibilities

GBCM's overall ambition is to grow the Group's brand and reputation, and increase its engagement,

to make people passionate about Nordea. GBCM protects and develops the Nordea brand and is
responsible for marketing activities across the Group, as well as all mass market communication and
paid media. GBCM sets the direction on communication matters by providing advice and content in line
with Group key priorities to both internal and external stakeholders.

Ulrika Romantschuk
Head of Brand, Communication
and Marketing

Group Finance (GF), role and responsibilities

GF drives Group-wide financial performance management, financial reporting and planning, financial and
business control, procurement services and analysis to meet business needs and regulatory requirements.
Moreover, GF manages Nordea's capital, liquidity, funding and market risks, ensuring regulatory compliance
while supporting the business areas’ ability to serve customers well. GF ensures a fair reflection of Nordea’s
fundamentals by providing transparent and relevant communication to the investor community.

lan Smith
Chief Financial Officer
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Financial review 2020

Key figures and ratios

* Total operating income EUR 8,466m (0%,
in local currencies 1%)

¢ Total operating expenses EUR 4,643m (-5%,
in local currencies -4%)

¢ Operating profit EUR 2,963m (-12%, in local
currencies -11%)

¢ Net loan loss ratio, amortised costs 35bp (22bp last year)

¢ Return on equity (ROE) 7.1% (last year 8.2%)

¢ Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital ratio 171%
(last year 16.3%)

¢ Assets under management (AuM) up 9% to EUR 353.8bn

¢ Proposed dividend authorisation EUR 0.72 per share, which
includes a residual amount of EUR 0.33 from the 2020 AGM
dividend mandate (dividend authorisation last year EUR
0.40 per share and payout of EUR 0.07 per share on 1
March 2021 at the earliest)

Results summary 2020

Total operating income in 2020 was up 1% in local currencies
(unchanged in EUR) compared with 2019, excluding items
affecting comparability. Total expenses were EUR 4,643m, a
decrease of 4% in local currencies (down 5% in EUR) excluding
items affecting comparability, in line with guidance. Net loan
losses increased from last year to a level of 35 bp of loans (22
bp in 2019). Operating profit was down 11% in local currencies
(down 12% in EUR) excluding items affecting comparability.

Income

Net interest income was up 7% in 2020 compared to 2019 in
local currencies, driven by strong mortgage growth through-
out the year. Net fee and commission income decreased by
1% in local currencies (2% in EUR) due to lower activity main-
ly in payments and cards following COVID-19. Savings-related
net fee and commission income recovered during the second
half of the year as markets stabilised and our AuM reached
record levels. Trading income supported 2020 compared with
2019 but total net items at fair value decreased by 14% in
local currencies.

Expenses

Total operating expenses were down 4% in local currencies
(down 5% in EUR) compared to 2019 excluding items affect-
ing comparability, in line with our guidance. Staff costs were
down 1% in local currencies (2% in EUR), excluding items
affecting comparability. Other expenses were down 11% in
local currencies (12% in EUR), excluding items affecting com-
parability. Depreciation was up 4% in local currencies (2% in
EUR), excluding items affecting comparability.

Net loan losses and similar net result

Net loan losses for 2020 were EUR 908m (EUR 536m), corre-
sponding to an annual net loan loss ratio of 35bp for amor-
tised cost. Including similar net result gains of EUR 48m, they
amounted to EUR 860m, corresponding to 26bp (16bp). EUR
443m was due to increased management judgements mainly
to cover for the uncertainty on future losses related to COVID-
19. The individual provisions were driven by Oil, Gas and Off-
shore as well as Maritime mainly due to changed collateral
values. There were also large net loan losses for consumer
lending, but this was mainly related to the management
judgements decided during the year. Net loan losses and sim-
ilar net result for 2020 was on level with the 5-year average
prior to the COVID-19 crisis.

Taxes
The effective tax rate in 2020 was 23.6% compared with 27%
last year.
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Net profit and return on equity (RoE)
Net profit decreased by 9% in local currencies (9% in EUR) to
EUR 2,265m.

Return on equity (RoE) was 7.1% (last year 8.2%) excluding
items affecting comparability.

Financial structure
Total assets decreased by EUR 2.7bn to EUR 552.2bn in 2020.
Total liabilities decreased by EUR 4.9bn to EUR 518.4bn. All
balance sheet items in foreign currencies are translated into
euro at the year-end rates when consolidated into the Nordea
Group. See Note G1 for more information on accounting poli-
cies and section 30 therein for the cross-currency rates used.
The euro strengthened against the Norwegian krone and
weakened against the Swedish krona in 2020. The effect of
changes in currency exchange rates amounted to a total
decrease in the Group's assets of EUR 4bn and liabilities
decreased by EUR 4bn.

Loans
Total lending decreased by EUR 4.8bn or 1%.

Securities
Investments in interest-bearing securities and shares
decreased by EUR 4.0bn or 5%.

Deposits and borrowings

Deposits and borrowings increased by EUR 6.3bn or 3%. Total
debt securities in issue as per the end of 2020 amounted to
EUR 174.3bn.

Life insurance activities
Liabilities to policyholders decreased by EUR 1.1bn or 6%.

Derivatives

The balance sheet item “Derivatives” reflects the net present
value of derivative contracts split into positive and negative
fair values. The positive market value of derivatives increased
from EUR 39bn to EUR 45bn and negative market values
increased from EUR 42bn to EUR 47bn. For more information,
see Notes G1 and G19.

Capital position
The CET1 capital ratio was 171% at the end of 2020, up from
16.3% last year while the nominal CET1 capital was EUR 26.6bn
(EUR 24.4bn last year). The Group's total capital ratio was 20.5%
and total own funds were EUR 31.7bn at the end of 2020.

A description of the capital position is available under Cap-
ital management on pages 38-41 and in the Capital and Risk
Management Report at www.nordea.com.

Credit portfolio

Loans to the public excluding reverse repurchase agreements
increased by 4% in local currencies (an increase of 4% in
EUR) and amounted to EUR 317.6bn. The share of loans to
corporate customers was 43%. The portfolio is well diversified
across the Nordic countries. Overall credit quality remains
solid with strongly-rated customers. Gross impaired loans
measured at amortised cost in the Group ended at EUR
3,979m at the end of the year. 45% of gross impaired loans
are servicing and 55% are non-servicing.

Nordea's funding operations

During 2020 Nordea Bank Abp continued to benefit from
prudent liquidity risk management in terms of maintaining a
diversified and strong funding base and a diversified liquidity
buffer.
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Nordea maintained a strong liquidity position throughout
the period of COVID-19-related market stress. Nordea Bank
Abp issued approximately EUR 15.0bn in long-term funding.
Throughout 2020, Nordea Bank Abp remained compliant with
the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) requirement in all curren-
cies on a combined basis. Nordea Bank Abp has participated
in different local central bank facilities, including the Targeted
Longer-Term Refinancing Operations (TLTRO) provided by
the ECB to further support customer needs. For more infor-
mation, see Note P2.

The Group issued approximately EUR 23.4bn in new and
extended long-term funding during the year, excluding Dan-
ish covered bonds and subordinated debt. Liquidity manage-
ment is presented on pages 134-135. A maturity analysis is
presented in Note G44. For more information, see also Note
G2.

Hedge accounting

Nordea uses hedge accounting in order to have a symmetrical
accounting treatment of changes in fair value of the hedged
risks in the hedged items and of the hedging instruments and
in order to hedge the exposure to variability in cash flows and
net investments in foreign operations. More information on
the hedged risks is presented in Notes G1 and G19.

Authorisations held by the Board of Directors

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 28 May 2020
decided in accordance with the Board of Directors' proposal
to authorise the Board of Directors to decide on a dividend
payment of a maximum of EUR 0.40 per share for the finan-
cial year 2019, to be distributed in one or several instalments.

Furthermore, the 2020 AGM authorised, for the period until
the end of the next AGM, the Board of Directors to decide on
the issuance of special rights entitling to shares, either new
shares or treasury shares, against payment (convertibles).
The maximum number of shares that may be issued based on
this authorisation is 404,995,191 shares. The issuance of spe-
cial rights by virtue of the authorisation may be made with or
without preferential rights for existing shareholders and must
be made on market terms.

The 2020 AGM authorised the Board of Directors to decide
on the repurchase of not more than 225,000,000 shares. The
shares may be repurchased on one or several occasions either
through an offer to all shareholders on equal terms or
through other means and in another proportion than that of
the shares held by current shareholders (directed purchases).
The company's own shares must be repurchased using the
unrestricted equity of the company. The company’s own
shares must be repurchased at a price that does not exceed
the market price prevailing on the relevant stock exchange at
the time of the repurchase or otherwise at a price formed on
the market. The authorisation is in full force and effect until
the earlier of (i) the end of the next AGM or (ii) 18 months
from the decision by the AGM.

The 2020 AGM authorised the Board of Directors to decide
on the issuance of new shares or transfer of own shares in an
amount of not more than 30,000,000 shares in total. The
shares may be issued or transferred with deviation from the
shareholders’ pre-emptive rights (directed issues). The authori-
sation is in full force and effect until the earlier of (i) the end of
the next AGM or (ii) 18 months from the decision by the AGM.

Share issue resolutions
The 2020 AGM resolved that Nordea, before the end of the
2021 AGM, may transfer own shares in the ordinary course of
its securities trading business, with deviation from the share-
holders' pre-emptive rights, by way of a directed share issu-
ance. The facilitation of the company’s securities trading busi-
ness, in which the ability to trade also in own shares is
required, forms a weighty financial reason for a directed issue.
The number of own shares to be transferred may not exceed
175,000,000 shares, corresponding to approximately 4.32% of
the company'’s shares.

For information on share-based incentive programmes see
G8. Staff costs on pages 147-148.

Holding of own shares

As of 31 December 2020, Nordea Bank Abp held 11,862,171
shares (0.3% of the total number of shares) in Nordea, an
increase of 1,052,361 shares compared to 31 December 2019.
The total price paid for own shares held at 31 December 2020
amounted to EUR 33m.

Nordea holds treasury shares partly for remuneration pur-
poses and partly for trading purposes in its securities trading
business. See also “Share issue resolutions” above.

During 2020 aggregated amounts of 1,040,750 and 13,572
own shares held by Nordea were transferred without consid-
eration to participants in Nordea's variable remuneration pro-
grammes in May and September, respectively.

See also “Statement of changes in equity” on pages 74-77.

Personnel

Personnel expenses, significant agreements with key man-
agement personnel and the distribution by number of
employees, by country and by gender are disclosed in Note
G8. More information is presented on page 15, "Our people".

Profit sharing and share-based incentive systems
The three decided criteria for the goals for the Profit-Sharing
Plan 2020 are: return on equity (RoE), cost-to-income ratio
(C/I ratio) and a customer satisfaction goal. If performance
goals are fully met, the cost will amount to approximately
EUR 63m (EUR 68m in 2019). The provision for Nordea's Prof-
it-Sharing Plan was EUR 32.4m compared with EUR 13m in
2019.

The profit-sharing scheme and the share-based incentive
systems as well as other remuneration principles are presented
in the chapter Remuneration on pages 63-66 and in Note G8.

Pension liabilities

The total pension obligation in defined benefit plans
increased from EUR 3,790m to EUR 3,871m in 2020. The
increase was mainly due to re-measurements from changes in
financial assumptions, mainly following lower discount rates.
The increase in Sweden was partly offset by a lower inflation
and salary increase assumption.

Pensions paid have had a reducing effect on the pension
obligation offset by new pension rights earned and discount-
ing effects. The fair value of plan assets amounted to EUR
3,650m (EUR 3,524m). Despite challenging asset returns,
particularly in equities, strong performance of fixed income
assets and interest rate hedging instruments led to a positive
total return. The net pension liability amounted to EUR 221m
(EUR 266m). See Note G34 for more information.
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Other information

Group structure, subsidiaries and foreign branches
The main legal structure of the Nordea Group, including its
main subsidiaries, is presented on page 288.

The parent company has foreign branches in China, Den-
mark, Estonia, Norway, Poland, Singapore, Sweden, the Unit-
ed Kingdom and the United States. During 2020 Nordea’s
branch in Germany (Frankfurt) was closed and the process to
close the Singapore branch is ongoing and is expected to be
finalised in the second quarter of 2021.

Changes in group structure

Nordea's operations in Russia

In accordance with its strategy, Nordea is focusing on its busi-
ness in the Nordic region. Consequently, the Group has decided
to wind down its operations in Russia. The process has been ini-
tiated for the closing of the operations in Russia.

Nordea Direct merger

On 12 June 2019 the Boards of Directors of Nordea Direct
Bank ASA (formerly Gjensidige Bank ASA) and Nordea Bank
Abp signed a merger plan and resolved to initiate the cross-
border merger between the two companies. The merger was
formally approved by the Boards of Directors in October 2019,
as announced by the Norwegian Register of Business Enter-
prises. The merger is expected to be completed between 1
May 2021 and 1 July 2021, with 1 June 2021 as the target date,
and is subject to regulatory approval.

Acquisition of pension portfolios from Frende Forsikring
in Norway
On 6 July 2020 Nordea announced that it would be acquiring
the occupational and individual pension portfolios of the Nor-
wegian company Frende Livsforsikring AS. The acquisition was
completed in the fourth quarter of 2020. The business was sub-
sequently combined with Nordea’'s own Norwegian pension
company, Livforsikringsselskapet Nordea Liv Norge AS (“Nordea
Liv"). The pension portfolios have total unit-linked assets of
approximately NOK 4.2bn and around 5,600 corporate custom-
ers, representing around 32,000 individual policyholders.

As part of the transaction, Nordea Liv entered into a long-
term agreement to distribute pension products with the Nor-
wegian savings banks which own Frende Livforsikring AS.

Acquisition of SG Finans
The acquisition of SG Finans, now Nordea Finance Equipment
(NFE), was completed on 1 October 2020. The transaction will
add around EUR 140m to the Nordea Group's total annual
income.

The transaction will also result in a minor increase in the
Nordea Group'’s earnings per share and return on equity.

See also Note G48 “Acquisitions” on page 195.

Divestment of Automatia

On 26 February 2020, together with the other owners, Nordea
agreed with Loomis to divest all the shares in Automatia, the
leading cash handling and ATM provider in Finland. Nordea
owned a third (approximately 33%) of the shares in Automa-
tia. The agreed purchase price was EUR 42m on a debt and
cash-free basis. The divestment of Automatia was completed
on 2 December 2020.

Sale of Nordea's shares in VP Securities

On 23 April 2020, together with the other majority owners,
Nordea agreed with Euronext to jointly sell approximately 70%
of VP Securities, the Danish central securities depository.
Nordea held 11.8% of the shares. The agreed purchase price
for Nordea's 11.8% amounted to approximately EUR 18m. The
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increase in net fair value of approximately EUR 9m from the
transaction was recorded in our second quarter financial
results. The transaction was completed on 3 August 2020.

Investments in IT
During 2020 Nordea continued to develop its digital offerings
to household and corporate customers. The Open Banking
Portal was further developed in order for third parties to safe-
ly and securely access our customers’ payment accounts.
Nordea further developed KYC solutions and improved cyber
security, also focusing on anti-money laundering activities.
Additionally, supporting requests from regulators and improv-
ing data management have been emphasised. Improving cus-
tomer satisfaction, investing in digital solutions, and stream-
lining processes have been and will be in focus in the future.
See also Note G21 “Intangible assets” on page 163.

Financial crime prevention

Nordea continued to strengthen its financial crime defences
in 2020. Significant compliance enhancements have been
achieved within the areas of: i) governance, ii) IT support of
customer due diligence processes, iii) acceleration of KYC files
remediations, iv) transaction monitoring capabilities,

v) updating Nordea's policies in the light of changes in regu-
lation, and vi) strengthening of Nordea's sanctions
programme.

During the year Nordea closely followed issued warnings from
international advisory bodies and national Nordic regulators
regarding the potential impact of the pandemic on financial
crime (fraud, cybercrime, exploitation of government funds, etc.).

Nordea has also initiated proactive and reactive case
reviews through a risk assessment process, looking into pat-
terns and red flags in addition to existing controls (e.g. false/
fraudulent claims of government aid, unusual transaction pat-
terns during the lockdown period). Furthermore, Nordea has
increased its cooperation with local financial intelligence
units due to higher numbers of urgent inquiries from these.

See also Note G2 "Risk and liquidity management" on
pages 102-135, and Non-Financial Statement on pages 57-61.

Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic

2020 was marked by the COVID-19 pandemic. Nordea's Glob-
al Crisis Management Team monitored the situation in each
of the Nordic countries throughout the year.

Information on the financial and operational impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic on Nordea, as well as the measures taken
to address these impacts, has been provided in various sec-
tions of this Annual Report. Nordea has also identified signifi-
cant risks caused by the COVID-19 pandemic given the uncer-
tainty of the economic impact on the markets in which the
Group operates. See also “Risks and uncertainties” below.

Annual General Meeting
The 2021 Annual General Meeting will be held in Helsinki on
Wednesday 24 March 2021.

Further information is presented on page 290 of this Annu-
al Report.
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Outlook, risks and uncertainties

Outlook

Key priorities to meet 2022 financial targets

Nordea’s business plan focuses on three key priorities to meet
its 2022 financial targets: 1) to optimise operational efficiency,
2) to drive income growth initiatives and 3) to create great
customer experiences.

Financial targets 2022

Nordea’s financial targets for 2022 are:
¢ areturn on equity above 10%

¢ a cost-to-income ratio of 50%

Costs
Total costs for 2021 are expected to be below EUR 4.6bn.

Capital policy
A management buffer of 150—200bp above the regulatory
CET1 requirement, from 1 January 2021.

Dividend policy

Nordea’s dividend policy stipulates a dividend payout ratio of
60-70%, applicable to profit generated from 1 January 2021.
Nordea will continuously assess the opportunity to use share
buy-backs as a tool to distribute excess capital.

2019 Capital Markets Day follow-up

In 2020, Nordea continued delivering on the plan as present-
ed at the Capital Markets Day (CMD) in October 2019. The
cost-to-income ratio improved to 55% in 2020, down from
57% in 2019, and is on track to reach the target of 50% in
2022. Return on equity fell to 71% in 2020, down from 8.2% in
the same period last year, impacted by loan loss provisions
made during the first two quarters of 2020 and a significantly
larger equity base. The progress towards the 2022 target of a
return on equity above 10% is on track.

Risks and uncertainties
Within the framework of its normal business operations,
Nordea faces various risks and uncertainties. Maintaining risk
awareness in the organisation is engrained in Nordea's busi-
ness strategies. Nordea has defined clear risk and liquidity
management frameworks including policies and instructions
for different risk types, capital adequacy and capital structure.
Further information see Note G2. “Risk and Liquidity man-
agement” on pages 102—-135, Note G33 “Provisions” on page
168 and Note G38 “Contingent liabilities” on page 174.

Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as the potential for loss due to failure of
a borrower(s) to meet their obligations to clear a debt in
accordance with the agreed terms and conditions. The poten-
tial for loss is lowered by credit risk mitigation techniques.
Credit risk stems mainly from various forms of lending, but
also from issued guarantees and documentary credits and
includes counterparty credit risk, transfer risk and settlement
risk.

A description of credit risk is presented on pages 105-106.

Counterparty credit risk
Counterparty credit risk is the risk that Nordea's counterparty
in an FX, interest rate, commodity, equity or credit derivative
contract defaults prior to maturity of the contract and that
Nordea at that time has a claim on the counterparty.

A description of counterparty credit risk is presented on
page 125.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss in Nordea's positions in either
the trading book or the non-trading book as a result of
changes in market rates and parameters that affect market
values or net interest income flows. Market risk exists irre-
spective of the accounting treatment of the positions.

A description of market risk is presented on pages 129-131.

Operational risk
Nordea defines operational risk as the risk of loss resulting
from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and sys-
tems or from external events, and includes legal risk.

A description of operational risk is presented on pages
131-132.

Financial reporting risk
Financial reporting risk is defined as the risk of misstatements or
deficiencies in financial reporting and regulatory reporting and
disclosures. The risk arises from the erroneous interpretation and
implementation of accounting standards and regulation, the use
of judgement in reporting and inadequate governance and control
frameworks around valuation and financial reporting.

A description of financial reporting risk is presented on
page 132.

Liquidity risk
Liguidity risk is the risk that Nordea is unable to service its
cash flow obligations when they fall due, or is unable to meet
its cash flow obligations without incurring significant addi-
tional funding costs. Nordea is exposed to liquidity risk in its
lending, investment, funding, off-balance-sheet exposures and
other activities which result in a negative cash flow mismatch.
Cash flow mismatches can occur at the end of a day or
intraday.

A description of liquidity risk is presented on pages
134-135.

Compliance risk
Nordea defines compliance risk as the risk of failure to com-
ply with applicable regulations and related internal rules.

Nordea is subject to various legal regimes and require-
ments, including but not limited to those of the Nordic coun-
tries, the European Union and the United States. The supervi-
sory and governmental authorities administering and enforc-
ing these regimes make regular inquiries and conduct
investigations with regard to Nordea's compliance. Areas sub-
ject to investigation include investment advice, anti-money
laundering (AML), trade regulation and sanctions adherence,
external tax rules, competition law, and governance and con-
trol. The outcome and timing of these inquiries and investiga-
tions are unclear and pending. Accordingly, it cannot be ruled
out that these inquiries and investigations could lead to criti-
cism against the bank, reputation loss, fines, sanctions, dis-
putes and/or litigation.

In June 2015 the Danish Financial Supervisory Authority
investigated how Nordea Bank Danmark A/S had followed
the regulations regarding AML. The outcome resulted in criti-
cism and, in accordance with Danish administrative practice,
the matter was handed over to the police for further handling
and possible sanctions. As previously stated, Nordea expects
to be fined in Denmark for weak AML processes and proce-
dures in the past and has made a provision of EUR 95m for
ongoing AML-related matters.

There is a risk that the costs of dealing with these matters
could be higher (or potentially lower) than the current provi-
sion, and that this could also impact Nordea'’s financial perfor-
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mance. In addition, some of these proceedings could lead to
litigation. Given this uncertainty, Nordea will maintain the
level of provision for ongoing AML-related matters while con-
tinuing the dialogue with the Danish authorities regarding
their allegations concerning historical AML weaknesses.

Nordea has made significant investments to address the
deficiencies highlighted by the investigations. Among other
actions, Nordea established the Financial Crime Change Pro-
gramme in 2015 and has strengthened its organisation signifi-
cantly to enhance its AML and sanction management risk
frameworks. Nordea also established the Sustainability and
Ethics Committee and a culture transformation programme to
embed stronger ethical standards into its corporate culture.
The Group is also investing in enhanced compliance stan-
dards, processes and resources in both the first and second
lines of defence.

The Danish tax authorities have raised a claim for damages
against Nordea of approximately DKK 900m relating to
Nordea's provision of assistance to a foreign bank in connec-
tion with the said bank’s reclaim of dividend tax on behalf of
one of its customers. It is Nordea's assessment that it is not
liable, and Nordea disputes the claim.

A description of compliance risk is presented on pages
132-133.

Claims in civil lawsuits
Within the framework of normal business operations, Nordea
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faces a number of claims in civil lawsuits and disputes, most
of which involve relatively limited amounts.

Presently, none of the current disputes are considered like-
ly to have any significant adverse effect on Nordea or its
financial position.

See also Note G1 “Accounting policies” Note G2 “Risk and
Liquidity Management, Note G33 “Provisions” and Note G38
“Contingent liabilities".

ESG risks

For information on environmental, social and governance
("ESG") risks see “Non-Financial Statement” on pages 57-61
and Note G2 “Risk and Liquidity management” on pages
102-135.

COVID-19
There are significant risks caused by the COVID-19 pandemic
given the uncertainty of the economic impact on the
markets in which Nordea operates. Depending on future
developments, potential adverse impacts on income could
arise due to lower net interest income, market volatility and
reduced business activity impacting transaction volumes and
customer activity.

Depending on the duration and magnitude of the situation,
there is a possibility that Nordea will not be able to
meet its financial targets in very adverse scenarios.
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Macroeconomy and financial markets

Economic outlook

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the world economy
experienced a major decline in 2020. Economic activity is thus
estimated to have fallen by 3.5% compared with last year as a
result of societal shutdowns aimed at containing the spread
of infection. However, as a result of a rapid, coordinated and
very extensive easing of economic policy, much of the pro-
duction losses were largely recovered as societies reopened
over the summer. Towards the end of the year, however, the
second wave of the pandemic hit and Europe in particular
was hit by a new comprehensive shutdown. Again with great
consequence for economic activity. The service sector in par-
ticular has been hit hard, while the manufacturing sector has
improved during the crisis.

The Nordic countries have done relatively well during the
pandemic. All countries experienced large declines in eco-
nomic activity in the second quarter, but had a significant
boom over the summer and autumn. When the second wave
hit, however, it led to new restrictions, which limited activity
towards the end of the year.

The recovery of the global economy is expected to contin-
ue during 2021, with pre-COVID-19 global gross domestic
product (GDP) levels reached by the end of the year.

The Nordic countries have been among the best perform-
ing countries globally during the pandemic. They are all
expected to grow in 2021 following a relatively weak end to
2020 due to new containment measures.

Denmark

Danish GDP decreased by 3.7% in 2020 — the biggest setback
since the financial crisis in 2009. The main drag on GDP occurred
in Q2 2020 as harsh restrictions were enforced to curb the spread
of the coronavirus. However, in the second half of 2020 activity
quickly rebounded, driven by a significant increase in household
consumption. By the end of the year new containment measures
were introduced, which slowed the economic recovery. The situ-
ation in the labour market has improved since the spike in the
unemployment rate in May 2020. Despite the crisis, the housing
market has been strong, with accelerating selling prices and a
significantly higher number of housing sales than in previous
years. In March 2020 Danmarks Nationalbank made an indepen-
dent interest rate hike to safeguard the fixed-exchange regime.
Since then the DKK has been strengthening against the EUR and
the central bank has not intervened in the FX market. The mon-
etary policy rate is not expected to be changed until 2023 at the
earliest.

Finland

The Finnish economy survived the coronavirus crisis in 2020
better than expected. For the full year of 2020, Finnish GDP
decreased by 3.2%. The economic recovery slowed towards

the end of the year due to the second wave of COVID-19, and
in the service sectors the situation continues to be dire. The
export sector has fared relatively well during the COVID-19
pandemic and goods exports picked up clearly towards the
end of the year as global trade recovered. The unemployment
rate was 8.2% in December and the annual average was 7.8%
in 2020. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Finnish
housing market was short-lived and we saw a quick rebound
in the second half of the year. Housing prices were 2.3% high-
er in December compared to the year before. The ECB's mon-
etary policy rates are not expected to be changed until 2023
at the earliest.

Norway

Norwegian mainland GDP fell by 2.5% in 2020, making Nor-
way one of the countries that has weathered the COVID-19
pandemic the best. The rebound was also evident in regis-
tered unemployment figures, which fell from above 10% dur-
ing the second quarter to 3.9% at the end of 2020. During
2020, Norway had some of the lowest infection rates and
least stringent containment measures compared to other
developed economies. House prices staged a strong develop-
ment throughout the year and rose 8.7%, year on year, in
December 2020. Housing prices benefited greatly from Norg-
es Bank’s rate cuts from 1.5% to zero. The central bank has
pencilled in the first rate hike during Q1 2022. However, given
the latest vaccination outlook, we expect normalisation soon-
er than Norges Bank and look for the first rate hike during the
fourth quarter of 2021. The Norwegian krone weakened con-
siderably during the worst market panic in March. Since then
the NOK has strengthened in tandem with rising oil prices.

Sweden

The Swedish economy performed relatively well during 2020,
where GDP decreased by 2.8%. After a tough second quarter
the recovery gained speed, driven by a strong increase in
household consumption of goods. Exports of goods also grew
strongly in line with the recovery of global trade and in some
sectors the order intake approached record-high levels.
Growth slowed by the end of last year due to the second
wave of the COVID-19 pandemic and parts of the service sec-
tor are still in a very difficult situation. The unemployment
rate averaged 8.3% for 2020 but ended the year higher at
somewhat below 9%. Home prices increased by 12% in the
course of 2020. Sveriges Riksbank kept its repo rate
unchanged at 0% in December 2020 as well as in February
2021, and signalled that the repo rate would remain
unchanged for the coming three years. The quantitative eas-
ing programme runs until end-2021. The trade-weighted
Swedish krona strengthened by 7% in 2020
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The Nordea share and ratings

Nordea’s return on equity (ROE) target is to be above 10% in full-year 2022.

Nordea's market capitalisation at the end of 2020 was EUR
27.0bn (EUR 29.3bn at the end of 2019). Ranked by market cap-
italisation, Nordea was the 11th largest company in the Nordic
region and among the ten largest European financial groups.

Nordea Bank Abp’s ordinary shares are listed on Nasdaq
Nordic, the stock exchanges in Helsinki (in euro), Stockholm
(in Swedish krona) and Copenhagen (in Danish krone) and its
American Depository Receipts (ADR) are traded in the US in
US dollars.

Share price performance

In 2020 the Nordea share price depreciated by approximately
8% on the Nasdaq Helsinki exchange from EUR 7.24 to EUR
6.67. The daily closing prices listed for the Nordea share in
2020 ranged between EUR 4.55 and EUR 8.15. In 2020, the
Nasdaq OMXH index appreciated by approximately 10% and
the STOXX Europe 600 Banks index depreciated by approxi-
mately 24%. Since 6 March 2000, the date of the merger
between MeritaNordbanken and Unidanmark, the Nordea
share has appreciated by 65%, clearly outperforming the
STOXX Europe 600 Banks index (-68%) and the Nasdaq
OMXH index (-41%).

Nordea's share price can be monitored on www.nordea.
com, where it is also possible to compare the performance of
the Nordea share with competitors and general indices as
well as find historical prices for the Nordea share.

Total shareholder return 2020

Total shareholder return (TSR) is the market value growth per
share and reinvested dividends. Total shareholder return in
2020 was -7.8% (9.7% in 2019).

During 2020 the Board of Directors of Nordea decided to
follow the ECB's recommendations to banks not to pay divi-
dends or buy back shares in the light of the COVID-19 pan-
demic. Consequently, no dividends were paid to shareholders
during 2020.

Turnover — the most liquid Nordic bank share
The Nordea share was the most liquid Nordic bank share in
2020, with an average daily trading volume of approximately
EUR 135m, corresponding to approximately 21 million shares.
Turnover on all exchanges combined totalled EUR 34bn in
2020, corresponding to 5 billion shares.

34% of the total volume traded in Nordea shares takes

Nordea share price performance compared
to European banks, 2000-2020, %
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place over other exchanges such as Cboe Europe and Equities,
Turquoise and Aquis. Out of the total number of Nordea shares
traded in 2020 on Nasdaq, approximately 49% were SEK-de-
nominated, 46% EUR-denominated and 3% DKK-denominated.

Share and voting rights

Nordea's Articles of Association do not contain any provisions
on share classes or voting rights and consequently Nordea
has one class of shares and all shares in Nordea are ordinary
shares. Each share confers one vote at Nordea's General
Meetings, as well as an equal right to any dividend. On 31
December 2020, the total number of shares in Nordea was
4,049,951,919. See also "Statement of changes in equity" on
pages 74-77.

There are no restrictions in the Articles of Association
regarding the right to transfer shares and Nordea is not
aware of any agreements between shareholders in this
respect. However, as Nordea is a credit institution, a direct or
indirect acquisition of shares in Nordea, which results in the
acquirer’s total holdings being considered qualified holdings
(representing 10% or more of the equity capital or of the vot-
ing rights, or a holding that otherwise enables the acquirer to
exercise a substantial influence over the management of
Nordea) or an increase in qualified holdings, may only occur
following approval by the Finnish Financial Supervisory
Authority according to the Finnish Act on Credit Institutions.
Under the Single Supervisory Mechanism, the European Cen-
tral Bank is the authority that ultimately decides on (in coop-
eration with the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority)
whether to approve an acquisition of a qualifying holding in
Nordea, as Nordea is subject to the direct supervision of the
European Central Bank.

On 31 December 2020, Sampo plc was the largest individu-
al shareholder with a holding of 15.9% and the only share-
holder with holdings of more than 10%. A table showing the
largest registered shareholders in Nordea as at the end of
2020 is provided on page 36.

On 31 December 2020, employees had an indirect share-
holding of 0.6% in Nordea through the Nordea Profit-Sharing
Foundation and a minor indirect shareholding in Nordea
through the pension foundation. The voting rights are in nei-
ther case exercised directly by the employees.

For information on share-based incentive programmes see
note G8 "Staff costs" on pages 147-148.

Turnover of the Nordea share
on exchanges, 2000-2020", EURbn
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AT1 conversion notes and special rights entitling to shares
The AT1 conversion notes issued in 2019 by Nordea Bank Abp
automatically convert into an aggregated maximum number
of 194,099,378 newly-issued Nordea shares if the CET1 ratio
of either Nordea Bank Abp on a solo basis or the Nordea
Group on a consolidated basis falls below 5.125%. The notes
shall be convertible into shares at a price not exceeding a
specific nominal amount, subject to adjustments. Upon con-
version of the notes into shares, Nordea's existing sharehold-
ers have preferential rights to all newly-issued Nordea shares.
There are no convertible bonds issued by Nordea that give
option exercise rights for holders to acquire shares in Nordea.

Share capital
The share capital amounts to EUR 4,049,951,919, which
equals the total number of shares in the company.

Dividend for 2019 and 2020

On 15 December 2020, the ECB issued an updated dividend
recommendation to banks. The ECB in general expects divi-
dends and share buy-backs to remain below 15% of the
cumulated profit for 2019-2020 and not to exceed 20bp of the
CET1 ratio until the end of September 2021. The Board of
Directors of Nordea decided on 16 December 2020 to follow
the updated ECB recommendation.

Based on the recommendation and after a dialogue with
the ECB, the Board of Directors decided on 18 February on a
dividend distribution of EUR 0.07 per share, in accordance
with the mandate received from the 2020 Annual General
Meeting (AGM) and based on the adopted balance sheet for
the financial year ended 31 December 2019. The record date
for such dividend payment was 22 February and the payment
date is 1 March 2021 or as soon as possible thereafter.

Shareholder structure, 31 Dec 2020

@ Finnish institutions, 23%
Finnish public, 9%
@ Swedish institutions, 19%
@ Swedish public, 5%
@ Danish institutions, 5%
@ Danish public, 4%
@® UK and Other, 21%
UsS, 12%
Norway, 2%

__— |
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In addition, the Board has proposed that the 24 March 2021
AGM authorise it to decide on a dividend payment of a maxi-
mum of EUR 0.72 per share. The payment would be distrib-
uted based on the balance sheet to be adopted for the finan-
cial year ended 31 December 2020, in one or several instal-
ments. The authorisation would remain in force until the
beginning of the next AGM.

The proposed amount of EUR 0.72 maximum per share is
in line with Nordea's dividend policy and includes the residual
amount of the 2020 AGM dividend mandate (EUR 0.33 per
share) as well as 70% of the net profit for the financial year
2020 (EUR 0.39 per share). The Board of Directors will refrain
from deciding on a dividend payment based on the proposed
authorisation before 1 October 2021 unless the ECB updates
or revokes its current recommendation. The total dividend
payment for 2020 would be EUR 2,907m. The dividend yield
calculated on the share price at 31 December 2020 was 10.7%.

Nordea will publish any future decisions on dividend pay-
ment by the Board of Directors separately, and will simultane-
ously confirm the dividend record and payment dates.

Shareholders

With approximately 575,000 registered shareholders at the
end of 2020, Nordea has one of the largest shareholder bases
of all Nordic companies. The number of shareholders in Fin-
land is approximately 305,000, in Sweden approximately
145,000 and in Denmark approximately 125,000, largely
unchanged from last year.

The largest shareholder category is Finnish institutions
(including Sampo plc), with a 23% holding of Nordea shares.
At year-end, Swedish institutional shareholders held 19%
while non-Nordic shareholders held 34%. The largest individ-
ual shareholder is Sampo plc with a holding of 15.9%.

Shareholder structure, 31 Dec 2020

@ Nordic companies and institutions, 38%
@ Nordic mutual funds, 8%

Non-Nordic entities, 34%
@ Public, 20%
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Largest registered shareholders in Nordea, 31 Dec 2020"

Nordea share, annual turnover on different

exchanges 2020
Percent
Number of  of Nordea
Shareholder shares, mil. end Dec @ Nasdag OMX (STO), 46%
Sampo Plc 6429 15.9 ® Nasdag OMX (HEL), 16%
BlackRock 2022 5.0 A\ @ Nasdag OMX (CPH), 3%
Cevian Capital 178.4 44 Cboe BXE Europé,, 11%
Nordea Fonden 158.2 39 SO I TS )
@ Cboe BXTR Trade Reporting, 3%
Alecta 1157 29 ‘ Turquoise, 2%
Vanguard Funds 103.6 26 TS B e A
Swedbank Robur Funds 627 1.6 Other, 2%
Varma Mutual Pension Insurance 60.2 1.5
Nordea Funds 497 12 Nordea weighting in the STOXX Europe
Norwegian Petroleum Fund 439 11 600 Banks index, 2002-2020, %
First Swedish National Pension Fund 389 1.0 40
Ilmarinen 385 1.0 a6
SHB Funds 378 0.9
Fidelity Investments 334 0.8 30
T. Rowe Price 291 0.7 25
Henderson Funds 29.0 0.7 26
Nordea Vinstandelsstiftelse 253 0.6
Government of Japan Pension Fund 25.0 0.6 15
Finnish State Pension Fund 245 0.6 1.0
SEB Funds 241 0.6 05
Other 2,126.6 524
Total number of potential outstanding shares 4,049.9 100.0 g
2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020
1) This information is aggregated by Monitor Finance AB from various sources such as
Euroclear, Morningstar, Finansinspektionen, Nasdag and Millistream and may not
reflect the actual holdings of the shareholder on the given date.
Distribution of shares, 31 Dec 2020
Distribution of shares Number of shareholders Shareholders, % Number of shares Shares, %
1-1,000 438,294 76 115,966,933 3
1,001-10,000 125,692 22 337,458,498 8
10,001-100,000 10,110 2 238,497,695 6
100,001-1,000,000 740 0 214,832,227 5
1,000,001- 234 0 3143,196,566 78
Total 575,070 4,049,951,919
Share data past 5 years
2020 2019 20184 20174 2016
Share price (EUR) 6.67 724 727 10.09 10.60
High/Low (EUR) 8.19/4.39 822 /537 10.54 / 7.25 11.75/9.74 10.93/6.94
Market capitalisation (EURbnN) 27.0 293 29.8 40.9 42.8
Dividend (EUR) 0.72 0.40° 0.69 0.68 0.65
Dividend yield? (%) 10.7 55 9.5 6.7 6.2
STOXX Europe 600 Banks index (%) -245 82 -28.0 75 -6.8
P/E (actual) 121 191 9.6 13.5 1.4
Price-to-book 0.80 0.93 0.90 1.23 132
Equity per share (EUR) 8.35 7.80 8.15 8.21 8.03
Earnings per share 3 (EUR) 0.55 0.38 0.76 0.75 0.93
Total shares 4,049,951,919 4,049,951,919 4,049,951,919 4,049,951,919 4,039,029,217

1) Proposed dividend authorisation. 2020 includes the residual amount of the 2020 AGM dividend mandate (EUR 0.33 per share).
2) Dividend yield for 2016 to 2019 calculated at starting price on payment day and for 2020 calculated at price per 31 December 2020.

3) Diluted earnings per share, total operations.

4) Nordea Bank Abp replaced Nordea Bank AB (publ) as the parent company of the Nordea Group on 1 October 2018.
5) Proposed dividend authorisation. Dividend of EUR 0.07 per share to be paid on 1 March 2021 (at the earliest) based on the balance sheet for the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

Annual Report 2020 Nordea
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Ratings
Nordea'’s credit ratings are some of the strongest among banks
globally. During 2020, Nordea's ratings were reaffirmed at
unchanged levels with a stable outlook from Moody's and
were reaffirmed at unchanged levels with negative outlook on
the long-term ratings from Standard & Poor’s (S&P) and Fitch.
The long-term ratings for senior unsecured preferred debt
for Nordea Bank Abp are all at the AA level: Standard & Poor’s
AA- (negative outlook), Moody's Aa3 (stable outlook) and Fitch
AA (negative outlook). The short-term ratings are at the highest
level: A—1+ from S&P, P-1 from Moody's and F1+ from Fitch.
The negative outlook from Standard & Poor’'s and from
Fitch mainly reflect Nordea's lower profitability in recent peri-
ods and relate to Nordea's ability to meet its new financial
targets and improve profitability.

Ratings, 31 Dec 2020

The covered bond ratings for the covered bond-issuing
entities are unchanged and these are all AAA/Aaa for the cov-
ered bonds issued by Nordea Hypotek AB (publ) (in Sweden),
Nordea Kredit Realkreditaktieselskab (in Denmark), Nordea
Mortgage Bank Plc (in Finland) and Nordea Eiendomskreditt
AS and Nordea Direct Boligkreditt AS (in Norway).

The analysis from the rating agencies’ side is in broad terms
focused on credit risks and other risks, profitability, capitalisa-
tion, the strength of the business franchise as well as on the
funding profile and liquidity strength. For these areas, the
views on Nordea have been stable during the year, with the
exception of the view on profitability as described above.

The senior non-preferred (SNP) bonds that Nordea has
issued have received the following ratings: A (from Standard
& Poor), Baal (from Moody's) and AA— (from Fitch).

Moody'’s Investors Service Standard & Poor's Fitch DBRS
Short Long Short Long Short Long Short Long

Nordea Bank Abp P-1 Aa3 A-1+ AA-? F1+ AA-2  R-1(mid) AA (low)?

Senior Preferred issuances Aa3 AA-2 AA?

Senior Non-Preferred (SNP) issuances Baal A? AA-?

AT1in Sep 2014 issue rating BBB? BBB+?

AT1in March 2015 issue rating BBB? BBB+?

AT1in Nov 2017 issue rating BBB2 BBB+?

AT1in March 2019 issue rating BBB? BBB+?
Nordea Hypotek AB (publ) Aaa'
Nordea Kredit Realkreditaktieselskab AAA!
Nordea Eiendomskreditt AS Aaa'
Nordea Mortgage Bank Plc Aaa’
Nordea Direct Bank ASA A-1 A+?
Nordea Direct Boligkreditt AS AAA!

1) Covered bond rating.
2) Negative outlook.
3) Positive outlook.

Nordea Annual Report 2020
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Capital management

Nordea strives to be efficient in its use of capital and therefore
actively manages its balance sheet with respect to different
asset, liability and risk categories. The goal is to enhance returns
to shareholders while maintaining a prudent capital structure.
The Board of Directors decides ultimately on the targets for cap-
ital ratios, the capital policy and the overall framework of capital
management at Nordea. The ability to meet targets to maintain
minimum capital requirements is reviewed regularly within the
Asset & Liability Committee (ALCO) and the Risk Committee.

Capital and dividend policy

The capital policy states that the Nordea Group under normal
business conditions should have minimum targets for the
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital ratio, the Tier 1 capital
ratio and the total capital ratio that exceed the capital
requirements set by the competent authorities. In addition,
Nordea will maintain a management buffer. Our intention is to
hold a CET1 capital management buffer of 150-200bp above
the CET1 capital ratio requirement (restriction level for the
maximum distributable amount, MDA). We strive to maintain
a strong capital position in line with our capital policy.

Our ambition is to distribute 60-70% of the net profit for
the year to shareholders. Excess capital in relation to capital
targets will be used for organic growth and strategic business
acquisitions, as well as being subject to buy-back
considerations.

Minimum capital requirements

The calculation method for the Risk Exposure Amount (REA)
depends on regulatory approval. Nordea had 87% of its credit
risk exposure amount covered by the internal ratings-based
(IRB) approach by the end of 2020. Nordea is approved to use
its own internal Value-at-Risk (VaR) models to calculate capital
requirements for the major share of the market risk in its trad-
ing book. For operational risk the standardised approach is
applied. Based on the total REA, Nordea needs to hold the
applicable minimum and combined buffer requirements. In
addition, competent authorities require Nordea to hold capital
for other risks which are identified and communicated as part
of the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP). In
November 2020, the ECB communicated that the total Pillar 2
requirement (P2R) of 1.75% would be maintained. Furthermore,
as communicated by the ECB in March 2020, the P2R can par-
tially be complied with using capital instruments that do not
qualify as Common Equity Tier 1 capital, i.e. Additional Tier 1 or
Tier 2 instruments. The P2R of 1.75% is also applicable to
Nordea Bank Abp on solo level.

Internal capital requirement (ICR)

For internal risk and capital assessment purposes, Nordea uses
the ICR. In line with Article 73 of CRD 1V, the ICR specifies the
amount, type and distribution of internal capital that is consid-
ered adequate to cover the nature and level of all risks to which
the Group or any of its subsidiaries are or might become
exposed over a foreseeable future, including during periods of
stress.

The ICR is one of the main inputs for the Internal Capital
Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP"), together with reg-
ulatory views on the required amount of capital as expressed
under the regulatory perspective.

Nordea defines the ICR as the internal capital requirement
for all material risks from an internal economic perspective,
taking account of the regulatory, normative, through-the-
cycle perspective, adequate to withstand periods of stress.

This ensures that Nordea's ICR is aligned with, but not
restricted by, the regulatory perspective and it also ensures that
data and processes are appropriately validated and governed.

Annual Report 2020 Nordea

Economic Capital (EC)

EC is a method for allocating the cost of holding capital as a
result of risk-taking and is a central component in the Value
Creation Framework (VCF). The VCF supports the operational
decision-making process at Nordea to enhance performance
management and ensure shareholder value creation.

EC is aligned with the Group’s target CET1 level, which is
set by future expected levels of the capital policy to ensure a
sustainable long-term capitalisation for the Nordea Group. In
addition, the EC framework also includes the following items:
¢ legal equity contribution of NLP
¢ certain capital deductions for which allocation keys have

been agreed

EC (including Nordea Life & Pensions) was, at the end of
2020, EUR 23.5bn (EUR 25.7bn at the end of 2019). The
decrease in EC during 2020 was primarily driven by an update
of the EC framework to reflect the new capital requirements
due to the COVID-19 outbreak and to support business
momentum.

Own funds

Own funds are the sum of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital. Tier 1 capi-
tal consists of both Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) and Addi-
tional Tier 1 capital. CET1 capital is considered to be capital of
the highest quality with ultimate loss-absorbance characteris-
tics and consists predominately of paid-in capital and
retained earnings. Profit may only be included after permis-
sion from the financial supervisory authority and after
deducting the proposed dividend. Additional Tier 1 and Tier 2
capital consist mostly of undated and dated subordinated
loans, respectively. Holdings of other financial sector entities’
subordinated loans are deducted from the corresponding tier.

Further information — capital adequacy and
the Capital and Risk Management Report
Further information on capital management and capital ade-
quacy is presented in the Capital and Risk Management
Report. Nordea Bank Abp, on the basis of its consolidated sit-
uation, quarterly provides Capital and Risk Management
Report disclosures according to Part Eight of Regulation (EU)
No 575/2013 (CRR). The disclosures constitute a comprehen-
sive disclosure of risks, risk management and capital manage-
ment. It includes disclosures, or references to other disclo-
sures, required according to Part Eight of the CRR and by EBA
guidelines and standards for disclosure requirements.
Information exempted from disclosure due to being non-mate-
rial, proprietary or confidential can be found in Part 2, Other
tables of the Capital and Risk Management Report. Accompany-
ing the Capital and Risk Management Report are
the required disclosures for the subsidiaries Nordea Kredit
Realkreditaktieselskab, Nordea Hypotek AB, Nordea Mortgage
Bank Plc, Nordea Eiendomskreditt AS, Nordea Direct Bank Group,
Nordea Finans Norge AS and Nordea Finance Equipment AS.
Nordea and its subsidiaries have adopted a formal policy to
assure compliance with the disclosure requirements and have
established policies for assessing the appropriateness of
these disclosures, including the verification and frequency.
The Capital and Risk Management Report is available on
www.nordea.com. The subsidiaries' disclosures are included
as appendices and are published on the same website after
the publication date of each subsidiary's annual report.

Country by country reporting

Further information on country-by-country reporting in accor-
dance with the Finnish Act on Credit Institutions is presented
in a separate appendix available at www.nordea.com.
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Capital requirements and Risk Exposure Amount (REA), Nordea Group
31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
Minimum Capital Minimum Capital

EURmM requirement REA requirement REA
Credit risk 9,638 120,479 9,389 117,367
- of which counterparty credit risk 449 5,609 496 6,199
IRB 8,379 104,743 8,295 103,694
- sovereign - - - -
- corporate 5,403 67,540 5,398 67,479

- advanced 4,613 57,670 4,568 57103

- foundation 790 9,870 830 10,376
- institutions 379 4,738 491 6,135
- retail 2,181 27,256 2,100 26,248

- secured by immovable property collateral 1,474 18,424 1,386 17,329

- other retail 707 8,832 74 8919
- items representing securitisation positions 70 880 70 874
- other 346 4,329 236 2,958
Standardised 1,259 15,736 1,094 13,673
- central governments or central banks 35 437 79 980
- regional governments or local authorities 7 83 5 67
- public sector entities - - - -
- multilateral development banks - - - -
- international organisations - - - -
- institutions 9 110 13 163
- corporate 178 2,228 131 1,629
- retail 300 3,747 296 3,704
- secured by mortgages on immovable properties 130 1,626 17 1,459
- in default 8 96 9 17
- associated with particularly high risk 91 1145 75 938
- covered bonds 2 30 3 38
- institutions and corporates with a short-term credit assessment - - - -
- collective investments undertakings (CIU) 27 333 25 312
- equity 412 5,156 281 3,515
- other items 60 745 60 751
Credit Value Adjustment Risk 52 648 64 795
Market risk 529 6,616 395 4,934
- trading book, Internal Approach 294 3,671 330 4126
- trading book, Standardised Approach 48 606 65 808
- banking book, Standardised Approach 187 2,339 - -
Settlement Risk 21 264 0 4
Operational risk 1176 14,701 1,256 15,698
Standardised 1176 14,701 1,256 15,698
Additional risk exposure amount related to
Finnish RW floor due to Article 458 CRR 51 630 60 750
Additional risk exposure amount related to
Swedish RW floor due to Article 458 CRR 968 12,101 853 10,667
Additional risk exposure amount due to Article 3 CRR - - - -
Total 12,435 155,440 12,017 150,215
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Capital requirements and Risk Exposure Amount (REA), Nordea Bank Abp (Parent Company)
31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
Minimum Capital Minimum Capital

EURmM requirement REA requirement REA
Credit risk 9,224 115,302 9,428 117,849
- of which counterparty credit risk 454 5,673 502 6,275
IRB 6,326 79,071 6,551 81,884
- sovereign - - - -
- corporate 4,789 59,856 5013 62,665

- advanced 4,384 54,792 4,597 57,460

- foundation 405 5,064 416 5,205
- institutions 391 4,887 495 6,190
- retail 863 10,782 865 10,811

- secured by immovable property collateral 237 2,962 243 3,035

- other retail 626 7,820 622 7776
- other 283 3,546 178 2,218
Standardised 2,898 36,231 2,877 35,965
- central governments or central banks 31 384 68 846
- regional governments or local authorities 5 66 5 62
- public sector entities - - - -
- multilateral development banks - - - -
- international organisations - - - -
- institutions 856 10,699 879 10,993
- corporate 361 4,509 397 4,963
- retail 1 137 " 135
- secured by mortgages on immovable properties 0 3 0 5
- in default 0 0 0 0
- associated with particularly high risk 91 1145 75 938
- covered bonds 110 1,371 37 462
- institutions and corporates with a short-term credit assessment - - - -
- collective investments undertakings (CIU) 26 333 25 312
- equity 1,399 17,486 1,372 17147
- other items 8 98 8 102
Credit Value Adjustment Risk 51 637 64 790
Market risk 503 6,287 507 6,340
- trading book, Internal Approach 294 3,671 330 4126
- trading book, Standardised Approach 54 676 73 913
- banking book, Standardised Approach 155 1,940 104 1,301
Settlement Risk 21 265 0 4
Operational risk 831 10,386 937 11,717
Standardised 831 10,386 937 1,717
Additional risk exposure amount related to
Finnish RW floor due to Article 458 CRR - - - -
Additional risk exposure amount related to
Swedish RW floor due to Article 458 CRR 6 74 9 108
Additional risk exposure amount due to Article 3 CRR - - - -
Total 10,636 132,950 10,945 136,808
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Summary of items included in own funds

Own Funds & Capital ratios (Financial conglomerate)’

Nordea Parent

31Dec2020 31Dec2019

EURmM Nordea Group’ Company
31Dec 31Dec 31Dec 31Dec

Calculation of own funds 2020 2019 2020 2019

Equity in the consolidated

situation 29,100 28,398 25657 25,841

Profit of the period 2,288 1,658 - -

Proposed/actual dividend -1,585 -1,616 - -

Common Equity Tier 1 capital

before regulatory adjustments 29,802 28,441 25,657 25,841

Deferred tax assets -252 -136 =249 -136

Intangible assets -2,636 -3,451 -916 -1,749

IRB provisions shortfall (-) - - - -

Pension assets in excess of

related liabilities' -108 -130 -113 -134

Other items, net? -253 -303 -223 -266

Total regulatory adjustments

to Common Equity Tier 1

capital -3249 -4,020 -1,501 2,285

Common Equity Tier 1 capital

(net after deduction) 26,553 24,421 24156 23,556

Additional Tier 1 capital

before regulatory

adjustments 2,609 3117 2,609 3118

Total regulatory adjustments

to Additional Tier 1 capital =21 -20 -22 -20

Additional Tier 1 capital 2,588 3,097 2,587 3,098

Tier 1 capital (net after

deduction) 29,141 27518 26,743 26,654

Tier 2 capital before

regulatory adjustments 2,745 4,559 2,746 4,559

IRB provisions excess (+) 628 220 474 275

Deductions for investments in

insurance companies -650 —1,000 -650 —1,000

Other items, net -63 —-61 -63 -62

Total regulatory adjustments

to Tier 2 capital -85 —-841 -239 —787

Tier 2 capital 2,660 3,718 2,507 3,772

Own funds (net after

deduction) 31,801 31,236 29,250 30,426

1) Based on conditional FSA approval

2) Other items, net based on profit inclusion

Capital adequacy ratios, Nordea Group

Percentage

31Dec2020 31Dec2019

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio,
including profit

Tier 1 capital ratio, including profit
Total capital ratio, including profit

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio,
excluding profit

Tier 1 capital ratio, excluding profit

Total capital ratio, excluding profit

171
18.7
20.5

17.0
187
204

16.3
18.3
20.8

16.2
18.3
20.7

Financial conglomerates Own funds, EURm

The Own funds requirement of the financial

conglomerate, EURmM?

Capital adequacy of the financial conglomerate

(Own funds surplus/deficit), EURm?

Financial conglomerates capital adequacy

ratio, %?

33,537 33,687
23,930 29,163

9,606 4,524
140.1% 115.5%

1) The financial conglomerate consists of banking and insurance operations
2) Comparison figures for 2019 have been restated since publication of the annual

report 2019

Capital adequacy ratios Nordea Parent Company

Percentage

31Dec 2020 31Dec2019

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio,

including profit 18.4 171
Tier 1 capital ratio, including profit 204 193
Total capital ratio, including profit 223 221
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio,

excluding profit 18.2 17.2
Tier 1 capital ratio, excluding profit 201 19.5
Total capital ratio, excluding profit 22.0 222

Life & Pensions — Solvency Il position’

EURmM 31 Dec 2020 31Dec 2019
Required solvency 1,968 1,673
Actual solvency capital 3,020 2,682
Solvency buffer 1,052 1,010
Solvency in % of req 153% 160%

1) The annual dividend for 2019 was reflected in the solvency position at 31.12.2019.
Due to a general recommendation by Finansinspektionen to all insurance businesses
under its supervision, NLP did not anticipate a dividend to Nordea Bank Abp in the

solvency position at 31.12.2020.

Life & Pensions — Solvency Il sensitivity’

EURm 31 Dec 2020 31Dec 2019
Solvency in % of requirement 153% 160%
Equities drop 20% 153% 165%
Interest rates down 50bp 157% 160%
Interest rates up 50bp 152% 168%

1) The annual dividend for 2019 was reflected in the Solvency Il sensitivities at
31.12.2019. Due to a general recommendation by Finansinspektionen to all insurance
businesses under its supervision, NLP did not anticipate a dividend to Nordea Bank

Abp in the solvency position at 31.12.2020.
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Five-year overview

Income statement

EURmM 2020 2019 2018" 2017° 2016'
Net interest income 4,515 4,318 4,491 4,888 4,855
Net fee and commission income 2,959 3,01 2,993 3,369 3,238
Net result from items at fair value 900 1,012 1,088 1,328 1,715
Profit from associated undertakings and joint ventures
accounted for under the equity method = 50 124 23 112
Other operating income 93 232 476 83 135
Total operating income 8,466 8,623 9,172 9,691 10,055
General administrative expenses:
- Staff costs 2,752 -3,017 -2,998 -3,2212 -2,926
- Other expenses -1,286 -1,639 -1,566 -1,844 -1,774
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges
of tangible and intangible assets -605 -1,330 -482 —268 -228
Total operating expenses -4,643 -5,986 -5,046 -5,324 -4,928
Profit before loan losses 3,823 2,637 4126 4,367 5127
Net result on loans in hold portfolios
mandatorily held at fair value 48 12 = = =
Net loan losses -908 -536 =173 -369 =502
Operating profit 2,963 2113 3,953 3,998 4,625
Income tax expense —-698 =571 -872 -950 -859
Net profit for the year 2,265 1,542 3,081 3,048 3,766
Balance sheet
EURmM 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018' 31 Dec 2017' 31 Dec 2016'
Cash and balances with central banks 32,955 35,509 41,578 43,081 32,099
Loans to central banks and credit institutions 6,246 17,726 18,962 13,388 20,261
Loans to the public 329,765 323,091 308,304 310,158 317,689
Interest—bearing securities and pledged instruments 66,304 72,081 83,790 81,783 92,809
Assets in pooled schemes and unit—linked investment contracts 36,484 30,799 24,583 25,879 23102
Derivatives 44,770 39111 37,025 46,11 69,959
Other assets 35,636 36,531 37166 39,026 50,843
Assets held for sale - - - 22,186 8,897
Total assets 552,160 554,848 551,408 581,612 615,659
Deposits by credit institutions 23,939 32,304 42,419 39,983 38,136
Deposits and borrowings from the public 183,431 168,725 164,958 172,434 174,028
Deposits in pooled schemes and unit-linked investment con-
tracts 37,534 31,859 25,653 26,333 23,580
Liabilities to policyholders 18,178 19,246 18,230 19,412 41,210
Debt securities in issue 174,309 193,726 190,422 179114 191,750
Derivatives 47,033 42,047 39,547 42,713 68,636
Subordinated liabilities 6,941 9,819 9,155 8,987 10,459
Other liabilities 27,055 25,594 28123 33,289 30,562
Liabilities held for sale - - - 26,031 4,888
Equity 33,740 31,528 32,901 33316 32,410
Total liabilities and equity 552,160 554,848 551,408 581,612 615,659

1) Nordea Bank Abp replaced Nordea Bank AB (publ) as the parent company of the Nordea Group on 1 October 2018.
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Ratios and key figures'

Ratios and key figures, Group

2020 2019 2018° 2017¢ 2016°
Basic earnings per share, EUR 0.55 0.38 0.76 0.75 0.93
Diluted earnings per share, EUR 0.55 0.38 0.76 0.75 0.93
Share price?, EUR 6.67 724 730 10.09 10.60
Proposed/actual dividend per share, EUR 0.39 0.40 0.69 0.68 0.65
Equity per share?, EUR 8.35 7.80 815 8.21 8.03
Potential shares outstanding? million 4,050 4,050 4,050 4,050 4,050
Weighted average number of diluted shares, million 4,039 4,035 4,037 4,039 4,037
Return on equity, % 71 5.0 97 95 123
Assets under management? EURbn 353.8 3247 280.1 3304 3227
Cost-to-income ratio?, % 55 57 57 54 50
Net loan loss ratio, amortised cost, bp* 35 22 7 12 15
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio excluding Basel | floor267, % 171 16.3 15.5 19.5 18.4
Tier 1 capital ratio, excluding Basel | floor2>7, % 187 183 173 223 207
Total capital ratio, excluding Basel | floor?>7, % 205 20.8 19.9 25.2 247
Tier 1 capital?>/, EURbn 291 275 27.0 28.0 276
Risk exposure amount, excluding Basel | floor?, EURbn 155 150 156 126 133
Number of employees (full-time equivalents)? 28,051 29,000 28,990 30,399 31,596
Economic capital? EURbn 235 257 26.6 26.7 26.3
Return on capital at risk®, % 9.2 9.2 10.0 111 134

1) For more information regarding ratios and key figures defined as alternative performance measures, see https://www.nordea.com/en/investor-relations/reports-and-presentations/
group-interim-reports/. All key ratios reflect Nordea's continuing operations.

2) End of the year.

3) Excluding items affecting comparability.

4) In 2016 and 2017 the ratio is including Loans to the public reported as assets held for sale.

5) Including result for the period.

6) Including the profit for the period adjusted by accrued dividend.

7) The ratios for 2016 to 2018 have not been restated due to the change recognition and presentation of resolution fees (see Note G1 for more information).
8) Nordea Bank Abp replaced Nordea Bank AB (publ) as the parent company of the Nordea Group on 1 October 2018.

Ratios and key figures, Parent company

2020 2019 2018'
Return on equity, % 6.8 5.0 15.6
Return on assets, % 05 04 11
Cost-to-income ratio, % 57 72 45
Loan loss ratio, basis points 57 38 4
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio??, % 18.5 171 16.0
Tier 1 capital ratio??, % 20.4 19.3 179
Total capital ratio??, % 223 221 20.6
Common Equity Tier 1 capital?3, EURm 24156 23,556 24,059
Tier 1 capital®®, EURm 26,743 26,654 26,908
Risk exposure amount?, EURm 132,943 136,808 150,266

1) Nordea Bank Abp's financial period started at 21 September 2017 but with no business activities until 1 October 2018. Income statement figures used to calculate return on equity,
return on assets and loan loss ratio have been annualised for 2018.

2) Including result of the year.
3) End of the year.
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Business arearesults

The Nordea Group's organisational structure is built around
four main business areas: Personal Banking, Business Bank-
ing, Large Corporates & Institutions and Asset & Wealth Man-
agement. In addition to the business areas, the Nordea Group

Total Nordea Group and Business Areas

includes the following Group functions: Group Business Sup-
port, Group Finance, Group Risk & Compliance, Chief of Staff
Office, Group Legal, Group People, Group Brand, Communica-
tion and Marketing and Group Internal Audit.

Large Asset &
Corporates & Wealth

Personal Banking  Business Banking Institutions Management  Group Functions Nordea Group  Change
EURmM 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 %
Net interest income 2,091 2,105 1,418 1,364 877 852 67 53 62 -56 4,515 4318 5}
Net fee and commission income 113 1,208 587 594 446 433 810 783 17 =7 2,959 3,011 -2
Net result from items at fair value 89 130 257 261 467 296 95 99 -8 226 900 1,012 =l
Equity method 0 0 0 0 0 0 =5} 33 4 17 = 50 =
Other operating income 6 2 26 21 0 1 15 14 46 194 93 232 -60
Total operating income 3,319 3,445 2,288 2,240 1,790 1,582 982 982 87 374 8,466 8,623 -2
Total operating expenses -1,815 -1,989 -1,078 -1,115 —-841 —-931 -507 -560 -402 -1,391 -4643 -5986 -22
Net result on loans in hold portfolios
mandatorily held at fair value 25 42 12 -55 9 15 1 10 1 0 48 12 -
Net loan losses -296 -130 -328 -141 =277 =251 -4 =2 =3 =2 -908 -536 69
Operating profit 1,233 1,368 894 929 681 415 472 430 =317 -1,029 2,963 2113 40
Cost-to-income ratio, % 55 58 47 50 47 59 52 57 = - 55 69 -
Return on capital at risk, % 12 12 10 1 7 4 23 19 - - 9' 9 -
Volumes, EURbn
Total lending 1623 155.2 91.6 85.2 623 727 9.6 84 40 16 329.8 3231 2
Total deposits 829 76.5 501 M7 427 396 10.4 10.0 =27 0.9 183.4 168.7 9

1) Excluding items affecting comparability.
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New regulations

The Capital Requirement Directive IV (CRD IV) and Capital
Requirement Regulation (CRR) entered into force on 1 Janu-
ary 2014 followed by the Bank Recovery and Resolution
Directive (BRRD) on 15 May 2014. The CRR became applica-
ble in all EU countries from 1 January 2014 while the CRD IV
and BRRD were implemented through national law within all
EU member states from 2014. From 31 December 2019, the
CRR and CRD IV were also finally implemented in Norway.

In June 2019, the ‘banking package’ containing revisions to
the BRRD, the CRD and the CRR was adopted. The revisions
include a review of the Minimum Requirement for own funds
and Eligible Liabilities (MREL), a review of the market risk
requirements (Fundamental Review of the Trading Book,
FRTB), the introduction of a binding Net Stable Funding Ratio
(NSFR), the introduction of a strict leverage ratio requirement
of 3% to be met by Tier 1 capital and amendments to the Pil-
lar 2 and macroprudential framework. The revised CRD (CRD
V) and BRRD (BRRD II) are to be applied from 28 December
2020, while the majority of the changes in the CRR (CRR II)
are to be applied from 28 June 2021. The consultation on the
“banking package” ended on 6 January 2021 in Norway and
implementation is pending.

On 26 June, the so-called ‘quick fix" was implemented with
the intention to ensure that banks can continue to lend
money to support the economy and help mitigate the signifi-
cant economic impact of COVID-19. The package includes a
few targeted “quick fix" amendments to the CRR with the
intention to maximise the ability of banks to lend and absorb
losses related to COVID-19. Among the changes, the quick fix
implements the extended SME factor and the changed treat-
ment of software at an earlier date than previously decided.

On 6 April, the Board of the Finnish FSA decided to remove
the systemic risk buffer (SRB) and to adjust bank-specific
requirements so that the buffer requirements for all Finnish
banks fall by 1 percentage point. For Nordea, the 3% SRB was
removed and instead the 2% buffer for other systemically
important institutions (O-SIl) became applicable, reducing
the overall requirement for systemic risk from 3% to 2%. In
the decision it is also stated that this promotes a smooth tran-
sition to coming changes in capital regulation (CRD V) that
states that the buffers for SRB and O-SII will be additive.

On 12 March, the ECB announced that they will allow
banks to operate temporarily below the level of capital
defined by the Pillar 2 Guidance (P2G) and the capital conser-
vation buffer (CCoB). The ECB also stated that they will allow
banks to partially use capital instruments, i.e. Additional Tier 1
(AT1) and Tier 2 (T2) capital, to meet the Pillar 2 Require-
ments (P2R), which is a measure that was expected to be
applicable with the implementation of CRD V.

The ECB has during the year made three recommendations
on dividends during the COVID-19 pandemic. The most recent
recommendation on 15 December states that banks should
refrain from or limit dividends until end-September 2021. The
recommendation states that dividends are to remain below
15% of cumulated 2019-20 profits and not higher than 20
basis points of the CET1 ratio.

In March 2020, the countercyclical buffer rate was
decreased in Sweden, Denmark and Norway due to COVID-
19. The buffer rate in both Sweden and Denmark was
decreased to 0%, while it was reduced to 1% in Norway. In
Finland the buffer rate remains at 0%.

To mitigate the effect of the Norwegian implementation of
the CRR and CRD |V, the Norwegian Ministry of Finance
adopted changes in banks' capital requirements by changing
the systemic risk buffer (SRB) from the current 3% for all Nor-
wegian banks to 4.5% for all Norwegian exposures. The

changes apply from 31 December 2020 to all banks' expo-
sures in Norway that are currently subject to the Advanced
Internal Rating Based (IRB) approach. For all other banks, the
changes to the SRB enter into force from 31 December 2022.
New risk weight floors for residential real estates to 20% and
for commercial real estates to 35% according to article 458 of
the CRR have also been adopted and apply from 31 Decem-
ber 2020. On 2 February 2021, the Norwegian Ministry of
Finance requested the European Systematic Risk Board
(ESRB) to issue a recommendation to other EEA states to
reciprocate the measures. Nordea does not agree to the
change in the systemic risk buffer and is raising its concerns
with relevant decision-making bodies. If reciprocity is accept-
ed by the Finnish FSA, the aforementioned measures would
then also apply to the Nordea Group, leading to an estimated
increase in the Group's CET1 capital ratio requirement of
approximately 95 bp.

On 22 December 2020, the Commission delegated regula-
tion on the deduction of software assets from Common Equi-
ty Tier 1 items was published in the EU Official Journal. The
delegated regulation is applicable from 23 December and
explains how prudently valued software assets which are not
negatively affected by resolution, insolvency or liquidation are
defined and calculated. Under this approach, the positive dif-
ference between the prudential and the accounting accumu-
lated amortisation shall be fully deducted from CET1 capital,
while the residual portion of the carrying amount of software
shall be risk weighted to 100%. The prudential amortisation
period is maximum three years and shall start from the date
on which the software asset is available for use and begins to
be amortised for accounting purposes.

The Swedish FSA has implemented a temporary risk
weight floor for residential mortgages of 25%. The floor was
implemented with effect from 31 December 2018 and was in
December 2020 decided to be prolonged to also be valid dur-
ing 2021. This has been reciprocated by the Finnish FSA and is
therefore valid for the Nordea Group. The Finnish FSA has
implemented a similar risk weight floor of 15% for residential
mortgages with effect from 1 January 2018 until 31 December
2020 after which it is discontinued.

The new European Covered Bond Directive and Regulation
has been finalised. The Directive entered into force on 8 Janu-
ary 2020; the national transposition period will last until 8
July 2021 and national measures must be applied by 8 July
2022. The Regulation will apply from 8 July 2022, in parallel
with the deadline for the national measures of the Directive.

Finalisation of Basel lll framework (“Basel IV")

Basel Il is a global regulatory framework on bank capital
adequacy, stress testing and liquidity risk. In December 2017,
the finalised Basel Ill framework, often called the Basel IV
package, was published. The Basel IV package was supposed
to be implemented in 2022, but was postponed until 2023 due
to COVID-19, and includes revisions to credit risk, market risk,
operational risk, credit valuation adjustment (CVA) risk, lever-
age ratio and introduces a new output floor.

On credit risk, the package includes revisions to both the
IRB approach, where restrictions on the use of IRB for certain
exposures are implemented, as well as on the standardised
approach. Also, for market risk the internal model approach
and the standardised approach have been revised. For opera-
tional risk, the three existing approaches will be removed and
replaced by one standardised approach to be used by all
banks. On CVA risk, the internally modelled approach is
removed, and the standardised approach is revised. The pack-
age also includes the implementation of a minimum leverage
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ratio requirement of 3% to be met with Tier 1 capital with an
additional leverage ratio buffer requirement for global sys-
temically important banks (G-SIBs) of half the size of the
G-SIB capital buffer requirement.

The output floor is to be set at 72.5% of the standardised
approaches on an aggregate level, meaning that the capital
requirement under the floor will be 72.5% of the total Pillar 1
REA calculated with the standardised approaches for credit,
market and operational risk. The floor will be phased in, start-
ing with 50% from 2023 to be fully implemented at 72.5%
from 1 January 2028.

Annual Report 2020 Nordea

Before being applicable to Nordea, the Basel IV package
needs to be implemented into EU regulations and will there-
fore be subject to negotiations between the European Com-
mission, Council and Parliament, which might change the
implementation and potentially also the timetable. It is
expected that the Commission will publish its proposal
in mid-2021 after which negotiations in the Council and
Parliament will begin.
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Corporate Governance Statement 2020

Strong corporate governance is about companies having
clear and systematic decision-making processes, thus provid-
ing clarity about responsibilities, avoiding conflicts of interest
and ensuring satisfactory internal control, risk management,
transparency and accountability.

Corporate governance at Nordea Bank Abp (the “Compa-
ny” or “Nordea”) follows generally adopted principles of cor-
porate governance and relevant normative frameworks.
Nordea is subject to and applies the Finnish Corporate Gover-
nance Code 2020, approved by the Securities Market Associa-
tion on 19 September 2019, (the “Code") and complies with
all the recommendations of the Code apart from the appoint-
ment procedure for electing employee representatives to the
Board (Recommendation 5), as described further below.

This Corporate Governance Statement describes Nordea’s
approach to the key elements of corporate governance and is
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Finnish
Act on Credit Institutions, the Finnish Accounting Act, the
Finnish Securities Market Act, the Ministry of Finance Decree
on the obligation of securities issuers to disclose periodic
information, and the Code.

Nordea's Corporate Governance Statement is available
at www.nordea.com and the Code is available at
https://cgfinland.fi/en/.

Corporate governance at Nordea

Nordea is a Finnish public limited liability company and the
parent company of the Nordea Group (comprising the Com-
pany and its subsidiaries). The Company'’s shares are listed on
the Nasdaq stock exchanges in Helsinki, Stockholm and
Copenhagen and its American Depository Receipts (ADR) are
traded in the US in US dollars. Furthermore, as part of its
funding operations the Company issues long-term debt
instruments on the capital markets, which are usually listed
on various stock exchanges. The corporate governance of
Nordea is proportionate and comprehensive with respect to
the nature, scope and diversity of the Company's operations
to ensure efficient management in accordance with prudent
conduct of business principles. Furthermore, Nordea's com-
mitment to purpose, values and vision requires the integra-
tion of sound corporate governance practices into regular
business activities.

Corporate Governance Structure

External Audit (11)
v

Group Internal Audit (10) }

President and Group CEO (8)

} Elected / appointed by

‘ Reporting to / informing

External Framework

Legislation, regulation, rules and guidelines, best practice,
stock exchange rules, corporate governance code

} Shareholders in General Meeting (1) ‘

Board of Directors (3)

. . Remuneration Operations and Sustai- . .
Audit Committee (4) Committee (6) nability Committee (7) Risk Committee (5)
A A

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the President
and Group CEO are responsible for the management of the
Company. The main emphasis is on the Board noting and
undertaking its role in Nordea’s corporate governance struc-
ture and the interaction with the other governing bodies to
ensure sound corporate governance, including systems for
internal control and risk management regarding financial
reporting. Corporate governance and the duties of the gov-
erning bodies of Nordea are defined by the applicable inter-
nal and external frameworks. The external framework that
regulates corporate governance includes EU-law and nation-
al-level laws, such as Directive 2013/36/EU (“CRD IV"), Regu-
lation (EU) No 575/2013 (“CRR"), Directive 2014/65/EU
(“MIFID 11"), Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 (“MiFIR") as well
as rules and guidelines issued by the relevant financial super-
visory authorities, such as the EBA Guidelines on Internal
Governance (“GL11") and the Joint ESMA and EBA Guidelines
on the assessment of the suitability of members of the man-
agement body and key function holders (“GL 12"), as well as
national level laws, including the Finnish Companies Act, the
Finnish Act on Credit Institutions, the Finnish Accounting Act
and the relevant FIN-FSA regulations and guidelines. Nordea
also complies with rules and guidelines issued by other rel-
evant financial supervisory authorities, as well as EU legisla-
tion for the financial industry, stock exchange rules for each
relevant stock exchange, and the rules and principles of the
Code.

The Board has adopted instructions for the President and
Group CEO specifying his responsibilities as well as other
charters, policies and instructions for the operations of the
Nordea Group. Furthermore, Nordea's Code of Conduct pro-
vides an ethical framework for the conduct of all members of
governing bodies and employees. These mechanisms, togeth-
er with the Articles of Association, the Charter (as defined
below) and the Committee Charters (as defined below)
constitute the internal framework that regulates corporate
governance at Nordea. The internal framework is designed to
enable prudent conduct of business by defining the powers
and responsibilities of the corporate bodies and employees.

For information on Sustainability governance at Nordea
see section “Non-Financial Statement” on pages 57-61.

Shareholders’
Nomination Board (2)

{ Group Risk and Compliance (9)

Internal Framework
Articles of Association, the Group Board and Group

Board Committee Charters, Group Board Directives, Group
CEO Instructions, Internal Rules, Nordea's Code
of Conduct and values
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Division of powers and responsibilities

The management and control of Nordea is divided among the
shareholders (at General Meetings), the Board and the Presi-
dent and Group CEO, pursuant to the provisions of the exter-
nal framework, the Articles of Association and the internal
framework set forth by the Board.

General Meetings (1)

The General Meeting is the Company's highest decision-mak-
ing body, at which shareholders participate in the supervision
and control of the Company through their voting rights and
right to speak. Applicable regulations and the Articles of
Association of the Company determine the matters to be
dealt with at a General Meeting. At the General Meeting,
decisions are taken regarding matters such as the annual
accounts, dividend, election of the members of the Board and
auditor, as well as remuneration for the Board members and
auditor. In accordance with applicable laws and regulations,
the Remuneration Policy for Governing Bodies and, as of
2021, the Remuneration Report for Governing Bodies will be
presented and adopted through an advisory vote at the Gen-
eral Meeting. The Remuneration Policy for Governing Bodies
and the Remuneration Report are available at www.nordea.
com.

General Meetings are held in Helsinki. Due to the COVID-19
pandemic and in order to ensure the health and safety of the
Company's shareholders, employees and other stakeholders,
the Board resolved on extraordinary meeting procedures pur-
suant to the temporary legislation initially adopted by the
Finnish Parliament on 24 April 2020 (the “Temporary Legisla-
tion") for the Annual General Meeting ("AGM") 2020. The
AGM was held on 28 May 2020 at the headquarters of the
Company without physical participation and the shareholders
could thus participate in the AGM and exercise their share-
holders’ rights by voting in advance or through a proxy repre-
sentative, and by making counterproposals and asking ques-
tions in advance. Additionally, the shareholders had the pos-
sibility to follow the 2020 AGM through a live web stream.
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic none of the members of the
Board, the proposed new Board member, the President and
Group CEOQ, the Company's auditor nor representatives of the
Company's senior management were physically present at
the 2020 AGM. Information on the decisions of the 2020 AGM
and the minutes are available at www.nordea.com.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, also the 2021 AGM will be
arranged in accordance with extraordinary meeting proce-
dures pursuant to the Temporary Legislation at the headquar-
ters of the Company on Wednesday 24 March 2021.

Voting rights

Nordea's Articles of Association do not contain any provisions
on share classes or voting rights and consequently all issued
shares are ordinary shares and carry equal voting rights, with
each share carrying one vote at General Meetings. At General
Meetings, each shareholder is entitled to vote the full number
of shares that he or she holds or represents. Nordea is not
entitled to vote with its own shares at General Meetings in
accordance with applicable legislation. More information
about the Nordea share is presented in the section “The
Nordea share and ratings” on pages 34-37 and in the “Finan-
cial Review 2020" on pages 28-29.

Articles of Association

The Articles of Association are available at www.nordea.com.
Amendments to the Articles of Association are resolved by
the General Meeting pursuant to Finnish law and are subject
to the review of the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority.
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Shareholders’ Nomination Board (2)

Pursuant to the Finnish Act on Credit Institutions, a significant
credit institution shall have a nomination committee that con-
sists of Board members or a shareholders’ nomination board
that consists of members appointed by the shareholders. The
AGM held on 28 March 2019 decided to establish a perma-
nent Shareholders’ Nomination Board and approved the
charter of the Shareholders’ Nomination Board. A revised
charter of the Shareholders’ Nomination Board was approved
by the 2020 AGM according to which the Shareholders’' Nomi-
nation Board is to prepare, annually and otherwise when
appropriate, proposals to the General Meeting for the elec-
tion and remuneration of the Chair and members of the
Board, and present the proposals at the General Meeting. The
Shareholders’ Nomination Board shall also participate in the
evaluation and succession planning of the Board and in its
work consider the Diversity Policy of Nordea as well as per-
form certain other tasks assigned in its charter.

The Shareholders' Nomination Board comprises the Chair
of the Board (Torbjorn Magnusson) and four members
appointed by the four largest shareholders in terms of voting
rights on 31 August 2020, who wish to participate in the
Shareholders’ Nomination Board. Holders of nominee regis-
tered shares are taken into account when determining the
members.

The composition of the Shareholders’ Nomination Board
was made public on 18 September 2020. Sampo plc had
appointed Ricard Wennerklint, Nordea-fonden had appointed
Lars Ingemann Nielsen, Alecta had appointed Ann Grevelius
and Cevian Capital AB had appointed Niko Pakalén as mem-
bers of the Shareholders’ Nomination Board. Ricard Wenner-
klint had been appointed Chairman of the Shareholders’
Nomination Board. On 31 August 2020, when determining the
members of the Shareholders' Nomination Board, the mem-
bers of the Shareholders’ Nomination Board represented
31.1% of all shares in the Company.

Prior to the 2021 AGM the Shareholders’ Nomination Board
constituted in the autumn 2020 held six meetings. Each mem-
ber participated in all the meetings and decision-making of
the Shareholders' Nomination Board apart from Torbjorn
Magnusson who did not participate in preparations or deci-
sion-making regarding Board remuneration and other mat-
ters in which he was conflicted to participate due to his role
as Chair of the Board.

Ricard Wennerklint, Chairman of the

Shareholders’ Nomination Board

Stockholm School of Economics (Business Administration and
Finance and Executive Education, Advanced Management
Programme)

Born 1969

Chief of Strategy, Sampo Plc

Lars Ingemann Nielsen

Master of Science (Mathematical Finance and Economics)
Born 1961

Executive Vice President and CFO, Nordea-fonden

Ann Grevelius

Bachelor of Science (Finance & Management)
Born 1966

Non-Executive Director, Alecta

Niko Pakalén

Master of Science (Economics)
Born 1986

Partner, Cevian Capital AB
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Torbjorn Magnusson
Master of Science and Licentiate of Engineering
Born 1963
Chair of the Board of Directors of Nordea Bank Abp

See "Board of Directors" on pages 284-285 for more
information.

The proposals of the Shareholders’ Nomination Board are
presented in the notice of the 2021 AGM and are also avail-
able at www.nordea.com.

Nordea Board of Directors (3)

The Board of the Company is charged with the organisation
of Nordea and the administration of the Company’s opera-
tions and the overall management of the Nordea Group’s
affairs in accordance with the external and internal
framework.

Composition of the Board of Directors

According to the Articles of Association, the Board shall con-
sist of not less than six and not more than fifteen members.
The term of office for Board members is one year and expires
at the end of the AGM following the election. Nordea has nei-
ther a specific retirement age for Board members nor a time
limit for how long a Board member may serve on the Board.
According to the Code, the fact that a Board member has
served as a member for more than ten consecutive years shall
be considered when conducting the overall evaluation of
independence. Further, applicable European regulatory
requirements of the banking sector are taken into account in
the evaluation.

The Company strives to promote diversity of the members
of the Board with the aim of ensuring that the Board, as a
whole and for the purpose of its work, possesses requisite
knowledge of and experience in the social, business and cul-
tural conditions of the regions and markets in which the main
activities of the Nordea Group are carried out.

The Board has adopted a Diversity Policy that establishes
the principles of diversity of the Board. According to the
Diversity Policy, all Board member nominations shall be
based on merit with the prime consideration being to main-
tain and enhance the Board's overall effectiveness. In order to
fulfil this, a broad set of qualities and competencies is sought,
and it is recognised that diversity — including age, gender,
geographical provenance and educational and professional
background — is an important factor to consider. Nordea's
objective is to have a fair, equal and balanced representation
of different genders and other diversifying factors on the
Board collectively. The Board is to have a composition appro-
priate to the company’s operations and phase of develop-
ment and the Board members elected by the General Meet-
ing are collectively to exhibit diversity and breadth of opin-
ions, qualifications and experience.

During the nomination work before the 2021 AGM, the
Chair of the Board of the Company informed the Sharehold-
ers’ Nomination Board of the competencies and skills needed
for the Board as a whole, and for Board members individually.
The Shareholders’ Nomination Board considered a broad
range of qualifications and knowledge to ensure sufficient
expertise and independence, and also strived for equal gen-
der distribution on the Board in accordance with the Suitabil-
ity Policy and the Diversity Policy of the Company.

It is assessed that the Board collectively possesses the reg-
uisite knowledge and experience in the social, business and
cultural conditions of the regions and markets in which the
main activities of Nordea and the Nordea Group are carried
out, exhibiting adequate diversity and breadth of qualities

and competencies, and that the gender distribution is well
balanced.

The Board consists of 13 ordinary members and one depu-
ty member. Of these Board members, ten (six men and four
women) were elected by the AGM held on 28 May 2020, and
three ordinary members and one deputy member (three men
and one woman) were appointed by the employees of the
Nordea Group. The Board members elected by the 2020 AGM
are Torbjorn Magnusson (Chair), Kari Jordan (Vice Chair),
Pernille Erenbjerg, Nigel Hinshelwood, Petra van Hoeken,
Robin Lawther, John Maltby, Sarah Russell, Birger Steen, and
Jonas Synnergren. Additionally, Maria Varsellona was a mem-
ber of the Board until the end of the 2020 AGM.

As mentioned above, in addition to the members proposed
by the Shareholders’ Nomination Board and elected by the
AGM, three ordinary members and one deputy member are
appointed by the employees of the Nordea Group as employ-
ee representatives to the Board. The term of office for the
employee representatives is one year. The employee repre-
sentatives until the end of the 2021 AGM are Kari Ahola, Dorrit
Groth Brandt, Gerhard Olsson and Hans Christian Riise (depu-
ty member). The appointment procedure for the employee
representatives to the Board deviates from Recommendation
5 “Election of the Board of Directors” of the Code. The reason
for this deviation is that at Nordea, employee representation
is based on an agreement between Nordea and an employee
representative body, which was entered into under the Finn-
ish Act on Employee Involvement in European Companies
and European Social Cooperatives as well as the Finnish Act
on Personnel Representation in the Company Administration
in connection with the cross-border merger effectuating the
re-domiciliation to Finland in 2018.

The President and Group CEO of Nordea is not a member
of the Board. The composition of the Board is set out in the
table on page 52 and further information regarding the Board
members elected by the AGM and the employee representa-
tives is presented in the sections “Board of Directors” and
“"Employee representatives” on pages 284-285.

Independence of the Board of Directors

Nordea complies with applicable requirements regarding the
independence of the Board according to applicable European
regulatory requirements and Finnish laws and regulations as
well as requirements according to the Code. The Board con-
siders all the members elected by the shareholders at the
2020 Annual General Meeting to be independent of the Com-
pany according to the Code, including Sarah Russell who has
been Board member of the Company and its legal predeces-
sors for over 10 consecutive years. Based on an overall evalua-
tion, her independence is not compromised due to her long
service history, and no other factors or circumstances have
been identified that could impair her independence. No Board
member elected by the shareholders at the 2020 AGM is
employed by or works in an operative capacity at the
Company.

The ordinary Board members and the deputy Board mem-
ber appointed by the employees are employed by the Nordea
Group and are therefore not independent of the Company
according to the Code.

All Board members, except for Torbjorn Magnusson, are
furthermore independent in relation to the Company's signifi-
cant shareholders according to the Code. Torbjorn Magnus-
son was during 2020 Managing Director of Sampo plc and
Group CEO and President of Sampo Group. As Sampo plc
owns more than 10 per cent of all shares in the Company, Tor-
bjorn Magnusson is thus not considered independent of the
Company's significant shareholders.
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According to the Code, the majority of the Board members
shall be independent of the company, and at least two Board
members who are independent of the company shall also be
independent of the significant shareholders of the company.
Thus, the number of Board members independent in relation
to the Company and independent in relation to the Compa-
ny's significant shareholders, exceeds the minimum require-
ments of the Code.

The independence of each Board member is also shown in
the table on page 52.

The work of the Board of Directors

The Board elects the Vice Chair and appoints the members of
the Board Committees. The Board has adopted written work
procedures governing its work that also set forth the man-
agement and risk reporting to the Board (the “Charter”) and
separate work procedures for its work carried out in each of
the Board Committees (the “Committee Charters”). For exam-
ple, the Charter sets forth the Board's and the Chair’s respec-
tive areas of responsibility, documentation and quorum as
well as the frequency of meetings. It also contains rules
regarding conflicts of interest, confidentiality and the Board
Secretary (currently Jussi Koskinen, Chief Legal Officer).

The Board is charged with the organisation of Nordea and
the administration of the Company's operations and the over-
all management of the Nordea Group's affairs in accordance
with the external and internal framework and its Charter. The
Board shall ensure that Nordea's legal and organisational
structure is appropriate and transparent with a clear alloca-
tion of functions and areas of responsibility that ensure sound
and efficient governance, avoids the creation of complex
structures and enables supervisors to conduct efficient
supervision.

The Board regularly follows up on Nordea’s strategy, busi-
ness development as well as the Company's financial position
and the performance of the financial market. Furthermore,
the Board regularly updates the policies and internal rules for
the governance and control on which it has decided. The
Board is also reviewing the risk appetite and regularly follows
up on the development of relevant risks, capital and liquidity.
Significant organisational changes, certain senior manage-
ment appointment as well as mergers and acquisitions and
other resolutions of significance are other matters dealt with
by the Board. In 2020 the Board dealt extensively with various
aspects related to the pandemic caused by COVID-19. Addi-
tionally, the Board handled matters related to digitalisation,
internal control and compliance, financial crime as well vari-
ous remediation and implementation programmes.

Furthermore, the Board shall ensure that the Company's
organisation in respect of accounting, management of funds
and the Company'’s financial position in general includes sat-
isfactory controls. The Board is ultimately responsible for
ensuring that an adequate and effective system of internal
control is established and maintained. Group Internal Audit
(“GIA") annually provides the Board with an assessment of
the overall effectiveness of governance and the risk and con-
trol framework, together with an analysis of themes and
trends emerging from internal audit work and their impact on
the organisation’s risk profile. Further information regarding
internal control at Nordea is provided on pages 53-55 under
“Internal control framework".

The Board regularly meets the external auditor and regu-
larly considers the need for such meetings without the pres-
ence of the President and Group CEO or any other member of
the Group Leadership Team (“GLT"). In addition, the auditor
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in charge regularly attends the meetings of the Board Audit
Committee.

In 2020 the Board of the Company held 16 meetings, six of
which were held as per capsulam meetings. For more infor-
mation see the table on page 52.

Chair

The Chair of the Board is elected by the shareholders at the
General Meeting. The Board meets according to its annual
meeting schedule and as necessary. The Chair is to ensure
that the Board's work is conducted efficiently and that the
Board fulfils its duties. The Chair is to organise and lead the
Board’s work, maintain regular contact with the President
and Group CEO, ensure that the Board receives sufficient
information and documentation and ensure that the work of
the Board is evaluated annually, and that the Shareholders’
Nomination Board is informed of the result of the evaluation.

Evaluation of the Board

The Board annually conducts a self-evaluation process,
through which the performance and the work of the Board is
evaluated for the purpose of continuously improving the
Board work. The evaluation is based on methodology that
includes questionnaires to evaluate the Board as a whole, the
Chair and individual Board members. The result of the self-
evaluation process is further discussed by the Board and pre-
sented to the Shareholders’ Nomination Board by the Chair of
the Board.

In accordance with applicable European regulatory
requirements, a suitability assessment of the members of the
Board individually and of the Board as a whole is completed
annually and in connection with the selection process for new
Board members.

Board Committees

In accordance with the external framework and in order to
increase the effectiveness of the Board work, the Board has
established separate working committees to assist the Board
in preparing matters, belonging to the competence of the
Board and to decide in matters delegated by the Board. The
duties of the Board Committees, as well as working proce-
dures, are defined in the Committee Charters. In general, the
Board Committees do not have autonomous decision-making
powers and each Committee regularly reports on its work to
the Board. Nordea follows the legal requirements and com-
plies with the Code in respect of Board Committees.

The Board Audit Committee (4)

The Board Audit Committee (“BAC") assists the Board in ful-
filling its oversight responsibilities, for instance by monitoring
the Nordea Group's financial reporting process and system,
and providing recommendations or proposals to ensure their
reliability (including efficiency of the internal control and risk
management systems), monitoring the effectiveness of GIA,
keeping itself informed as to the statutory audit of the annual
and consolidated accounts, and by reviewing and monitoring
the impartiality and independence of the external auditors,
including the offering of services other than auditing services
by the auditors, prepares a recommendation of appointment
of the Company's auditor, as well as by taking care of the
responsibilities of the audit committee pursuant to applicable
legal requirements. The BAC also assists the Board in moni-
toring and assessing how related party transactions meet the
requirements of ordinary activities and arm’s-length terms.
Further information is presented in the separate section “Prin-
ciples for related party transactions”.
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Members of the BAC are Sarah Russell (Chair), Petra van
Hoeken, Pernille Erenbjerg and Jonas Synnergren. Generally,
the Chief Audit Executive (“CAE"), the Chief Financial Officer
(“CFQO") and the Deputy Chief Risk Officer as well as the
external auditor of the Company are present at the meetings
of the BAC with the right to participate in discussions but not
in decisions.

The Board annually appoints the members and the Chair
of the BAC. The BAC must have at least three committee
members who are members of the Board. The Chair of the
BAC may not be the Chair of the Board or of any other Board
Committee. None of the members of the BAC may be
employed within the Nordea Group or participate in the day-
to-day management of the Company or a company in the
Nordea Group. The majority of the members of the BAC are to
be independent of the Company. At least one of the members
of the BAC who is independent of the Company shall also be
independent of the Company'’s significant shareholders and
have sufficient expertise in accounting and/or auditing. The
committee members must have sufficient expertise and expe-
rience required for the performance of the responsibilities of
the BAC. For more information, see the table on page 52.

The Board Risk Committee (5)

The Board Risk Committee (“BRIC") assists the Board in ful-
filling its oversight responsibilities concerning management
and control of the risks, risk frameworks, controls and pro-
cesses associated with the Nordea Group's activities, includ-
ing credit, market, liquidity, business, life and operational
risks, conduct and compliance, as well as related frameworks
and processes.

The duties of the BRIC include reviewing and, where
required, making recommendations on the Nordea Group’s
risk and compliance governance, and reviewing the develop-
ment of the Group's internal control framework, including the
risk management framework, in reference to the develop-
ment of the Group's risk profile and changes in the regulatory
framework. In addition, the BRIC reviews and makes recom-
mendations regarding the Group's risk appetite and market
and liquidity risks. Furthermore, the BRIC reviews resolutions
made by a Group entity concerning credit or credit limit
above certain amounts, as well as strategic credit policy mat-
ters and the development of the credit portfolio.

Members of the BRIC are Nigel Hinshelwood (Chair), Petra
van Hoeken, John Maltby and Birger Steen. The Chief Risk
Officer ("CRQ"), the Chief Compliance Officer ("CCQ"), the
CAE and the President and Group CEO are regular attendees
at the meetings, with the right to participate in discussions
but not in decisions. Further information regarding the credit
decision-making structure for main operations and risk man-
agement within Nordea is presented in Note G2, “Risk and
liquidity management”, on pages 102-135.

The Board annually appoints the Chair and members of
the BRIC. The BRIC must have at least three committee mem-
bers, who are members of the Board. The Chair of the BRIC
may not be the Chair of the Board or of any other Board Com-
mittee. The BRIC shall be composed of members of the Board
who are not employed within the Nordea Group. The majority
of the members of the BRIC, including the Chair, are to be
independent. Members of the BRIC shall, individually and col-
lectively, have appropriate knowledge, skills and expertise
concerning risk management and control practices. For more
information, see the table on page 52.

The Board Remuneration Committee (6)
The Board Remuneration Committee (“BRC") is responsible
for preparing and presenting proposals to the Board on remu-

neration issues. When preparing the proposals, the long-term
interests of shareholders, investors and other stakeholders in
Nordea shall be considered.

At least annually, the BRC follows up on the application of
Nordea'’s remuneration policy, overseeing its functionality,
including the use of variable pay adjustments, through an
independent review by GIA and assesses Nordea's remunera-
tion directive and remuneration system with the participation
of appropriate control functions. In addition, the BRC sup-
ports the Board with the preparation of the Remuneration
Policy for Governing Bodies and the Remuneration Report for
Governing Bodies. The BRC also has the duty of annually
monitoring, evaluating and reporting to the Board on the pro-
grammes for variable remuneration for members of the GLT
and heads of control functions. At the request of the Board,
the BRC also prepares other issues of principle for the Board's
consideration.

Members of the BRC are Torbjorn Magnusson (Chair),

Kari Jordan, Robin Lawther and Gerhard Olsson (employee
representative). Generally, the Chief People Officer and the
President and Group CEO are present at meetings with the
right to participate in discussions but not in decisions. Neither
the Chief People Officer nor the President and Group CEO
participates in considerations regarding his or her respective
employment terms and conditions.

The Board annually appoints the Chair and members of
the BRC. The BRC must have at least three committee
members.

The Chair and the majority of the members of the BRC
shall be Board members who are independent of the Com-
pany, and not employed by the Nordea Group. The President
and Group CEO or the other executives may not be members
of the BRC. However, if employee representatives are
appointed to the Board, at least one of them shall be appoint-
ed as a member of the BRC pursuant to the Finnish Credit
Institutions Act. The members of BRC shall collectively have
sufficient knowledge, expertise and experience in issues relat-
ing to risk management and remuneration. For more informa-
tion, see the table on page 52.

Further information regarding remuneration at Nordea is
presented in the separate section “Remuneration”, on pages
63-66 and in Note G8, on pages 141-149.

Board Operations and Sustainability Committee (7)

The Board Operations and Sustainability Committee
("BOSC") assists, without prejudice to the tasks of the other
Board Committees, the Board in fulfilling its oversight respon-
sibilities concerning sustainability, digital transformation,
technology, data management, operations/systems and oper-
ational resilience (including cyber resilience) as well as relat-
ed frameworks and processes. The duties of the BOSC include
advising the Board on the Nordea Group's overall strategy as
to the mentioned areas and assisting the Board in overseeing
the implementation of that strategy by senior management.
The relevant management committees (Sustainability and
Ethics Committee, Digital Committee and the Data and Tech-
nology Committee) report regularly to the BOSC.

Members of the BOSC are Birger Steen (Chair), Pernille
Erenbjerg, Nigel Hinshelwood, John Maltby and Jonas Syn-
nergren. To the extent possible, the Head of Group Operation-
al Risk attends when the committee deals with operational
risks related to data and IT. The CAE may also participate in
meetings to the extent possible and deemed suitable. All
have the right to participate in discussions but not in deci-
sions. Furthermore, other senior executives also attend meet-
ings when deemed relevant.

The Board annually appoints the Chair and members of
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the BOSC. The BOSC must have at least three committee
members, who are members of the Board. The BOSC shall be
composed of members of the Board who do not perform any
executive function in the Nordea Group. Members of the
BOSC shall have sufficient collective knowledge, expertise
and experience in issues relating to the work of the commit-
tee. For more information, see the table below.

Meetings, attendance and independence

The table below shows the number of meetings held by the
Board and its Committees as well as the attendance of the
individual Board members. It also shows the independence of
the individual Board members.

President and Group CEO, Deputy Managing
Director and Group Leadership Team (8)
Nordea’s President and Group CEO is in charge of the day-to-
day management of the Company and the affairs of Nordea
Group in accordance with the external and internal frame-
work. The internal framework regulates the division of
responsibilities and the interaction between the President
and Group CEO and the Board. The President and Group CEO
works closely with the Chair of the Board in relation to the
planning of Board meetings.

The President and Group CEO is accountable to the Board
for managing Nordea Group's operations and organisation

Board members' attendance and independence

and he is also responsible for developing and maintaining
effective systems for reporting and internal control within the
Group. In line with applicable regulations, the Company has a
Deputy Managing Director. Further information about the
control environment for risk exposures is presented in Note
G2, “Risk and liquidity management”, on pages 102-135.

The President and Group CEO works together with certain
senior officers within the Group in the GLT. These senior offi-
cers being GLT members report to the President and Group
CEO. The GLT supports the President and Group CEO in man-
aging the Company and the GLT members, apart from the
President and Group CEQ, are responsible for management of
their respective business area’s or group function’s perfor-
mance, operations, risks and resources and for the develop-
ment of the business area or group function in the best inter-
ests of Nordea, and in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.

The GLT meets regularly and whenever necessary at the
request of the President and Group CEO. These meetings are
chaired by the President and Group CEO, who reaches deci-
sions after consulting with the other members of GLT. Notes of
meetings, verified by the President and Group CEO, are kept.

At the end of 2020 the GLT members were: Frank Vang-
Jensen (President and Group CEQ), Sara Mella (Head of Per-
sonal Banking), Nina Arkilahti (Head of Business Banking),
Martin A Persson (Head of Large Corporates & Institutions),

The table below shows the number of meetings held by the Board of Directors and its Committees as well as the attendance
of the individual Board members. It also shows the independence of the individual Board members in relation to the Company

as well as to the major shareholders.

Board Independence in

Board Operations and Independence in relation to the
Board of Board Audit Board Risk Remuneration Sustainability relation to the significant
Directors Committee Committee Committee Committee Company"' shareholders’
Number of meetings
(of which per capsulam) 16(6) 10(0) 12(0) 12(4) 8(0)
Elected by shareholders at the AGM
Torbjérn Magnusson (Chair) 16 4 - 12 - Yes No
Kari Jordan (Vice Chair) 15 - - 1 - Yes Yes
Nigel Hinshelwood 16 = 12 = 8 Yes Yes
Maria Varsellona
(Board member until 28 May 2020) 9 = 3 = = Yes Yes
Birger Steen 16 = 1 = 8 Yes Yes
Sarah Russell 16 10 - - - Yes Yes
Robin Lawther 16 = = 12 = Yes Yes
Pernille Erenbjerg 16 10 - - 8 Yes Yes
Petra van Hoeken 16 10 12 - - Yes Yes
John Maltby 16 - 12 - 8 Yes Yes
Jonas Synnergren (Board member as
of 28 May 2020) 7 6 - - 5 Yes Yes
Appointed by employees
Kari Ahola 14 = = = = No Yes
Dorrit Groth Brandt 16 = = = = No Yes
Gerhard Olsson 16 - - 12 - No Yes
Hans Christian Riise (deputy member) 16 - - - - No Yes

1) According to the Code a significant shareholder is a shareholder who holds at least 10% of all company shares or the votes carried by all the shares, or who has the right or obligation
to acquire the corresponding number of already issued shares. For additional information, see Independence of the Board of Directors on page 49.
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Snorre Storset (Head of Asset & Wealth Management), Erik
Ekman (Head of Group Business Support), Matthew Elder-
field (Chief Risk Officer), Christina Gadeberg (Chief People
Officer), Jussi Koskinen (Chief Legal Officer and Interim Dep-
uty Managing Director), Ulrika Romantschuk (Head of Brand,
Communication and Marketing) and lan Smith (Group Chief
Financial Officer).

Further biographical information about the President and
Group CEO and the other GLT members is presented in the
section “Group Leadership Team”, on pages 286-287 and fur-
ther information about business areas or group functions is
presented on pages 16-26.

Internal control framework

The Board is responsible for setting and overseeing an ade-
quate and effective Internal Control Framework. The Internal
Control Framework includes the control functions and the Risk
Management Framework and covers the whole Nordea Group.

The Internal Control Framework is designed to ensure
effective and efficient operations, adequate identification,
measurement and mitigation of risks, prudent conduct of
business, sound administrative and accounting procedures,
reliability of financial and non-financial information reported
or disclosed (both internally and externally) and that compli-
ance risk is effectively managed. The internal control process
is carried out by the Board and The President and Group CEO
together with senior management, the control functions and
other staff at Nordea.

The internal control process aims to create the necessary
fundamentals for the entire organisation to contribute to the
effectiveness and high quality of internal control through, for
instance, clear definitions, assignments of roles and responsi-
bilities and common tools and procedures. Roles and respon-
sibilities with respect to internal control and risk management
are divided into three lines of defence. According to the
Group Board Directive on Internal Governance the first line of
defence refers to all units and employees that are neither in
the second nor the third line of defence.

In the first line of defence, the business organisation and
group corporate functions are risk owners, and thus respon-
sible for conducting their business within risk exposure limits
and the risk appetite and in accordance with the Internal
Control Framework.

The second line of defence consists of Group Risk and
Compliance (“GRC"), which is responsible for maintaining
and monitoring the implementation of the Risk Management
Framework as a fundamental part of the Internal Control
Framework. To ensure effective risk management GRC has
access to all business lines and other internal units that have
the potential to generate risk, as well as to relevant subsidiar-
ies and branches, and outsourced activities.

GIA, which is the third line of defence, performs audits and
provides the Board with an assessment of the overall effec-
tiveness of the governance and risk and control framework,
together with an analysis of themes and trends emerging
from internal audit work and their impact on the organisa-
tion’s risk profile.

Group Risk and Compliance (9)

GRC comprises the independent risk and compliance func-
tions and is structured to carry out risk monitoring and con-
trolin line with Nordea’s Internal Control Framework. As a
second line of defence, the control functions are responsible
for maintaining the Risk Management Framework, as part of
the Internal Control Framework, and for monitoring the
implementation of the policies and procedures within this
framework. The Risk Function oversees the implementation

of the financial and the non-financial risk policies and accord-
ing to a risk-based approach, monitors and controls the Risk
Management Framework and shall among other things
ensure that all risks to which Nordea is or could become
exposed are identified, assessed, monitored, managed and
reported. The Chief Risk Officer (“CRO"), who is also a mem-
ber of the GLT, has overall responsibility of GRC and reports
to the President and Group CEO. The CRO is appointed, sus-
pended or dismissed by decision of the Board, after prior con-
sultation with the President and Group CEO. The CRO regu-
larly reports to BRIC and the Board on Nordea Group's risk
exposure.

Group Compliance is responsible for creating a Compliance
Risk Management Framework that ensures compliance with
applicable laws, regulations, standards, supervisory require-
ments and related internal rules, as well as providing training,
advice, monitoring and ensuring compliance matters are ade-
quately communicated and adhered to by management.
Group Compliance is responsible for identifying compliance
risks and performing monitoring and control to ensure that
the risks are managed by the relevant functions. Group Com-
pliance activities shall be decided and conducted according
to a risk-based approach. The Compliance function is headed
by the CCO (Head of Group Compliance). The CCO has a
functional reporting line to the CRO. The CCO is appointed,
suspended, or dismissed by decision of the Board, after prior
consultation with the President and Group CEO.

The responsibilities and mandates of GRC are described in
more detail in the “Group Board Directive for the second line
of defence risk function” and in the “Group Board Directive on
Group Compliance”.

Group internal audit (10)

GlA is an independent function commissioned by the Board.
The BAC is responsible for guidance on and evaluation of GIA
within the Nordea Group. The CAE has the overall responsi-
bility for GIA. The CAE reports on a functional basis to the
Board and the BAC and reports on an administrative basis to
the President and Group CEO. The Board approves the
appointment and dismissal of the CAE and decides, by pro-
posal of the BRC, on salary and other employment terms and
conditions for the CAE.

The purpose of GIA is to support the Board and GLT in pro-
tecting the assets, reputation and sustainability of the organ-
isation. GIA does this by assessing whether all significant risks
are identified and appropriately reported by management
and the risk functions to the Board, its committees and the
GLT, by assessing whether all significant risks are adequately
controlled and by challenging the GLT to improve the effec-
tiveness of governance, risk management and internal con-
trols. GIA does not engage in consulting activities unless oth-
erwise instructed by the BAC.

All activities and entities of the Group fall within the scope
of GIA. GIA makes a risk-based decision as to which areas
within its scope should be included in the audit plan
approved by the Board.

GIA shall operate free from interference in determining the
scope of internal auditing, in performing its audit work and in
communicating its results. This means for example that GIA,
via the CAE, is authorised to inform the financial supervisory
authorities of any matter without further approval. The CAE
has unrestricted access to the President and Group CEO and
the Chair of the BAC, and should meet with the Chair of the
BAC informally and formally throughout the year, including
without the presence of executive management. GIA is
authorised to conduct all investigations and obtain all infor-
mation required to discharge its duties. This includes the right
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to sufficient and timely access to the organisation's records,
systems, premises and staff. GIA has the right to attend and
observe Board committees, GLT, overall committees and for
the Nordea Group and other key management decision-mak-
ing fora when relevant and necessary.

External audit (11)
According to the Articles of Association, the auditor of the
Company shall be an audit firm with the auditor-in-charge
being an Authorised Public Accountant ("APA"). The term of
office for the auditor expires at the end of the AGM following
the election. The current auditor of the Company is Pricewa-
terhouseCoopers Oy. Jukka Paunonen, APA, was the auditor
in charge as of the 2020 AGM.

Further information about the fees paid for audit services
and non-audit services is presented in Note G9 on page 149.

Report on internal control and risk management
regarding financial reporting

The systems for internal control and risk management of
financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assur-
ance about the reliability of financial reporting and the prepa-
ration of financial statements for external purposes in accor-
dance with generally accepted accounting principles, appli-
cable laws and regulations, and other requirements for listed
companies. The internal control and risk management activi-
ties are included in Nordea’s planning and resource allocation
processes. Internal control and risk management of financial
reporting at Nordea can be described as follows below.

Control Environment

The control environment is comprised of Nordea's internal
controls and centres around the culture and values estab-
lished by the Board and GLT and the organisational structure,
with clear roles and responsibilities.

Nordea's organisational structure aims to support the over-
all strategy, ensuring business momentum and meeting
requirements on capital and liquidity.

The primary governance principle is the adherence to the
three lines of defence model which provides a foundation for
a clear division of roles and responsibilities in the organisa-
tion. For further information about the three lines of defence,
see “Internal control framework".

Clear roles and responsibilities are crucial in the governance
of Internal Control over Financial Reporting (“ICFR"). The first
line of defence is responsible for the daily risk management
and for compliance with applicable rules. Risk owners in the
business areas and group functions are responsible for risk
management activities. A central function supports the CFO in
defining standards that apply to relevant controls Group wide.
These controls are implemented and maintained within signifi-
cant processes and monitored by quarterly self-assessments.
The GRC, in the second line of defence, is responsible for moni-
toring the implementation of ICFR framework.

Risk Assessment
Risk assessment in relation to reliable financial reporting
involves the identification and assessment of risks of material
misstatements or deficiencies. Financial reporting risk
("FRR") is defined as the risk of misstatements or deficiencies
in financial reporting, regulatory reporting and disclosures.
Risk management is considered to be an integral part of run-
ning the business and the main responsibility for performing
risk assessments regarding financial reporting risks sits with
the business organisation. Performing risk assessments close to
the business increases the possibility of identifying the most
relevant risks. In order to govern the quality, control functions

Annual Report 2020 Nordea

stipulate in governing documents when and how these assess-
ments should be performed. Examples of risk assessments are
the reoccurring Risk and Control Self-Assessments and the

event-driven Change Risk Management and Approval process.

Control Activities

The scope of the ICFR framework is designed to focus on
areas where risk of material financial misstatements could
exist, i.e. where the judgment of a reasonable person relying
upon the report would have been changed or influenced by
the inclusion or correction of the misstated item.

Business areas and group functions are primarily respon-
sible for managing risks associated with the units’ operations
and financial reporting processes. Entity Wide Controls
("EWC's") are directive measures and governance bodies in
place to set the standards for internal control, such as The
Group Accounting Manual, Financial Control Principles and
the Group Valuation Committee. The Group Accounting Manu-
al ("GAM") holds information on the accounting policies to be
used in the Group and contains detailed reporting instructions
and the tools needed for producing the financial statements.

The ICFR control structure is based on Transaction Level
Controls (“TLC") that are identified by analysing risks based
on high level processes with an end-to-end product focus.
After deciding on the TLCs an analysis is performed to deter-
mine which systems/applications are relied on in financial re-
porting, including the IT General Controls.

The quality assurance achieved through the management
reporting process, where a detailed analysis of the financial
outcome is performed, constitutes an important control
mechanism associated with the reporting process.

Information and Communication

Group Finance ("GF") is responsible for ensuring that the
GAM and the Financial Control Principles are up to date and
that changes are communicated to the responsible units.
These directive measures are supported by detailed guide-
lines and standard operating procedures in the responsible
units.

Management at different levels in the organisation are pro-
vided with information related to the performance and
assessment of the identified key controls and details on the
outcome of the self-assessment of controls in their process.

Nordea interacts with relevant subject-matter experts
externally to keep up to date with changes in reporting
expectations and ensure fulfilment of financial reporting
objectives. Nordea actively participates in relevant national
and international forums, such as those established by the
financial supervisory authorities, central banks and associa-
tions for financial institutions.

Monitoring

Nordea has established a process for regular self-assessment
of internal controls with the purpose of ensuring proper mon-
itoring of the quality of the financial reporting. The Group
CFO reports specifically on self-assessment outcomes, and
other activities related to the management of financial
reporting risks to the BAC on a quarterly basis.

An independent risk control function resides in the second
line of defence and is responsible for identifying, controlling
and reporting on financial reporting risks. In addition, GIA
provides the Board with an assessment of the overall effec-
tiveness of the governance, risk management and control
processes throughout the organisation, including financial
reporting.

The Board, BAC, BRIC, BOSC, GRC and GIA have important
roles in respect of governance and oversight of the internal
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Control Activities

Entity Wide Controls

Policy

Transaction Level Controls

r IT General Controls j

Examples of control activities in Nordea:

Entity Wide Controls: Highest level of internal
controls. Integral in setting the “tone at the
top” and the requirements of Nordea's control
environment.

control of financial reporting at Nordea Group. For further
information, see “The work of the Board of Directors (3)",
“Board Audit Committee (4)", “Board Risk Committee (5)",
“Board Operations and Sustainability Committee (7)", "Group
Risk and Compliance (9)" and “Group Internal Audit (10)" in
the previous pages.

Insider administration

Insider administration is organised according to the applica-
ble EU and national level laws and regulations. The Board has
approved groupwide rules and guidelines to provide clear
instructions for employees to facilitate their compliance with
the rules applicable to ensure that inside information is iden-
tified and handled appropriately.

Insiders are identified on a case-by-case basis whenever
inside information is detected and are subsequently regis-
tered on a related insider register and notified of their insider
status. All identified insiders are then prohibited from dealing
in the financial instrument(s) to which the inside information
relates, until that information is made public or otherwise no
longer deemed inside information, and the insider register is

Transaction Level Controls: Procedures to
ensure effectiveness of process level controls,
either automated, semi-manual or manual, e.g.
reconciliations, 4-eyes principle, follow up on
error reports and analytical reviews.

IT General Controls: Controls and procedures
with the objective to ensure completeness
and accuracy in processing of financial infor-
mation, e.g. logical security, change manage-
ment and batch routines. These controls also
support the effective functioning of relevant
application controls.

closed. Nordea does not maintain a permanent insider regis-
ter under the EU Market Abuse Regulation No 596/2014
("MAR").

The Company has also identified members of the Board
and GLT as well as the CAE as persons discharging manage-
rial responsibilities (as defined by MAR) who, along with per-
sons closely associated with them, are required to notify the
Company and the relevant financial supervisory authority of
any transaction in financial instruments issued by Nordea
executed on their account or on their behalf. The Company
publishes such reported transactions to the market through
stock exchange releases.

In addition to this reporting duty, persons discharging
managerial responsibilities are prohibited from trading in
financial instruments issued by Nordea during a period of 30
calendar days before (and including) the date of the publica-
tion of a Nordea Group interim financial report, half-year
report or a year-end report, as well as whenever such per-
sons are in possession of inside information about Nordea.

For employees who participate in providing investment
services or advice to clients, the Company also applies group-

Nordea Annual Report 2020



Board of Directors' report

Corporate Governance Statement 2020 56

wide internal trading restrictions and transaction reporting
obligations that are based on the trading rules established by,
inter alia, Finance Finland, the Swedish Securities Dealers
Association and the Swedish Investment Fund Association.
Furthermore, in the capacity of a company licensed to provide
investment services and as a fund management company, the
Company and its subsidiary Nordea Funds Ltd, respectively,
maintain insider registers of persons who are classified as
“public insiders" pursuant to the Finnish Act on Investment
Services and the Finnish Act on Mutual Funds. The holdings
of such persons in securities listed in Finland are public infor-
mation and uploaded to the public insider register kept by
Euroclear Finland Oy. The register of holders of units in funds
managed by Nordea Funds Ltd is also available for viewing at
Nordea Funds Ltd.

The responsibilities of Nordea's insider administration
include training of and providing information to employees
who are exposed to inside information, to make sure they are
aware of the restrictions and obligations placed on insiders,
setting up and maintaining insider registers, as well as moni-
toring compliance with the insider rules. The rules are put in
place to mitigate the risk of insider dealing and other forms of
market abuse, and the overall responsibility for making sure
that a high level of knowledge of and compliance with these
rules is maintained is held by Group Compliance.

Principles for related party transactions

Applicable laws and regulations set requirements for moni-
toring, assessment, and decision-making concerning related
party transactions as well as for the disclosure of executed
related party transactions.

Generally, the Company'’s transactions with its related par-
ties are part of the Company'’s ordinary course of business
and carried out on the same criteria and terms as those of
comparable transactions with other parties of similar stand-
ing. The decision-making processes have furthermore been
structured in order to avoid conflict of interests and to comply
with the statutory decision-making requirements.

The Company has defined its related parties in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations and keeps an up-to-
date record of its related parties. Relevant internal stakehold-
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ers, such as client responsible units and other relevant busi-
ness units and group functions, are informed of the list of
related parties and thereto related restrictions, in order to
monitor transactions with such parties.

Nordea is also bound by applicable close circle rules and
has processes in place for identifying the persons belonging
to the close circle of Nordea and ensuring that credits and
comparable financing granted to such persons, as well as any
investments into an entity belonging to the close circle, are in
accordance with applicable laws and rules.

Pursuant to the Company’s conflict of interest policy,
Nordea's employees, management and members of the
Board may not handle matters on behalf of Nordea in cases
where he/she or a closely associated person or company may
have an interest that conflicts with the interests of Nordea or
its customers. Nordea'’s business areas and group functions
are obliged to identify, prevent and manage actual and
potential conflicts of interests.

The Board has the ultimate responsibility for ensuring
proper processes for the identification, reporting, and super-
vision of related party transactions as well as the proper deci-
sion making related thereto. The BAC shall assist the Board in
respect of monitoring and assessing how related party trans-
actions meet the requirements of ordinary activities and
arm’s-length terms.

Related party transactions that are not part of the Com-
pany’s ordinary course of business or are made in deviation
from customary commercial terms require a decision of the
Board to carry out the related party transaction, unless
required otherwise based on applicable laws and regulations.
In respect of such related party transactions the Board must
ensure that: (i) the relevant transactions have been appropri-
ately identified, reported, and controlled (ii) the preparation
and decision making have carefully considered the conflict of
interest policy; and (iii) the preparation of related party trans-
actions contain adequate reports, statements, and/or assess-
ments. Furthermore, Nordea publicly discloses its related
party transactions, in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations.

Further information about related party transactions is pre-
sented in Note G1 on page 101 and Note G45 on page 192.
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Non-Financial Statement

This report constitutes Nordea's non-financial statement for the financial year 2020.
The report covers the parent company Nordea Bank Abp and its subsidiaries.

In 2020, Nordea was present in 22 countries, including our
four Nordic home markets — Denmark, Finland, Norway and
Sweden. Through our four business areas — Personal Bank-
ing, Business Banking, Large Corporates & Institutions and
Asset & Wealth Management — we offer a wide range of
products and services.

As a financial institution, our business model is to create
value for our customers, investors, employees, shareholders
and society in general. For a sustainable business model to
succeed, value cannot only include monetary means, but
must encompass environmental concern, social responsibility,
employee-related matters, respect for human rights and
anti-corruption.

We believe we can do this through sustainable banking. As
a leading bank, with a wide spectrum of customers and val-
ues deeply rooted in the Nordics, we recognise that we have a
key role to play in the transition to a resilient economy. This
entails mitigating environmental, social and governance
("ESG") risks by embedding sustainability throughout the
bank, into our products and processes in our core areas of
financing, investment and advice, and in our internal opera-
tions. It also entails inspiring and enabling our customers to
make sustainable choices.

Material sustainability topics and targets

As a member of the core group of founding banks and a sig-
natory to the Principles for Responsible Banking, Nordea is
committed to the objectives of the Paris Agreement and the
UN Sustainable Development Goals.

We have developed a long-term plan to fully integrate sus-
tainability into our business strategy focusing on the sustain-
ability topics where Nordea can have a material impact,
either through reducing our negative impact or increasing our
positive impact. The material topics were identified through a
combined materiality and impact analysis conducted in 2020.
The analysis considered all of Nordea, which means all busi-
ness areas, all products and services as well as internal oper-
ations. The identified material topics were grouped into four
strategic pillars: financial strength, climate action, social
responsibility, and governance and culture. These are con-
nected to targets for 2023 and the climate action pillar also to
long-term objectives. The targets and objectives were
approved by the President and Group CEO in the Group Lead-
ership Team ("GLT") in November 2020 and by the Board of
Directors (the "Board") in December 2020.

The short-term targets we set for 2020 were a continuation
of the targets for 2019, focusing on aligning both with the
Paris Agreement but with an even clearer focus on granular-
ity and measurability. Most of the targets for 2019 and 2020
have been fulfilled now. Those that were not have been inte-
grated with the new targets and objectives.

Financial strength

Managing ESG-related risk is key to maintaining our financial
strength. In response to the heightened supervisory and regu-
latory expectations on ESG, a group-wide task force was
established in June 2020 with the objective to assess how to
comply with the ECB's Guide on Climate-Related and Envi-
ronmental Risks and to address any required developments.
The outcome of this work was presented to the Risk Commit-
tee ("RC"), the Business Ethics and Values Committee
("BEVC"), the GLT, and the Board Risk Committee ("BRIC").
This included a high-level five-year action plan to remediate
identified gaps through clear allocation of roles and responsi-

bilities across the three lines of defence and a proposal for a
steady-state ESG-related risk governance.

Strategic management of ESG-related risks

We define ESG risk as the risk of negative financial impact
over the short to longer term, stemming from the direct or
indirect impact that environmental (including climate), social
and governance issues may have on Nordea. These issues
relate either to Nordea's internal operations (such as process-
es, people, systems and the functions supporting Nordea's
internal operations such as outsourcing) or to its financial
exposures such as issues relating to trading positions, the
operations of Nordea's customers (including borrowers and
trading counterparties) and those of the companies that
Nordea has invested in.

Consequently, Nordea considers ESG factors as drivers of
existing risk categories and will further incorporate them into
existing risk management frameworks taking a proportionate
and risk-based approach. Recent efforts have focused on inte-
grating climate-related risks in the credit risk framework
while integration to other financial risk frameworks is planned
to start in 2021.

Managing ESG-related risk in relation to our customers
In relation to our customers, Nordea’s Code of Conduct is the
central steering document for our financing operations
together with our principles on ESG in financing, investing
and advice in our sustainability policy.

The ESG evaluation of large corporate borrowers is cur-
rently integrated into the credit process through the credit
risk framework. There are different types of ESG evaluations
performed depending on the type and size of the transaction
and the customer's internal segmentation. In the needs analy-
sis stage of the credit process for Large Corporates & Institu-
tions, the customer responsible unit is responsible for the cus-
tomer dialogue and for performing the initial credit risk
screening of the customer. They must adhere to the guiding
parameters and requirements for ESG in our industry-specific
credit policies. ESG-related risks identified in the ESG evalua-
tion process are integrated into the credit risk assessment. A
credit memorandum is produced, which contains a conclusion
on the level of ESG-related risk associated with the customer.
Approval follows the established credit decision-making pro-
cess. For customers classified as having high ESG-related risk,
the decision is escalated to the Executive Credit Committee.

In 2021, the credit risk framework will be updated to
address regulatory requirements and supervisory expecta-
tions on the integration of climate and environmental factors
in customer onboarding, evaluation and monitoring
processes.

For household customers seeking mortgage funding, ener-
gy efficiency labels are increasingly one of the factors consid-
ered in credit decision-making.

ESG-related risk identification and materiality assessment
In 2020, the materiality assessment for ESG-related risks
associated with financial exposures focused on the impact of
physical and transitional climate change factors on our corpo-
rate loan portfolio. The assessment concluded that climate-
related risks are material to our credit risk profile. We will
therefore manage ESG-related risks in line with internal rules
for all material risk types. By the end of 2023 we shall have
risk assessments in place for the sectors and customers most
vulnerable to climate risk.
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The assessment of physical impacts of climate change was
qualitative. For transitional impacts, stress testing was used
by introducing uniform increases in the greenhouse gas emis-
sions tax over a period of three years. The tax was applied as
an increased cost to corporate borrowers using sector aver-
age statistics sourced from Eurostat for the intensity of emis-
sions from fuel combustion.

Norwegian mortgage pilot

In 2020, we piloted physical risk identification for our Norwe-
gian mortgage portfolio. The exercise highlighted the number
of properties and total value of collateral exposures in the
locations most vulnerable to flooding and risk of landslide.
Out of the assessed mortgage portfolio, the largest concen-
trations of exposed collaterals were in zones at low risk of
landslide (26.4%), in flood zones with a 1,000-year return
interval (17.8%), in flood zones with 200-year return intervals
(11.4%) and in zones at high risk of landslide (4.1%). Currently,
damage from these hazards is covered by insurance in Nor-
way. Recognising that property valuations may be impacted
by market perception of heightened physical risk, we are con-
sidering proactive mitigation measures as a next step. Due to
the materiality of mortgage exposures at group level, a work-
ing group was established to support Nordea’s four mortgage
banks in collecting and utilising comparable data for assess-
ment of the physical and transitional impacts of climate
change on collateral valuations.

Physical risk heatmapping

In 2020, we participated in phase Il of the UN Environmental
Programme Finance Initiative (UNEP FI) TCFD (Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures) banking pilot. Leverag-
ing on that participation, we adopted a bespoke method to
classify sectors most vulnerable to physical hazards in our
four home markets. The method has been scientifically
reviewed from a climatological perspective in terms of its
geographical applicability by the Swedish Meteorological and
Hydrological Institute (SMHI). According to our classification,
sectors vulnerable to physical hazards include animal hus-
bandry, paper and forest products, oil, gas and offshore, fish-
ing and aquaculture, materials, retail trade, mining and sup-
porting activities, power production, accommodation and lei-
sure and land transportation. The analysis considers also the
vulnerability of mortgage exposures to physical hazards
based on geographical location. The method will potentially
guide more granular assessments and initiation of proactive
mitigation measures.

Transition risk classification

In 2020, a bespoke approach was developed to classify eco-
nomic activities according to their impact on the climate,
accounting both for business models that are resilient and
those that are vulnerable to market and policy changes in the
Nordic market. According to our classification, sectors likely
to be impacted by the transition to a low-carbon economy
include oil, gas and offshore, animal husbandry, shipping,
land transportation, utilities, distribution and waste manage-
ment, materials, mining and supporting activities, capital
goods, power production and construction. Subject to further
development and testing, the classification will be integrated
into the credit risk framework and processes in 2021.

Integrating climate risk in investment decision-making

In 2020, Nordea Life & Pension ("NLP") further advanced its
models and capabilities for assessing and integrating climate
risk into its investment decision-making and risk manage-
ment processes. For listed equity and corporate debt expo-
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sures, NLP uses the MSCI Climate Value at Risk ("CVaR")!
methodology to assess both transition (policy) and physical
risks in various climate scenarios. As at the end of 2020, NLP’s
total listed equity exposure, measured against a 1.5°C trajec-
tory, had a policy risk CVaR of -12% and a physical risk CVaR
of -7.9%. For corporate debt exposure, the CVaR results were
-3.5% for policy risk and -0.7% for physical risk. In the real
estate portfolios, NLP uses the Carbon Risk Real Estate Moni-
tor ("CRREM") to assess the risk of stranded assets from a
transition to a low-carbon economy. NLP is a member of
CRREM's European Investor Committee and has been
involved in developing the model. During 2020, NLP made an
initial assessment of the Swedish and Finnish real estate
portfolios using CRREM'’s methodology and 1.5°C decarboni-
sation pathways on end-of-year 2019 data. The assessment
showed an aggregated carbon value at risk of +0.4% and
-0.6% respectively with the majority of buildings in both port-
folios aligned with a 1.5°C trajectory up to 2030.

Climate action

Our climate action agenda is acting in line with our plan to
deliver on our targets and enable our customers to choose
sustainable solutions. As such, our objectives for our business
are to achieve net zero emissions by the end of 2050 at the
latest and to reduce carbon emissions from our lending and
investment portfolios by 40-50% by the end of 2030 com-
pared to 2019. To support our target setting and to deliver on
our long-term objectives we joined The Partnership for Car-
bon Accounting Financials ("PCAF") in December 2020 and
have accordingly measured our financed emissions on busi-
ness loans, listed equity, corporate fixed income and commer-
cial real estate investment asset classes.

Policies and guidelines

Our commitments in relation to climate change are described
in our Position Statement on Climate Change. It states, among
other things, our position in relation to thermal coal, coal min-
ing and extraction of oil sands. In addition, we have several
sector guidelines addressing the climate issue. In 2020, we
updated our sector guidelines for the fossil fuels industry to
allow for heightening demands on our climate work. These
guidelines set out our expectations on customers and invest-
ee companies in the fossil fuels industry in terms of their
commitment to fulfilling the objectives of the Paris Agree-
ment and investing in and working towards the necessary
energy transition. Among other things, the guidelines now
explicitly states that we do not provide project financing dedi-
cated to the extraction of unconventional oil and gas.

During the year, Nordea Asset Management ("NAM") pub-
lished a policy relating to fossil fuel for the sustainability-
enhanced funds, requiring all fossil fuel companies to demon-
strate that they have a decarbonisation strategy that is con-
sistent with 2 degrees global warming or lower. These
companies are put on the Paris-Aligned Fossil Fuel list and
are eligible for inclusion in any of Nordea's sustainability-
enhanced funds. Companies that are not on the list are
excluded from such funds.

Internal carbon footprint

Although Nordea's greatest impact on climate is through
financing and investments, we also work with reducing cli-
mate impact from our internal operations. Our 2030 objective
is to reduce carbon emissions from our internal operations by
more than 50% compared to 2019, and with a 30% reduction
by the end of 2023. Already in 2019 we reduced our carbon

1) Certain information ©2020 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission.
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footprint, despite an increase in scope in 2019 to also include
postal services, paper and water. Following this reduction, our
total emissions of 15,898 tonnes CO2e2 in 2020 marked a 62%
reduction from 2019, even though waste was added to the
scope in 2020. The reduction in carbon emissions was mainly
due to Nordea's travel policy in response to the COVID-19
pandemic.

Social responsibility

Social responsibility is about taking sustainability issues such
as human rights, labour rights, employment, gender equality
and education into consideration throughout our entire value
chain.

Human rights

Human rights are included in our Code of Conduct, Sustain-
ability Policy, Responsible Investment Policy, Supplier Code of
Conduct and in our Sector Guidelines as relevant for specific
industries. To ensure adequate awareness of human rights as
included in our ethical principles, all Nordea employees are
required to complete annual Code of Conduct training as part
of their Licence to Work. At Nordea, we address human rights
in all parts of the organisation and due diligence processes.
We have identified our most critical areas in terms of human
rights as being within investing, financing, transactions and
sourcing.

The ESG assessments included in our investment and
financing decision-making processes include human and
labour rights, as does the norm-based screening of all Nordea
funds. As per December 2020, we have 10 companies on our
exclusion list due to violations of human rights-related norms,
including norms violation of the rights of indigenous peoples.
From a financing perspective, identified adverse human rights
violations might affect a customer’s credit assessment.

Human rights is one perspective taken into account when
monitoring customer transactions for a wide range of behav-
iours that can be indicative of potential financial crime risk.
Individual transaction behaviour and monitoring scenarios
such as transactions with certain high-risk jurisdictions or
indications of funnel account behaviour can relate to many
types of financial and predicate crime including modern slav-
ery and human trafficking.

From a sourcing perspective, in 2020 we performed a pre-
liminary assessment of the human rights risk picture of
Nordea’s supply chain based on country, sector and actual
spend. The assessment revealed that 92% of our spend is
placed in countries and sectors at low risk of human rights
breaches. In 2021 onwards we will deep-dive into high-risk
areas like modern slavery and conflict minerals, via engage-
ment and collaboration with stakeholders. We have set a tar-
get, that by 2023, we will have a human rights impact assess-
ment of our supply chain in place, where high-risk areas are
identified and where appropriate actions have been taken to
mitigate and manage these.

Inclusive work environment
Our ambition is to ensure that equality, being a fundamental
human right, is embedded in our business and operation. This
means that we work to ensure equal opportunities for all our
people and that we offer a safe and inclusive workplace
where all people are respected and can thrive and contribute
to the development of Nordea.

Our ambition is to strive for gender balance in all parts of

2) The GHG accounting is performed according to the GHG Protocol, including scope 1-3
and the following sources: Scope 1is mobile combustion of leased cars and stationary
combustion from diesel generators. Scope 2 is purchased electricity, heating and cool-
ing. Scope 3 is production of energy carriers, business travel, postal service, paper,
water and waste.

the organisation, in the total workforce as well as on every
leadership level. During 2020, we have succeeded in main-
taining the gender balance in the total workforce with 49%
women (49%) and 51% (51%) men. In the GLT, the gender
balance has improved to 36% (22%) women and 64% (78%)
men during 2020. Four out of the five latest GLT appoint-
ments have been female. To further improve the gender bal-
ance at all senior manager levels, we are actively working to
improve the balance in succession pipelines and when
recruiting.

We have a broad definition of diversity and aim to attract
and retain people of different gender, gender identity, age,
ethnicity and national backgrounds, cultural affiliation, sexual
orientation, physical ability and other aspects. Our Diversity
and Inclusion Committee was established to discuss, monitor
and influence the overall strategic direction and key efforts
within the area of diversity and inclusion across Nordea and
ensure anchoring in top executive management. We have
also embedded bias awareness in leadership programmes to
counter potential biases in people-related decisions and train-
ing activities that will continue to support our diversity and
inclusion efforts.

Nordea is committed to ensure that all employees are sub-
ject to fair and unbiased remuneration decisions. We analyse
annually potential equal pay gaps, and we continue to sup-
port people leaders through communication and training to
mitigate risk of discrimination in remuneration or other
employment terms.

At Nordea we condemn all forms of discrimination. We
have zero tolerance for any form of harassment, bullying or
victimisation. In 2020, 1% (2%) of the respondents to our Peo-
ple Pulse survey stated that they have been subjected to
some sort of harassment or other mistreatment. We are
happy to see that the number of incidents has decreased
since 2019 and understand that our ongoing work with proac-
tive measures to ensure safe and inclusive workplaces makes
a difference and needs to continue. In 2020, 10 (28) harass-
ment cases were reported through our whistleblowing func-
tion Raise Your Concern ("RYC").

Employment

Our employee survey, People Pulse, enables us to measure
the engagement levels and wellbeing of our people and also
to monitor signs of changing trends to enable taking swift
action. The response rate to People Pulse increased to 81% in
2020 compared to 78% in 2019 with a positive trend in all
questions. We encourage our people to be physically active
and take care of their health and our leaders to take a genu-
ine interest in the wellbeing of our people. This is particularly
important now during the pandemic and in times of working
from home and social distancing, as we know that the situa-
tion can be both physically and mentally challenging. Moni-
tored quarterly, the sick leave rate of 3.02% shows a slight
downward trend from 3.49% in 2019. 91% (91%) of our people
feel they are always or often in good shape to carry out their
work, with 80% (79%) feeling they have a good balance
between work and other aspects of life.

Nordea continuously follows the development of the
COVID-19 situation and reviews the guidelines from local,
European and global health authorities. As the situation and
mitigating actions vary between countries, local groups were
set up in addition to the group level coordination team. To
reduce the risks and protect both our employees and custom-
ers, Nordea took several measures such as restrictions in
business travelling, general recommendation for remote
work, planning office work in shifts, organised distance at the
office, increased cleaning and disinfection at all Nordea prem-
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ises. Extra communication efforts have been taken to ensure

that the latest information is always available to our employ-
ees, and leaders have been offered training in remote leader-
ship, wellbeing and communication.

The COVID-19 crisis proved to be a fast-track for Nordea to
trial new practices for flexible work, with many of our col-
leagues finding new ways to collaborate and communicate
both internally and with customers. While there are several
positive indications, Nordea will need to monitor and assess
the long-term impact of flexible working on wellbeing, per-
formance, culture, innovation and productivity. Being a uni-
versal bank comes with specific conditions whereby some
roles and tasks cannot be executed outside of company
premises. This applies especially for employees in customer-
facing roles, with financial transactions and/or working with
sensitive data. All these aspects are taken into consideration
as part of the flexible working initiatives started at the end of
2020, aiming to support Nordea in becoming a sustainable
employer for the future.

As communicated in 2019, income development, digitalisa-
tion and automation will most likely drive a need for adjust-
ments and changes in how we organise and how we work. In
cases where this could lead to certain job changes, we will
play a key role in securing the right strategic approach for
engaging our people during times of change, while respect-
ing labour market conditions. Together with the trade unions
and through constructive discussions, we are committed to
treating our people with respect and care, and we aim to sup-
port any affected people with developing the right skills and
finding new job opportunities inside and outside Nordea.

Community engagement

Community engagement at Nordea is about creating positive
change through our employees. In over 20 programmes and
partnerships, we focus on building financial skills and foster-
ing entrepreneurship, thus enabling our core competencies to
have a positive impact in society. Between 2017 and 2019, vol-
unteering at Nordea grew almost 250% to a participation rate
(share of engaged employees) of 18%. For 2020, the ambition
was to continue with a high level of engagement. However,
after societies started to close down in March the number of
volunteering opportunities fell significantly. Despite this, close
to 1,500 Nordea employees delivered 6,000 hours of volun-
teering in 2020, corresponding to a little more than 25% of
2019 levels.

Governance and culture

Sound corporate governance means ensuring that companies
are run sustainably, responsibly and as efficiently as possible
on behalf of their shareholders. Confidence of legislators and
the public in companies acting sustainably and responsibly is
crucial if companies are to have the freedom to realise their
strategies to create value.

Sustainability governance

To support the approach suggested by the task force on cli-
mate-related and environmental risks— to establish a steady-
state ESG risk governance — we decided to transform our sus-
tainability governance model to tie sustainability and risk
closer together.

At Board level the Board Operations and Sustainability
Committee ("BOSC") assists the Board in fulfilling its over-
sight responsibilities concerning sustainability, which includes
the strategy, operational model, reporting and frameworks.
The Board is also assisted by BRIC in the fulfilment of its
oversight responsibilities concerning the management of
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risks, related frameworks, controls and processes (including
ESG factors as drivers of existing risk).

At an executive level, in 2020 our governance structure
included the group-wide BEVC as a sub-committee of the
CEO's GLT. BEVC consisted of representatives from the busi-
ness areas and group functions, including Group Risk and
Compliance, and acted as an executive preparatory body for
the President and Group CEO and the Board. BEVC monitored
and reviewed relevant group policies related to sustainability.
It was also responsible for recommending to the Group CEO
participation in and exit from commitments to sustainability
as well as approving external position statements and sector
guidelines. The BEVC also had a role in preparing the sustain-
ability strategy, targets and the Sustainability Report for the
President and Group CEO and the Board. The RC also provid-
ed input for our sustainability agenda from the risk perspec-
tive. The role of the RC in relation to sustainability will remain
in place in 2021, but BEVC will be replaced by the Sustainabil-
ity and Ethics Committee ("SEC") in January 2021. SEC will
have a stronger mandate to facilitate further integration of
sustainability into our business strategy and to support the
integration of ESG factors in 1st LoD risk management.

Business ethics

Nordea's Code of Conduct, together with Nordea's Sustain-
ability Policy, defines the high-level principles that guide our
business, how we treat our customers and the conduct
expected from our employees. They underpin our culture and
set the parameters for our conduct in areas such as care for
the environment, labour rights, how we treat our customers,
human rights, the right to privacy, fair competition, anti-brib-
ery and anti-corruption. The Code of Conduct is reviewed
annually and was last updated in June 2020. Compliance with
the Code of Conduct is monitored by way of regular reporting
to the Chief Compliance Officer, Chief Risk Officer, President
and Group CEO and the Board. All our employees are
required to complete annual training on the Code of Conduct
as part of their Licence to Work to ensure proper awareness
and knowledge of the ethical principles. In 2020, 93.9 (98.5%)
of all employees (excluding those on long-term leave) com-
pleted their Licence to Work during the year. The 2020 train-
ing also included security and financial crime in addition to
the general Code of Conduct-related contents such as anti-
corruption and bribery to mention some.

Preventing financial crime

Nordea fully recognises the threat that societies face from
human trafficking, terrorism, corruption, drug smuggling, tax
evasion and other forms of illegal activities. Tracking down
and stopping the money flows from these activities is a key
way to disrupt the criminals involved.

At Nordea, we are doing our utmost to ensure that our
resources, products and services are not used to facilitate
financial crime. We also commit to complying with the laws
and regulations relevant to anti-money laundering ("AML"),
counter terrorist financing ("CTF"), sanctions and bribery and
corruption in the jurisdictions in which we operate. In addi-
tion, we have maintained and increased our continuous
engagement with the regulators throughout the year, demon-
strating progress made towards increasing our defences.

Over the years, we have significantly increased our focus to
ensure we have the right people and effective tools in place
to help combat financial crime, and have established strong
risk management policies and practices to support our com-
mitment to protect our customers and society from financial
crime. With over EUR 850m invested since 2015, we have
strengthened our risk and compliance platforms, providing
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vital support to our financial crime prevention efforts, and
today we have more than 1,600 employees working on com-
batting money laundering and other types of financial crime.
In addition, across the organisation, the culture of risk man-
agement has been accelerated the past couple of years
through compulsory training for all employees and
consultants.

Each year, approximately 2.5 billion transactions pass
through Nordea, which are monitored through our systems
and processes. To handle these volumes, we have strength-
ened our monitoring capabilities through investments in tech-
nology, more sophisticated assessment techniques and addi-
tional employees. From this monitoring, we investigate any
concern identified and in cases where we detect suspicious
activity, we report it to the authorities for them to take it for-
ward. We also continuously strengthen our sanctions screen-
ing capabilities on both our customers and their transactions,
each year expanding our coverage of sanctions lists and
strengthening our automated controls. We also continuously
develop our Know Your Customers (KYC) tools and processes
to secure an understanding of our customers’ behaviour and
improve efficiency, all the while enhancing our customers’
experience. Additionally, through increasingly sophisticated
investigations and analytical capabilities, in 2020 we have
conducted investigations on matters such as complex cross-
border money laundering schemes, human trafficking and
terrorist financing-related cases, and on suspicious transac-
tions related to COVID-19.

For more information about how Nordea works with AML,
see our Sustainability Report 2020 at nordea.com.

Cyber security

Nordea, like any other bank, is introducing new technologies
and exploring new ways of doing business and connecting
with customers. This enlarges the bank’s attack surface. At
the same time, entities that pose cyber threats are becoming
better organised, resourced and experienced. Adding to this
is the asymmetry of banks having to protect all assets appro-
priately, while entities engaged in cyber threats merely need
to find one weak spot. This poses an unprecedented risk to
the banking industry. Nordea is not just focusing on the ade-
quacy of the basics of information security controls, but also
enhancing cyber capabilities with security detection and

response defences. We are investing in our cyber defence
with new tools and functions, and we continue to focus on
ensuring that our basic controls are operating effectively.
Innovative security practices are developed to encompass
new business demands such as robust mobile banking appli-
cations and proactive customer support for fraud detection
and prevention.

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in a number of
employees working remotely in order to continue servicing
customers. In this situation, Nordea has continuously been
assessing the risks and introduced remediation activities. This
includes technical and organisational controls, as well as an
increased focus on security awareness and training for all
staff. Whilst we noticed many COVID-related cyber-attacks
across the industry, Nordea has maintained the high resil-
ience level in protecting customer data and services.

Whistleblowing

The whistleblowing function, RYC, ensures that all of
Nordea's stakeholders, including customers, partners, affect-
ed communities as well as our own employees, have the right
to speak up and always feel safe in doing so if they have con-
cerns about suspected misconduct such as breaches of
human rights, or irregularities such as fraudulent, inappropri-
ate, dishonest, illegal or negligent activity or behaviour in our
operations, products or services. This includes any action that
constitutes a violation of laws or regulations, or of Nordea's
internal policies, instructions or guidelines.

We offer the possibility to report openly, by providing
name and contact details, as all reports are handled with
strict confidentiality. However, we also provide an electronic
reporting channel, WhistleB, which is managed by an exter-
nal party. The system is separate from Nordea's IT systems
and does not track IP addresses or other data that could iden-
tify the sender of a message. Reports can be in Danish, Eng-
lish, Finnish, Norwegian and Swedish.

Cases reported through RYC form part of the monitoring of
compliance with the Code of Conduct and are reported to the
Chief People Officer in addition to being included in the
aforementioned regular management reports and reports to
the Board.

For more information about how Nordea works with sus-
tainability, see our Sustainability Report 2020 at nordea.com.
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Conflicts of interest policy

As a global financial services provider, Nordea Bank Abp and
its subsidiaries (“Nordea”) regularly face potential or actual
conflict of interest situations. Managing conflicts of interest is
relevant at both the individual and institutional level of
Nordea's organisation. Nordea is committed to promoting
market integrity and fair treatment of customers. All employ-
ees are required to act in a fair, honest and professional man-
ner and in the best interests of Nordea's customers. In order
to act upon these commitments and ensure appropriate gov-
ernance of Nordea, it is essential to have effective controls in
place regarding conflicts of interest. The purpose of the
Group Board Directive on Conflicts of Interest (the “Direc-
tive") is to outline Nordea's approach to managing conflicts of
interest and to enable developing and maintaining an effec-
tive control environment.

The Directive applies to all employees and people working
on behalf of Nordea, senior management, Group Board
members and the Preseident and Group CEO of Nordea. The
Directive also applies to all branches and subsidiaries.

Both actual and potential conflicts of interest must be iden-
tified and effective measures decided upon to prevent or
manage risks in respect of Nordea or its customers. Conflicts
of interest arising with regards to an employee’s private inter-
est or their past or present personal or professional relation-
ships are individual conflicts of interest. Conflicts of interest
that do not arise from a private interest but in connection
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with Nordea's organisation, group structure, governance,
different activities, roles, products, services or any other
circumstances are institutional conflicts of interest. In connec-
tion with each identified conflict of interest, the potential cus-
tomer impact is assessed to ensure fair treatment of
customers.

All potential or actual conflicts of interest must be identi-
fied and assessed. Appropriate preventive or mitigating
measures must be implemented in the form of effective
organisational and administrative measures. Identified
conflicts of interest are documented in a register.

All identified individual conflicts of interest or changed
circumstances must be reported to the manager of the indi-
vidual employee involved. All conflicts of interest or changed
circumstances regarding an institutional conflict of interest
must be reported to the manager responsible for the area
that the conflict of interest potentially impacts. Senior man-
agement will receive recurring, at least annual, reporting on
institutional conflicts of interest.

The Group Board approves the Directive and is responsible
for overseeing its implementation. To ensure objective and
impartial decision-making, Group Board members are also
subject to the requirements of the Directive. The President
and Group CEO and Group Leadership Team members are
accountable for implementing the Directive at Nordea while
also being subject to the requirements of the Directive.
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Remuneration

Nordea has a clear remuneration policy, instructions and processes, supporting sound
remuneration structures throughout the organisation.

Aim of Nordea's Remuneration Policy

Nordea's Remuneration Policy (internally referred to as the

Group Board Directive on Remuneration) will:

¢ Support Nordea’s ability to recruit, develop and retain
highly motivated, competent and performance-oriented
employees and hence support the group strategy;

¢ Ensure that employees are offered a competitive and
market-aligned total reward offering;

¢ Support sustainable results and the long-term interests of
shareholders by including goals directly linked to the per-
formance of Nordea and by awarding parts of variable
remuneration in shares or other instruments; and

¢ Ensure that remuneration at Nordea is aligned with effi-
cient risk management, the Nordea Purpose and Values
and applicable regulations.

Nordea has a total remuneration approach to compensation
that recognises the importance of well-balanced but differen-
tiated remuneration structures, based on business and local
market needs, as well as the importance of having remunera-
tion that is consistent with and promotes sound and effective
risk management, and that does not encourage excessive
risk-taking or counteract Nordea's long-term interests.

The link between performance, risk and variable remuner-
ation in Nordea’'s remuneration components is assessed
annually to ensure business relevance, to ensure that all risks
are addressed appropriately, and to ensure compliance with
applicable international and local regulations. This includes
non-financial risks related to operational risks, compliance
risks, reputational risks and specific remuneration-related
risks. Most remuneration-related risks concern variable remu-
neration which, if not appropriately considered, could lead to
excessive risk-taking. Risks are addressed through the regular
reviews of both remuneration structures as well as individual
remuneration components, participants in variable remunera-
tion plans and the potential size of potential awards, and by
disclosing relevant information.

Decision-making process for the Remuneration Policy
Nordea's Remuneration Policy sets out principles for remu-
neration within the Nordea Group including how the policy is
to be applied, remuneration governance and risk manage-
ment, as well as how employees with a material impact on
the risk profile of Nordea (“Material Risk Takers") are defined.

The Board of Directors decides on the Remuneration Poli-
cy, taking possible risks into account, and oversees its func-
tionality by ensuring that it is applied and followed up as pro-
posed by the Board Remuneration Committee (“BRC").

In addition to Nordea's internal Remuneration Policy,
Nordea's shareholders adopted, through an advisory vote, the
Remuneration Policy for Governing Bodies at the 2020 Annual
General Meeting, which applies to the remuneration to the
Board of Directors, the CEO and the interim Deputy Managing
Director and remains in force until the 2024 Annual General
Meeting.

The BRC is responsible for preparing and presenting pro-
posals to the Board of Directors on remuneration issues, con-
sidering the adopted Remuneration Policy for Governing Bod-
ies, including proposals about Nordea’s Remuneration Policy
and supplementary instructions. These preparations include
assessment of the Remuneration Policy and the remuneration
system. Appropriate Control Functions participate in this pro-
cess and provide input within their area of expertise to ensure

that the Remuneration Policy is up to date and compliant.
Furthermore, in collaboration with the Board Risk Committee,
the BRC performs assessments to ensure that Nordea's remu-
neration systems properly account for all types of risks, that
liquidity and capital levels are consistent and that remunera-
tion systems promote sound and effective risk management.

More information about the composition of the BRC and its
responsibilities is provided in a separate section of the “Cor-
porate Governance Statement”, page 51.

Alignment with business strategy

Nordea has processes to align the business and individual
goal and target-setting across Nordea with the overall strat-
egy and predefined risk-adjusted criteria.

Financial and non-financial goals are based on the busi-
ness's expectations and forecast and stretched targets are
approved by the Board of Directors to ensure alignment with
shareholders and business priorities. Hence, the main perfor-
mance goals in variable remuneration for the Nordea Group
in 2020 were financial goals and targets as well as customer
satisfaction and employee engagement goals and targets.

When assessing performance against the pre-determined
set of well-defined goals and targets, Nordea applies an
aligned structure with clear expectations for our people. Indi-
vidual performance is assessed on not only ‘what’ is delivered
but also ‘how’ it is delivered. A key aspect is performance in
relation to specific risk and compliance targets as well as
general compliance and risk conduct, which must be appro-
priately considered when determining variable remuneration
awards.

To guarantee fair and objective remuneration decisions
and to support sound governance, all individual remuneration
decisions are subject to separate processes and approved in
line with the grandparent principle (four-eyes approval by the
manager'’s manager).

Supporting sound risk management

Nordea performs an ongoing risk assessment of remunera-

tion risks conducted within the framework of the Compliance,

Conduct and Product Committee (CCPC) and the Non-finan-

cial risk forums of each business area and group functions as

well as the Risk and control self-assessment. Nordea also mit-

igates relevant risks by means of our internal control frame-

work, which is based on the control environment and includes

the following elements: Values and management culture,

goal orientation and follow-up, a clear and transparent

organisational structure, three lines of defence, the four eyes

principle, the quality and efficiency of internal communication

and an independent assessment process.
The following principles are further examples of how

sound risk management is supported

¢ Applying a group variable remuneration funding mecha-
nism which considers prudential and appropriate risk-
adjustments when setting a group pool for each perfor-
mance year;

¢ Ensuring that the Board of Directors approves the total
outcome of variable remuneration before award, which
allows for adjustments in outcome if deemed appropriate
by the Board of Directors e.g. considering risk limits;

¢ There is an appropriate balance between fixed and vari-
able remuneration;

¢ Relevant control functions provide input on the setting of a
group variable remuneration pool, performance goals and
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the outcome of such, to ensure that the impact on staff
behaviour and the risks of the business undertaken are
fully addressed;

¢ The effect on long-term results is considered when deter-
mining goals and targets for variable remuneration;

¢ No employee at Nordea can earn variable remuneration
exceeding 200% of their annual fixed remuneration. The
maximum ratio between the fixed and the variable remu-
neration for Material Risk Takers was 200% in 2020 in
accordance with the 2019 AGM's decision. In practice, how-
ever, a ratio between the fixed and the variable remunera-
tion above 100% of their annual fixed remuneration only
applies to a very limited number of employees due to the
outcome from Nordea's variable remuneration plans being
capped at certain levels;

¢ The risks set out in Nordea's Risk Appetite Statement are
linked to forfeiture conditions to ensure that breaches of
risk limits influence variable remuneration awards;

e Payments related to early termination of employment
should reflect performance achieved over time and should
be designed to not reward failure or misconduct; and

* Employees engaged in control functions are compensated
independently of the performance of the business unit(s)
they control and predominantly through fixed
remuneration.

Principles for deferral of variable remuneration

awards and awards in instruments

Nordea ensures that a substantial part of variable remunera-
tion, as a minimum for Material Risk Takers and certain other
categories of staff, is deferred and afterwards retained over
an appropriate period in line with regulatory requirements.
This means that 40-60% of variable remuneration awards are
deferred for three to five years, with vesting and subsequent
disbursement over the deferral period on a pro-rata basis.
The first disbursement of deferred variable remuneration can
take place one year into the deferral period at the earliest.
Deviations may occur subject to local regulation.

For Material Risk Takers and certain other categories of
staff, 50% of variable remuneration awards (both deferred
and non-deferred amounts) is awarded in instruments (as a
main rule in Nordea shares, alternatively linked to Nordea's
price) and subject to a 12 month retention period. Variable
remuneration awards for a limited number of staff are subject
to a six-month retention period. Dividends are excluded from
any shares or other instruments during a deferral period.

Risk adjustments, malus and claw-back provisions
General provisions for malus and claw-back at Nordea are set
out in Nordea's Remuneration Policy. The Consequence Man-
agement Committee (“CMC"), comprising the heads of Con-
trol Functions, the Head of Group Legal and the Head of
Group People, provides governance and oversight of risk per-
formance related adjustments of selected staff in scope in the
first line of defence. Ex-ante and ex-post adjustments can be
proposed by the CMC to individually or collectively adjust or
claw back variable remuneration awards due to risk and com-
pliance related performance.

Payment of variable remuneration awards under Nordea's
main variable remuneration plans is based on an assessment
of the results of the Nordea Group, the concerned Nordea
entity, the relevant business unit and the individual employee.
Reductions, partly or down to zero, can occur if an employee
eligible for variable remuneration has for example violated
internal or external regulations, participated in or been
responsible for an action that has caused Nordea significant
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losses, or in the event of a significant downturn in Nordea's or
the relevant business unit's financial results.

Employees must not use personal hedging strategies to
undermine or eliminate the effects of deferred variable remu-
neration being partly or fully removed.

Audit of Nordea's Remuneration Policy

The BRC follows up on the application of the Remuneration
Policy and supplementary instructions within Nordea through
an independent review by Group Internal Audit. This audit is
conducted at least annually.

Remuneration to the Board of Directors

By proposal of the Shareholders' Nomination Board and in
accordance with the Remuneration Policy for Governing Bod-
ies, the AGM annually decides on the remuneration to the
Board of Directors. In 2020, remuneration was offered in cash
to the Board members. Board members are not part of any
variable or incentive programme. Remuneration for Board
work is not paid to Board members who are employees of the
Nordea Group. Further information is provided in Note G8 on
page 142.

Remuneration to the CEO and the members

of the Group Leadership Team (GLT)

By proposal of the BRC, the Board of Directors decides on the
remuneration for the CEO and the members of the GLT, con-
sidering the adopted Remuneration Policy for Governing Bod-
ies. This also applies to the Group Chief Audit Executive and
the Chief Compliance Officer to be approved by the Board of
Directors, even though they are not members of the GLT. This
includes a decision on fixed and variable remuneration as
well as pension and other employment terms and conditions.

Nordea maintains competitive and market-aligned total
reward offering and other employment conditions needed to
recruit, motivate and retain the CEO and the members of the
GLT and in consideration of their leadership, expertise and
strategic decision-making enabling Nordea to deliver on its
strategy and targets. A key concept is pay-for-performance.

Remuneration for the CEO and members of the GLT in 2020
was decided by the Board of Directors considering the Remu-
neration Policy for Governing Bodies, and in accordance with
Nordea's internal policies and procedures, which are based on
the applicable regulations on remuneration systems and
other relevant regulations and guidelines.

Salaries and other remuneration in line with market levels
constitute the overriding principle for the remuneration to the
CEO and the members of the GLT at Nordea. The remunera-
tion to the CEO and the members of the GLT will be consis-
tent with and promote sound and effective risk management
and not encourage excessive risk-taking or counteract
Nordea's long-term interests.

Annual remuneration consists of fixed salary, benefits, vari-
able remuneration (short- and long-term), pension and
insurances.

Variable remuneration to the members of the GLT
Variable remuneration to the members of the GLT was offered
as participation in a short term incentive programme called
Executive Incentive Programme (“EIP 2020"), and to the
members of the GLT who are not independent control func-
tions, a long term incentive programme called Long Term
Incentive Programme 2020-2022 (“LTIP 2020-2022").

Executive Incentive Programme (EIP 2020) for GLT members
has a one-year performance period and includes predeter-
mined performance goals and targets at group, business
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area/group function (“BA/GF") and individual level. The
effect on long-term results was considered when determining
the targets.

The outcome from EIP 2020 has been based on the Board
of Director’'s assessment of performance against the prede-
termined targets. The outcome from EIP 2020 will be paid
over a five-year period in cash and in Nordea shares, and will
be subject to forfeiture clauses. No dividends are paid during
the deferral period. Nordea shares will be subject to 12
months' retention. The maximum outcome of EIP 2020 for
GLT members participating in LTIP 2020-2022 was reduced
from 100% of the annual fixed base salary to 75% as part of a
rebalancing of the GLT's remuneration structure.

The CEO and the members of the GLT have been offered
participation in programmes similar to EIP 2020 since 2013.

Performance goals at group level included financial goals
measuring return on equity, income and cost/income ratio as
well as non-financial goals measuring employee engagement
and customer satisfaction. BA/GF goals included BA/GF-spe-
cific financial goals. At the individual level, performance was
measured in relation to the individually agreed goals and tar-
gets including risk and compliance. The weight of group, BA/
GF and individual goals are determined individually for the
CEQ, reflecting his overall responsibility for the Nordea Group,
as well as for the members heading a business area or a
group function. The overall ambition for 2020 was to deliver
on Nordea's strategic priorities. Any awards were determined
on the basis of achievement in relation to the agreed goals
and targets following appropriate risk adjustments.

Long-Term Incentive Programme 2020-2022
In 2020, the Board of Directors decided to launch LTIP 2020-
2022 for GLT.

The main purpose of the LTIP 2020-2022 is to further align
the GLT's interests with those of shareholders. The LTIP 2020-
2022 has a three-year performance period from 1 January
2020 to 31 December 2022 and deferral and retention periods
according to regulations.

The total maximum number of shares that can be granted
under the LTIP 2020-2022 was nominally allocated to the par-
ticipants in 2020 as conditional share awards. In 2023, based
on Nordea's performance against pre-established perfor-
mance criteria, the maximum number of shares or a propor-
tion of the shares will be awarded to the participants.

The first portion of shares of the potential award will be
delivered in 2023. The rest of the shares will be deferred and
delivered annually in five equal portions during 2024-2028.
Each share delivery is subject to a 12-month retention period.

Unvested shares will not be delivered where employment
terminates before the award payment, however, subject to
local regulations and leaver provisions. Share grants may be
reduced in part or full subject to risk and compliance adjust-
ments. The nominal allotment of conditional share awards in
2020 corresponded on average to approximately 75 % of the
fixed base salary for the GLT.

The LTIP 2020-2022 performance requirements have been
set so that the maximum outcome will require achieving
exceptional performance from a shareholder perspective. The
assessment of performance during the performance period
will be based equally on the following performance criteria:

* Relative Total Shareholder Return (rTSR) measured against
selected Nordic and European peer banks

¢ Absolute Total Shareholder Return (Absolute TSR)

e Absolute cumulative Earnings Per Share (Absolute EPS)

A risk-adjustment underpin is also included.

Furthermore, the GLT members must hold a significant
number of shares granted until the total value of the GLT

member’s shareholding in Nordea in total corresponds to 100
% of the GLT member’s annual gross salary. Such shares must
be held until the GLT member steps down from the GLT
position.

Benefits are given to support the overall wellbeing of the
CEO and GLT members. The levels of these benefits are deter-
mined by what is considered fair in relation to general market
practice. Fixed salary during the period of notice and sever-
ance pay will not exceed 24 months of fixed salary in total.

Pension and insurances are offered to ensure an appropriate
standard of living after retirement as well as personal insur-
ance coverage during employment. The CEO and the mem-
bers of the GLT are offered pension benefits in accordance
with market practice in their country of permanent residence.
Pension and insurance provisions are in accordance with local
laws, regulations and market practice. Pension is generally
offered as defined contribution pension plans, but can also be
offered by means of a pension allowance. Discretionary pen-
sion benefits are not used.

Nordea's remuneration structures
Nordea's remuneration structure comprises fixed remunera-
tion and variable remuneration.

Fixed remuneration components

Fixed base salary should remunerate for role and position
and is affected by job complexity, responsibility, performance
and local market conditions.

Allowance is a predetermined fixed remuneration component
tied to the employee’s role and position. Fixed base salary is,
however, the cornerstone of all fixed remuneration. Allowances
are not linked to performance and do notincentivise risk taking.

Pension and insurance aims at ensuring an appropriate stan-
dard of living for employees after retirement, as well as per-
sonal insurance coverage during employment. Pension and
insurance provisions are in accordance with local laws, regu-
lations and market practice, and are either collectively agreed
schemes or company-determined schemes or a combination
thereof. Nordea aims to have defined contribution pension
schemes.

Benefits at Nordea are awarded as part of the total reward
offering that is either individually agreed or based on local
laws, market practice, collective bargaining agreements and
company-determined practice.

Nordea's variable remuneration programmes

for others than the CEO and the GLT

As of 2020, a group variable remuneration funding mecha-
nism is used to fund variable remuneration programmes at
Nordea, except for the Profit Sharing Plan and LTIP 2020-
2022. The group variable remuneration funding mechanism is
a pool-based approach which creates a strong link between
Nordea's overall performance and the accrual of variable
remuneration. The group variable remuneration pool deter-
mines the overall variable remuneration for the respective
performance year, based on a target /expected pool adjusted
by group performance, which is subsequently distributed to
BA/GFs based on their performance (scorecards). The final
allocation is based on individual performance as per set indi-
vidual goals under the individual variable remuneration pro-
grammes. With the group variable remuneration funding
mechanism, Nordea ensures compliance with requirements
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on variable remuneration and risk-adjustments under e.g.
CRD IV and EBA Guidelines on Sound Remuneration Policies,
including assessing prudential and risk.

In 2020, the following other variable remuneration pro-
grammes were offered to Nordea employees:

Executive Incentive Programme (EIP) was offered to recruit,
motivate and retain selected people leaders and key employ-
ees outside of the GLT and aims to reward strong perfor-
mance and efforts. The assessment of individual performance
is based on a predetermined set of well-defined financial as
well as non-financial goals. Individual EIP awards will not
exceed the annual fixed salary. Awards from 2020 EIP are
normally, and always for Material Risk Takers, allocated partly
in cash and partly in instruments with subsequent retention.
Parts of the awards for participants in EIP are subject to a
three-to-five-year pro-rata deferral period with forfeiture
conditions applying during the deferral period.

Variable Salary Part (VSP) was offered to selected people
leaders and specialists to reward strong performance. The
assessment of individual performance is based on a predeter-
mined set of well-defined financial as well as non-financial
goals. The VSP maximum outcome for 2020 should normally
not exceed a maximum outcome of 25% of the annual fixed
salary, except for a few selected managers and specialists
within specific areas of Nordea. Awards from VSP will not
exceed the annual fixed salary. Awards from VSP are paid in
cash. For Material Risk Takers, VSP awards are partly deliv-
ered in instruments with subsequent retention. Parts of the
awards for Material Risk Takers from VSP are subject to at
least three-year pro-rata deferral period with forfeiture condi-
tions applying during the deferral period.

Bonus schemes were offered only to selected groups of
employees in specific business areas or units as approved by
the Board of Directors, e.g. in Large Corporates & Institutions,
Nordea Asset Management, in Nordea Funds and within
Group Treasury. The aim is to ensure strong performance and
maintain cost flexibility for Nordea. Individual awards are
determined based on detailed performance assessments cov-
ering a range of financial and non-financial goals. 2020 bonus
awards from bonus schemes are paid in cash. For Material
Risk Takers, awards are partly delivered in instruments with
subsequent retention. Parts of the awards for Material Risk
Takers in a bonus scheme are subject to a three-to-five-year
pro-rata deferral period with forfeiture conditions applying
during the deferral period.

Recognition Scheme was offered to employees to recognise
extraordinary performance. The individual performance is
assessed based on a predetermined set of goals. Material
Risk Takers and employees eligible for other formal annual
variable remuneration plans, excluding the Profit Sharing
Plan, are not eligible for Recognition Scheme awards.

Profit Sharing Plan (PSP) is offered group-wide to all Nordea
employees but not to employees who are eligible for any of
Nordea’s other formal annual variable remuneration plans.
For eligible employees, the Profit Sharing Plan is offered irre-
spective of position and salary and aims to collectively
reward employees based on achievement in relation to pre-
determined financial goals as well as goals relating to cus-
tomer satisfaction. The Profit Sharing Plan is capped finan-
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cially, and the outcome is not linked to the value of Nordea’s
share price.

Guaranteed variable remuneration (sign-on) can be offered in
exceptional cases only, limited to the first year of employment
when hiring new staff. Sign-on can only be paid if Nordea and
the employing company have a sound and strong capital base.

Compensation for contracts in previous employments (buy-
outs) can be offered in exceptional cases only, in the context
of hiring new staff, limited to the first year of employment and
if Nordea and the employing company have a sound and
strong capital base.

Retention bonus can be offered in exceptional cases only if
Nordea has a legitimate interest in retaining employees for a
predetermined period of time or until a certain event occurs
and if Nordea and the employing company have a sound and
strong capital base.

Other qualitative and quantitative information

The actual cost of variable remuneration for

executive officers (excluding social cost)

For EIP 2020 for GLT members EUR 3.2m is to be paid over a
five-year period. The estimated maximum cost of EIP for GLT
members in 2021 is EUR 5.7m and the estimated cost assuming
50% fulfilment of the performance goals is EUR 2.8m.

Cost of variable remuneration for non-

GLT members (excluding social cost):

The actual cost of EIP, VSP and Bonus 2020 is EUR 181.8m not
including awards to GLT members, which is paid partly now in
cash, and partly over a three-to-five-year period as outlined in
the sections above. In 2020, a total of EUR 32.4m was provided
under Nordea's Profit Sharing Plan. Each employee can
receive a maximum of EUR 3,200. If all stretched performance
goals were met, the cost of the Profit Sharing Plan for eligible
participants in 2020 would have amounted to a maximum of
approximately EUR 63.0m.

Other disclosures
See Note G8 "Staff costs" on pages 141-149 of this Annual
Report 2020 for more details on remuneration.

See also Nordea's 2020 Remuneration Report for Govern-
ing Bodies. The Remuneration Report is issued in accordance
with the requirements of the Finnish Finance Ministry Decree
608/2019 and the Finnish Corporate Governance Code 2020
from the Securities Market Association. The report will be
presented for an advisory vote at the Annual General Meeting
on 24 March 2021. The Remuneration Report is disclosed with
other required information on Nordea’s website on www.nor-
dea.com/en/about-nordea/corporate-governance/
remuneration.

Nordea will provide qualitative and quantitative disclo-
sures according to Regulation (EU) no 575/2013 of the Euro-
pean Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 (the CRR
Regulations), the disclosure requirements in the Basel frame-
work and the EBA guideline for sound remuneration
practices.

Further disclosures will be published on nordea.com one
week before the ordinary Annual General Meeting on 24
March 2021.
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Proposed distribution of earnings

On 31 December 2020, Nordea Bank Abp's distributable earn-
ings, including profit for the financial year — after subtracting
the dividend to be paid on 1 March 2021 (at the earliest)
based on the balance sheet for the financial year ended 31
December 2019 and capitalised development expenses —
were EUR 19,694,163,764.90" and other unrestricted equity
amounted to EUR 4,573,347,620.91.

The Board of Directors has proposed that the 24 March
2021 Annual General Meeting (AGM) authorises it to decide
on a dividend payment of a maximum of EUR 0.72 per share.
The payment would be distributed based on the balance
sheet to be adopted for the financial year ended 31 December
2020, in one or several instalments. The authorisation would
remain in force until the beginning of the next AGM.

The Nordea Bank Abp’s number of shares is 4,049,951,919.
The total dividend amount calculated based on the maximum
of EUR 0.72 per share, excluding dividend for treasury shares,
would then be EUR 2,907,097,050.96 and it would be paid
from retained earnings. After the maximum dividend pay-out,
EUR 16,787,066,713.94% would be carried forward as distribut-
able retained earnings.

According to the parent company’s balance sheet, the
unrestricted equity amounted to:

EUR

Invested unrestricted equity 1,063,448,369.58

Retained earnings’ 17,730,488,830.27
Other free funds 2,762,284,827.88
Net profit for the year 1,963,674,934.63
Additional Tier 1 capital holders 747,614,423.45
Total 24,267,511,385.81

1) Dividend of EUR 282,634,435.51 (calculated based on treasury share amount of
12,317,126) to be paid based on the balance sheet for the financial year ending
31 December 2019 and capitalised development costs of EUR 1,607,876,577.10
has been subtracted.

@ Invested unrestricted equity
@ Retained earnings
Other free funds
@ Net profit for the year
@ Additional Tier 1 capital holders

The total amount of the dividend payment and the amount
carried forward as distributable retained earnings after the divi-
dend pay-out, will be adjusted based on the amount of treasury
shares held by Nordea Bank Abp at the record date for the divi-
dend payment.

It is the assessment of the Board of Directors that the pro-
posed dividend is justifiable considering the demands with
respect to the size of the Company’s and the Group’s equity,
which are imposed by the nature, scope and risks, associated
with the business, and the Company’s and the Group’s need
for consolidation, liquidity and financial position in general.

For information on changes in the financial position of the
Nordea Bank Abp since the end of the financial period see
Events after the financial period. No other significant events
or material changes have taken place in the financial position
of the Nordea Bank Abp since the end of the financial period
and the proposed dividend does not compromise the Com-
pany'’s solvency.

The Board of Directors proposes that earnings be distributed
as follows (calculated based on the maximum dividend of
EUR 0.72 per share):

EUR

Dividend paid to shareholders 2,907,097,050.96
Invested unrestricted equity 1,063,448,369.58
Retained earnings? 16,787,066,713.94
Other free funds 2,762,284,827.88
Additional Tier 1 capital holders 747614,423.45

Total 24,267,511,385.81

2) Capitalised development costs of EUR 1,607,876,577.10 has been subtracted from
Retained earnings.

@ Dividend paid to shareholders
@ Invested unrestricted equity
@ Retained earnings
Other free funds
@ Additional Tier 1 capital holders

Events after the financial period

On 15 December 2020 the European Central Bank (“ECB")
issued an updated dividend recommendation to banks. The
ECB in general expects dividends and share buy-backs to
remain below 15% of the cumulated profit for 2019-2020 and
not to exceed 20bp of the CET1 ratio until the end of Septem-
ber 2021. The Board of Directors of Nordea Bank Abp decided
on 16 December 2020 to follow the updated ECB recommen-
dation. Based on the recommendation and after a dialogue
with the ECB, the Board of Directors has on 18 February 2021
decided to distribute a dividend of EUR 0.07 per share to

shareholders in accordance with the mandate received from
the AGM in 2020.

The dividend of EUR 0.07 per share is paid to shareholders
who on the record date for the dividend payment on 22 Feb-
ruary 2021 were recorded in Nordea's shareholders’ register
maintained by Euroclear Finland Oy in Finland, Euroclear
Sweden AB in Sweden or VP Securities A/S in Denmark. The
dividend payment date is 1 March 2021 or as soon as possible
thereafter.
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Glossary

Allowances in relation to credit impaired loans (stage 3)
Allowances for impaired loans (stage 3) divided by impaired
loans measured at amortised cost (stage 3) before
allowances.

Allowances in relation to loans in stages 1 and 2
Allowances for non-impaired loans (stages 1 and 2) divided
by non-impaired loans measured at amortised cost (stages 1
and 2) before allowances.

Basic earnings per share
Net profit for the year divided by the weighted average num-
ber of outstanding shares, non-controlling interests excluded.

Cost-to-income ratio
Total operating expenses divided by total operating income.

Diluted earnings per share

Net profit for the year divided by the weighted average num-
ber of outstanding shares after full dilution, non-controlling
interests excluded.

Economic capital

Economic capital is Nordea's interal estimate of required capi-
tal. It measures the capital required to cover unexpected loss-
es in the course of Nordea's business with a certain probabil-
ity. Economic capital uses advanced internal models to pro-
vide a consistent measurement for credit risk, market risk,
operational risk, business risk and life insurance risk arising
from activities in Nordea's various business areas.

The aggregation of risks across the group gives rise to
diversification effects resulting from the differences in risk
drivers and the improbability that unexpected losses occur
simultaneously.

Equity per share

Equity as shown on the balance sheet after full dilution and
non-controlling interests excluded divided by the number of
shares after full dilution.

Impairment rate (stage 3), gross
Impaired loans (stage 3) before allowances divided by total
loans measured at amortised cost before allowances.

Impairment rate (stage 3), net
Impaired loans (stage 3) after allowances divided by total
loans measured at amortised cost before allowances.

Net loan loss ratio, amortised cost

Net loan losses (annualised) divided by closing balance of the
carrying amount of loans to the public (lending) measured at
amortised cost.

Non-servicing, not impaired
Past due loans, not impaired due to future cash flows (includ-
ed in Loans, not impaired).

Own funds

Own funds include the sum of the Tier 1 capital and the sup-
plementary capital consisting of subordinated loans, after
deduction of the carrying amount of the shares in wholly
owned insurance companies and the potential deduction for
expected shortfall.
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Price to Book
Nordea's stock market value relative to its book value of total
equity.

Return on equity

Net profit for the year as a percentage of average equity for
the year. Additional Tier 1 capital, accounted for in equity, is
classified as a financial liability in the calculation. Net profit
for the period excludes non-controlling interests and interest
expense on Additional Tier 1 capital (discretionary interest
accrued). Average equity including net profit for the year and
dividend until paid, and excludes non-controlling interests
and Additional Tier 1 capital.

Return on assets
Net profit for the year as a percentage of total assets at end
of the year.

Risk exposure amount

Total assets and off-balance-sheet items valued on the basis
of the credit and market risks, as well as operational risks of
the Group’s undertakings, in accordance with regulations
governing capital adequacy, excluding assets in insurance
companies, carrying amount of shares which have been
deducted from the capital base and intangible assets.

Return on capital at risk

Return on capital at risk (ROCAR) is defined as net profit
excluding items affecting comparability as a percentage of
economic capital. For the business areas it is defined as oper-
ating profit after standard tax in percentage of economic
capital.

Tier 1 capital

The Tier 1 capital of an institution consists of the sum of its
Common Equity Tier 1 capital and Additional Tier 1 capital.
Common Equity Tier 1 capital includes consolidated share-
holders” equity excluding investments in insurance compa-
nies, proposed dividend, deferred tax assets, intangible assets
in the banking operations, the full expected shortfall deduc-
tion (the negative difference between expected losses and
provisions) and other deductions, such as cash flow hedges.

Tier 1 capital ratio

Tier 1 capital as a percentage of the risk exposure amount.
The Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio is defined as Common
Equity Tier 1 capital as a percentage of risk exposure amount.

Total allowance rate (stages 1, 2 and 3)
Total allowances divided by total loans measured at amor-
tised cost before allowances.

Total allowances in relation to impaired
loans (provisioning ratio)
Total allowances divided by impaired loans before allowances.

Total capital ratio
Own funds as a percentage of risk exposure amount.
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Income statement

EURmM Note 2020 2019

Operating income

Interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method 5,536 6,399
Other interest income 1,071 1,350
Negative yield on financial assets -280 -309
Interest expense -2,013 -3,334
Negative yield on financial liabilities 201 212
Net interest income G4 4,515 4,318
Fee and commission income 3,856 3,931
Fee and commission expense -897 -920
Net fee and commission income G5 2,959 3,01
Net result from items at fair value G6 900 1,012
Profit from associated undertakings and joint ventures accounted for under the equity method G20 -1 50
Other operating income G7 93 232
Total operating income 8,466 8,623

Operating expenses

General administrative expenses:

Staff costs G8 -2,752 -3,017

Other expenses G9 -1,286 -1,639
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges of tangible and intangible assets G10 -605 -1,330
Total operating expenses -4,643 -5,986
Profit before loan losses 3,823 2,637
Net result on loans in hold portfolios mandatorily held at fair value G6 48 12
Net loan losses G -908 -536
Operating profit 2,963 2113
Income tax expense G12 -698 =571
Net profit for the year 2,265 1,542

Attributable to:

Shareholders of Nordea Bank Abp 2,238 1,519
Additional Tier 1 capital holders 27 26
Non—controlling interests = =3
Total 2,265 1,542
Basic earnings per share, EUR G13 0.55 0.38
Diluted earnings per share, EUR G13 0.55 0.38
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Statement of comprehensive income

EURmM Note 2020 2019
Net profit for the year 2,265 1,542
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement

Currency translation differences -196 18
Tax on currency translation differences - 1
Hedging of net investments in foreign operations: G19

Valuation gains/losses 17 -62
Tax on valuation gains/losses = 16
Fair value through other comprehensive income?: G40

Valuation gains/losses 48 21
Tax on valuation gains/losses -8 -4
Transferred to the income statement 7 =37
Tax on transfers to the income statement -1 6
Cash flow hedges: G19

Valuation gains/losses =712 152
Tax on valuation gains/losses 135 =31
Transferred to the income statement 733 =170
Tax on transfers to the income statement -140 35
Items that may not be reclassified subsequently to the income statement

Changes in own credit risk related to liabilities classified as fair value option: G40

Valuation gains/losses -9 =15
Tax on valuation gains/losses 3 2
Defined benefit plans: G34

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 22 -152
Tax on remeasurement of defined benefit plans -4 34
Other comprehensive income from companies accounted for under the equity method G20 —1 1
Tax on other comprehensive income from companies accounted for under the equity method G20 0 0
Other comprehensive income, net of tax -6 -185
Total comprehensive income 2,259 1,357
Attributable to:

Shareholders of Nordea Bank Abp 2,232 1,334
Additional Tier 1 capital holders 27 26
Non-controlling interests = -3
Total 2,259 1,357

1) Valuation gains/losses related to hedged risks under fair value hedge accounting are accounted for directly in the income statement.
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Balance sheet

EURmM Note 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
Assets G40

Cash and balances with central banks 32,955 35,509
Loans to central banks G14 3123 9,207
Loans to credit institutions G14 3123 8,519
Loans to the public G14 329,765 323,091
Interest-bearing securities G15 62,509 64,930
Financial instruments pledged as collateral G16 3,795 7151
Shares G17 12,649 14184
Assets in pooled schemes and unit-linked investment contracts G18 36,484 30,799
Derivatives G19 44770 39111
Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk 359 217
Investments in associated undertakings and joint ventures G20 555 572
Intangible assets G21 3,771 3,695
Properties and equipment G22 1,931 2,002
Investment properties G24 1,535 1,585
Deferred tax assets G12 406 487
Current tax assets 300 362
Retirement benefit assets G34 144 173
Other assets G25 13,349 12,543
Prepaid expenses and accrued income G26 637 71
Total assets 552,160 554,848
Liabilities G40

Deposits by credit institutions G27 23,939 32,304
Deposits and borrowings from the public G28 183,431 168,725
Deposits in pooled schemes and unit-linked investment contracts G18 37,534 31,859
Liabilities to policyholders G29 18,178 19,246
Debt securities in issue G30 174,309 193,726
Derivatives G19 47,033 42,047
Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk 2,608 2,018
Current tax liabilities 305 742
Other liabilities G31 21,341 19,868
Accrued expenses and prepaid income G32 1,404 1,476
Deferred tax liabilities G12 436 481
Provisions G33 596 570
Retirement benefit liabilities G34 365 439
Subordinated liabilities G35 6,941 9,819
Total liabilities 518,420 523,320
Equity

Additional Tier 1 capital holders 748 748
Non-controlling interests 9 40
Share capital 4,050 4,050
Invested unrestricted equity 1,063 1,080
Other reserves -2,067 -2,062
Retained earnings 29,937 27,672
Total equity 33,740 31,528
Total liabilities and equity 552,160 554,848
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Statement of changes in equity

2020
Attributable to shareholders of Nordea Bank Abp
Other reserves:
Changes in
Fair value own credit
through risk related
Invested Translation Cash  othercom- Defined to liabilities Additional Non-
Share unrestricted of foreign flow prehensive benefit atfairvalue Retained Tier 1 capital  controlling Total
EURmM Note capital' equity operations3? hedges* income plans option earnings Total holders interests equity
Balance at 1 Jan 2020 4,050 1,080 -1,941 -26 45 -135 -5 27672 30,740 748 40 31,528
Net profit for the year = = = = = = = 2,238 2,238 27 - 2,265
Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to the income
statement
Currency translation differences - - -196 - - - - - -196 - - -196
Hedging of net investments in
foreign operations: G19
Valuation gains/losses - - 117 - - - - - 17 - - 117
Fair value through other
comprehensive income: G40
Valuation gains/losses = = = = 48 = = = 48 - - 48
Tax on valuation gains/losses = = = = -8 = = = -8 - - -8
Transferred to the income
statement = = = = 7 = = = 7 = = 7
Tax on transfers to the income
statement = = = = =il = = = =il = = =il
Cash flow hedges: G19
Valuation gains/losses = = = =712 = = = = =712 - - =712
Tax on valuation gains/losses - - 135 - - - - 135 - - 135
Transferred to the income
statement? = = = 733 = = = = 733 = = 733
Tax on transfers to the income
statement? = = = =140 = = = = -140 = = -140

Annual Report 2020 Nordea



Financial statements — Nordea Group 75
Statement of changes in equity, cont.
2020
Attributable to shareholders of Nordea Bank Abp
Other reserves:
Changes
Fair value in own credit
through risk related to
Invested Translation Cash othercom- Defined liabilities at Additional Non-
Share unrestricted of foreign flow prehensive benefit fair value Retained Tier 1 capital controlling Total
EURmM Note capital' equity operations® hedges* income plans option earnings Total holders interests equity
Items that may not be
reclassified subsequently
to the income statement
Changes in own credit risk related to
liabilities classified as fair value
option: G40
Valuation gains/losses = = = = = = -9 = -9 - - -9
Tax on valuation gains/losses = = = = = = 3 = 3 - - 3
Defined benefit plans: G34
Remeasurement of defined
benefit plans = = = = = 22 = = 22 - - 22
Tax on remeasurement of defined
benefit plans = = = = = -4 = = -4 = = -4
Other comprehensive income from
companies accounted for under the
equity method G20 = = = = = = = -1 =il = = =il
Tax on other comprehensive income
from companies accounted for under
the equity method G20 - - - - - - - 0 0 - - 0
Other comprehensive income,
net of tax = = =79 16 46 18 -6 -1 -6 = = -6
Total comprehensive income - - -79 16 46 18 -6 2,237 2,232 27 - 2,259
Paid interest on Additional
Tier 1 capital - - - - - - - - - =27 - =27
Share-based payments G8 - - - - - - - 6 6 = = 6
Purchase of own shares® = =17 = = = = = = =17 = = =17
Other changes - - - - - - - 22 22 - - 22
Change in non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - -31 =31
Balance at 31 Dec 2020 4,050 1,063 —-2,020 -10 91 -17 -1 29,937 32,983 748 9 33740

1) Total shares registered were 4,050 million. The number of own shares was 11.9 million which represents 0.3% of the total shares in Nordea. Each share represents one voting right.
2) The transfer is due to the hedged item affecting the income statement.

3) Relates to foreign exchange risk. Of the balance per 31 December 2020, EUR 639m relates to hedging relationship for which hedge accounting is applied and EUR —m relates to
hedging relationships for which hedge accounting is no longer applied.

4) For more detailed information see Note G19.

5) Refers to the change in the holding of own shares related to treasury shares held for remuneration purposes and to the trading portfolio. The number of treasury shares held for
remuneration purposes was 8.2 million.
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Statement of changes in equity, cont.

2019
Attributable to shareholders of Nordea Bank Abp
Other reserves:
Changes in
Fair value own credit
through risk related
Invested  Translation Cash othercom- Defined to liabilities Additional Non-
Share unrestricted of foreign flow prehensive benefit atfairvalue Retained Tier 1 capital  controlling Total
EURmM Note capital' equity operations3 hedges* income plans option earnings Total holders interests equity
Balance at 1 Jan 2019 4,050 1,080 -1914 -12 59 =17 8 28891 32145 750 6 32,901
Net profit for the year = = = = = = = 1,519 1,519 26 -3 1,542
Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to the income
statement
Currency translation differences - - 18 - - - - - 18 - - 18
Tax on currency translation
differences = = 1 = = = = = 1 = = 1
Hedging of net investments in
foreign operations: G19
Valuation gains/losses = = -62 = = = = = -62 - - -62
Tax on valuation gains/losses = = 16 = = = = = 16 - - 16
Fair value through other
comprehensive income: G40
Valuation gains/losses - - - - 21 - - - 21 - - 21
Tax on valuation gains/losses = = = = -4 = = = -4 = = -4
Transferred to the income
statement = = = = =37 = = = =37 = = =37
Tax on transfers to the income
statement = = = = 6 = = = 6 = = 6
Cash flow hedges: G19
Valuation gains/losses = = = 152 = = = = 152 = = 152
Tax on valuation gains/losses - - - -31 - - - - =31 - - -31
Transferred to the income
statement? = = = =170 = = = = =170 = = =170
Tax on transfers to the income
statement? = = = 35 = = = = 85 = = 35
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Statement of changes in equity, cont.

2019
Attributable to shareholders of Nordea Bank Abp
Other reserves:
Changes
Fair value in own credit
through risk related to
Invested Translation Cash othercom- Defined liabilities at Additional Non-
Share unrestricted of foreign flow prehensive benefit fair value Retained Tier 1 capital controlling Total
EURmM Note capital' equity operations® hedges* income plans option earnings Total holders interests equity
Items that may not be
reclassified subsequently
to the income statement
Changes in own credit risk related to
liabilities classified as fair value
option: G40
Valuation gains/losses = = = = = = =15 = =15 = = =15
Tax on valuation gains/losses - - - - - - 2 - 2 - - 2
Defined benefit plans: G34
Remeasurement of defined
benefit plans - - - - - —152 - - —152 - - -152
Tax on remeasurement of defined
benefit plans = = = = = 34 = = 34 = = 34
Other comprehensive income from
companies accounted for under the
equity method G20 - - - - - - - 1 1 - - 1
Tax on other comprehensive income
from companies accounted for under
the equity method G20 - - - - - - - 0 0 - - 0
Other comprehensive income,
net of tax = = =27 -14 -14 -118 -13 1 -185 = = -185
Total comprehensive income - - =27 -14 -14 -118 -13 1,520 1,334 26 -3 1,357
Paid interest on Additional
Tier 1 capital - - - - - - - - - -26 - -26
Change in Additional Tier 1
capital holders - - - - - - - - - -2 - -2
Share-based payments G8 - - - - - - - 20 20 - - 20
Dividend for 2018 = = = = = = - -2,788 -2,788 = - -2788
Divestment of own shares® = = = = = = = 29 29 = = 29
Change in non-controlling interests = = = = = = = = = = 37 37
Balance at 31 Dec 2019 4,050 1,080 -1,941 —-26 45 -135 -5 27,672 30,740 748 40 31,528

1) Total shares registered were 4,050 million. The number of own shares was 10.8 million which represents 0.3% of the total shares in Nordea. Each share represents one voting right.
2) The transfer is due to the hedged item affecting the income statement.

3) Relates to foreign exchange risk. Out of the balance per 31 December 2019, EUR 522m relates to hedging relationships for which hedge accounting is applied and EUR —m relates to
hedging relationships for which hedge accounting is no longer applied.

4) For more detailed information see Note G19.

5) Refers to the change in the holding of own shares related to treasury shares held for remuneration purposes and to the trading portfolio. The number of treasury shares held for
remuneration purposes was 9.2 million.
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Cash flow statement

EURmM Note 2020 2019
Operating activities

Operating profit 2,963 2113
Adjustment for items not included in cash flow 2,074 5,005
Income taxes paid G12 -987 -816
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities 4,050 6,302
Changes in operating assets

Change in loans to central banks G14 3,605 413
Change in loans to credit institutions G14 5393 1,951
Change in loans to the public G14 -3,595 -11,079
Change in interest-bearing securities G15 2,942 10,485
Change in financial assets pledged as collateral G16 3,400 402
Change in shares G17 1,594 -1,379
Change in derivatives, net G19 -643 1,281
Change in investment properties G24 3 -36
Change in other assets G25 -6,469 -3,921
Dividends received from associates G20 7 19
Changes in operating liabilities

Change in deposits by credit institutions G27 -11,364 -10,339
Change in deposits and borrowings from the public G28 13,801 2,050
Change in liabilities to policyholders G29 3,807 5229
Change in debt securities in issue G30 -19,231 869
Change in other liabilities G31 1,357 —-4,639
Cash flow from operating activities -1,343 -2,392
Investing activities

Acquisition of business operations G48 —552 -447
Sale of business operations - -25
Acquisition of associated undertakings and joint ventures G20 -8 -26
Sale of associated undertakings G20 18 879
Acquisition of property and equipment G22 -69 -70
Sale of property and equipment G22 19 15
Acquisition of intangible assets G21 -418 -517
Cash flow from investing activities -1,010 -191
Financing activities

Issued subordinated liabilities G35 - 1,401
Amortised subordinated liabilities G35 —2,459 -890
Paid interest on Additional Tier 1 capital =27 -26
Divestment/repurchase of own shares incl. change in trading portfolio =17 29
Dividend paid = —2,788
Principal portion of lease payments -143 -140
Cash flow from financing activities -2,646 -2,414
Cash flow for the year -4,999 —4,997
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 41,164 46,009
Translation difference 38 152
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 36,203 41164
Change —-4,999 —4,997
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Cash flow statement, cont.

Comments on the cash flow statement

The cash flow statement shows inflows and outflows of
cash and cash equivalents during the year for total opera-
tions. Nordea's cash flow has been prepared in accordance
with the indirect method, whereby operating profit is adjust-
ed for effects of non-cash transactions such as depreciation
and loan losses. The cash flows are classified by operating,
investing and financing activities.

Operating activities

Operating activities are the principal revenue-producing
activities and cash flows are mainly derived from the operat-
ing profit for the year with adjustment for items not included
in cash flow and income taxes paid. Adjustment for items not
included in cash flow includes:

EURm 2020 2019
Depreciation 553 558
Impairment charges 52 772
Loan losses 958 583
Net result on loans in hold portfolios mandatorily

held at fair value —-48 -12
Unrealised gains/losses -513 224
Capital gains/losses (net) -24 -69
Change in accruals and provisions 276 -26
Translation differences -308 198
Change in bonus potential to policyholders, Life &

Pensions -1 203
Change in technical reserves, Life & Pensions 792 1,794
Change in fair value on the hedge items,

assets/liabilities (net) 429 705
Other -82 75
Total 2,074 5,005

Changes in operating assets and liabilities consist of assets
and liabilities that are part of normal business activities, such
as loans, deposits and debt securities in issue. Changes in
derivatives are reported net.

Cash flow from operating activities includes interest pay-
ments received and interest expenses paid in the following
amounts:

EURm 2020 2019
Interest payments received 6,367 7,395
Interest expenses paid -2,033 -3,166

Investing activities

Investing activities include acquisitions and disposals of non-
current assets, such as property and equipment, intangible
and financial assets.

Financing activities

Financing activities are activities that result in changes in
equity and subordinated liabilities, such as new issues of
shares, dividends and issued/amortised subordinated liabili-
ties and principal portion of lease payments.

Cash and cash equivalents
The following items are included in Cash and cash
equivalents:

31Dec 31 Dec
EURmM 2020 2019
Cash and balances with central banks 32,955 35,509
Loans to central banks, payable on demand 2,426 4,826
Loans to credit institutions, payable on demand 822 829
Total 36,203 41,164

Cash comprises legal tender and bank notes in foreign curren-

cies. Balances with central banks consist of deposits in accounts

with central banks and postal giro systems under government

authority, where the following conditions are fulfilled:

¢ the central bank or the postal giro system is domiciled in
the country where the institution is established

¢ the balance on the account is readily available at any time.

Loans to credit institutions, payable on demand include liquid
assets not represented by bonds or other interest-bearing
securities. Loans to central banks, payable on demand include
instruments that Nordea has the right to resell immediately.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising

from financing activities

The opening balance of subordinated liabilities was EUR
9,819m (EUR 9,155m). During the period cash flows related to
bonds were EUR -2,459m (EUR 511m) and the effects of FX
changes and other was EUR -419m (EUR 153m), ending up in
a closing balance of EUR 6,941m (EUR 9,819m).

The opening balance of lease liabilities was EUR 1,225m (at
transition 1 January 2019 EUR 1,165m). During the period cash
flows related to the liabilities amounted to EUR -143m (EUR
-140m) and other changes from new, terminated and modi-
fied contracts and FX changes amounted to EUR 151m (EUR
200m).
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1. Corporate information and basis of presentation
Nordea Bank Abp (business identity code 2858394-9),
together with its consolidated subsidiaries (the Nordea
Group), is a leading universal bank in the Nordic markets. The
parent company Nordea Bank Abp is a public limited liability
company organised under the laws of Finland with its head-
quarters located in Helsinki, Finland at the following address:
Hamnbanegatan (Fi: Satamaradankatu) 5, FI-00020 Nordea,
Helsinki, Finland. Nordea Bank Abp’s ordinary shares are list-
ed on Nasdaq Nordic, the stock exchanges in Helsinki (in
euro), Stockholm (in Swedish krona) and Copenhagen (in
Danish krone) and its American Depository Receipts (ADR)
are traded in the US in US dollars.

The Nordea Group offers a comprehensive range of bank-
ing and financial products and services to household and cor-
porate customers, including financial institutions. The Nordea
Group's products and services comprise a broad range of
household banking services, including mortgages and con-
sumer loans, credit and debit cards, and a wide selection of
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savings, life insurance and pension products. In addition, the
Nordea Group offers a wide range of corporate banking ser-
vices, including business loans, cash management, payment
and account services, risk management products and advi-
sory services, debt and equity-related products for liquidity
and capital raising purposes, as well as corporate finance,
institutional asset management services and corporate life
and pension products. The Nordea Group also distributes
general insurance products.

Nordea's consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as endorsed by the EU Commission. In addition, cer-
tain complementary rules in the Finnish Accounting Act, the
Finnish Credit Institutions Act, the Financial Supervision
Authority’'s Regulations and Guidelines and the Decree of the
Ministry of Finance on the financial statements and consoli-
dated statements of credit institutions and investment firms
have also been applied.

The disclosures, required in the standards, recommenda-
tions and legislation above, have been included in the notes,
the Capital Management section or in other parts of the
Financial statements.

On 24 February 2021 the Board of Directors approved the
financial statements, subject to final adoption by the Annual
General Meeting on 24 March 2021.

The accounting policies, the basis for calculations and pre-
sentations are unchanged in comparison with the Annual
Report 2019, except from the changed accounting policies
and presentation described below in the section “Changed
accounting policies and presentation”.

All amounts are in euro million unless otherwise stated.

2. Changed accounting policies and presentation

The new accounting requirements implemented during 2020
and their impact on Nordea's financial statements are
described below.

Net result on loans in hold portfolios

mandatorily held at fair value

Changes have been made to the presentation of fair value
adjustments to the margin component of loans in “hold” port-
folios mandatorily held at fair value. The margin component is
the interest paid by customers on top of the interest charged
to compensate Nordea for the related funding cost. As from
2020, these adjustments are being presented separately on a
new row in the income statement entitled “Net result on
loans in hold portfolios mandatorily held at fair value”. The
earlier policy was to present such fair value adjustments to
the row “Net result from items at fair value”, together with
fair value adjustments to instruments in “sell” and “hold and
sell” portfolios. Loans in “hold” portfolios that are mandatorily
held at fair value only due to their failing the solely payment
of principal and interest (SPPI) test are more similar to amor-
tised cost loans than to instruments in “sell” or “hold and sell”
portfolios. For this reason, the presentation should to the
extent possible be aligned with the presentation for loans
held at amortised cost. Fair value adjustments to the margin
component, which are largely driven by changes in credit risk,
are therefore presented separately next to the row “Net loan
losses” in the income statement, where similar adjustments to
loans held at amortised cost are presented. Comparative fig-
ures have been restated accordingly. The impact on the
income statement can be found in the table below.
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2020
EURmM Old policy Change New policy
Net result from items at fair value 948 -48 900
Total operating income 8,514 -48 8,466
Net result on loans in hold
portfolios mandatorily held at fair
value - 48 48
Operating profit 2,963 - 2,963
Net profit of the year 2,265 - 2,265
Impact on EPS/DEPS, EUR =

2019
EURmM Old policy Change New policy
Net result from items at fair value 1,024 -12 1,012
Total operating income 8,635 -12 8,623
Net result on loans in hold
portfolios mandatorily held at fair
value = 12 12
Operating profit 2113 - 2113
Net profit of the year 1,542 - 1,542

Impact on EPS/DEPS, EUR -

Reclassification of accrued interest on loans

Accrued interest on loans has previously been presented on
the line “Prepaid expenses and accrued income” on the bal-
ance sheet. As from 2020, accrued income on loans is pre-
sented together with the loans on the lines “Loans to credit
institutions” and “Loans to the public” on the balance sheet.
Comparative figures have been restated accordingly. The
impact on the balance sheet can be found in the table below.

31 Dec 2020
EURmM Old policy Change New policy
Loans to credit institutions 3123 - 3123
Loans to the public 329,507 258 329,765
Prepaid expenses and accrued
income 895 —-258 637
31 Dec 2019
EURmM Old policy Change New policy
Loans to credit institutions 8,516 3 8,519
Loans to the public 322,740 351 323,091
Prepaid expenses and accrued
income 1,065 -354 1

Changed presentation of trading in

own shares (treasury shares)

From 1 January 2020 acquisitions of own shares have been
reported as a reduction in “Invested unrestricted equity” and
sales of own shares as an increase in “Invested unrestricted
equity”. Nordea'’s earlier policy was to present acquisitions
and sales in “Retained earnings”. Comparative figures have
not been restated.

Changed presentation of reportable operating segments
To reflect its current reporting and decision-making process-
es, Nordea changed the presentation of reportable operating
segments and the definition of the Chief Operating Decision-
Maker. For more information see Note G3 “Segment report-
ing” in the section “Changes in basis of segmentation”.

Other amended requirements

The following new and amended standards and interpreta-

tions were implemented by Nordea on 1 January 2020 but

have not had any significant impact on the financial state-

ments of Nordea:

* Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in IFRS Standards

¢ Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of business

¢« Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of material

¢ Annual Improvements to IFRS 16: Leases COVID-19-related
rent concessions

Changes to the Finnish Accounting Act, the Finnish Credit
Institutions Act, the Financial Supervision Authority’s Regula-
tions and Guidelines and the Decree of the Ministry of
Finance on the financial statements and consolidated state-
ments of credit institutions and investment firms have not had
any significant impact on Nordea'’s financial statements.

3. Changes in IFRSs not yet applied

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 “Sale or

Contribution of Assets between an Investor

and its Associate or Joint Venture”

The IASB has amended the requirements in IFRS 10 and |IAS
28 regarding sales and contributions of assets between an
investor and its associated undertaking or joint venture due to
inconsistent treatment of gains and losses of such transac-
tions in those standards. The IASB has thereafter proposed to
defer indefinitely the effective date and permit earlier appli-
cation. The amendments are not yet endorsed by the EU
Commission. Nordea does not currently intend to early adopt
the amendments. The new requirements are not expected to
have any impact on Nordea's financial statements, capital
adequacy, or large exposures in the period of initial applica-
tion as the new requirements are in line with Nordea's current
accounting policies.

IFRS 17 “Insurance contracts”

The IASB has published the new standard IFRS 17 “Insurance
contracts”. The new standard will change the accounting
requirements for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of insurance contracts.

The measurement principles will change from a non-uni-
form accounting policy based on the local accounting policies
in the life insurance subsidiaries to a uniform accounting poli-
cy based on the three measurement models Building Block
Approach (BBA), Variable Fee Approach (VFA) and Premium
Allocation Approach (PAA). The model application depends
on the terms of the contracts (long term, long term with vari-
able fee or short term). The three measurement models
include consistent definitions of contractual cash flows, the
risk adjustment margin and discounting. These definitions are
based on principles similar to the measurement principles for
technical provisions in the Solvency Il capital requirements
directives. Unearned future premiums will be recognised as a
provision on the balance sheet and released to revenue when
the insurance service is provided. Any unprofitable contracts
will be recognised in the income statement at the time when
the contract is signed and approved.

IFRS 17 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier application permitted.
The standard is not yet endorsed by the EU Commission.
Nordea does not currently intend to adopt the standard early.
Nordea's current assessment is that the new standard will not
have any significant impact on its capital adequacy or large
exposures in the period of initial application. It is not yet pos-
sible to conclude on the impact on Nordea'’s financial
statements.
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Interest rate benchmark reform - Phase 2

The IASB has published amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS
7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 in “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2". Phase 2 of the IBOR reform includes three major
areas: hedge accounting, modifications and disclosures.

The amendments clarify that hedge accounting does not
have to be discontinued just because hedged items and
hedging instruments are modified due to the IBOR reform.
Hedging relationships (and related documentation) must be
amended to reflect modifications to the hedged item, hedg-
ing instrument and hedged risk. Any valuation adjustments
resulting from the amendments are recognised as part of
hedge ineffectiveness.

It is clarified that modifications required as a direct conse-
quence of the IBOR reform and made on an economically
equivalent basis are not accounted for as modifications to
instruments measured at amortised cost. For such modifica-
tions, the effective interest rate is amended in line with the
modified cash flows.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 with earlier application
permitted.

The amendments are expected to result in hedge relation-
ships in Nordea being able to continue as before and no
material modification gains or losses being recognised. For
this reason the amendments are not assessed to have any
significant impact on Nordea's financial statements, capital
adequacy or large exposures in the period of initial applica-
tion of the amendments in comparison with the current
situation.

Other changes in IFRS

The IASB has published the following new or amended stan-

dards that are assessed to have no significant impact on

Nordea’s financial statements, capital adequacy or large

exposures in the period of initial application:

¢« Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

* Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations

< Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

« Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets

¢ Annual improvement 2018-2020

¢« Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts — Extension of
the Temporary Exemption from Applying IFRS 9"

4. Critical judgements and estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles requires, in some

cases, the use of judgements and estimates by management.

The actual outcome can later, to some extent, differ from the

estimates and the assumptions made. In this section a

description is made of:

¢ the sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that have a significant risk of resulting in a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets andli-
abilities within the next financial year, and

¢ the judgements made when applying accounting policies
(apart from those involving estimations) that have the
most significant impact on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements.

Critical judgements and estimates are in particular
associated with:
¢ the fair value measurement of certain financial instruments
¢ the classification of financial assets
¢ the derecognition of financial assets
¢ the impairment testing of:
— goodwill and other intangible assets and
— loans to the public/credit institutions
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¢ the amortisation period for capitalised software

¢ the effectiveness testing of cash flow hedges

¢ the actuarial calculations of pension liabilities and plan
assets related to employees

¢ the actuarial calculations of insurance contracts

¢ the valuation of investment properties

¢ the assessment of expected lease terms and classification
of leases

¢ the classification of Additional Tier 1 instruments

¢ assessing control for consolidation purposes

¢ the valuation of deferred tax assets

¢ claims in civil lawsuits and possible fines

¢ critical judgements emphasised by COVID-19.

Fair value measurement of certain financial instruments

Nordea's accounting policy for determining the fair value of

financial instruments is described in section 11 “Determination

of fair value of financial instruments” and Note G41 “Assets

and liabilities at fair value”. Critical judgements that have a

significant impact on the recognised amounts for financial

instruments are exercised when determining fair value of OTC

derivatives and other financial instruments that lack quoted

prices or recently observed market prices, such as unlisted

equities. Those judgements relate to the following areas:

* The choice of valuation techniques.

¢ The determination of when quoted prices fail to represent
fair value (including the judgement of whether markets are
active).

¢ The construction of fair value adjustments in order to
incorporate relevant risk factors such as credit risk, model
risk and liquidity risk.

¢ The judgement of which market parameters are
observable.

The critical judgements required when determining the fair
value of financial instruments that lack quoted prices or
recently observed market prices also introduce a high degree
of estimation uncertainty.

In all of these instances, decisions are based upon profes-
sional judgement in accordance with Nordea's accounting
and valuation policies. The fair value of financial assets and
liabilities measured at fair value using a valuation technique,
levels 2 and 3 in the fair value hierarchy, was EUR 167,700m
(EUR 185,198m) and EUR 112,755m (EUR 151,751m), respec-
tively, at the end of the year. Valuation adjustments (CVA,
DVA, FFVA, NFVA, close-out cost adjustment, model risk
adjustment and IPV variance) made when determining the
value of financial instruments (including those measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income) amount to
EUR 224m (EUR 193m).

Sensitivity analysis disclosures covering fair values of
financial instruments with significant unobservable inputs
can be found in Note G41 “Assets and liabilities at fair value”.

Estimation uncertainty also arises at initial recognition of
financial instruments that are part of larger structural trans-
actions. Although subsequently not necessarily held at fair
value such instruments are initially recognised at fair value
and as there is normally no separate transaction price or
active market for such individual instruments, the fair value
has to be estimated.

Classification of financial assets

Nordea classifies financial assets based on Nordea’'s business
model for managing the assets. When determining the busi-
ness model for the bonds within the liquidity buffer Nordea
makes critical judgements. The bonds within the liquidity buf-
fer is split in two portfolios. For the first portfolio Nordea has
determined that the business model is to keep the bonds and
collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets. For
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the second portfolio, Nordea has determined that the busi-
ness model is to manage the bonds with the objective of real-
ising cash flows through sale. The bonds within the first port-
folio are measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) and the bonds within the second portfolio
are measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL).
Interest-bearing securities and Financial instruments pledged
as collateral in the liquidity buffer measured at FVOCI (the
first portfolio) amount to EUR 33,726m (EUR 29,779m) and
interest-bearing securities measured at FVPL (the second
portfolio) amount to EUR 25,069m (EUR 34,725m).

Derecognition of financial assets

Loans and other financial assets where cash flows are modi-
fied, or part of a restructuring, are derecognised, and a new
loan recognised, if the terms and conditions of the new loan
are substantially different from the old loan. Nordea applies
judgements to determine if the terms and conditions of the
new loan are substantially different from the old loan. Nordea
considers the terms and conditions to be substantially differ-
ent if the present value of the cash flows of the new loan dis-
counted by the original interest rate differs by more than 10%
from the present value of the remaining expected cash flows
of the old loan or if the modified cash flows are SPPI, but the
original cash flows were not SPPI and vice versa. The carrying
amount of loans, interest-bearing securities and financial
instruments pledged as collateral on the asset side of the bal-
ance sheet amounts to EUR 402,315m (EUR 412,898m).

Impairment testing of goodwill and other intangible assets
Nordea’s accounting policy for goodwill is described in sec-
tion 16 “Intangible assets” and Note G21 “Intangible assets"
lists the cash-generating units (CGUs) to which goodwill has
been allocated. Also internally developed software for which
amortisation has not yet started is included in the impairment
test and allocated to the CGUs. Nordea's total goodwill
amounted to EUR 1,938m (EUR 1,969m) at the end of the
year. Software for which amortisation has not yet started
amounted to EUR 505m (EUR 768m) at the end of the year.

The estimation of future cash flows and the calculation of
the rate used to discount those cash flows are subject to esti-
mation uncertainty. The forecast of future cash flows is sensi-
tive to the cash flow projections for the near future (generally
3-5 years) and to the estimated sector growth rate for the
period beyond 3-5 years. The growth rates are based on his-
torical data, updated to reflect the current situation, which
implies estimation uncertainty.

The rates used to discount future expected cash flows are
based on the long-term risk-free interest rate plus a risk pre-
mium. The risk premium is based on external information of
overall risk premiums in the relevant countries.

For information on the sensitivity to changes in relevant
parameters, see Note G21 “Intangible assets”.

Impairment testing of loans to the

public/credit institutions

Nordea's accounting policy for impairment testing of loans is
described in section 14 “Loans to the public/credit
institutions”.

Management is required to exercise critical judgements
and estimates when calculating loan impairment allowances.
Nordea’s total lending before impairment allowances was
EUR 338,459m (EUR 343,000m) at the end of the year. For
more information, see Note G14 “Loans and impairment”.

When calculating allowances for individually significant
impaired loans, judgement is exercised to estimate the
amount and timing of the expected cash flows to be received
from the customers under different scenarios, including the
valuation of any collateral received. Judgement is also

applied when assigning the likelihood of the different scenar-
ios occurring.

Judgement is exercised to assess when an exposure has
experienced a significant increase in credit risk. If this is the
case, the provision should reflect the lifetime expected losses,
as opposed to a 12-month expected loss for exposures not
having increased significantly in credit risk. Judgement is also
exercised in the choice of modelling approaches covering
other parameters used when calculating the expected losses,
such as the expected lifetime used in stage 2 as well as in the
assessment of whether the parameters based on historical
experience are relevant for estimating future losses.

The statistical models used to calculate provisions are
based on macroeconomic scenarios, which requires manage-
ment to exercise judgement when identifying such scenarios
and when assigning the likelihood of the different scenarios
occurring. Judgement is also exercised in the assessment of
to what extent the parameters for the different scenarios,
based on historical experience, are relevant for estimating
future losses.

The amortisation period for capitalised software

Internally developed software is capitalised and amortised
over the useful life of the software. As the IT landscape devel-
ops rapidly, management exercises judgment to estimate the
useful life of the software, which affects the yearly amortisa-
tion charge.

Effectiveness testing of cash flow hedges
Nordea's accounting policy for cash flow hedges is described
in section 10 “Hedge accounting”.

One important judgement in connection with cash flow
hedge accounting is the choice of method used for effective-
ness testing.

Where Nordea applies cash flow hedge accounting the
hedging instruments used are predominantly cross currency
interest rate swaps, which are always held at fair value. The
currency component is designated as a cash flow hedge of
the currency risk and the interest component as a fair value
hedge of the interest rate risk. The hypothetical derivative
method is used when measuring the effectiveness of these
cash flow hedges, meaning that the change in a perfect
hypothetical swap is used as proxy for the present value of
the cumulative change in expected future cash flows on the
hedged transaction (the currency component). Critical judge-
ment has to be exercised when defining the characteristics of
the perfect hypothetical swap.

Actuarial calculations of pension liabilities

and plan assets related to employees

Nordea's accounting policy for post-employment benefits is
described in section 24 “Employee benefits”.

The defined benefit obligation for major pension plans is
calculated by external actuaries using demographic assump-
tions based on the current population. As a basis for these
calculations a number of actuarial and financial parameters
are used.

The estimation of the discount rate is subject to uncertainty
around whether corporate bond markets are deep enough, of
high quality and also in connection to the extrapolation of
yield curves to relevant maturities. In Sweden, Norway and
Denmark the discount rate is determined with reference to
covered bonds and in Finland with reference to corporate
bonds. Other parameters, like assumptions about salary
increases and inflation, are based on the expected long-term
development of these parameters and also subject to estima-
tion uncertainty. The main parameters used at year-end are
disclosed in Note G34 “Retirement benefit obligations”
together with a description of the sensitivity to changes in
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assumptions. The defined benefit obligation was EUR 3,871m
(EUR 3,790m) at the end of the year.

Actuarial calculations of insurance contracts
Nordea's accounting policy for insurance contracts is
described in section 19 “Liabilities to policyholders”.

A valuation of insurance liabilities includes estimations and
assumptions, both financial and actuarial. One of the impor-
tant financial assumptions is the interest rate used for dis-
counting future cash flows. Important actuarial assumptions
are those on mortality and disability, which affect the size and
timing of the future cash flows. The financial and actuarial
assumptions are, to a large extent, stipulated in local legisla-
tion and therefore not under Nordea's discretion. Also,
assumptions about future administrative and tax expenses
have an impact on the calculation of policyholder liabilities.

The insurance liability was EUR 15,792m (EUR 15,928m) at
the end of the year. The carrying amount’s sensitivity to differ-
ent assumptions is disclosed in Note G29 “Liabilities to
policyholders”.

Valuation of investment properties
Nordea's accounting policy for investment properties is
described in section 18 “Investment properties”.

Investment properties are measured at fair value. As there
are normally no active markets for investment properties, the
fair values are estimated based on discounted cash flow mod-
els. These models are based on assumptions on future rents,
vacancy levels, operating and maintenance costs, yield
requirements and interest rates.

The carrying amounts of investment properties were EUR
1,535m (EUR 1,585m) at the end of the year. See Note G24
“Investment properties” for more information on amounts
and parameters used in these models.

Assessment of expected lease terms

and classification of leases

Nordea's accounting policy for leases is described in section
15 “Leasing”.

Critical judgement has to be exercised as a lessee when
estimating the expected lease term by considering all facts
and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exer-
cise an extension or termination option. The expected lease
term for contracts with no end date is estimated in the same
way. Backstop rules on the average expected lifetime for dif-
ferent types of real estate contracts are used as a guidance
when making the estimate for banking branches. A more
detailed analysis is performed for large head office contracts.
The head office contracts are estimated to be more long term
in nature than those of the branches where the environment
is changing at a more rapid pace. The expected lease term of
head office contracts is currently generally close to 25 years.
The backstop rule of banking branches is currently limiting
the expected lease term of contracts with no end date, or
contracts with extension options, to 5 years. It is possible to
deviate from the backstop rule if the circumstances show that
it is likely that Nordea will stay for a longer/shorter period.

For a lessor, critical judgement has to be exercised when
classifying lease contracts. A lease is classified as a finance
lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
related to ownership. A lease is classified as an operating
lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards related to ownership.

The carrying amount of right of-use assets was EUR
1,459m (EUR 1,506m) at the end of the year.

More information on lease contracts can be found in Note
G23 “Leasing”.
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Classification of Additional Tier 1 instruments

Nordea has issued perpetual subordinated instruments where
the interest payments to the holders are at the discretion of
Nordea and non-accumulating. Some of these instruments
also include a requirement for Nordea to pay interest if the
instruments are no longer allowed to be included in Tier 1
capital. If there is a requirement to pay interest based on the
occurrence or non-occurrence of an uncertain future event
that is beyond the control of both the issuer and the holder of
the instrument, the instrument will be classified as a financial
liability. The inclusion of the subordinated loan in Tier 1 capi-
tal is decided by the regulators and is thus beyond the control
of Nordea and the holders of the instrument. Nordea classi-
fies the instruments as financial liabilities. Instruments with-
out such clauses are classified as equity as there is no require-
ment for Nordea to pay interest or principal to the holders of
the instrument.

Assessing control for consolidation purposes

One decisive variable when assessing if Nordea controls
another entity is whether Nordea is exposed to variability in
returns from the investment. For structured entities where
voting rights are not the dominant factor when determining
control, critical judgement has to be exercised when defining
when Nordea is exposed to significant variability in returns.
Nordea’s critical judgement is that Nordea is normally
exposed to variability in returns when Nordea receives more
than 30% of the return produced by the structured entity. This
is only relevant for structured entities where Nordea is also
the investment manager and thus has influence over the
return produced by the structured entity.

Another judgement relating to control is whether Nordea
acts as an agent or as a principal. For unit-linked and other
contracts where the policyholder/depositor decides both the
amount and which assets to invest in, Nordea is considered to
act as an agent and thus does not have control.

Judgement also has to be exercised when assessing if a
holding of a significant, but less than majority, share of voting
rights constitute a so-called de facto control and to what
extent potential voting rights need to be considered in the
control assessment. Nordea's assessment is that Nordea does
currently not control any entities where the share of voting
rights is below 50%.

Valuation of deferred tax assets
Nordea's accounting policy for the recognition of deferred tax
assets is described in section 21 “Taxes” and Note G12 “Taxes".
The valuation of deferred tax assets is influenced by man-
agement’s assessment of Nordea’s future profitability and
sufficiency of future taxable profits and future reversals of
existing taxable temporary differences. These assessments
are updated and reviewed at each balance sheet date, and
are, if necessary, revised to reflect the current situation.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets was EUR 406m
(EUR 487m) at the end of the year.

Claims in civil lawsuits and possible fines

Within the framework of normal business operations, Nordea
faces a number of claims in civil lawsuits and disputes, most
of which involve relatively limited amounts, as well as pos-
sible fines due to e.g. weak anti-money laundering processes
and procedures in the past. Presently, none of the current dis-
putes are considered likely to have any significant adverse
effect on Nordea or its financial position. As previously stated,
Nordea expects to be fined in Denmark for weak AML pro-
cesses and procedures in the past and has made a provision
for ongoing AML-related matters. Nordea cannot exclude the
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possibility of fines, which could impact the bank’s financial

performance. In addition, some of these proceedings could

lead to litigation. See also Note G2 “Risk and Liquidity Man-
agement, Note G33 “Provisions” and Note G38 “Contingent
liabilities".

Critical judgements emphasised by COVID-19

Nordea applied significant critical judgements in the prepara-
tion of the Annual Report 2020 due to significant uncertainty
concerning the potential long-term impact of COVID-19 on
Nordea’s financial statements. Areas particularly important
were the fair value measurement of certain financial instru-
ments, impairment testing of goodwill and loans to the pub-
lic/credit institutions, and assessment of expected lease
terms.

Critical judgements are applied when determining the fair
value of financial instruments that lack quoted prices or
recently observed market prices. In all of these instances,
decisions are based on professional judgement in accordance
with Nordea's accounting and valuation policies. More infor-
mation on financial instruments held at fair value on Nordea's
balance sheet can be found in Note G41.

No impairment of goodwill was identified during the year,
but significant estimation uncertainty exists in relation to the
long-term impact on Nordea's financial statements and the
impairment need will be continually reassessed. Nordea
updated the cash flow projections to reflect the best estimate
of the impact of COVID-19. Cash flows were projected up
until the end of 2023 and the long-term growth assumption
was used for subsequent periods. The discount rate used for
the test in the fourth quarter was on average 5.8% post-tax
and the long-term growth was on average 1.4%. Both an
increase in the discount rate of 1 percentage point and a
reduction in the future growth rate of 1 percentage point are
considered to be reasonably possible changes in key assump-
tions. Such changes would not result in any impairment. More
information on the impairment testing of goodwill can be
found in Note G21 “Intangible assets”.

Critical judgement was applied in the assessment of when
loans had experienced a significant increase in credit risk
(staging) and in the application of macro scenarios when
estimating the increase in expected credit losses. More infor-
mation on the impairment testing of loans to the public/credit
institutions can be found in section 14 “Loans to the public/
credit institutions” and in Note G2 “Risk and Liquidity man-
agement”. Information on sensitivities to rating and scoring
migrations can be found in the section “Sensitivities” in Note
G2 "Risk and Liquidity management”.

No changes in expected lease terms for premises lease
contracts or impairments of right-of-use assets were identi-
fied during 2020, but the impact of the COVID-19 on the
future premises strategies will be closely monitored going
forward. More information on leasing can be found in Note
G23 “Leasing”.

5. Principles of consolidation
Consolidated entities
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
the parent company Nordea Bank Abp and those entities that
the parent company controls. Control exists when Nordea is
exposed to variability in returns from its investments in
another entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the other entity. Control is generally
achieved when the parent company owns, directly or indi-
rectly through group undertakings, more than 50% of the vot-
ing rights. For entities where voting rights do not decide con-
trol, see the section “Structured entities” below.

All group undertakings are consolidated using the acquisi-

tion method. Under the acquisition method, the acquisition is
regarded as a transaction whereby the parent company indi-
rectly acquires the group undertaking’s assets and assumes
its liabilities and contingent liabilities. The group’s acquisition
cost is established in a purchase price allocation analysis. In
such analysis, the cost of the business combination is the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets
given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments
issued by the acquirer, in exchange for the identifiable net
assets acquired. Costs directly attributable to the business
combination are expensed.

As at the acquisition date Nordea recognises the identifi-
able assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at their
acquisition date fair values.

For each business combination Nordea measures the non-
controlling interest in the acquired business either at fair
value or at their proportionate share of the acquired identifi-
able net assets.

When the aggregate of the consideration transferred in a
business combination and the amount recognised for non-
controlling interest exceed the net fair value of the identifi-
able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, the excess is
reported as goodwill. If the difference is negative, such differ-
ence is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Equity and net income attributable to non-controlling
interests are separately disclosed on the balance sheet, the
income statement and the statement of comprehensive
income.

Intra-group transactions and balances between the con-
solidated group undertakings are eliminated.

The group undertakings are included in the consolidated
accounts as from the date on which control is transferred to
Nordea and are no longer consolidated as from the date on
which control ceases.

In the consolidation process the reporting from the group
undertakings is adjusted to ensure consistency with the IFRS
principles applied by Nordea.

Note G47 “Group structure” lists the major group undertak-
ings of the Nordea Group.

Investments in associated undertakings and joint ventures
The equity method of accounting is used for associated
undertakings where the share of voting rights is between
20% and 50% and/or where Nordea has significant

influence. Significant influence is the power to participate

in the financial and operating decisions of the investee

but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The equity method of accounting is also used for joint ven-
tures where Nordea has joint control. Joint control is the con-
tractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which
exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Investments within Nordea's investment activities, which
are classified as a venture capital organisations within
Nordea, are measured at fair value in accordance with the
rules set out in IAS 28 and IFRS 9. Further information on the
equity method is disclosed in section 6 “Recognition of oper-
ating income and impairment”.

Profits from companies accounted for under the equity
method are reported post-taxes in the income statement.
Consequently, the tax expense related to these profits is not
included in the income tax expense for Nordea.

Nordea does generally not have any sales or contribution
of assets to or from associated undertakings or joint ventures.
Other transactions between Nordea and its associated under-
takings or joint ventures are not eliminated.

Note G20 “Investments in associated undertakings and
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joint ventures” lists the major associated undertakings of the
Nordea Group.

Structured entities

A structured entity is an entity created to accomplish a nar-
row and well-defined objective where voting rights are not
the dominant factor in determining control. Often legal
arrangements impose strict limits on the decision-making
powers of the management over the ongoing activities of a
structured entity. The same consolidation requirements apply
to these entities, but as voting rights do not decide whether
control exists, other factors are used to determine control.

Power can exist due to agreements or other types of influ-
ence over a structured entity. Nordea normally has power
over entities sponsored or established by Nordea. Nordea has
created a number of structured entities to allow customers to
invest in assets invested in by the structured entity. Some
structured entities invest in tradable financial instruments,
such as shares and bonds (mutual funds). Structured entities
can also invest in structured credit products or acquire assets
from customers of Nordea, although only one such structured
entity currently exists. Nordea is generally the investment
manager and has sole discretion about investments and other
administrative decisions and thus has power over these
entities.

Typically, Nordea will receive service and commission fees
in connection with the creation of the structured entity, or
because it acts as an investment manager, a custodian or in
some other function. Such income is normally not significant
enough to expose Nordea to variability in returns and will
thus not trigger consolidation. In some structured entities
Nordea has also supplied substantial parts of the funding in
the form of fund units, loans or credit commitments. In these
structured entities Nordea is exposed to variability in returns
and as the power over these entities affects the return, these
structured entities are consolidated. Nordea normally consid-
ers a share of more than 30% of the return produced by a
structured entity to give rise to variability and thus give con-
trol. Variability is measured as the sum of fees received and
revaluation of assets held. For unit-linked and other contracts
where the policyholder/depositor decides both the amount
and which assets to invest in, Nordea is considered to act as
an agent and does thus not have control.

Further information about consolidated and unconsolidat-
ed structured entities is disclosed in Note G46 “Interests in
structured entities”.

Currency translation of foreign entities/branches

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro
(EUR). When translating the financial statements of foreign
entities and branches into EUR from their functional currency,
the assets and liabilities of foreign entities and branches have
been translated at the closing rates, while items in the income
statement and the statement of comprehensive income are
translated at the average exchange rate for the year. The
average exchange rates are calculated based on daily
exchange rates divided by the number of banking days in the
period. Translation differences are recognised in other com-
prehensive income and are accumulated in the translation
reserve in equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from the acqui-
sition of group undertakings are treated as items in the same
functional currency as the cash-generating unit to which they
belong and are also translated at the closing rate.

Any remaining equity in foreign branches is converted at
the closing rates with translation differences recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Information on the most important exchange rates is dis-
closed in the separate section 30 “Exchange rates”.

6. Recognition of operating income and impairment

Net interest income

Interest income and expense are calculated and recognised
based on the effective interest rate method or, if considered
appropriate, based on a method that results in an interest
income or interest expense that is a reasonable approxima-
tion of using the effective interest rate method as the basis for
the calculation. The effective interest includes fees considered
to be an integral part of the effective interest rate of a finan-
cial instrument (generally fees received as compensation for
risk). The effective interest rate equals the rate that discounts
the estimated future cash flows to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset or financial liability.

Interest income and expenses from financial instruments
are, with the exceptions described below, classified as “Net
interest income”.

Interest income and interest expense related to all balance
sheet items held at fair value in Markets and Nordea Life &
Pensions are classified as “Net result from items at fair value”
in the income statement. Also, interest on the net funding of
operations in Markets and on assets measured at amortised
cost in Nordea Life & Pensions is recognised on this line to
ensure that income and expense within these operations are
presented in a consistent manner.

The interest component in foreign exchange swaps, and
interest paid and received in interest rate swaps plus changes
in accrued interest, is classified as “Net result from items at
fair value”, except for derivatives used for hedging, including
economic hedges of Nordea's funding, where such compo-
nents are classified as “Net interest income”.

The yield on financial assets is presented on three lines in
the income statement, Interest income calculated using the
effective interest rate method, Other interest income and
Negative yield on financial assets. On the line Interest income
calculated using the effective interest method, Nordea pres-
ents interest income from financial assets measured at amor-
tised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income. This line item also includes the effect from hedge
accounting relating to these assets. All other interest income
is presented on the income statement line “Other interest
income”, except negative yield on financial assets which is
presented on a separate line. Negative yield on financial lia-
bilities is also disclosed separately in the income statement.

Net fee and commission income

Nordea earns commission income from different services pro-
vided to customers. The recognition of commission income
depends on the purpose for which the fees are received.

The major part of the revenues classified as “Commission
income” constitutes revenue from contracts with customers
according to IFRS 15. Fee income is recognised either when or
as performance obligations are satisfied.

Asset management commissions are generally recognised
over time as services are performed and are normally based
on assets under management. These fees are recognised
based on the passage of time as the amount, and the right to
the fee, corresponds to the value received by the customer.
The fees are recognised monthly when the market value of
the assets under management is determined. Variable fees
that are based on relative performance compared with a
benchmark are in asset management rare, and they are nor-
mally fixed and recognised at least each reporting date. Vari-
able fees that are not fixed on the reporting date cannot gen-
erally be recognised as the outcome is uncertain and subject
to market development.
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Life & Pension commission income includes fee income,
referred to as expense loading, from insurance contracts and
investment contracts with policyholders. Investments con-
tracts are contracts that do not include enough insurance risk
to be classified as insurance contracts. The expense loading is
the part of the premium income considered to be compensa-
tion for the contract administration. The fee income is recog-
nised over time when the services are performed. These con-
tracts do generally not include any upfront fees.

Fees categorised as Deposit Products, Brokerage, securities
issues and corporate finance, Custody and issuer service and
Payment commissions are recognised both over time and at a
point of time dependent on when the performance obliga-
tions are satisfied. Brokerage, securities issues and corporate
finance are mainly transactional driven for advising clients or
for executing customer transactions in securities where the
services are recognised at a point of time when the services
related to the transaction are completed. Payment commis-
sions include fees for cash management and payment solu-
tions that are recognised over time and transaction based
fees for services like domestic and foreign payments that are
recognised at a point of time. Card fees are categorised as
interchange fees which are recognised at a point of time
when the customer uses the services, or as cardholder fees
which are recognised over time or at a point of time if the fee
is transaction based.

Lending fees that are not part of the effective interest of a
financial instrument are recognised at a point of time. The
amount of loan syndication fees as well as other transaction-
based fees received are recognised at a point of time when
the performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when the syndica-
tion or transaction has been performed. Fees received for
bilateral transactions are generally amortised as part of the
effective interest of the financial instruments recognised.

Income from issued financial guarantees, and expenses for
bought financial guarantees, are amortised over the duration
of the instruments and classified as “Fee and commission
income” and “Fee and commission expense”, respectively.
Other fee income is generally transaction based.

For transactional services which are performed at a point
in time, payments are generally made instantly when the ser-
vices are performed. For services performed over time the
service period is normally short. Examples of such services
are monthly payment services and monthly or quarterly asset
management services. For the services performed over time
the right to payment generally arises at the end of the service
period when the performance obligations are completed and
itis highly probable that no significant reversal of the consid-
eration will occur. However, for some services with fixed
monthly fees the right to payment arises in advance. Account
receivables are recognised as Other assets while unbilled
receivables for satisfied performance obligations and contract
assets are recognised as Prepaid expenses and accrued
income. Short-term advances received where the perfor-
mance obligations have not yet been satisfied are recognised
as Accrued expenses and prepaid income.

Commission expenses are normally transaction based and
recognised in the period when the services are received.

Initial contract costs for obtaining contracts are recognised
as an asset and amortised if the costs are expected to be
recovered.

Net result from items at fair value
Realised and unrealised gains and losses on financial instru-
ments and investment properties measured at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in the item “Net result
from items at fair value”.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses derive from:

¢ Shares/participations and other share-related instruments

¢ Interest-bearing securities and other interest-related
instruments

¢ Other financial instruments, including credit derivatives as
well as commodity instruments/derivatives

¢ Foreign exchange gains/losses

¢ |nvestment properties, which include realised and unre-
alised income, for instance revaluation gains and losses.
This line also includes realised results from disposals as
well as the running property yield stemming from the
holding of investment properties.

Interest income and interest expense related to all balance
sheet items held at fair value in Markets and Nordea Life &
Pensions are classified as “Net result from items at fair value”
in the income statement. Also, interest on the net funding of
operations in Markets and on assets measured at amortised
cost in Nordea Life & Pensions is recognised on this line to
ensure that income and expense within these operations are
presented in a consistent manner.

Also, the ineffective portion of cash flow hedges and net
investment hedges as well as recycled gains and losses on
financial instruments classified into the category Financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are
recognised in “Net result from items at fair value”.

This item also includes realised gains and losses from
financial instruments measured at amortised cost, such as
interest compensation received and realised gains/losses on
buybacks of issued own debt.

“Net result from items at fair value” also includes fair value
changes of hedged assets and liabilities at amortised cost in
portfolio hedge of interest rate risk.

“Net result from items at fair value” also includes losses
from counterparty risk on instruments classified into the cat-
egory Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
except for loans in “hold” portfolios mandatorily held at fair
value (SPPI fails) which are presented on the row “Net result
on loans in hold portfolios mandatorily held at fair value” (see
below). Impairment losses from instruments within other cat-
egories are recognised in the item “Net loan losses” (see also
the sub-section “Net loan losses” below).

Dividends received are recognised in the income statement
as “Net result from items at fair value” and classified as
“Shares/participations and other share-related instruments”
in the note. Income is recognised in the period in which the
right to receive payment is established.

The income recognition and descriptions of the lines relat-
ing to life insurance are described in section 7 “Income recog-
nition life insurance” below.

Profit from companies accounted for

under the equity method

Profit from companies accounted for under the equity meth-
od is defined as the post-acquisition change in Nordea’s share
of net assets in associated undertakings and joint ventures.
Nordea’s share of items accounted for in other comprehensive
income in associated undertakings and joint ventures is
accounted for in other comprehensive income in Nordea.
Profit from companies accounted for under the equity meth-
od is, as stated in section 5 “Principles of consolidation”,
reported in the income statement post-taxes. Consequently,
the tax expense related to this profit is excluded from the
income tax expense for Nordea.

Fair values are, at acquisition, allocated to the associated
undertaking's and the joint venture's identifiable assets, liabil-
ities and contingent liabilities. Any difference between
Nordea's share of the fair values of the acquired identifiable
net assets and the purchase price is goodwill or negative
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goodwill. Goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the
associated undertaking and the joint venture. Subsequently
the investment in the associated undertaking and the joint
venture increases/decreases with Nordea's share of the post-
acquisition change in net assets in the associated undertak-
ing and the joint venture and decreases through received
dividends and impairment. An impairment charge can be
reversed in a subsequent period.

The change in Nordea's share of the net assets is generally
based on monthly reporting from the associated undertak-
ings and joint ventures. For some associated undertakings
and joint ventures not individually significant the change in
Nordea's share of the net assets is based on the external
reporting of the associated undertakings and the joint ven-
tures and affects the financial statements of Nordea in the
period in which the information is available. The reporting
from the associated undertakings and the joint ventures is,
if applicable, adjusted to comply with Nordea’s accounting
policies.

Also, impairment on investments in associated undertak-
ings and joint ventures is classified as “Profit from companies
accounted for under the equity method” in the income state-
ment. The policies covering impairment of financial assets
classified into the category Amortised cost are disclosed in
section 13 “Financial instruments” and section 14 “Loans to
the public/credit institutions”.

If observable indicators (loss events) indicate that an asso-
ciated undertaking or a joint ventures is impaired, an impair-
ment test is performed to assess whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. The carrying amount of the invest-
ment in the associated undertaking or the joint venture is
compared with the recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less cost to sell) and the carrying amount
is written down to the recoverable amount if required.

Impairment losses are reversed if the recoverable amount
increases. The carrying amount is then increased to the recov-
erable amount but cannot exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised.

Other operating income and other expenses
Net gains from divestments of shares in group undertakings,
associated undertakings and joint ventures and net gains on
sale of tangible assets as well as other operating income, not
related to any other income line, are generally recognised
when it is probable that the benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to Nordea and if the significant risks and
rewards have been transferred to the buyer (generally when
the transactions are finalised).

Resolution fees are presented as other expenses in the
income statement.

Net result on loans in hold portfolios

mandatorily held at fair value

The item “Net result on loans in hold portfolios mandatorily
held at fair value” includes fair value adjustments of the mar-
gin component on loans in “hold” portfolios mandatorily held
at fair value (SPPI fails). The loans are classified into the cat-
egory Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
presented in the item “Loans to the public” on the balance
sheet. The fair value adjustments are largely driven by chang-
es in credit risk.

Losses from counterparty risk on other instruments classi-
fied into the category Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are presented as “Net results from items at fair
value”.

Impairment losses from instruments within other catego-
ries than the category Financial assets at fair value through
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profit or loss are recognised in the item “Net loan losses” (see
also the sub-sections “Net loan losses” below).

Net loan losses

Impairment losses from financial assets classified into the
categories Amortised cost and Fair value through other com-
prehensive income (see section 13 “Financial instruments"”), in
the items “Loans to central banks”, “Loans to credit institu-
tions”, “Loans to the public” and “Interest-bearing securities”
on the balance sheet, are reported as “"Net loan losses”
together with losses from financial guarantees. Losses are
reported net of any collateral and other credit enhancements.
Nordea's accounting policies for the calculation of impairment
losses on loans can be found in section 14 “Loans to the pub-
lic/credit institutions”.

Counterparty losses on instruments classified into the cat-
egory Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
including credit derivatives but excluding loans held at fair
value as described above, are reported under “Net result from
items at fair value” or, if related to loans in “hold” portfolios
mandatorily held at fair value (SPPI fails), on the line “Net
result on loans in hold portfolios mandatorily held at fair
value”, see above.

7. Income recoghnition life insurance

Premiums received, and repayments to policyholders, related

to the savings part of life insurance contracts are reported as

increases or decreases of liabilities to policyholders. See fur-

ther information in section 19 “Liabilities to policyholders".
The total income from life insurance mainly consists of the

following components:

e Cost result

¢ |nsurance risk result

¢ Risk and performance margin

¢ Investment return on additional capital in life insurance

The result from these components is, except for the cost
result and the risk and performance margin relating to unit-
linked and investment contracts, included in “Net result from
items at fair value”.

The cost result is the result of expense loading from policy-
holders and is included in the item “Fee and commission
income” together with the risk and performance margin relat-
ing to unit-linked and investment contracts. The related
expenses are included in the items “Fee and commission
expense” and “Operating expenses”. The policyholders' part
of a positive or negative cost result (profit sharing) is included
on the note line “Change in technical provisions, Life insur-
ance” within Note G6 “Total net result from items at fair
value”.

The insurance risk result consists of income from individual
risk products and from unbundled life insurance contracts as
well as health and personal accident insurance. The risk pre-
miums are amortised over the coverage period as the provi-
sions are reduced when insurance risk is released. A large
part of the unbundled risk result from traditional life insur-
ance is subject to profit sharing, which means that the policy-
holders receive part of the net income or net deficit. Risk
income and the risk expenses are presented gross on the lines
“Insurance risk income, Life insurance” and “Insurance risk
expense, Life insurance” in Note G6 “Total net result from
items at fair value”. The policyholders' part of the result is
included on the line “Change in technical provisions, Life
insurance” in the note.

Gains and losses derived from investments at Nordea Life
& Pensions are split between the relevant lines in Note G6
“Total net result from items at fair value” as for any other
investment at Nordea. The lines include investment returns on
assets held to cover liabilities to policyholders and return on
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the additional capital allocated to Nordea Life & Pensions

(shareholders capital in the Nordea Life & Pensions group).
The note line “Change in technical provisions, Life insur-

ance” in Note G6 “Total net result from items at fair value”

includes:

¢ |nvestment returns on assets held to cover liabilities to pol-
icyholders (including liabilities from traditional life insur-
ance, unit-linked insurance and investment contracts), indi-
vidually transferred to policyholders’ accounts according to
the contracts.

¢ Additional bonus (discretionary participation feature) to
policyholders concerning traditional life insurance con-
tracts or any other transfers to the policyholders to cover a
periodical deficit between the investment result and any
agreed minimum benefit to policyholders.

¢ The risk and performance margin regarding traditional life
insurance products according to local allocation rules in
each Nordea Life & Pensions unit and according to con-
tracts with policyholders. The recognition of a risk and per-
formance margin in the income statement is mainly condi-
tional on a positive result for traditional life insurance con-
tracts. Risk and performance margins not possible to
recognise in the current period due to poor investment
results can, in some countries, partly or wholly be deferred
to years with higher returns.

¢ The policyholders’ part of the cost- and risk result regard-
ing traditional life insurance contracts or unit-linked
contracts.

The note line “Change in collective bonus potential, Life insur-
ance” in Note G6 “Total net result from items at fair value”
relates only to traditional life insurance contracts. The line
includes policyholders’ share of investment returns not yet
individualised. The line also includes additional bonus (discre-
tionary participation feature) and amounts needed to cover a
periodical deficit between the investment result and any min-
imum benefits to the policyholders.

8. Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments on the balance sheet

Derivative instruments, quoted securities and foreign
exchange spot transactions are recognised on and derecog-
nised from (and an asset or a liability is recognised as “Other
assets” or “Other liabilities” on the balance sheet between
the trade date and the settlement date) the balance sheet on
the trade date. Other financial instruments are recognised on
the balance sheet on the settlement date.

Financial assets, other than those for which trade date
accounting is applied, are derecognised from the balance
sheet when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial assets expire or are transferred to another party. The
rights to the cash flows normally expire or are transferred
when the counterparty has performed by e.g. repaying a loan
to Nordea, i.e. on the settlement date.

Loans and other financial assets where cash flows are
modified, or part of a restructuring, are derecognised, and a
new loan recognised, if the terms and conditions of the new
loan are substantially different from the old loan. This is nor-
mally the case if the present value of the cash flows of the
new loan discounted by the original interest rate differs by
more than 10% from the present value of the remaining
expected cash flows of the old loan. The same principles
apply to financial liabilities. The terms and conditions are also
considered to be significantly different for financial assets
where the modified cash flows are SPPI, but the original cash
flows were not SPPI and vice versa.

In some cases, Nordea enters into transactions where it
transfers assets that are recognised on the balance sheet but

retains either all or a portion of risks and rewards from the
transferred assets. If all or substantially all risks and rewards
are retained, the transferred assets are not derecognised from
the balance sheet. If Nordea's counterparty can sell or
repledge the transferred assets, the assets are reclassified to
the item “Financial instruments pledged as collateral” on the
balance sheet. Transfers of assets with retention of all or sub-
stantially all risks and rewards include e.g. securities lending
agreements and repurchase agreements.

Financial liabilities are derecognised from the balance
sheet when the liability is extinguished. Normally this occurs
when Nordea performs, for example when Nordea repays a
deposit to the counterparty, i.e. on the settlement date. Finan-
cial liabilities under trade date accounting are generally
derecognised and a liability is recognised as “Other liabilities”
on the balance sheet on the trade date.

For further information, see sections “Securities borrowing
and lending agreements” and “Repurchase and reverse
repurchase agreements” within section 13 “Financial instru-
ments”, as well as Note G43 “Transferred assets and obtained
collaterals”.

9. Translation of assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies

The functional currency of each entity (subsidiary or branch)
is decided based upon the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates. Foreign currency is defined as any
currency other than the functional currency of the entity. For-
eign currency transactions are recorded at the exchange rate
on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rate on the balance sheet date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of transac-
tions at rates different from those at the date of the transac-
tion, and unrealised translation differences on unsettled for-
eign currency monetary assets and liabilities, are recognised
in the income statement in the item “Net result from items at
fair value”.

10. Hedge accounting

As part of Nordea’s risk management policy, Nordea has iden-
tified a series of risk categories with corresponding hedging
strategies using derivative instruments, as set out in Note G2
“Risk and Liquidity management” (the Market risk section)
and Note G19 “Derivatives and hedge accounting”.

When a hedging relationship meets the specified hedge
accounting criteria set out in IAS 39, Nordea applies one of
three types of hedge accounting:
¢ Fair value hedge accounting
¢ Cash flow hedge accounting
¢ Hedges of net investments

Nordea has elected, as a policy choice permitted under IFRS
9, to continue to apply hedge accounting in accordance with
the carve-out version of IAS 39.

The EU carve-out version enables a group of derivatives
(or proportions thereof) to be viewed in combination and be
designated as the hedging instrument. It also removes some
of the limitations in fair value hedge accounting relating to
hedging core deposits and under-hedging strategies.

At inception, Nordea formally documents how the hedging
relationship meets the hedge accounting criteria, including
the economic relationship between the hedged item and the
hedging instrument, the nature of the risk, the risk manage-
ment objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge and
the method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of
the hedging relationship on an ongoing basis.

The application of hedge accounting requires the hedge to
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be highly effective. A hedge is regarded as highly effective if
at inception and throughout its life it can be expected that
changes in fair value of the hedged item, as regards the
hedged risk, can be essentially offset by changes in fair value
of the hedging instrument. The result should be within a
range of 80—125%.

Transactions that are entered into in accordance with
Nordea's hedging objectives but do not qualify for hedge
accounting, are economic hedge relationships.

Fair value hedge accounting

Fair value hedge accounting is applied when derivatives are
hedging changes in fair value of a recognised asset or liability
attributable to a specific risk in accordance with Nordea's risk
management policies set out in Note G2 “Risk and Liquidity
management” (the Market risk section) and Note G19 “Deriv-
atives and hedge accounting”. The risk of changes in fair
value of assets and liabilities in Nordea's financial statements
originates mainly from loans, securities and deposits with a
fixed interest rate, causing interest rate risk. Changes in fair
value from derivatives as well as changes in fair value of the
hedged item attributable to the risks being hedged are recog-
nised separately in the income statement in the item “Net
result from items at fair value”. Given that the hedge is effec-
tive, the change in fair value of the hedged item and the
hedging instrument will offset.

The changes in fair value of the hedged item attributable
to the risks hedged with the derivative instrument are reflect-
ed in an adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged
item, which is also recognised in the income statement. The
fair value changes of the hedged items held at amortised cost
in a portfolio hedge of interest rate risks are reported sepa-
rately from the portfolio in the item “Fair value changes of the
hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk” on the
balance sheet.

Fair value hedge accounting in Nordea is performed mainly
on a portfolio basis. Any ineffectiveness is recognised in the
income statement under the item “Net result from items at
fair value”.

Hedged items

A hedged item in a fair value hedge can be a recognised sin-
gle asset or liability, an unrecognised firm commitment or a
portion thereof. The hedged item can also be a group of
assets, liabilities or firm commitments with similar risk char-
acteristics. Hedged items in Nordea consist of both individual
assets or liabilities and portfolios of assets and/or liabilities.

Hedging instruments

The hedging instruments used in Nordea are predominantly
interest rate swaps and cross currency interest rate swaps,
which are always held at fair value.

Hedge effectiveness

When assessing hedge effectiveness retrospectively, Nordea
measures the fair value of the hedging instruments and com-
pares the change in fair value of the hedging instrument to
the change in fair value of the hedged item. The effectiveness
measurement is made on a cumulative basis.

If the hedging relationship does not fulfil the hedge
accounting requirements, hedge accounting is discontinued.
For fair value hedges, the hedging instrument is measured at
fair value through profit and loss and the change in fair value
of the hedged item, up to the point when the hedge relation-
ship is terminated, is amortised to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the remaining maturity of the hedged
item.
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Hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:

 differences in timing of cash flows of hedged items and
hedging instruments

» different interest rate curves applied to discount the
hedged items and hedging instruments

¢ the effect of changes in Nordea’s or a counterparty's credit
risk on the fair value of the hedging instrument or hedged
items

¢ disparity between expected and actual prepayments of the
loan portfolio.

Cash flow hedge accounting

In accordance with Nordea's risk management policies set
out in Note G2 “Risk and Liquidity management” (the Market
risk section) and Note G19 “Derivatives and hedge account-
ing”, cash flow hedge accounting is applied when hedging
the exposure to variability in future interest payments on
instruments with variable interest rates and for hedging cur-
rency exposures. The portion of the gain or loss on the hedg-
ing instrument, determined to be an effective hedge, is recog-
nised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
cash flow hedge reserve in equity. The ineffective portion of
the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recycled to the
item “Net result from items at fair value” in the income
statement.

Gains or losses on hedging instruments recognised in the
cash flow hedge reserve in equity through other comprehen-
sive income are recycled and recognised in the income state-
ment in the same period as the hedged item affects profit or
loss, normally in the period that interest income or interest
expense is recognised.

Hedged items

A hedged item in a cash flow hedge can be highly probable
floating interest rate cash flows from recognised assets or lia-
bilities or from future assets or liabilities. Nordea uses cash
flow hedges when hedging currency risk in future payments
of interest and principal in foreign currency and when hedg-
ing interest rate risk in lending with floating interest rates.

Hedging instruments

The hedging instruments used at Nordea are predominantly
cross currency interest rate swaps, which are always held at
fair value, where the currency component is designated as a
cash flow hedge of currency risk and the interest component
as a fair value hedge of interest rate risk. When hedging the
interest rate risk in lending with floating interest rates,
Nordea uses interest rate derivatives as hedging instruments,
which are always held at fair value.

Hedge effectiveness

The hypothetical derivative method is used when measuring
the effectiveness retrospectively of cash flow hedges, mean-
ing that the change in a perfect hypothetical swap is used as
proxy for the present value of the cumulative change in
expected future cash flows from the hedged transaction (the
currency component).

If the hedging relationship does not fulfil the hedge
accounting requirements, hedge accounting is discontinued.
Changes in the unrealised value of the hedging instrument
will prospectively from the last time it was proven effective
be accounted for in the income statement. The cumulative
gain or loss on the hedging instrument that has been recog-
nised in the cash flow hedge reserve in equity through other
comprehensive income from the period when the hedge was
effective is reclassified from equity to “Net result from items
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at fair value” in the income statement if the expected transac-
tion is no longer expected to occur.

If the expected transaction is no longer highly probable,
but is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss on
the hedging instrument that has been recognised in other
comprehensive income from the period when the hedge was
effective remains in other comprehensive income until the
transaction occurs or is no longer expected to occur.

The possible sources of ineffectiveness for cash flow hedg-
es are generally the same as for those for fair value hedges
described above. However, for cash flow hedges, prepayment
risk is less relevant, and the causes of hedging ineffectiveness
arise from the changes in the timing and the amount of fore-
cast future cash flows.

Hedges of net investments

In accordance with Nordea'’s risk management policies set
out in the Market risk section in Note G2 “Risk and Liquidity
management” and Note G19 “Derivatives and hedge account-
ing”, Nordea hedges its foreign currency translation risk.
Translation risk is defined as the risk of loss from investments
in foreign operations which have a functional currency differ-
ent from that of the Group reporting currency (EUR). The
hedging instruments used by Nordea are foreign exchange
forwards where only the spot component is designated in the
hedging relationship.

Translation differences on financial instruments that are
designated hedging instruments in a hedge of a net invest-
ment in a group undertaking are recognised in other compre-
hensive income, to the extent that the hedge is effective. This
is performed in order to offset the translation differences
affecting other comprehensive income when consolidating
the group undertaking into Nordea. Hedge ineffectiveness
can arise to the extent that the hedging instruments exceed in
nominal terms the risk exposure from foreign operations. Any
ineffectiveness is recognised in the income statement in the
item “Net result from items at fair value”.

See also section 9 “Translation of assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies”.

11. Determination of fair value of financial instruments
Fair value is defined as the price that at the measurement
date would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
under current market conditions in the principal market for
the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The existence of published price quotations in an active
market is the best evidence of fair value and when they exist
they are used to measure financial assets and financial liabili-
ties. An active market for the asset or liability is a market in
which transactions for the asset or liability occur with suffi-
cient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on
an ongoing basis. The absolute level for liquidity and volume
required for a market to be considered active varies with the
instrument classes. For some classes low price volatility is
seen, also for those instruments within the class where the
trade frequency is high. For instruments in such a class the
liquidity requirements are lower and, correspondingly, the
age limit for the prices used for establishing fair value is
higher.

The trade frequency and volume are monitored regularly in
order to assess if markets are active or non-active. Nordea is
predominantly using published price quotations to establish
fair value for items disclosed under the following balance
sheet items:
¢ Interest-bearing securities
¢ Shares (listed)

¢ Derivatives (listed)
¢ Debt securities in issue (issued mortgage bonds in Nordea
Kredit Realkreditaktieselskab)

If quoted prices for a financial instrument fail to represent actu-
al and regularly occurring market transactions or if quoted pric-
es are not available, fair value is established by using an appro-
priate valuation technique. The adequacy of the valuation tech-
nique, including an assessment of whether to use quoted prices
or theoretical prices, is monitored on a regular basis.

Valuation techniques can range from simple discounted
cash flow analysis to complex option pricing models. Valua-
tion models are designed to apply observable market prices
and rates as input whenever possible but can also make use
of unobservable model parameters. The adequacy of the val-
uation model is assessed by measuring its capability to hit
market prices. This is done by comparison of calculated prices
to relevant benchmark data, e.g. quoted prices from exchang-
es, the counterparty’s valuations, price data from consensus
services etc.

Nordea is predominantly using valuation techniques to
establish fair value for items disclosed under the following
balance sheet items:
¢ Loans to the public (mortgage loans in Nordea Kredit

Realkreditaktieselskab)
¢ Interest-bearing securities (when quoted prices in an

active market are not available)
¢ Shares (when guoted prices in an active market are not

available)
¢ Derivatives (OTC derivatives)

For financial instruments, where fair value is estimated by a
valuation technique, it is investigated whether the variables
used in the valuation model are predominantly based on data
from observable markets. By data from observable markets,
Nordea considers data that can be collected from generally
available external sources and where this data is judged to
represent realistic market prices. If non-observable data has a
significant impact on the valuation, the instrument cannot be
recognised initially at the fair value estimated by the valua-
tion technique and any upfront gains are thereby deferred
and amortised through the income statement over the con-
tractual life of the instrument. The deferred upfront gains are
subsequently released to income if the non-observable data
becomes observable.

Note G41 “Assets and liabilities at fair value” provides a
breakdown of fair values of financial instruments measured
on the basis of:

e quoted prices in active markets for the same instrument

(level 1),
¢ valuation technique using observable data (level 2), and
¢ valuation technique using non-observable data (level 3).

The valuation models applied by Nordea are consistent with
accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instru-
ments and incorporate the factors that market participants
consider when setting a price.

New valuation models are subject to approval by the
Model Risk Committee and all models are reviewed on a reg-
ular basis.

For further information, see Note G41 “Assets and liabilities
at fair value”.

12. Cash and balances with central banks

Cash comprises legal tender and bank notes in foreign cur-
rencies. Balances with central banks consist of deposits in
accounts with central banks and postal giro systems under
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government authority, where the following conditions are

fulfilled:

e The central bank or the postal giro system is domiciled in
the country where the institutions are established

e The balance is readily available at any time

13. Financial instruments

Classification of financial instruments

Each financial instrument has been classified into one of the
following categories:

Financial assets:
e Amortised cost
¢ Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
- Mandatorily measured at fair value through profit and
loss
- Designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value
option)
e Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Financial liabilities:
e Amortised cost
¢ Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
- Mandatorily measured at fair value through profit and
loss
- Designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value
option)

The classification of a financial asset is dependent on the
business model for the portfolio where the instrument is
included and on whether the cash flows are solely payments
of principal and interest (SPPI).

Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely pay-
ments of principle and interest (SPPI) are measured at fair
value through profit and loss. All other assets are classified
based on the business model. Instruments included in a port-
folio with a business model where the intention is to keep the
instruments and collect contractual cash flows are measured
at amortised cost. Instruments included in a business model
where the intention is both to keep the instruments to collect
the contractual cash flows and to sell the instruments are
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Financial assets included in any other business model are
measured at fair value through profit and loss.

In order to assess the business model, Nordea has divided
its financial assets into portfolios and/or sub-portfolios based
on how groups of financial assets are managed together to
achieve a particular business objective. To derive the right
level on which portfolios are determined, Nordea has taken
the current business area structure into account. When deter-
mining the business model for each portfolio Nordea has ana-
lysed the objective for the financial assets, as well as for
instance past sales behaviour and management
compensation.

All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. The classification of financial instruments into dif-
ferent categories forms the basis for how each instrument is
subsequently measured on the balance sheet and how
changes in its value are recognised. In the table “Classifica-
tion of financial instruments in Note G40", the classification of
the financial instruments on Nordea’s balance sheet into the
different categories under IFRS 9 is presented.

Amortised cost

Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost are
initially recognised on the balance sheet at fair value, includ-
ing transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
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instruments within this category are measured at amortised
cost. In an amortised cost measurement, the difference
between acquisition cost and redemption value is amortised
in the income statement over the remaining term using the
effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is defined as
the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is
measured at initial recognition minus the principal repay-
ments plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between that ini-
tial amount and the maturity amount and for financial assets,
adjusted for any loss allowance. For more information about
the effective interest rate method see section 6, “Net interest
income”. For information about impairment under IFRS 9, see
section 14 below.

Interest on assets and liabilities classified at amortised cost
is recognised in the items “Interest income” and “Interest
expense” in the income statement.

This category consists of mainly all loans and deposits,
except for reversed repurchase/repurchase agreements and
securities borrowing/lending agreements in Markets and
mortgage loans in Nordea Kredit Realkreditaktieselskab. This
category also includes interest bearing securities mainly relat-
ed to a portfolio of interest-bearing securities in Life & Pen-
sions in Norway, subordinated liabilities and debt securities in
issue, except for bonds issued in Nordea Kredit Realkreditak-
tieselskab and issued structured bonds in Markets.

Financial assets and financial liabilities

at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are measured at fair value, excluding transaction
costs. All changes in fair values are recognised directly in the
income statement in the item “Net result from items at fair
value”. However, fair value adjustments of the margin compo-
nent on loans in “hold” portfolios mandatorily held at fair
value (SPPI fails) are recognised in the income statement on
the line “Net result on loans in hold portfolios mandatorily
held at fair value”.

The category consists of two sub-categories: Mandatorily
measured at fair value through profit and loss and Designat-
ed at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option).

The sub-category Mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit and loss contains mainly all assets in Markets,
trading liabilities in Markets, interest-bearing securities
included in part of the liquidity buffer, derivative instruments,
shares, mortgage loans in the Danish subsidiary Nordea
Kredit Realkreditaktieselskab and financial assets under
“Assets in pooled schemes and unit-linked investment con-
tracts”. Deposits in pooled schemes and unit-linked invest-
ment contracts are contracts with customers and policyhold-
ers where the total risk is born by the policyholders. The
deposits are invested in different types of financial assets on
behalf of customers and policyholders.

The major parts of the financial assets/liabilities classified
into the category Designated at fair value through profit or
loss are issued bonds in Nordea Kredit Realkreditaktieselskab
and assets and liabilities in Nordea Life & Pensions.

Liabilities in Nordea Kredit Realkreditaktieselskab are clas-
sified into the category Designated at fair value through profit
or loss to eliminate or significantly reduce an accounting mis-
match. When Nordea grants mortgage loans to customers in
accordance with the Danish mortgage finance law Nordea at
the same time issues bonds with matching terms, so-called
“match funding"”. The customers can repay the loans either
through repayments of the principal or by purchasing the
issued bonds and returning them to Nordea as a settlement
of the loan. The bonds play an important part in the Danish
money market and Nordea consequently buys and sells own
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bonds in the market. The loans are measured at fair value
through profit and loss because they fail the SPPI (Solely Pay-
ments of Principle and Interest) criteria, and if the bonds
were measured at amortised cost, this would give rise to an
accounting mismatch. To avoid such an accounting mismatch
Nordea measures the bonds at fair value with all changes in
fair value including changes in credit risk recognised in profit
or loss.

All assets in Nordea Life & Pensions held under investment
contracts are classified into the category Designated at fair
value through profit or loss to eliminate or significantly
reduce an accounting mismatch with the liabilities to the poli-
cyholders that are measured at fair value. The investment
contracts (unit-linked) classified as “Liabilities to policyhold-
ers” on the balance sheet are managed at fair value and con-
sequently classified into the category Designated at fair value
through profit or loss. Changes in own credit risk are recog-
nised in profit and loss as recognising such changes in other
comprehensive income would create an accounting mis-
match. Assets held under insurance contracts (defined in sec-
tion 19 “Liabilities to policyholders"), except for a portfolio of
interest-bearing securities in Norway, are classified into the
category Designated at fair value through profit or loss to
reduce an accounting mismatch with the liabilities to policy-
holders that are generally measured at current value.

Also, assets in pooled schemes and unit-linked investment
contracts that are not mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit and loss are classified into the category Desig-
nated at fair value through profit or loss to avoid an account-
ing mismatch with the related deposits. Deposits in pooled
schemes and unit-linked investment contracts are managed
at fair value and consequently also classified into the catego-
ry Designated at fair value through profit or loss. The value of
these deposits is directly linked to assets in the contacts and
there is consequently no effect from changes in own credit
risk in these contracts.

Nordea also applies the fair value option on issued struc-
tured bonds in Markets as these instruments include embed-
ded derivatives not closely related to the host contract. The
change in fair value of these issued structured bonds is recog-
nised in profit and loss except for the changes in credit risk
that are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Interest income and interest expense related to all balance
sheet items held at fair value through profit and loss in Mar-
kets and Nordea Life & Pensions are classified as “Net result
from items at fair value”.

Financial asset at fair value through

other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs. This category mainly consists of the interest-bearing
securities included in part of the liquidity buffer. Changes in
fair values, except for interest, foreign exchange effects and
impairment losses, are recognised in the fair value reserve in
equity through other comprehensive income. Interest is rec-
ognised in the item “Interest income”, foreign exchange
effects in “Net result from items at fair value” and impairment
losses in the item “Net loan losses” in the income statement.
When an instrument is disposed of, the fair value changes
previously accumulated in the fair value reserve in other com-
prehensive income are removed from equity and recognised
in the income statement in the item “Net result from items at
fair value”. For information about impairment under IFRS 9,
see section 14 below.

Hybrid (combined) financial instruments

Hybrid (combined) financial instruments are contracts con-
taining a host contract and an embedded derivative instru-
ment. Such combinations arise predominantly from the issu-
ance of structured debt instruments, such as issued index-
linked bonds and loans with embedded collars and caps.

Index-linked bonds issued by Group Treasury are consid-
ered to be part of the funding activities. The host, the zero-
coupon bond, is measured at amortised cost. The embedded
derivatives in those instruments are separated from the host
contract and accounted for as stand-alone derivatives at fair
value, if the economic characteristics and risks of the embed-
ded derivative are not closely related to the economic charac-
teristics and risks of the host contract, and the embedded
derivative meets the definition of a derivative instrument.
Changes in fair values of the embedded derivatives are rec-
ognised in the income statement in the item “Net result from
items at fair value”.

For structured bonds issued by Markets, Nordea applies
the fair value option, and the entire combined instrument, the
host contract together with the embedded derivative, is mea-
sured at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair val-
ues are recognised in the income statement in the item “Net
result from items at fair value” and presented as “Debt securi-
ties in issue” on the balance sheet.

Securities borrowing and lending agreements

Generally, securities borrowings and securities lending trans-
actions are entered into on a collateralised basis. Unless the
risks and rewards of ownership are transferred, the securities
are not recognised on or derecognised from the balance
sheet. In cases where the counterparty is entitled to resell or
repledge the securities, the securities are reclassified to the
balance sheet item “Financial instruments pledged as
collateral”.

Securities in securities lending transactions are also dis-
closed in the item “Assets pledged as security for own
liabilities".

Cash collateral advanced (securities borrowing) to coun-
terparties is recognised on the balance sheet as “Loans to
central banks”, “Loans to credit institutions” or as “Loans to
the public”. Cash collateral received (securities lending) from
counterparties is recognised on the balance sheet as “Depos-
its by credit institutions” or as “Deposits and borrowings from
the public”.

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements
Securities delivered under repurchase agreements and secu-
rities received under reverse repurchase agreements are not
derecognised from or recognised on the balance sheet. In
cases where the counterparty has the right to resell or
repledge the securities, the securities are reclassified to the
balance sheet line “Financial instruments pledged as
collateral”.

Securities delivered under repurchase agreements are also
disclosed in the item “Assets pledged as security for own
liabilities".

Cash received under repurchase agreements is recognised
on the balance sheet as “Deposits by credit institutions” or as
“Deposits and borrowings from the public”. Cash delivered
under reverse repurchase agreements is recognised on the
balance sheet as “Loans to central banks”, “Loans to credit
institutions” or as “Loans to the public”.

A sale of a security not owned by Nordea is defined as a
short sale and triggers the recognition of a trading liability
(Sold not held securities) presented as “Other liabilities” on
the balance sheet. The short sale is generally covered through
a Securities Financing Transaction (SFT), normally a reverse
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repurchase agreement or other forms of securities borrowing
agreements.

Derivatives
All derivatives are recognised on the balance sheet and mea-
sured at fair value. Derivatives with total positive fair values,
including any accrued interest, are recognised as assets in the
item “Derivatives” on the asset side. Derivatives with total
negative fair values, including any accrued interest, are recog-
nised as liabilities in the item “Derivatives” on the liability
side.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses from derivatives
are recognised in the income statement in the item “Net
result from items at fair value”.

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

Nordea offsets financial assets and liabilities on the balance
sheet if there is a legal right to offset, in the ordinary course
of business and in case of default, bankruptcy and insolvency
of Nordea and the counterparties, and if the intent is to settle
the items net or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Exchanged-traded derivatives are generally accounted for
as settled on a daily basis when cash is paid or received, and
the instrument is reset to market terms. Derivative assets,
derivative liabilities, cash collateral receivables and cash col-
lateral liabilities against central counterparty clearing houses
are offset on the balance sheet if the transaction currency
and the central counterparty is the same. Derivative assets,
derivative liabilities, cash collateral receivables and cash col-
lateral liabilities related to bilateral OTC derivative transac-
tions are not offset on the balance sheet.

In addition, loans and deposits related to repurchase and
reverse repurchase transaction with CCP are offset on the
balance sheet if the assets and liabilities relate to the same
central counterparty, are settled in the same currency and
have the same maturity date. Loans and deposits related to
repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions that are
made in accordance with the Global Master Repurchase
Agreement (GMRA) are offset on the balance sheet if the
assets and liabilities relate to the same counterparty, are set-
tled in the same currency, have the same maturity date and
are settled through the same settlement institution.

Issued debt and equity instruments

A financial instrument issued by Nordea is either classified as
a financial liability or equity. Issued financial instruments are
classified as a financial liability if the contractual arrangement
results in Nordea having a present obligation to either deliver
cash or another financial asset or a variable number of equity
instruments to the holder of the instrument. If this is not the
case, the instrument is generally an equity instrument and
classified as equity, net of transaction costs. Where issued
financial instruments contain both liability and equity compo-
nents, these are accounted for separately.

14. Loans to the public/credit institutions
Scope
Financial instruments classified as Amortised cost or Fair
value through other comprehensive income are in scope for
recognising impairment due to credit risk. This includes assets
recognised on the balance sheet as “Loans to central banks”,
Loans to credit institutions”, “Loans to the public” and “Inter-
est-bearing securities”. These balance sheet lines also include
assets classified as Fair value through profit or loss, which are
not in scope for impairment calculations. See section 13 above
and Note G40 on “Classification of financial instruments”.
Off-balance-sheet commitments, contingent liabilities and
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loan commitments are also in scope for impairment
calculations.

Recognition and presentation

Amortised cost assets are recognised gross with an offsetting
allowance for the expected credit losses if the loss is not
regarded as final. The allowance account is disclosed net on
the face of the balance sheet, but the allowance account is
disclosed separately in the notes. Changes in the allowance
account are recognised in the income statement and classi-
fied as “Net loan losses".

If the impairment loss is regarded as final, it is reported as
a realised loss and the carrying amount of the loan and the
related allowance for impairment loss are derecognised. An
impairment loss is regarded as final when the obligor has
filed for bankruptcy and the administrator has declared the
economic outcome of the bankruptcy procedure, or when
Nordea forgives its claims either through a legally based or
voluntary reconstruction, or when Nordea, for other reasons,
deem it unlikely that the claim will be recovered.

Provisions for off-balance sheet exposures are classified as
“Provisions” on the balance sheet, with changes in provisions
classified as “Net loan losses”.

Assets classified as Fair value through other comprehen-
sive income are recognised at fair value on the balance sheet.
Impairment losses calculated in accordance with IFRS 9 are
recognised in the income statement and classified as “Net
loan losses”. Any fair value adjustments are recognised in
“Other comprehensive income”.

Impairment testing

Nordea classifies all exposures into stages on an individual
basis. Stage 1 includes assets where there has been no signifi-
cant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, stage 2
includes assets where there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and stage 3 includes defaulted assets. Nordea
monitors whether there are indicators of exposures being
credit impaired (stage 3) by identifying events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows (loss
event). Nordea applies the same definition of default as the
Capital Requirements Regulation. More information on the
identification of loss events can be found in Note G2 “Risk and
Ligquidity management”. Exposures without individually calcu-
lated allowances will be covered by the model-based impair-
ment calculation.

For significant exposures that have been individually iden-
tified as credit impaired, the measurement of the impairment
loss is made on an individual basis. The carrying amount of
the exposure is compared with the sum of the net present
value of expected future cash flows. If the carrying amount is
higher, the difference is recognised as an impairment loss.
The expected cash flows are discounted with the original
effective interest rate and include the fair value of the collat-
eral and other credit enhancements. The estimate is based on
three different forward-looking scenarios that are probability
weighted to derive the net present value.

For insignificant exposures that have been individually
identified as credit impaired, the measurement of the impair-
ment loss is measured using the model described below but
based on the fact that the exposures are already in default.

Model-based allowance calculation

For exposures not impaired on an individual basis, a statistical
model is used for calculating impairment losses. The provi-
sions are calculated as the exposure at default times the
probability of default times the loss given default. For assets
in stage 1 this calculation is only based on the coming 12
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months, while it for assets in stages 2 and 3 are based on the
expected lifetime of the asset.

The provisions for exposures where there has been no sig-
nificant increase in credit risk since initial recognition are
based on the 12-month expected loss (stage 1). Provisions for
exposures where there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, but that are not credit
impaired, are based on the lifetime expected losses (stage 2).
This is also the case for the insignificant credit impaired expo-
sures in stage 3.

Nordea uses two different models to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk or not. For assets
held at transition on 1 January 2018, the change in internal
rating and scoring data is used to determine whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk or not. Internal
rating/scoring information is used to assess the risk of the
customers and a deterioration in rating/scoring indicates an
increase in the credit risk of the customer. Nordea has con-
cluded that it is not possible to calculate the lifetime PDs at
origination without the use of hindsight for assets already
recognised on the balance sheet at transition. Changes to the
lifetime Probability of Default (PD) is used as the trigger for
assets recognised after transition.

For assets evaluated based on lifetime PDs, Nordea uses a
mix of absolute and relative changes in PD as the transfer
criterion.
¢ Retail customers with an initial 12-month PD below 1%:

Exposures with a relative increase in lifetime PD above

100% and an absolute increase in 12-month PD above

45 bp are transferred to stage 2.
¢ Retail customers with an initial 12-month PD above or

equal to 1%:

Exposures with a relative increase in lifetime PD above

100% or an absolute increase in 12-month PD above 300

bp are transferred to stage 2.
¢ Nonretail customers with an initial 12-month PD below

0.5%:

Exposures with a relative increase in lifetime PD above

150% and an absolute increase in 12-month PD above

20 bp are transferred to stage 2.
¢ Nonretail customers with an initial 12-month PD above or

equal to 0.5%:

Exposures with a relative increase in lifetime PD above

150% or an absolute increase in 12-month PD above

400 bps are transferred to stage 2.

For assets where rating and scoring models are used, the
change in rating/scoring notches is calibrated to match the
significant increase in credit risk based on lifetime PD. In
addition, customers with forbearance measures and custom-
ers with payments more than thirty days past due are also
transferred to stage 2, unless already identified as credit
impaired (stage 3). Exposures with forbearance measures will
stay in stage 2 for a probation period of 24 months from when
the measures were introduced. Once transferred back to
stage 1, after the probation period, the exposures are treated
as any other stage 1 exposure when assessing significant
increase in credit risk. Exposures more than 90 days past due
will normally be classified as stage 3, but this classification
will be rebutted if there is evidence that the customer is not in
default. Such exposures will be classified as stage 2.

Nordea does not use the “low credit risk exemption” in the
banking operations but uses it for a minor portfolio of inter-
est-bearing securities in the insurance operations.

When calculating provisions, including the staging assess-
ment, the calculation is based on probability weighted for-
ward-looking information. Nordea applies three macroeco-
nomic scenarios to address the non-linearity in expected cred-

it losses. The different scenarios are used to adjust the relevant
parameters for calculating expected losses and a probability
weighted average of the expected losses under each scenario
is recognised as provisions. The model is based on data col-
lected before the reporting date, requiring Nordea to identify
events that should affect the provisions after the data is
sourced to the model calculation. Management evaluates
these events and adjusts the provisions if deemed necessary.

Write-offs

A write-off is a derecognition of a loan or receivable from the

balance sheet and a final realisation of a credit loss provision.

When assets are considered as uncollectable, they should be

written off as soon as possible, regardless of whether the

legal claim remains or not. A write-off can take place before
legal actions against the borrower to recover the debt have
been concluded in full. Although an uncollectable asset is
removed or written off from the balance sheet, the customer
remains legally obligated to pay the outstanding debt. When
assessing the recoverability of non-performing loans and
determining if write-offs are required, exposures with the fol-
lowing characteristics are in particular focus (the list is not
exhaustive):

e Exposures past due more than 90 days. If, following this
assessment, an exposure or part of an exposure is deemed
as unrecoverable, it is written off.

¢ Exposures under insolvency procedure where the collater-
alisation of the exposure is low.

¢ Exposures where legal expenses are expected to absorb
proceeds from the bankruptcy procedure and therefore
estimated recoveries are expected to be low.

¢ A partial write-off may be warranted where there is rea-
sonable financial evidence to demonstrate an inability of
the borrower to repay the full amount, i.e. a significant
level of debt which cannot be reasonably demonstrated to
be recoverable following forbearance treatment and/or the
execution of collateral.

¢ Restructuring cases.

Discount rate

The discount rate used to measure impairment is the original
effective interest rate for loans attached to an individual cus-
tomer or, if applicable, to a group of loans. If considered
appropriate, the discount rate can be based on a method that
results in an impairment that is a reasonable approximation
of using the effective interest rate method as basis for the
calculation.

Restructured loans and modifications

In this context a restructured loan is defined as a loan where
Nordea has granted concessions to the obligor due to their
financial difficulties and where this concession has resulted in
an impairment loss for Nordea. After a reconstruction the loan
is normally regarded as not impaired if it performs according
to the new conditions. In the event of a recovery, the payment
is reported as a recovery of loan losses.

Modifications of the contractual cash flows for loans to
customers in financial difficulties (forbearance) reduce the
gross carrying amount of the loan. Normally this reduction is
less than the existing provision and no loss is recognised in
the income statement due to modifications. If significant, the
gross amounts (loan and allowance) are reduced.

Assets taken over for protection of claims

In a financial reconstruction the creditor may concede loans
to the obligor and in exchange for this concession acquires an
asset pledged for the conceded loans, shares issued by the
obligor or other assets. Assets taken over for protection of
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claims are reported on the same balance sheet line as similar
assets already held by Nordea. For example, a property taken
over, not held for Nordea's own use, is reported together with
other investment properties.

At initial recognition, all assets taken over for protection of
claims are recognised at fair value and the possible difference
between the carrying amount of the loan and the fair value of
the assets taken over is recognised as “Net loan losses”. The
fair value of the asset on the date of recognition becomes its
cost or amortised cost value, as applicable. In subsequent
periods, assets taken over for protection of claims are valued
in accordance with the valuation principles for the appropri-
ate type of asset. Investment properties are then measured at
fair value. Financial assets that are foreclosed are generally
classified into the categories “Fair value through profit or
loss” and measured at fair value. Changes in fair values are
recognised in the income statement under the line “Net result
from items at fair value”.

Any change in value, after the initial recognition of the
asset taken over, is presented in the income statement in line
with the Group's presentation policies for the appropriate
asset. The item " Net loan losses” in the income statement is,
after the initial recognition of the asset taken over, conse-
quently not affected by any subsequent remeasurement of
the asset.

15. Leasing

Nordea as lessor

Finance leases

Nordea’s leasing operations mainly comprise finance leases. A
finance lease is reported as a receivable from the lessee in
the balance sheet item “Loans to the public” at an amount
equal to the net investment in the lease. The lease payment,
excluding cost of services, is recorded as repayment of princi-
pal and interest income. The income allocation is based on a
pattern reflecting a constant periodic return on the net invest-
ment outstanding in respect of the finance lease.

Operating leases

Assets subject to operating leases on the balance sheet are
reported in accordance with the nature of the assets, in gen-
eral as properties and equipment. Leasing income is recog-
nised as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term
and classified as “Net interest income”. The depreciation of
the leased assets is calculated based on Nordea's deprecia-
tion policy for similar assets and reported as “Depreciation,
amortisation and impairment charges of tangible and intan-
gible assets” in the income statement.

Nordea as lessee

At inception Nordea assesses whether a contract is or con-
tains a lease. A lease is a contract that conveys the user the
right to control the use of an asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The right to use an asset in a lease contract is recognised
on the commencement date as a right-of-use (ROU) asset
and the obligation to pay lease payments is recognised as a
lease liability. The ROU asset is initially measured as the pres-
ent value of the lease payments plus initial direct costs and
the cost of obligations to refurbish the asset less any lease
incentives received. Non-lease components are separated.
The discount rate used to calculate the lease liability for each
contract is the incremental borrowing rate at commencement
of the contract. In significant premises contracts the rate
implicit in the contract may be used if available.

The ROU assets are presented as similar owned assets and
the lease liabilities as “Other liabilities” on the balance sheet.
The depreciation policy is consistent with that of similar
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owned assets, but the depreciation period is normally capped
at the end of the lease term. Impairment testing of the right-
of-use assets is performed following the same principles as
for similar owned assets. Interest expense on lease liabilities
is presented as “Interest expense” in the income statement.

The assets are classified as Land and buildings and Equip-
ment. Equipment mainly comprises vehicles and IT hardware.
Nordea applies the practical expedient for short-term con-
tracts (with a contract term of 12 months or less) both for
Land and buildings and for Equipment. The practical expedi-
ent for low value assets is applied to Equipment. Short-term
and low value contracts are not recognised on the balance
sheet and the payments are recognised as expenses in the
income statement as “Other expenses” on a straight-line basis
over the lease term unless another systematic way better
reflects the time pattern of Nordea's benefit.

Leases are mainly related to office premises contracts but
also to company cars, IT hardware and other assets normal to
the business. The premises are mainly divided into banking
branches and headoffices. The premises contracts are actively
managed with focus on the effective use of the premises and
the changes in the business environment. The lease payments
generally include fixed payments and especially in premises
contracts also variable payments that depend on an index.
Residual value guarantees, or purchase options are generally
not used.

The lease term is the expected lease term. This comprises
the non-cancellable period of lease contracts and any options
that Nordea is reasonably certain to exercise. The length of
contracts with no end date is estimated by considering all
facts and circumstances.

The expected lease term of most of the premises contracts
is 1-10 years whereas the expected lease term of the main
head office contracts in the Nordic countries is 15-25 years.
These contracts generally have renewal options.

Embedded leases

Agreements can contain a right to use an asset in return for a
payment, or a series of payments, although the agreement is
not in the legal form of a leasing contract. If applicable, these
assets are separated from the contract and accounted for as

leased assets.

16. Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable, non-monetary assets with-
out physical substance. The assets are under Nordea’s control,
which means that Nordea has the power and rights to obtain
the future economic benefits flowing from the underlying
resource. The intangible assets in Nordea mainly consist of
goodwill, IT development/computer software and customer-
related intangible assets.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition
over the fair value of Nordea’s share of net identifiable assets
of the acquired group undertaking/associated undertaking/
joint venture at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisi-
tion of group undertakings and joint ventures is included in
“Intangible assets"”. Goodwill on acquisitions of associated
undertaking is not recognised as a separate asset but includ-
ed in “Investments in associated undertakings”. Goodwill is
tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be
impaired. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impair-
ment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill cannot be
reversed in subsequent periods. Goodwill related to associ-
ated undertakings and joint ventures is not tested for impair-
ment separately but included in the total carrying amount of



Notes to the financial statements — Nordea Group

97

G1. Accounting policies, cont.

the associated undertakings and the joint ventures. The poli-
cies covering impairment testing of associated undertakings
and joint ventures are disclosed in section 6 “Recognition of
operating income and impairment”.

IT development/Computer software

Costs associated with maintaining computer software pro-
grams are expensed as incurred. Costs directly associated
with major software development investments, with the abil-
ity to generate future economic benefits, are recognised as
intangible assets. These costs include software development
staff costs and overhead expenditures directly attributable to
preparing the asset for use. Computer software also includes
acquired software licences not related to the function of a
tangible asset.

Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the
useful life of the software, generally a period of 3 to 5 years,
and in some circumstances for strategic infrastructure up to a
maximum of 10 years.

Customer-related intangible assets

In business combinations a portion of the purchase price is
normally allocated to a customer-related intangible asset, if
the asset is identifiable and under Nordea's control. An intan-
gible asset is identifiable if it arises from contractual or legal
rights, or could be separated from the entity and sold, trans-
ferred, licensed, rented or exchanged. The asset is amortised
over its useful life, generally over 10 years.

Impairment

Goodwill and IT development not yet taken into use are not
amortised but tested for impairment annually irrespective of
any indications of impairment. Impairment testing is also per-
formed more frequently if required due to any indication of
impairment. The impairment charge is calculated as the dif-
ference between the carrying amount and the recoverable
amount.

At each balance sheet date, all intangible assets with defi-
nite useful lives, including IT development taken into use, are
reviewed for indications of impairment. If such indications
exist, an analysis is performed to assess whether the carrying
amount of the intangible asset is fully recoverable.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and the value in use of the asset or the cash-gen-
erating unit, which is defined as the smallest identifiable
group of assets that generate largely independent cash flows
in relation to other assets. For goodwill and IT development
not yet taken into use, the cash generating units are defined
as the operating segments. The value in use is the present
value of the cash flows expected to be realised from the asset
or the cash-generating unit. The cash flows are assessed
based on the asset or cash-generating unit in its current con-
dition and discounted at a rate based on the long-term risk-
free interest rate plus a risk premium. If the recoverable
amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss
is recognised. See Note G21 “Intangible assets” for more infor-
mation on the impairment testing.

17. Properties and equipment

Properties and equipment include own-used properties,
leasehold improvements, IT equipment, furniture and other
equipment. Items of properties and equipment are measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. The cost of an item of properties and
equipment comprises its purchase price as well as any direct-

ly attributable costs of bringing the asset to the working con-
dition for its intended use. When parts of an item of property
and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted
for as separate items.

Properties and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets. The esti-
mates of the useful life of different assets are reassessed on a
yearly basis. Below follow the current estimates:

Buildings 30-75 years

Equipment 3-5 years

Leasehold

improvements Changes within buildings the shorter of 10

years and the remaining leasing term. New
construction the shorter of the principles
used for owned buildings and the remain-
ing leasing term. Fixtures installed in
leased properties are depreciated over the
shorter of 10—20 years and the remaining
leasing term.

At each balance sheet date, Nordea assesses whether there is
any indication that an item of property and equipment may
be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, and any impairment loss is
recognised.

Impairment losses are reversed if the recoverable amount
increases. The carrying amount is then increased to the recov-
erable amount but cannot exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised.

18. Investment properties
Investment properties are primarily properties held to earn
rent and/or capital appreciation. The majority of the proper-
ties in Nordea are attributable to Nordea Life & Pensions.
Nordea applies the fair value model for subsequent measure-
ment of investment properties. The best evidence of a fair
value is normally given by quoted prices in an active market
for similar properties in the same location and condition. As
these prices are rarely available, discounted cash flow projec-
tion models based on reliable estimates of future cash flows
are also used.

Net rental income, gains and losses as well as fair value
adjustments are recognised directly in the income statement
as “Net result from items at fair value”.

19. Liabilities to policyholders

Liabilities to policyholders include obligations according to
insurance contracts and investment contracts with policy-
holders for all the companies in Nordea Life & Pensions,
including companies in Sweden, Norway, Finland and
Denmark.

An insurance contract is defined as “a contract under
which one party (the insurer) accepts significant insurance
risks from another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to
compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future
event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder”.

Investment contracts are contracts with policyholders that
have the legal form of insurance contracts but where the
insurance risk transfer has been assessed to be insignificant.

The insurance risk is generally calculated as the risk sum
payable as a percentage of the reserve behind the contract at
the beginning of the contract period.
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The contracts can be divided into the following classes:
¢ |Insurance contracts:
- Traditional life insurance contracts with and without dis-
cretionary participation feature
- Unit-linked contracts with significant insurance risk
- Health and personal accident
¢ Investment contracts:
- Investment contracts with discretionary participation
feature
- Investment contracts without discretionary participation
feature

Insurance contracts

The measurement principles under local GAAP have been
maintained, consequently resulting in a non-uniform account-
ing policies method on consolidation.

The measurement of traditional life insurance provisions in
Denmark and Finland are prepared by calculating the present
value of future benefits, to which the policyholders are enti-
tled. The calculation includes assumptions about market con-
sistent discounting rates as well as expenses and life risk. The
discount rate is based on the liabilities’ current term. In Den-
mark, the provision also includes bonus potential on paid pol-
icies and on future premiums.

In Norway the traditional life insurance provisions are
mainly calculated on the basis of a prospective method. The
discount rate used is equal to the original tariff rates adjusted
for assumptions about expenses and risk.

The accounting policy for each company is based on the
local structure of the business and is related to the solvency
rules and national regulations concerning profit sharing and
other requirements about collective bonus potential (not allo-
cated provisions that protect the policyholders).

Unit-linked contracts represent life insurance provisions
relating to unit-linked policies written either with or without
an investment guarantee. Unit-linked contracts classified as
insurance contracts include the same insurance risk elements
as traditional insurance contracts. These contracts are mainly
recognised and measured at fair value on the basis of:
¢ the fair value of the assets linked to the unit-linked con-

tracts, and
¢ the estimated present value of the insurance risk which is

calculated in the same way as traditional insurance con-
tracts considering the impact on every risk element includ-
ed in the cash flows.

Health and personal accident provisions include premium
reserves and claims outstanding. This item is recognised and
measured on deferred basis, the same principle as used for
general insurance contracts.

Investment contracts

Contracts classified as investment contracts are contracts
with policyholders which do not transfer sufficient insurance
risk to be classified as insurance contracts and are written
with an investment guarantee or a discretionary participation
feature.

Investment contracts with discretionary participation fea-
tures are, in line with IFRS 4, accounted for as insurance con-
tracts using local accounting principles. Nordea Life & Pen-
sions has only a small number of these contracts.

Investment contracts without discretionary participation
features are recognised and measured at fair value in accor-
dance with IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”, equal to fair value of the assets linked to
these contracts. These assets are classified into the category
Designated at fair value through profit or loss to eliminate or
significantly reduce an accounting mismatch.
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Discretionary participating features (DPF)

Some traditional life insurance contracts and investment con-
tracts include a contractual right for the policyholder to
receive significant benefits in addition to guaranteed benefits.
Nordea has discretion to pay these additional benefits as
bonus on risk result, expense result and interest rate. These
DPF-contracts (collective bonus potential) are classified as
liabilities on the balance sheet.

Collective bonus potential includes amounts allocated but
not attributed to the policyholders. In Finland, collective bonus
potential includes the policyholder's part of the total unre-
alised investment gains and bonus potential on paid policies
and future premiums (the difference between retrospective
and market consistent prospective measurement principles of
the insurance contracts). In Norway, collective bonus potential
includes the policyholder’s part of both the total unrealised
investment gains and additional reserves. In Sweden and Den-
mark, the main valuation principle is fair value (insurance con-
tracts). The policyholder’s part of both realised and unrealised
investment gains is therefore included on the balance sheet
representing either “Change in technical provisions, Life insur-
ance” and/or “Change in collective bonus potentials, Life
insurance”, depending on whether the investment result is
allocated or not. Both the mentioned lines are included on
the balance sheet line “Liabilities to policyholders”.

Liability adequacy test

The adequacy of insurance provisions is assessed at each
reporting date to ensure that the carrying amount of the lia-
bilities is higher than the best estimate of future cash flows
discounted with current interest rates. If needed, additional
provisions are accounted for and recognised in the income
statement.

20. Assets and deposits in pooled schemes

and unit-linked investment contracts

Deposit in pooled schemes and unit-linked investment con-
tracts are contracts with customers and policyholders where
the total risk is born by the customers or the policyholders.
The deposits are invested in different types of financial assets
on behalf of the customers and policyholders.

Unit-Linked investment contracts include investment con-
tracts written without any investment guarantees and that do
not transfer sufficient insurance risk to be classified as insur-
ance contracts.

The assets and deposits in these contracts are recognised
and measured at fair value as described in section 13 “Finan-
cial instrument” above.

21. Taxes

The item “Income tax expense” in the income statement com-
prises current and deferred income tax. The income tax expense
is recognised in the income statement, unless the tax effect
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the tax effect is recognised in
other comprehensive income or in equity respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax expense on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax pay-
able in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised, using the
balance sheet method, for temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation pur-
poses. Deferred tax assets are recognised for the carry for-
ward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits. Deferred
tax is not recognised for temporary differences arising on ini-
tial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is
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not a business combination and that affects neither account-
ing nor taxable profit, nor for differences relating to invest-
ments in group undertakings, associated undertakings and
joint ventures to the extent that it is probable that they will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax
is not recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on
the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected
to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse,
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabili-
ties are not discounted. A deferred tax asset is recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the temporary differences, tax
losses carry forward and unused tax credits can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the
related tax benefit will be realised.

Tax positions are regularly reviewed to identify situations
where it is not probable that the relevant tax authorities will
accept the treatment used in the tax filings. Uncertain tax posi-
tions are considered independently or as a group, depending
on which approach better predicts the resolution of the uncer-
tainty. If Nordea concludes it is not probable that the taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of
uncertainty is reflected when determining the related taxable
profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax cred-
its or tax rates. This is done by using either the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on which method
better predicts the outcome of the uncertainty. Uncertain tax
treatment can affect both current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset
when the legal right to offset exists and Nordea intends to
either settle the tax asset and the tax liability net or to recover
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities are generally offset if there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
current tax liabilities.

22. Provisions

Provisions (which are presented as a liability) are recognised
when Nordea has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event if it is probable (i.e. more likely than
not) that an outflow of resources embodying economic ben-
efits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The
amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period.

Provisions relating to Employee benefits are further
described in section 24 and provisions relating to Financial
guarantees contract and credit commitments are described in
section 26.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised as liabilities on the
balance sheet but disclosed in Note G38 “Contingent liabili-
ties” unless the possibility of an outflow is remote. A contin-
gent liability is a possible obligation whose existence will be
confirmed only by future event(s) not wholly within Nordea's
control or a present obligation that is not recognised because
it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot
be measured within sufficient reliability.

23. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit
or loss attributable to shareholders of Nordea Bank Abp by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the period.

Diluted earnings per share are determined by adjusting the

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for
the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, consisting
of rights to performance shares in the long-term incentive
programmes and contracts on Nordea shares that can be set-
tled in Nordea shares, i.e. derivatives such as options and
warrants and their equivalents. Such contracts affect diluted
earnings per share when and only when the average price of
ordinary shares during the period exceeds the exercise price
of the options or warrants (i.e. they are in the money).

The potential ordinary shares are only considered to be
dilutive on the balance sheet date, if all performance condi-
tions are fulfilled and if a conversion to ordinary shares would
decrease earnings per share. The rights are furthermore con-
sidered dilutive only when the exercise price, with the addi-
tion of future services, is lower than the period’s average
share price.

24. Employee benefits

All forms of consideration given by Nordea to its employees
as compensation for services performed are employee ben-
efits. Short-term benefits are to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period when the services have
been performed. Post-employment benefits are benefits pay-
able after the termination of the employment. Post-employ-
ment benefits in Nordea consist only of pensions. Termination
benefits normally arise if an employment is terminated before
the normal retirement date, or if an employee accepts an offer
of voluntary redundancy.

Short-term benefits
Short-term benefits consist mainly of fixed and variable sal-
ary. Both fixed and variable salaries are expensed in the peri-
od when the employees have performed services to Nordea.
Nordea has also issued share-based payment programmes,
which are further described in section 27 “Share-based
payment”.

More information can be found in Note G8 “Staff costs".

Post-employment benefits

Pension plans

The companies within Nordea have various pension plans,
consisting of both defined benefit pension plans and defined
contribution pension plans, reflecting national practices and
conditions in the countries where Nordea operates. Defined
benefit pension plans are predominantly sponsored in Swe-
den, Norway and Finland. The major defined benefit pension
plans are funded schemes covered by assets in pension
funds/foundations. If the fair value of plan assets, associated
with a specific pension plan, is lower than the gross present
value of the defined benefit obligation determined using the
projected unit credit method, the net amount is recognised as
a liability (“Retirement benefit liabilities”). If not, the net
amount is recognised as an asset (“Retirement benefit
assets”). Non-funded pension plans are recognised as
“Retirement benefit liabilities".

Most pensions in Denmark, but also plans in other coun-
tries, are based on defined contribution arrangements that
hold no pension liability for Nordea. All defined benefit pen-
sion plans are closed for new employees. Nordea also con-
tributes to public pension systems.

Pension costs

Obligations for defined contribution pension plans are recog-
nised as an expense as the employee renders services to the
entity and the contribution payable in exchange for that ser-
vice becomes due. Nordea's net obligation for defined benefit
pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by esti-
mating the amount of future benefit that employees have
earned for their service in the current and prior periods. That
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benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Actuarial
calculations including the projected unit credit method are
applied to assess the present value of defined benefit obliga-
tions and related costs, based on several actuarial and finan-
cial assumptions (as disclosed in Note G34 “Retirement ben-
efit obligations”).

When establishing the present value of the obligation and
the fair value of any plan assets, remeasurement effects may
arise as a result of changes in actuarial assumptions and
experience effects (actual outcome compared to assump-
tions). The remeasurement effects are recognised immedi-
ately in equity through other comprehensive income.

When the calculation results in a benefit the recognised
asset is limited to the present value of any future refunds from
the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Social security contribution is calculated and accounted for
based on the net recognised surplus or deficit by plan and are
included on the balance sheet as “Retirement benefit liabili-
ties” or “Retirement benefit assets”.

Discount rate in defined benefit pension plans

The discount rate is determined by reference to high-quality
corporate bonds, where a deep enough market for such
bonds exists. Covered bonds are in this context considered to
be corporate bonds. In countries where no such market exists
the discount rate is determined by reference to government
bond yields. In Sweden, Norway and Denmark the discount
rate is determined with reference to covered bonds and in
Finland with reference to corporate bonds. In Sweden, Nor-
way and Denmark the observed covered bond credit spreads
over the swap curve are derived from the most liquid long-
dated covered bonds and extrapolated to the same duration
as the pension obligations using the relevant swap curves. In
Finland the corporate bond credit spread over the govern-
ment bond rate is extrapolated to the same duration as the
pension obligation using the government bond curve.

Termination benefits

As mentioned above termination benefits normally arise if an
employment is terminated before the normal retirement date,
or if an employee accepts an offer of voluntary redundancy.
Termination benefits do not arise if the employees have to
continue performing services and the termination benefits can
be considered to be normal compensation for those services.

Termination benefits are expensed when Nordea has an
obligation to make the payment. An obligation arises when
there is a formal plan committed to on the appropriate organ-
isational level and when Nordea is without realistic possibility
of withdrawal, which normally occurs when the plan has
been communicated to the group affected or to their
representatives.

Termination benefits can include both short-term benefits, for
instance a number of months' salary, and post-employment
benefits, normally in the form of early retirement. Short-term
benefits are classified as “Salaries and remuneration” and post-
employment benefits as “Pension costs” in Note G8 “Staff costs”.

25. Equity

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests comprise the portion of net assets
of group undertakings not owned directly or indirectly by
Nordea Bank Abp.

For each business combination, Nordea measures the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at
their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets.
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Additional Tier 1 capital holders

Nordea has issued perpetual subordinated instruments where
the interest payments to the holders are at the discretion of
Nordea and non-accumulating. Some of these instruments
also include a requirement for Nordea to pay interest if the
instruments are no longer allowed to be included in Tier 1
capital. If there is a requirement to pay interest based on the
occurrence or non-occurrence of an uncertain future event
that is beyond the control of both the issuer and the holder of
the instrument, the instrument shall be classified as a finan-
cial liability. The inclusion of the subordinated loan in Tier 1
capital is decided by the regulators and is thus beyond the
control of Nordea and the holders of the instrument. Nordea
classifies the instruments as financial liabilities. Instruments
without such clauses are classified as equity as there is no
requirement for Nordea to pay interest or principal to the
holders of the instrument.

Nordea determines payments on financial instrument clas-
sified as equity (i.e. Additional Tier 1 instruments) as distribu-
tions of profits and for that reason such payments are
accounted for as dividends.

Invested unrestricted equity

The reserve consists of the difference between the subscrip-
tion price and the quota value of the shares in Nordea's rights
issue in 2009. Transaction costs in connection with the rights
issue have been deducted. Also acquisitions and sales of own
shares are recognised under “Invested unrestricted equity”,
for more information see section 25 “Treasury shares”.

Other reserves

Other reserves comprise income and expenses, net of tax
effects, which are reported in equity through other compre-
hensive income. These reserves include reserves for cash flow
hedges, financial assets classified into the category Financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and
accumulated remeasurements of defined benefit pension
plans, as well as a reserve for translation differences.

Retained earnings

Apart from undistributed profits from previous years, retained
earnings include the equity portion of untaxed reserves.
Untaxed reserves according to national rules are accounted
for as equity net of deferred tax at prevailing tax rates in the
respective country.

In addition, Nordea'’s share of the earnings in associated
undertakings and joint ventures, after the acquisition date,
that have not been distributed is included in retained
earnings.

Treasury shares

Treasury shares are not accounted for as assets. Acquisitions
of treasury shares are recognised as a reduction in “Invested
unrestricted equity” and sales of own shares as an increase in
“Invested unrestricted equity”. Also own shares in trading
portfolios are classified as treasury shares.

Contracts on Nordea shares that can be settled net in cash,
i.e. derivatives such as options and warrants and their equiva-
lents, are either presented as financial assets or financial
liabilities.

26. Financial guarantee contracts and credit commitments
Upon initial recognition, premiums received in issued finan-
cial guarantee contracts and credit commitments are recog-
nised as prepaid income on the balance sheet. The guaran-
tees and irrevocable credit commitments are subsequently
measured and recognised as a provision on the balance sheet
at the higher of either the received fee less amortisation, or
an amount calculated in accordance with IFRS 9. Changes in
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provisions are recognised in the income statement in the item
“Net loan losses”.

Premiums received for financial guarantees are, as stated
in section 6 “Recognition of operating income and impair-
ment”, amortised over the guarantee period and recognised
as “Fee and commission income” in the income statement.
Premiums received on credit commitments are generally
amortised over the loan commitment period. The contractual
amounts are recognised off-balance sheet, net of any provi-
sions. Financial guarantees are disclosed in the item “Contin-
gent liabilities” and irrevocable credit commitments in the
item “Commitments”.

27. Share-based payment

Equity-settled programmes

Nordea has annually issued programmes where employees
participating in these programmes are granted share-based
equity-settled rights, i.e. rights to receive shares for free or to
acquire shares in Nordea at a significant discount compared
to the share price at grant date.

The grant date fair value of these rights is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period. The fair value per
right is estimated at grant date and not subsequently updated.
The vesting period is the period over which the employees have
to remain in service in Nordea in order for their rights to vest.

For rights with non-market performance conditions, the
amount expensed is the grant date fair value per right multi-
plied by the best estimate of rights that will eventually vest,
which is reassessed at each reporting date. For rights with
market performance conditions, the total fair value is estimat-
ed based on the fair value of each right times the maximum
number of rights at grant date. Market conditions are taken
into account when estimating the fair value of the equity
instruments granted. Therefore, if all other vesting conditions
(e.g. service condition) are met, Nordea recognises the
expense for grants of equity instruments with market condi-
tions irrespective of whether that market condition is satisfied.

Social security costs are also allocated over the vesting
period. The provision for social security costs is reassessed on
each reporting date to ensure that the provision is based on
the rights’ fair value at the reporting date.

For more information see Note G8 “Staff costs".

Cash-settled programmes
Nordea has to defer payment of variable salaries under Nor-
dic FSAs' regulations and general guidelines, as is also the
case with the Executive Incentive Programme (EIP). The
deferred amounts are to some extent indexed using Nordea's
TSR (Total Shareholders' Return) and these “programmes”
are cash-settled share-based programmes. These pro-
grammes are fully vested when the payments of variable sal-
aries are initially deferred, and the fair value of the obligation
is remeasured on a continuous basis over the deferral period
using the Nordea TSR. The remeasurements are, together
with the related social charges, recognised in the income
statement in the item “Net result from items at fair value”.
For more information see Note G8 “Staff costs".

28. Related party transactions

Nordea defines related parties as:

¢ Shareholders with significant influence

¢ Associated undertakings and joint ventures
¢ Key management personnel

¢ Other related parties

All transactions with related parties are made on the same
criteria and terms as those of comparable transactions with
external parties of similar standing, apart from loans granted
to employees as well as certain other commitments to key

management, see Note G8 “Staff costs” and Note G38 “Con-
tingent liabilities”.

Shareholders with significant influence

Shareholders with significant influence are shareholders that
have the power to participate in the financial and operating
decisions of Nordea but do not control those policies.

Associated undertakings and joint ventures
For the definition of associated undertakings and joint ven-
tures, see section 5 “Principles of consolidation”.

Further information on the associated undertakings and
the joint ventures included in the Nordea Group is found in
Note G20 “Investments in associated undertakings and joint
ventures”.

Key management personnel

Key management personnel includes the following positions:
e Board of Directors

¢ Chief Executive Officer (CEQO)

¢ Group Leadership Team (GLT)

For information about compensation, pensions and other
transactions with key management personnel, see Note G8
“Staff costs”.

Other related parties
Other related parties comprise shareholders with significant
influence (including its subsidiaries) and close family mem-
bers of key management personnel at Nordea, as well as
companies controlled or jointly controlled by key manage-
ment personnel or by close family members of key manage-
ment personnel at Nordea.

Information concerning transactions between Nordea and
other related parties is found in Note G45 “Related-party
transactions”.

29. Presentation of disposal groups held for sale

If applicable, assets and liabilities related to disposal groups
are presented on the separate balance sheet lines “Assets
held for sale” and “Liabilities held for sale”, respectively, as
from the classification date. Financial instruments continue to
be measured under IFRS 9, while non-financial assets are
held at the lower of carrying amount and fair value. Compara-
tive figures are not restated.

30. Exchange rates

Jan-Dec 2020 Jan-Dec 2019

EUR1=SEK
Income statement (average) 10.4889 10.5848
Balance sheet (at end of year) 10.0220 10.4563
EUR 1 =DKK
Income statement (average) 74543 7.4661
Balance sheet (at end of year) 7.4405 74717
EUR1=NOK
Income statement (average) 10.7291 9.8499
Balance sheet (at end of year) 10.4703 9.8463
EUR1=RUB
Income statement (average) 82.6596 72.4524
Balance sheet (at end of year) 90.8041 69.7096
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Maintaining risk awareness in the organisation is engrained in
Nordea’s business strategies. Nordea has defined clear risk
and liquidity management frameworks including policies and
instructions for different risk types, capital adequacy and cap-
ital structure.

COVID-19 has been a major risk factor over the course of
2020 leading to increased volatility in markets and reduced
liquidity in wholesale funding at the outset of the global lock-
down. In addition, with anticipation of the impacts on the
broader economy, banks made large increases in loan loss
provisions with Nordea being no exception. Market volatility
and expected credit migration arising from the impact of
COVID-19 translated to an increase in Risk Exposure Amount
(REA) for Nordea.

In response to the impact of COVID-19 on the economy,
Central Banks and regulatory bodies reacted strongly with
regulators reducing capital requirements through the so-
called Capital Requirement Regulation (CRR) “Quick Fix".
Central Banks cut interest rates, increased their quantitative
easing (QE) activities and offered long-term financing facili-
ties at low rates.

To protect its balance sheet, Nordea increased its loan loss
provisions in the first half of the year and took advantage of
term funding facilities from Central Banks. In addition, the
Group Board followed the European Central Bank (ECB)
direction to withhold payment of any dividends in 2020. With
its strong financial position Nordea is able to continue to
actively support its customers during this challenging time.

In order to continuously monitor potential adverse out-
comes, Nordea has executed a number of internal stress tests
during 2020 with focus on the COVID-19 situation. In these
stress tests, Nordea's capital and liquidity situation has shown
good resilience even in the most severe scenarios.

Internal Control Framework

The Internal Control Framework covers the whole Group and
it sets out the Group Board'’s and senior management’s
responsibilities towards internal control, all Group Functions
and Business Areas including outsourced activities and distri-
bution channels. Under the Internal Control Framework, all
Business Areas, Group Functions and units are responsible
for managing the risks they incur in conducting their activities
and to have controls in place that aim to ensure compliance
with internal and external requirements. As part of the Inter-
nal Control Framework, Nordea has established Group Con-
trol Functions with appropriate and sufficient authority, stat-
ure and access to the Group Board to fulfil their mission, as
well as the Risk Management Framework.

The Internal Control Framework ensures effective and effi-
cient operations, adequate identification, measurement and
mitigation of risks, prudent conduct of business, sound
administrative and accounting procedures, reliability of finan-
cial and non-financial information (both internal and exter-
nal) and compliance with applicable laws, regulations, super-
visory requirements and the Group internal rules.

The internal control process is carried out by the governing
bodies, risk management functions, management and other
staff at Nordea. The internal control process is based on five
main components: control environment, risk assessment, con-
trol activities, information and communication as well as
monitoring. The internal control process is created to ensure
the necessary fundamentals for the entire organisation to
contribute to the effectiveness and high quality of internal
control through, for instance, clear definitions, assignments of
roles and responsibilities and common tools and procedures.
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Governing bodies for risk, liquidity

and capital management

The Group Board, the Board Risk Committee (BRIC), the
Group CEO in Group Leadership Team (GLT), the Asset and
Liability Committee (ALCO) and the Risk Committee (RC) are
the key decision-making bodies for risk, liquidity and capital
management in Nordea. In addition, the CEO Credit Commit-
tee, the Executive Credit Committee and Business Area Credit
Committees are the key bodies for Credit decision-making.

Group Board and Board Risk Committee

The Group Board has following overarching risk management

responsibilities.

¢ |t decides on the Group risk strategy and the Risk Appetite
Framework, including the Risk Appetite Statements, with
annual reviews and additional updates when needed.

¢ |t oversees and monitors the implementation of the Risk
Strategy, Risk Appetite Framework and Risk Management
Framework, including breaches of risk appetite.

The Group Board decides on the Group Board Directive on
Capital including dividend policy, which ensures adequate
capital levels within the Group, on an ongoing and forward-
looking basis in accordance with Nordea's business model,
risk appetite and regulatory requirements and expectations.

Board Risk Committee (BRIC) assists the Group Board in
fulfilling its oversight responsibilities concerning manage-
ment and control of the risk, risk frameworks, controls and
processes associated with the Group’s operations, including
credit, market, liquidity, business, life and operational risk, as
well as conduct and compliance risk and related frameworks
and processes.

President and Chief Executive Officer
The Group CEO is responsible to the Group Board for the
overall management of the Group's operations and risks.
Responsibilities include ensuring that the risk strategy and
risk management decided by the Group Board is implement-
ed, the necessary practical measures are taken and risks are
monitored and limited. The Group CEO is supported in deci-
sion making by senior management within the Group GLT.
Group-wide committees have been established in order to
promote coordination within the Group, thus ensuring com-
mitment to and ownership of Group-wide prioritisations,
decisions and implementation. The composition and the areas
of responsibility of each committee are established in the
Group Board Directives or Group CEO Instructions for the
respective committees.

Asset and Liability Committee

Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) is sub-ordinated to the
Group CEO in GLT and chaired by the Chief Financial Officer
(CFO). ALCO decides on changes to the financial operations
and the risk profile of the balance sheet, including asset and
liability management (ALM), balance sheet management and
liquidity management. ALCO also decides on certain issuanc-
es and capital injections for all wholly-owned legal entities
within the Group. ALCO has established sub-committees for
its work and decision-making within specific risk areas.

Risk Committee

Risk Committee (RC) is sub-ordinated to the Group CEO in
GLT and chaired by the Chief Risk Officer (CRO). It has been
established in order to manage the overall Risk Management
Framework and prepares or provides guidance regarding
proposals to the Group CEO in GLT and/or the relevant Board
of Directors on issues of major importance concerning
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Nordea's Risk Management Framework. Given the Group
Board decided Risk Appetite Framework, RC decides on the
allocation of cascaded risks limits to risk-taking units and on
actions relating to the management of all risks. The first line
of defence (1st LoD) is responsible for ensuring that limits are
further cascaded and operationally implemented. RC has
established sub-committees for its work and decision-making
within specific risk areas.

Credit decision-making bodies

The governing bodies for Credit Risk and/or the Credit Risk

Management Framework are the Group Board and BRIC. The

Group Board and the local Board of Directors delegate credit

decision-making according to the Powers to Act as described

in the Group Board Directive for Risk:

¢ CEO Credit Committee is chaired by the Group CEO and its
members include the members of the Executive Credit
Committee.

¢ Executive Credit Committee is chaired by the Head of
Group Credit Management, and BRIC appoints the mem-
bers of the Executive Credit Committee.

¢ The Executive Credit Committee establishes credit commit-
tees for each Business Area as required by organisational
and customer segmentation.

BRIC reviews decisions of the CEO Credit Committee and the
Executive Credit Committee, as well as other strategic credit
policy matters and development of the credit portfolio. BRIC
confirms Industry Group Strategies approved by the RC.

All credit limits within the Nordea Group are based on
credit decisions or authorizations made by an ultimate Deci-
sion-Making Authority with the right to decide upon that
limit. Credit decisions include, inter alia, pricing, risk mitiga-
tion and any terms and conditions related to the limit or
expected utilisation. Credit decisions also serve to delegate
decision making within the approved limit to lower decision
makers, unless otherwise explicitly decided.

Subsidiary governance

At subsidiary level, the local Board of Director is responsible
for approving risk appetite limits and capital actions. The pro-
posals for such items are the joint responsibilities of relevant
subsidiary management and Group Functions.

The subsidiary Board of Director has oversight responsibili-
ties concerning the management and control of risk, risk
management frameworks as well as the processes associated
with the subsidiary’s operations. In addition, there are risk
management functions responsible for the risk management
framework and processes within the subsidiary.

The subsidiary CEO is part of the decision-making process
at the subsidiary level and is responsible for the daily
operations.

Governance of Risk Management and Compliance

Group Risk and Compliance (GRC) represents Nordea's inde-
pendent second line of defence (2nd LoD) function. GRC
oversees the implementation of the financial and the non-
financial risk policies and according to a risk-based approach,
monitors and controls the Risk Management Framework
including the Compliance Risk Management Framework and
oversees that risks that Nordea is or could be exposed to, are
identified, assessed, monitored, managed and reported on.
GRC is organised in divisions with individual risk type respon-
sibility. The Risk Management Framework ensures consistent
processes for identifying, assessing and measuring, respond-
ing to and mitigating, controlling and monitoring and report-
ing risks to enable informed decisions on risk-taking.

The Risk Management Framework encompasses all risks
to which Nordea is or could be exposed, including off-balance
sheet risks and risks in a stressed situation. Detailed risk infor-
mation covering all risks is regularly reported to the RC, GLT,
BRIC and the Group Board. In addition to this Nordea's com-
pliance with regulatory requirements is reported to the GLT
and the Group Board. The Group Board and the CEO in each
legal entity regularly receive local risk reporting.

The Risk Identification and Materiality Assessment Process
starts with identifying risks to which Nordea is or could be
exposed. Risks are then assessed for relevance, classified, and
included in the Common Risk Taxonomy.

All risks within the Nordea Common Risk Taxonomy need
to be classified as material or not material for risk manage-
ment and capital purposes. Material risks are those assessed
as having a material impact on Nordea’s current and future
financial position, its customers and stakeholders. These risks
will typically, though not always, refer to a higher-level risk
within the Risk Taxonomy which captures a number of under-
lying risks in which losses arise from a common source.

Risk appetite

The Risk Appetite Framework (RAF) supports effective risk
management and a sound risk culture by enabling informed
decisions on risk-taking, with the objective of ensuring that
risk-taking activities are conducted within the organisation’s
risk appetite and that emerging risks are identified and
addressed in a timely way.

Risk capacity is the maximum level of risk Nordea is
deemed able to assume given its capital (own funds), its risk
management and control capabilities and its regulatory con-
straints. Risk appetite is the aggregate level and types of risk
Nordea is willing to assume within its risk capacity, in line
with its business model, to achieve its strategic objectives.
The Risk Appetite Statements (RAS) are the articulation of
the Group Board approved risk appetite and comprises the
qualitative statements and quantitative Limits and Triggers by
main risk type, which are deemed appropriate to be able to
operate with a prudent risk profile.

Credit concentration metrics cover e.g. sectors and geo-
graphic regions of size or importance. Stress test metrics are
applied to credit, market and liquidity risk metrics to ensure a
forward-looking approach to risk management. Operational
risk metrics cover both residual risk levels and requirements
for mitigating actions as well as limits for incidents and
losses.

Risk appetite processes

The RAF contains all processes and controls to establish,

monitor and communicate Nordea's risk appetite:

¢ Risk capacity setting based on capital position: On at least
an annual basis, the Group’s overall risk capacity is aligned
with the financial and capital planning process, based on
Nordea's risk strategy. Risk capacity is set in line with
Nordea's capital position, including an appropriate shock
absorbing capacity.

¢ Risk appetite allocation by risk type: Risk appetite includes
Risk Appetite Limits for the main risk types that Nordea is
or could be exposed to in line with the Risk Taxonomy. Risk
Appetite Triggers are also set for these main risk types, to
act as early indicators for key decision-makers that the risk
profile for a particular risk type is approaching its Risk
Appetite Limit.

¢ Risk limit setting: Measurable risk limits are established
and set at an appropriate level to manage risk-taking
effectively. Risk Appetite Limits are set by the Group Board.
These inform the risk limits which are established and
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approved at lower decision-making levels at Nordea,
including RC and sub-RC levels, and also other levels as
appropriate. Subsidiary risk limits must be set by the
appropriate governing body in alignment with local regula-
tory requirements and consistent with the Group Risk
Limits.

¢ Controlling and monitoring risk exposures against risk lim-
its: Regular controlling and monitoring of risk exposures
compared to risk limits is carried out to ensure that risk-
taking activity remains within risk appetite.

¢ Risk appetite limit breach management process: GRC over-
sees that any Risk Appetite Limit breaches are appropri-
ately escalated to RC and BRIC. GRC reports monthly on
any breaches of the risk appetite to the Group Board and
other relevant governing bodies including a follow-up on
the status of actions to be taken, until the relevant risk
exposure is within appetite. The reporting includes a con-
sistent status indicator to communicate the current risk
exposure compared to Risk Appetite Limit for all risk types
covered by the RAS.

Embedding risk appetite in business processes
The end-to-end risk appetite process cycle is aligned with
other strategic processes, including the Internal Capital Ade-
quacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), Internal Liquidity Ade-
quacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) and the Recovery Plan.
Moreover, the risk appetite is embedded in business pro-
cesses and communicated across the organisation in order to
meet Nordea's objectives of maintaining a sound risk culture.
This includes but is not limited to ensuring a strong link
between the assessed risk appetite and the business plans
and budgets, the capital and liquidity position, the systemic
risk profile, the recoverability and resolvability assessments
as well as the incentive structures and remuneration
framework.
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Strengthened ESG Governance

At Nordea, the Group Board has a leading role in driving the
climate strategy and is assisted by the Board Operations and
Sustainability Committee (BOSC) in the fulfilment of its over-
sight responsibilities concerning sustainability, related frame-
works and processes. The Group Board is also assisted by the
BRIC in the fulfilment of its oversight responsibilities concern-
ing the management of risks, related frameworks, controls
and processes including Environmental, Social and Gover-
nance (ESG) factors as drivers of existing risks. Qualitative
progress updates on the integration of ESG factors in the risk
management frameworks form part of the regular Board Risk
Appetite reporting. Organisationally, ESG is integrated in
existing processes for decision-making, risk management and
control, and escalation including committee structures.

In response to the heightened supervisory and regulatory
expectations on ESG, a Group-wide Task Force led by the
Head of Group Credit Risk Control as Chair was established in
June reporting to Risk Committee and the Chief Risk Officer.
The Task Force objectives were to assess Nordea's ability to
comply with the ECB guide on Climate-Related and Environ-
mental Risks and to address any required developments.

Disclosure requirements of the CRR — Capital

and Risk Management Report 2020

Additional information on risk and capital management is
presented in the Capital and Risk Management Report 2020,
in accordance with the Capital Requirements Regulation
(CRR), which is based on the Basel Il framework issued by
the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision.
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Credit Risk management

Credits granted within the Group shall conform to the com-

mon principles established for the Group. Nordea strives to

have a well-diversified credit portfolio that is adapted to the

structure of its home markets and economies. The key prin-

ciples for managing Nordea’s risk exposures are:

¢ risk-based approach, i.e. the risk management functions
should be aligned to the nature, size and complexity of
Nordea's business, ensuring that efforts undertaken are
proportional to the risks in question;

¢ independence, i.e. the risk control function should be inde-
pendent of the business it controls; and

¢ the three Lines of Defence (LoD), as further described in
the Group Board Directive on Internal Governance.

Group Credit Management in 1st LoD is responsible for the
credit process and Industry Credit Policies. Group Credit Risk
Control in 2nd LoD is responsible for the credit risk frame- work,
consisting of instructions and guidelines for the Group. Group
Credit Risk Control is also responsible for controlling and moni-
toring the quality of the credit portfolio and the credit process.

The basis of credit risk management in Nordea is allocating
limits to customers and customer groups that are aggregated
and assigned to units responsible for their continuous moni-
toring and development. In addition to the procedures for
allocating customer and customer group limits, Nordea's cred-
it risk management framework also includes the credit RAF
which provides a comprehensive and risk-based portfolio per-
spective through relevant asset quality and concentration risk
measures. Each division/unit is primarily responsible for man-
aging the credit risks in its operations within the applicable
framework and limits, including identification, control and
reporting.

Within the Powers to Act granted by the Board of Direc-
tors, Internal credit risk limits are approved by credit decision
making authorities on different levels in the organisation con-
stituting the maximum risk appetite on the customer in ques-
tion. Individual credit decisions within the approved internal
credit risk limit are taken within the customer responsible unit
(CRU). The risk categorisation together with the exposure of
the customer decides at what level the credit decision will be
made. Responsibility for a credit risk lies with the customer
responsible unit. Customers are risk-categorized by a rating

Credit Committee Structure

Level 3 Leverage Buyout NT ::; E:;?;?\t Corporate Large Corporate
and Mergers 9 Corporations Business
o Industry and o A
and Acquisitions e and Institutions Banking
Credit Credit Credit Credit
Committee o Committee Committee
Committee
Level 4 . -
Six eyes decisions (rated customers)
Level 5
Level 6

or score in accordance with Nordea's rating and scoring
guidelines. The rating and scoring of customers aim to predict
their probability of default and consequently rank them
according to their respective default risk. Rating and scoring
are used as integrated parts of credit risk management and
the credit decision-making process. Representatives from 1st
LoD credit organization approve the rating independently.

Credit risk definition and identification

Credit risk is defined as the potential for loss due to failure of
a borrower(s) to meet its obligations to clear a debt in accor-
dance with agreed terms and conditions. The potential for
loss is lowered by credit risk mitigation techniques. Credit risk
stems mainly from various forms of lending, but also from
issued guarantees and documentary credits and includes
counterparty credit risk, transfer risk and settlement risk.

Nordea's loan portfolio is furthermore broken down by
segment, industry and geography. Industry credit policies are
established for those industries that have a significant weight
in the portfolio and are either highly cyclical or volatile or
require special industry competencies.

Credit decisions are reached after a credit risk assessment,
based on principles that are defined consistently across the
Group. These principles emphasize the need to adjust the
depth and scope of the assessment according to the risk. The
same credit risk assessments are used as input for determining
the internal ratings. Credit decisions in Nordea reflect Nordea's
view of both the customer relationship and credit risk.

The ESG evaluation of large corporate borrowers is cur-
rently integrated in the credit process through the Nordea
Group credit risk framework.

There are different types of ESG evaluations performed
dependent on the type and size of the transaction and cus-
tomer’s internal segmentation.

ESG-related risks identified in the ESG evaluation process
are integrated into the credit risk assessment. A credit memo-
randum is produced, which contains a conclusion on the level
of ESG-related risk associated with the customer. Approval
follows the established credit decision making process. For
customers classified as having high ESG-related risk, the deci-
sion is escalated to the Executive Credit Committee (ECC).

The total credit risk assessment shall be a combined risk
conclusion on the borrower's repayment capacity and recov-

Board of Directors / Board Risk Committee
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) Credit Committee / Executive Credit Committee

Int. Banks
Countries, Shipping and " 8 Retail Nordic
and Financial Offshore Credit Rggz:;ciéeec:;t Credit
Institutions Credit Committee Committee
Committee

Four eyes decisions (scored customers) — two senior decision
makers from Group Credit Management

Four eyes decisions

Personal powers to act
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ery position. The risk conclusion must be sufficiently forward-
looking as compared to the risk profile of the customer and
maturity of the transaction.

In addition to credit risk assessment in conjunction with new
or changed exposure towards a customer, an annual or con-
tinuous credit review process is in place. The review process is
an important part of the continuous credit assessment process.

If credit weakness is identified in relation to a customer
exposure, the customer is categorized as “High Risk"” and
receives special attention in terms of more frequent reviews.
In addition to continuous monitoring, an action plan is estab-
lished outlining how to minimise the potential credit loss. If
necessary, a work-out team is set up to support the customer
responsible unit.

Credit risk mitigation

Credit risk mitigation is an inherent part of the credit decision
process. In every credit decision and review, the valuation of
collaterals is considered as well as the adequacy of covenants
and other risk mitigations. Pledge of collateral is a fundamen-
tal credit risk mitigation technique in the bank and collaterals
are always sought, when reasonable and possible, to mini-
mize the potential for credit losses.

In corporate exposures, the main collateral types are real
estate, floating charges and leasing objects. Collateral cover-
age should generally be higher for exposures of financially
weaker customers than for those who are financially strong.

Independent from the strength of collateral position, the
repayment capacity is the starting point in credit assessment
and assigning credit limits. Regarding large exposures, syndi-
cation of loans is the primary tool for managing concentration

The collateral value shall always be based on the market
value. The market value is defined as the estimated amount for
which the asset or liability would exchange on the date of valua-
tion between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm'’s
length transaction, after proper marketing and where the par-
ties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without com-
pulsion. From this market value, a haircut is applied. The haircut
is defined as a percentage by which the asset’s market value is
reduced ensuring a margin against loss. The margin reflects the
adjustments needed to assess the cash proceeds when the col-
lateral is liquidated in a forced sale situation. A minimum haircut
is set for each collateral type. In addition to the haircut potential
higher ranking claims are also deducted from the market value
when calculating the maximum collateral value.

The same principles of calculation must be used for all
exposures. For High Risk customers, the foreclosure value
may differ from the maximum collateral values and should be
based on a realistic assessment for the particular asset at that
time. Risk transfer to other creditworthy parties, through
guarantees and insurance, shall be based on legally enforce-
able documentation.

Collateral distribution

Distribution of collateral has remained stable during 2020,
with the majority of the collateral stemming from residential
and commercial real estate. The shares of financial collateral,
receivables, and other physical collaterals have slightly
decreased during 2020, while the share of real estate has
increased by 1% in 2020.

il g . i 31Dec2020 31Dec 2019
risk, while credit risk mitigation using credit default swaps is - -
. - . . . F | Collateral 0.7% 0.8%
applied to a limited extent. Covenants included in credit mar?c'a oftatera ’ ?
agreements are complementary to collateral protection. Most ~ Receivables 0.7% 0.7%
exposures of substantial size and complexity include appro- Residential Real Estate 74.0% 73.2%
priate covenants. Covenants provide early warning signs that G feel Bsaa 18.7% 187%
enable Nordea to detect, and react on, a deterioration in the - l 5 0% 6.6%
borrower’s credit quality or overall performance. Covenant er Physical Collatera 27 o7
breaches, allow Nordea to cancel the credit facility and Total 100.0% 100.0%
demand repayment of the outstanding credits.
Maximum exposure to credit risk

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Amortised cost and
Fair value through
other comprehensive

Amortised cost and
Fair value through
other comprehensive

Financial assets at
fair value through

Financial assets at
fair value through

EURmM Note income profit or loss income profit or loss

Loans to central banks and credit institutions G14 4,409 1,841 11,627 6,110

Loans to the public G14 259,433 72,776 247395 77514

Interest-bearing securities G15, G16 37,022 29,285 33,269 38,813

Derivatives G19 - 44770 - 39111

Off-balance-sheet items G38, G39 106,911 203 91,776 200

Total 407,775 148,875 384,067 161,748
Allowances for credit risk

EURmM Note 31Dec2020 31Dec2019

Loans to central banks and credit

institutions G14 4 14

Loans to the public G14 2,444 2,169

Interest-bearing securities measured

at fair value through other compre-

hensive income or amortised cost G15 3 1

Off-balance-sheet items G33 236 144

Total 2,687 2,328
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G2. Risk and Liquidity management, cont.

Assets taken over for protection of claims

The table below presents assets taken over distributed by
asset type. Lands and buildings make up 25% of the total
assets taken over end of December 2020 and so do shares.
50% of the protection claimed are other types of assets. Dur-
ing 2020 the Assets taken over have been brought down by
11%.

Assets taken over for protection of claims’

EURmM 31Dec 2020 31Dec 2019

Current assets, carrying amount:

Land and buildings 2
Shares and other participations 2
Other assets 4 1
Total 8 9

1) In accordance with Nordea's policy for taking over assets for protection of claims,
which is in compliance with the local Banking Business Acts, wherever Nordea is
located. Assets used as collateral for the loan are generally taken over when the cus-
tomer is not able to fulfil its obligations to Nordea. The assets taken over are at the
latest disposed when full recovery is reached.

Loan-to-value

The loan-to-value (LTV) ratio is considered a useful measure
to evaluate collateral's quality, i.e. the credit extended divided
by the market value of the collateral pledged. In the table,
IRB retail mortgage exposures are distributed by LTV buckets
based on the LTV ratio.

Loan-to-value

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
Retail mortgage exposure EURbn %  EURbn %
<50% 1215 81 113.6 81
50-70% 214 14 203 14
70-80% 4.6 3 45 3
80-90% 12 1 12 1
>90% 0.8 1 0.9 1
Total 149.5 100 140.5 100

Individual and collective assessment of impairment
Requirements for impairment are set forth in IFRS 9 and are
based on an expected credit loss model.

Impairment testing (individual and collective) applies to
three forward looking and weighted scenarios, where assets
tested for impairment are divided into three groups depend-
ing on the stage of credit deterioration. Stage 1 includes
assets where there has been no significant increase in credit
risk, stage 2 includes assets where there has been a signifi-
cant increase in credit risk, and stage 3 includes defaulted
assets. All assets are assessed individually for staging. Signifi-
cant assets in stage 3 are assessed for impairment individu-
ally. Assets in stage 1, stage 2 and insignificant assets in stage
3 are assessed for impairment collectively.

Throughout the process of identifying and mitigating credit
impairment, Nordea continuously reviews the quality of credit
exposures. Weak and credit impaired exposures are closely
monitored and reviewed at least on a quarterly basis in terms
of current performance, business outlook, future debt service
capacity, and the possible need for provisions.

Nordea recognises only certain specific credit risk adjust-
ments (SCRAs). SCRAs comprise individually and collectively
assessed provisions. SCRAs in the profit and loss statement
are referred to as loan losses, while SCRAs in the balance
sheet are referred to as allowances and provisions.

Individual provisioning
A need for individual provisioning is recognised if, based on
credit events and observable data, a negative impact is likely on
the customer’s expected future cash flow to the extent that full
repayment is unlikely (pledged collaterals taken into account).
Exposures with individually assigned provisions are credit
Impaired and in stage 3. The size of the provision is equal to
the estimated loss, which is the difference between the book
value of the outstanding exposure and the discounted value
of the expected future cash flow, including the value of
pledged collateral.

Collective provisioning

The collective model is executed quarterly and assessed for
each legal unit/branch. One important driver for provisions is
the trigger for the transferring of assets from stage 1 to stage 2.
For assets recognised from 1 January 2018, changes to the life-
time Probability of Default (PD) are used as the trigger. In addi-
tion, customers with forbearance measures and customers with
payments more than thirty days past due are also transferred to
stage 2. In stage 1, the provisions equal the 12 months expected
loss. In stages 2 and 3, the provisions equal the lifetime expect-
ed loss. The output is complemented with an expert-based ana-
lysis process to ensure adequate provisioning. Defaulted cus-
tomers without individual provisions have collective provisions.

Default

Customers with exposures that are past due more than 90
days, in bankruptcy or considered unlikely to pay are regard-
ed as defaulted and non-performing. Such customers can be
either servicing debt or non-servicing.

If a customer recovers from being in default, the customer
is seen as cured. Typically, this situation occurs if the customer
succeeds in creating a balance in financials. In order to be
cured, the recovery should include the customer’s total liabili-
ties, an established satisfactory repayment plan and an
assessment that the recovery is underway.

Forbearance

Forbearance is eased terms or restructuring due to the bor-
rower experiencing or about to experience financial difficul-
ties. The intention with granting forbearance for a limited
time period is to ensure full repayment of the outstanding
debt. Examples of eased terms are changes in amortisation
profile, repayment schedule, customer margin as well as ease
of financial covenants. Forbearance is undertaken on a selec-
tive and individual basis, approved according to Powers to
Act and followed by impairment testing. Forborne exposures
can be performing or non-performing. Individual loan loss
provisions are recognised if necessary.

On 13 March 2020 Nordea announced that it would offer
COVID-19-related instalment-free periods in all Nordic coun-
tries to those mortgage and car finance household customers
and SMEs who were experiencing temporary liquidity prob-
lems due to the COVID-19 situation. Nordea did not register
COVID-19- related instalment-free periods as forbearance,
and consequently did not automatically transfer the expo-
sures to stage 2, due to the temporary nature of the instal-
ment-free periods and as interest continued to accrue. On 1
October 2020 Nordea ended all temporary amendments to
the credit risk framework and returned to its standard credit
processes, including normal forbearance registration proce-
dures, while still continuing to support customers through the
crisis.

The carrying amount of loans on which Nordea had grant-
ed COVID-19-related instalment-free periods at the end of
2020 amounted to EUR 18.6bn, of which 91.2% was classified
as stage 1, 7.7% as stage 2 and 1.1% as stage 3.
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G2. Risk and Liquidity management, cont.

Forbearance

EURmM 31Dec2020 31Dec2019
Forborne loans 2,983 2,992
- of which defaulted 1,711 1,984
Allowances for individually assessed impaired

and forborne loans 465 679
- of which defaulted 434 664
Key ratios 31Dec2020 31Dec2019
Forbearance ratio’ 0.9% 0.9%
Forbearance coverage ratio? 16% 23%
- of which defaulted 25% 33%

1) Forborne loans/Loans before allowances.
2) Individual allowances on forborne loans/Forborne loans.

Sensitivities

One important factor in estimating expected credit losses in
accordance with IFRS 9 is to assess what constitutes a signifi-
cant increase in credit risk. To understand the sensitivities to
these triggers, Nordea has calculated model-based provisions
under two different scenarios:

Triggers Scenario 1 Scenario 2
Retail portfolios
Relative threshold 100% 50% 150%
Absolute 12-month threshold 45 bp 35 bp 55 bp
Absolute lifetime threshold 300 bp 250 bp 350 bp
Notching' 1-6 1less 1 more
Non-Retail portfolios
Relative threshold 150% 100% 200%
Absolute 12-month threshold 20 bp 15 bp 25 bp
Absolute lifetime threshold 400 bp 350 bp 450 bp
Notching' 1-6 1 less 1 more

1) For exposures with initial recognition before the transition to IFRS 9 (1 Jan 2018),
stage classification is decided based on changes in rating grades. The trigger in sce-
nario 1is set at one notch less than in the model actually used and in scenario 2 the
trigger is set at one notch more than in the model used.

Sensitivities

The provisions would have increased by EUR 34m (EUR 38m)
in scenario 1 and decreased by EUR 36m (EUR 44m) in sce-
nario 2. For more information on the rating scale and average
PDs, see table “Rating/scoring information on loans measured
at amortised cost” on page 124.

The provisions are sensitive to rating migration even if trig-
gers are not reached. The table below shows the impact on
provisions from a one notch downgrade on all exposures in
the bank. It includes both the impact of the higher risk for all
exposures as well as the impact of transferring exposures
from stage 1 to stage 2 that reach the trigger. It also includes
the impact from the exposures with one rating grade above
default becoming default, which is estimated at EUR 139m
(EUR 141m). This figure is based on calculations with the sta-
tistical model rather than individual estimates that would be
the case in reality for material defaulted loans.

Forward looking information

Forward-looking information is used both for assessing sig-
nificant increases in credit risk and calculating expected credit
losses. Nordea uses three macroeconomic scenarios: a base-
line scenario, a favourable scenario and an adverse scenario.
For the fourth quarter of 2020, the scenarios were weighted
into the final expected credit losses (ECL) using baseline 50%,
adverse 45% and favourable 5% (baseline 60%, adverse 20%
and favourable 20% at year-end 2019). The weight on the
adverse scenario was increased as of the third quarter and
maintained in the fourth quarter of 2020 to give more weight
to the downside risks surrounding the expiry of customer sup-
port measures and the continuation of the pandemic. The
baseline scenario was still maintained as the most probable
one.

The macroeconomic scenarios are provided by Group Risk
and Compliance (GRC) in Nordea, based on the Oxford Eco-
nomics Model. The forecast is a combination of modelling and
expert judgement, subject to thorough checks and quality
control processes. The model has been built to give a good
description of the historical relationships between economic
variables and to capture the key linkages between those vari-
ables. The forecast period in the model is ten years, and for
periods beyond, a long-term average is used in the ECL
calculations.

2020 2019

Recognised Provisions if one Recognised Provisions if one
EURmM provisions notch downgrade provisions notch downgrade
Personal Banking 492 646 412 566
Business Banking 1,307 1,447 1,038 1184
Large Corporates & Institutions 874 950 868 945
Other 14 29 10 20
Group 2,687 3,072 2,328 2,715
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The macroeconomic scenarios reflect Nordea's view of
how the COVID-19 virus and lockdowns will potentially
impact the economic outlook. The scenarios also reflect the
macroeconomic effects of government and central bank sup-
port measures. When developing the scenarios, Nordea took
into account projections made by Nordic governments and
central banks, Nordea Research and the ECB's macroeconom-
ic forecasts for the euro area.

Following one of the largest contractions in output since
the Second World War, the Nordic economies experienced a
significant recovery in activity in the third quarter of 2020.
Although the economic recovery during the second half of
2020 appeared to be relatively strong, growth in 2021 is pre-
dicted to be slow, as the outlook is still clouded by a very high
level of uncertainty. The resurgence of the COVID-19 pan-
demic in the autumn of 2020, with renewed and widespread
lockdowns in most of Europe, poses a serious threat to the
export-dependent Nordic economies. The high level of uncer-
tainty is also weighing on business investments. On the other
hand, the eventual roll-out of vaccines, and the willingness of
Nordic governments to extend special support measures for
sectors hit by lockdowns, point to a continued but modest
recovery in the baseline. This implies that the economic out-
put of the Nordic countries will not return to pre-pandemic
levels before 2022. The significant loss of output will continue
to weigh on labour markets, leading to an additional rise in
unemployment in 2021. The rise in unemployment and the
impact on consumer confidence are also expected to weigh
on housing markets in spite of the strong price increases seen
in 2020 and the low interest rates.

Adjustments to model-based provisions amount to EUR
697m, including management judgements of EUR 650m and
late corrections of EUR 47m. The management judgement is
divided into two groups; cyclical and structural management
judgements. The cyclical management judgement covers pro-
jected individual loan losses and expected loan losses that
are not yet captured by the collective provisioning models,
this amounts to EUR 450m end of the year. The cyclical

reserve is supported by additional portfolio modelling and is
triggered by the substantial uncertainty in the macroeconom-
ic development, as well as the need to account for future rat-
ing downgrades potentially underestimated by the IFRS 9
model through the updated macroeconomic scenarios.

One important source of information in the estimation of
the cyclical reserve is the internal stress testing model, adjust-
ed for the impact of government support schemes. For the
retail portfolio, the most important public sector actions have
been the various forms of labour market support schemes,
which have significantly decreased expected defaults and
losses among households. Due to the wide scope of these
schemes, Nordea decreased the modelled development of
new defaults originally predicted by the internal stress testing
models, leading to lower predicted loan losses. These models
are based on historical observations and correlations. Thus,
they are not capable of replicating the impact of the current
government support schemes.

The structural management judgement covers identified
issues in the IFRS 9 model to be later covered in model
updates (structural reserve) amounted to EUR 200m.

With regard to the expected rating migration in the corpo-
rate portfolio, Nordea took into consideration the positive
impact of the various government guarantee and support
schemes, primarily addressing the liquidity shock caused by
the lockdowns and quarantines. At the same time, additional
negative rating migration was assumed for the industries
affected by COVID-19. This was based on a widescale bottom-
up review of large counterparties in particularly sensitive
industries (e.g. Retail trade, Accommodation and leisure, and
Air transportation), and incorporated the main findings into
the scenario projections.

The stress test model-based scenario simulations support-
ed loan loss forecasts by the business areas, and helped
Nordea ensure that its loan loss projections are appropriately
conservative. The cyclical reserve reflects management'’s
expectation of future credit losses.
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Scenarios and provisions 2020
Adjustment
Model based model based Individual Total
Un-weighted Probability provisions, provisions', provisions, provisions,
Denmark 2021 2022 2023 ECL, EURm weight EURmM EURmM EURmM EURmM
Favourable GDP growth, % 47 24 19 244 5%
scenario Unemployment, % 43 39 35
Change in household
consumption, % 6.3 25 2.0
Change in house
prices, % -0.6 03 24
Base scenario  GDP growth, % 3.0 25 25 251 50% 262 195 395 852
Unemployment, % 5.6 4.8 42
Change in household
consumption, % 5.0 17 1.8
Change in house
prices, % -2.6 0.6 27
Adverse GDP growth, % -0.5 3.6 4.0 277 45%
scenario Unemployment, % 75 6.8 6.0
Change in household
consumption, % 31 2.0 3.0
Change in house
prices, % -5.6 -4.6 2.6
Finland
Favourable GDP growth, % 35 24 1.8 191 5%
scenario Unemployment, % 72 6.7 6.3
Change in household
consumption, % 43 2.8 27
Change in house
prices, % -0.9 13 23
Base scenario  GDP growth, % 25 2.0 22 201 50% 217 159 262 638
Unemployment, % 8.0 77 72
Change in household
consumption, % 38 1.9 25
Change in house
prices, % -25 14 25
Adverse GDP growth, % -23 3.4 33 237 45%
scenario Unemployment, % 10.0 9.2 85
Change in household
consumption, % -0.2 31 2.8
Change in house
prices, % -5.2 -55 25
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Scenarios and provisions 2020, cont.

Adjustment
Model based modelbased Individual Total
Un-weighted  Probability provisions, provisions', provisions, provisions,
Norway 2021 2022 2023 ECL, EURm weight EURmM EURmM EURmM EURmM
Favourable GDP growth, % 29 32 2.8 65 5%
scenario Unemployment, % 51 42 3.9
Change in household
consumption, % 43 2.6 2.8
Change in house
prices, % -1.0 -03 25
Base scenario  GDP growth, % 1.9 33 29 67 50% 72 213 347 632
Unemployment, % 6.1 51 43
Change in household
consumption, % 3.6 25 23
Change in house
prices, % —32 0.0 3.0
Adverse GDP growth, % -07 31 37 78 45%
scenario Unemployment, % 71 67 58
Change in household
consumption, % 22 24 2.8
Change in house
prices, % -10.5 -93 3.2
Sweden
Favourable GDP growth, % 41 21 23 100 5%
scenario Unemployment, % 83 77 6.8
Change in household
consumption, % 24 22 23
Change in house
prices, % -2.8 -03 27
Base scenario  GDP growth, % 1.8 5.0 3.0 109 50% 14 129 71 314
Unemployment, % 10.0 81 73
Change in household
consumption, % 01 52 27
Change in house
prices, % -35 -01 1.6
Adverse GDP growth, % -23 3.8 37 121 45%
scenario Unemployment, % 15 14 102
Change in household
consumption, % -3.2 29 23
Change in house
prices, % -135 -141 3.8
Non-Nordic 9 1 241 251
Total 674 697 1,316 2,687

1) Includes management judgements of EUR 650m and late corrections to the model of EUR 47m.
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Scenarios and provisions 2019
Adjustment
Model based model based Individual Total
Un-weighted Probability provisions, provisions, provisions, provisions,
Denmark 2020 2021 2022 ECL, EURm weight EURmM EURmM EURmM EURmM
Favourable GDP growth, % 21 21 21 237 20%
scenario Unemployment, % 35 32 3.0
Change in household
consumption, % 17 15 1.8
Change in house
prices, % 23 3.8 3.4
Base scenario  GDP growth, % 14 17 2.0 239 60% 240 123 454 817
Unemployment, % 3.8 3.8 37
Change in household
consumption, % 14 1.6 19
Change in house
prices, % 2.0 26 3.0
Adverse GDP growth, % 0.9 0.9 14 245 20%
scenario Unemployment, % 39 41 42
Change in household
consumption, % 11 13 1.4
Change in house
prices, % 1.8 21 1.8
Finland
Favourable GDP growth, % 15 17 13 182 20%
scenario Unemployment, % 6.4 6.3 6.4
Change in household
consumption, % 19 12 1.0
Change in house
prices, % 11 13 15
Base scenario  GDP growth, % 11 11 0.9 185 60% 185 26 262 473
Unemployment, % 6.6 6.7 6.8
Change in household
consumption, % 14 1.0 1.0
Change in house
prices, % 0.9 11 11
Adverse GDP growth, % 0.8 0.5 0.4 187 20%
scenario Unemployment, % 6.6 6.7 7.0
Change in household
consumption, % 11 0.9 11
Change in house
prices, % 1.0 0.8 0.3
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G2. Risk and Liquidity management, cont.
Scenarios and provisions 2019, cont.
Adjustment
Model based modelbased Individual Total
Un-weighted  Probability provisions, provisions, provisions, provisions,
Norway 2020 2021 2022 ECL, EURm weight EURmM EURmM EURmM EURmM
Favourable GDP growth, % 22 23 2.0 94 20%
scenario Unemployment, % 33 3.0 27
Change in household
consumption, % 26 1.8 1.8
Change in house
prices, % 3.6 43 4.0
Base scenario  GDP growth, % 2.0 1.8 17 97 60% 98 86 322 506
Unemployment, % 34 34 33
Change in household
consumption, % 23 2.0 1.8
Change in house
prices, % 35 3.8 3.8
Adverse GDP growth, % 13 1.0 13 104 20%
scenario Unemployment, % 37 41 47
Change in household
consumption, % 15 1.6 2.0
Change in house
prices, % 23 0.0 17
Sweden
Favourable GDP growth, % 17 27 2.6 96 20%
scenario Unemployment, % 6.7 6.3 57
Change in household
consumption, % 1.8 2.6 21
Change in house
prices, % 11 2.6 33
Base scenario GDP growth, % 1.4 19 23 97 60% 97 12 171 280
Unemployment, % 6.9 6.7 6.3
Change in household
consumption, % 14 2.0 22
Change in house
prices, % 11 24 29
Adverse GDP growth, % 11 13 17 98 20%
scenario Unemployment, % 6.9 7.0 71
Change in household
consumption, % 1.0 1.6 29
Change in house
prices, % 1.0 1.8 29
Non-Nordic 15 2 235 252
Total 635 249 1,444 2,328
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Loans to the public measured at amortised cost, geographical breakdown?

Gross Allowances
31 Dec 2020, EURm Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Net
Denmark 21,275 1,615 712 72 209 438 22,883
Finland 58,160 6,082 1,317 32 12 449 64,966
Norway 60,279 3,01 838 104 85 338 63,601
Sweden 88,971 2,345 366 46 7 148 91,417
Russia 245 244 1 1 1 0 488
us 1,668 109 3 4 3 1 1,772
Other 11,074 376 742 22 8 300 11,862
Total 241,672 13,782 3,979 281 489 1,674 256,989
Gross? Allowances
31 Dec 2019, EURm Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Net
Denmark 22,243 1,427 804 51 175 488 23,759
Finland 56,852 4,710 1,309 20 66 344 62,441
Norway 57,530 2,769 1142 36 45 527 60,834
Sweden 79,460 1,426 429 16 35 187 81,077
Russia 1,005 1 44 1 0 40 1,009
us 1,835 14 4 2 1 0 1,850
Other 13,190 323 878 25 20 91 14,256
Total 232115 10,670 4,610 150 342 1,677 245,226

1) Based on domicile of the customers.
2) Not restated for accrued interest.
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G2. Risk and Liquidity management, cont.
Loans measured at amortised cost and fair value to the public
31 Dec 2020, EURmM Denmark Finland Norway Sweden' Russia’ Outside Nordic' Total
Financial institutions 2,608 2,063 1,912 8,434 0 724 15,741
Agriculture 5,642 312 1,583 224 0 7,768
Crops, plantations and hunting 3,385 191 93 134 0 3,809
Animal husbandry 2,214 14 107 89 0 2,524
Fishing and aquaculture 43 7 1,383 1 0 1,434
Natural resources 258 1153 894 642 85 230 3,262
Paper and forest products 231 897 158 542 0 77 1,905
Mining and supporting activities 15 155 136 51 0 0 357
Qil, gas and offshore 12 100 600 50 85 153 1,000
Consumer staples 1,762 766 468 624 0 59 3,679
Food processing and beverages 305 319 254 310 0 19 1,206
Household and personal products 183 65 104 19 0 1 371
Healthcare 1274 382 M 295 0 39 2,101
Consumer discretionary and services 2,241 2,198 1132 3,077 0 123 8,771
Consumer durables 155 271 87 620 0 15 1,249
Media and entertainment 557 501 125 614 0 1 1,798
Retail trade 797 958 395 1,098 0 7 3,254
Air transportation 61 50 62 AN 0 0 264
Accomodation and leisure 556 356 100 449 0 0 1,462
Telecommunication services 115 62 362 206 0 0 744
Industrials 8,219 7336 9,519 7,750 693 364 33,881
Materials 230 416 196 329 468 9 1,648
Capital goods 612 1,633 168 794 0 104 3311
Commercial and professional
services 3,672 1,301 3,910 3,067 0 143 12,093
Construction 1,280 1,525 3,677 1191 0 37 7,710
Wholesale trade 1,585 1,236 552 1,454 165 19 5,010
Land transportation 323 895 756 514 61 51 2,601
IT services 516 330 260 402 0 1 1,508
Maritime 298 196 4,806 56 0 1,054 6,411
Ship building 0 50 82 0 0 0 133
Shipping 160 57 4,613 45 0 1,054 5929
Maritime services 138 89 m 1" 0 0 349
Utilities and public service 1,627 2,414 1,324 2,793 0 2 8,160
Utilities distribution 1124 1134 657 556 0 1 3,471
Power production 125 1176 496 104 0 1 1,903
Public services 378 103 17 2133 0 0 2,785
Real estate 10,618 8,012 10,140 17,469 0 377 46,617
Commercial real estate 6,876 4,583 8,524 7,692 0 377 28,053
Tenant-owned associations and
residential real estate companies 3,742 3,429 1,616 9,777 0 0 18,564
Other industries 1,457 247 128 407 0 0 2,240
Total Corporate 34,731 24,697 31,906 41,476 778 2,941 136,528
Housing loans 35,498 31,590 34,015 49,873 0 0 150,975
Collateralised lending 771 5,467 2,495 2,264 0 0 17,936
Non-collateralised lending 992 2,944 419 2,290 0 0 6,645
Household 44,201 40,000 36,929 54,426 0 0 175,556
Public sector 1,100 639 20 3,766 0 0 5,526
Reversed repurchase agreements 0 12,154 0 0 0 0 12154
Loans to the public by country 80,032 77,491 68,855 99,669 778 2,941 329,765
Of which loans at fair value 56,330 12,154 18 4,274 0 0 72,776

1) Loans related to Russia (EUR 687m) and the Baltics (EUR 482m), accounted for in the Swedish Branch, have been moved to Russia and Outside Nordic respectively.
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Loans measured at amortised cost and fair value to the public

31 Dec 2019, EURm Denmark Finland Norway Sweden' Russia’ Outside Nordic' Total
Financial institutions 2,992 2,055 1,996 7510 231 644 15,428
Agriculture 5,809 290 1,250 170 0 7 7527
Crops, plantations and hunting 3,410 171 21 90 0 7 3,698
Animal husbandry 2,358 1 9 79 0 0 2,558
Fishing and aquaculture 41 8 1,220 1 0 0 1,271
Natural resources 731 941 995 708 378 389 4142
Paper and forest products 267 729 91 577 0 69 1,734
Mining and supporting activities 12 138 56 60 202 0 468
Qil, gas and offshore 451 74 848 71 176 320 1,940
Consumer staples 1,714 Zyl 521 662 0 84 3,723
Food processing and beverages 270 271 314 296 0 30 1181
Household and personal products 186 63 102 24 0 2 377
Healthcare 1,259 408 104 342 0 53 2,165
Consumer discretionary and services 2,367 2173 1135 3,183 2 177 9,038
Consumer durables 203 309 95 731 0 159 1,497
Media and entertainment 471 354 97 509 0 0 1,431
Retail trade 929 971 490 1,066 0 18 3,473
Air transportation 63 57 33 AN 0 244
Accomodation and leisure 592 348 73 306 2 1,322
Telecommunication services 109 134 347 481 0 1,072
Industrials 8,293 6,791 7777 7744 750 627 31,982
Materials 266 459 236 378 533 5 1,877
Capital goods 617 1,583 151 648 128 135 3,262
Commercial and professional
services 3,462 1137 3184 3,342 0 274 11,400
Construction 1,312 1173 3,051 976 0 60 6,572
Wholesale trade 1,753 1130 474 1,533 7 52 4,950
Land transportation 392 846 541 427 82 93 2,381
IT services 490 462 141 439 0 7 1,539
Maritime 396 246 4,864 106 0 2113 7726
Ship building 0 16 65 0 0 0 81
Shipping 249 149 4,696 95 0 2,113 7,301
Maritime services 148 82 103 10 0 0 343
Utilities and public service 1,224 1,868 1,036 3,561 84 56 7,829
Utilities distribution 642 638 588 666 0 2 2,536
Power production 139 1124 397 187 84 54 1,984
Public services 443 107 51 2,708 0 0 3,309
Real estate 10,528 8,073 9,053 15,509 3 707 43,873
Commercial real estate 6,893 421 7524 7,018 3 707 26,356
Tenant-owned associations and
residential real estate companies 3,634 3,862 1,529 8,491 0 0 17,517
Other industries 1,165 0 451 94 0 0 1,709
Total Corporate 35,219 23179 29,079 39,248 1,447 4,804 132,976
Housing loans 33,395 29,939 33,499 44,956 0 0 141,789
Collateralised lending 7,838 5,385 2,582 2,419 0 0 18,225
Non-collateralised lending 1,087 3,168 578 2,317 0 0 7151
Household 42,321 38,492 36,659 49,692 0 0 167,164
Public sector 1131 1,331 28 1,572 0 0 4,062
Reversed repurchase agreements 0 18,889 0 0 0 0 18,889
Loans to the public by country 78,671 81,891 65,766 90,512 1,447 4,804 323,091
Of which loans at fair value 54,315 18,889 6 4,303 0 0 77514

1) Loans related to Russia (EUR 946m) and the Baltics (EUR 960m), accounted for in the Swedish Branch, have been moved to Russia and Outside Nordic respectively.
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Notes to the financial statements — Nordea Group 17
G2. Risk and Liquidity management, cont.
Loans to the public measured at amortised cost, broken down by sector and industry
Gross Allowances
31 Dec 2020, EURm Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Net Net loss
Financial institutions 12,622 509 158 18 16 150 13,105 -25
Agriculture 3,054 265 185 1" 17 95 3,381 -13
Crops, plantations and hunting 1,027 112 49 4 7 23 1154 -3
Animal husbandry 631 123 131 3 9 70 803 -4
Fishing and aquaculture 1,396 30 5 4 0 2 1,424 -5
Natural resources 2,673 188 564 5 4 282 3134 -126
Paper and forest products 1,612 132 36 3 4 21 1,752 -15
Mining and supporting activities 330 22 4 0 0 2 353 -1
Qil, gas and offshore 730 34 524 1 0 258 1,028 -1
Consumer staples 2,821 219 27 5 20 15 3,027 -25
Food processing and beverages 1,083 85 7 2 5 4 1164 -5
Household and personal products 165 59 1" 1 2 227 -5
Healthcare 1,572 75 10 2 13 5 1,636 -15
Consumer discretionary and services 6,336 902 236 15 42 144 7273 =77
Consumer durables 973 197 61 1 41 1,180 -26
Media and entertainment 1,409 79 34 2 25 1,492 -13
Retail trade 2,386 367 93 5 23 46 2,771 -21
Air transportation 167 33 14 0 1 9 204 -2
Accomodation and leisure 751 216 32 2 22 969 =20
Telecommunication services 651 9 1 4 0 657 6
Industrials 27,619 3,020 666 65 127 254 30,858 -160
Materials 1,190 384 63 3 7 29 1,599 9
Capital goods 2,795 403 97 5 13 51 3,226 -17
Commercial and professional services 10,031 605 189 26 30 0 10,768 -28
Construction 6138 628 139 16 26 92 6,772 -56
Wholesale trade 4,234 556 85 9 35 43 4,788 -4
Land transportation 2125 338 81 4 1" 31 2,498 -19
IT services 1,106 106 12 3 6 9 1,207 -7
Maritime 5,620 362 555 16 9 226 6,286 -87
Ship building 129 4 7 0 0 7 133 2
Shipping 5254 357 546 15 9 218 5915 -88
Maritime services 237 1 1 0 0 1 238 0
Utilities and public service 5,444 127 32 4 6 16 5,577 -9
Utilities distribution 2,833 60 28 2 1 13 2,906 -2
Power production 1,833 33 1 1 3 0 1,863 -3
Public services 778 34 3 1 3 808 -4
Real estate 36,515 1,570 253 32 33 m 38,161 -81
Other industries 549 90 7 10 1 1 634 55
Corporate 103,253 7,249 2,684 180 274 1,295 111,436 -547
Housing loans 111,086 3,927 561 16 24 57 115,477 =77
Collateralised lending 16,425 1,401 396 55} 70 192 17,905 -107
Non-collateralised lending 5,545 1,077 301 30 120 128 6,645 -178
Household 133,056 6,404 1,258 101 214 377 140,027 -362
Public sector 5,363 129 37 0 0 2 5,526 0
Loans to the public 241,672 13,782 3,979 281 489 1,674 256,989 -908
Loans to credit institutions
and central banks 4,351 58 0 3 1 0 4,405 0
Total 246,023 13,840 3,979 284 490 1,674 261,394 -908

Nordea Annual Report 2020



Notes to the financial statements — Nordea Group 118
G2. Risk and Liquidity management, cont.
Loans to the public measured at amortised cost, broken down by sector and industry
Gross Allowances
31 Dec 2019, EURm Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Net Net loss
Financial institutions 12,668 302 127 9 20 58 13,010 =31
Agriculture 2,562 178 285 4 20 138 2,863 -40
Crops, plantations and hunting 862 85 54 2 10 30 960 -16
Animal husbandry 499 69 193 2 10 108 642 -23
Fishing and aquaculture 1,201 24 37 0 1 0 1,261 0
Natural resources 3,349 124 791 2 3 317 3,942 -126
Paper and forest products 1,428 96 35 1 3 16 1,539 -3
Mining and supporting activities 447 1 10 0 0 3 464 6
Qil, gas and offshore 1,474 17 747 1 0 298 1,939 -129
Consumer staples 2,916 144 33 2 5 13 3,073 3
Food processing and beverages 1,068 60 25 1 2 9 1142 7
Household and personal products 206 29 4 0 1 2 235 —1
Healthcare 1,642 55 4 1 2 2 1,696 -3
Consumer discretionary and services 6,878 526 189 7 29 104 7,453 =37
Consumer durables 1276 135 47 1 6 22 1,429 -13
Media and entertainment 1,074 46 37 1 19 1136 -8
Retail trade 2,677 221 88 4 17 49 2,917 -6
Air transportation 179 2 3 0 0 2 181 0
Accomodation and leisure 742 66 13 1 5 813 -3
Telecommunication services 930 56 1 1 1 7 978 -6
Industrials 26,967 1,815 787 24 70 370 29,105 -67
Materials 1,704 78 17 4 71 1,819 7
Capital goods 2,896 251 110 1 73 3173 -6
Commercial and professional services 9,646 355 273 8 15 86 10,164 -35
Construction 5,294 399 119 5 12 74 5721 -13
Wholesale trade 4,261 429 94 4 20 36 4,725 -4
Land transportation 2,028 210 57 1 4 22 2,268 -8
IT services 1139 93 17 1 7 1,236 -8
Maritime 7,000 175 706 24 22 230 7,605 -62
Ship building 75 5 19 0 0 19 81 3
Shipping 6,702 167 686 24 22 n 7299 -65
Maritime services 222 2 0 0 0 0 225 0
Utilities and public service 4,701 60 34 2 1 16 4775 -7
Utilities distribution 1,909 26 30 0 0 13 1,950 -4
Power production 1,923 15 1 1 0 1 1,936 1
Public services 869 20 4 1 1 2 889 -4
Real estate 34,457 932 224 15 14 81 35,504 =7
Other industries 642 23 7 7 7 0 659 -8
Corporate 102,140 4,280 3183 95 191 1,327 107,991 =377
Housing loans 103,768 4,047 630 10 13 29 108,393 29
Collateralised lending 16,569 1,221 444 26 48 186 17,973 —-48
Non-collateralised lending 5,952 1,095 354 19 89 134 7159 -138
Household 126,289 6,363 1,427 55 149 350 133,525 -157
Public sector 4,038 27 0 0 2 0 4,062 -1
Loans to the public 232,467 10,670 4,610 150 342 1,677 245,577 -536
Loans to credit institutions
and central banks 11,551 79 0 3 1 10 11,616 0
Total 244,108 10,749 4,610 153 343 1,687 257,193 -536
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G2. Risk and Liquidity management, cont.
Impaired loans (stage 3) by country and industry (including loans at fair value)
31 Dec 2020, EURm Denmark Finland Norway Sweden Russia  Outside Nordic Total
Financial institutions 116 32 1 12 0 0 161
Agriculture 421 21 5 2 0 0 448
Crops, plantations and hunting 14 4 1 0 0 0 119
Animal husbandry 307 14 3 2 0 0 325
Fishing and aquaculture 0 3 1 0 0 0 5
Natural resources 20 21 256 0 0 271 569
Paper and forest products 20 18 2 0 0 0 4
Mining and supporting activities 3 1 0 0 0 4
Qil, gas and offshore 0 253 0 0 271 524
Consumer staples 1 10 12 2 0 0 35
Food processing and beverages 1 4 2 1 0 0 7
Household and personal products 2 7 0 0 0 14
Healthcare 4 3 1 0 0 14
Consumer discretionary and services 66 103 23 57 0 0 250
Consumer durables 33 5 0 23 0 0 62
Media and entertainment 3 22 9 0 0 36
Retail trade 23 47 " 21 0 0 101
Air transportation 1 1 2 0 0 14
Accomodation and leisure 18 2 0 0 35
Telecommunication services 0 0 1 0 0 1
Industrials 231 252 125 18 0 0 726
Materials 10 59 1 1 0 0 70
Capital goods 35 51 1 13 0 0 100
Commercial and professional
services 68 28 34 81 0 0 n
Construction 55 62 28 12 0 0 156
Wholesale trade 42 25 14 8 0 0 89
Land transportation 12 22 a7 2 0 0 83
IT services 10 5 0 1 0 0 16
Maritime 36 9 37 0 0 153 569
Ship building 0 7 0 0 0 0 7
Shipping 36 1 357 0 0 152 546
Maritime services 0 1 14 0 0 0 15
Utilities and public service 3 2 27 2 0 0 35
Utilities distribution 0 1 27 0 0 0 28
Power production 0 0 1 0 0 1
Public services 3 1 2 0 0 6
Real estate 217 149 58 3 0 0 426
Other industries 1 0 5 0 0 0 7
Corporate by industry 1121 600 883 196 0 424 3,225
Housing loans 479 393 116 52 0 0 1,041
Collateralised lending 174 155 61 6 0 0 396
Non-collateralised lending 48 182 15 55 0 0 301
Household 701 731 192 114 0 0 1,737
Public sector 37 0 0 0 0 0 37
Total impaired loans 1,859 1,331 1,075 310 0 424 4,999
of which fair value 1,007 0 14 0 0 0 1,020
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G2. Risk and Liquidity management, cont.
Impaired loans (stage 3) by country and industry (including loans at fair value)
31 Dec 2019, EURm Denmark Finland Norway Sweden Russia  Outside Nordic Total
Financial institutions 92 16 14 14 0 0 136
Agriculture 524 15 38 1 0 0 578
Crops, plantations and hunting 131 2 0 0 0 0 133
Animal husbandry 393 13 1 1 0 0 407
Fishing and aquaculture 0 0 37 0 0 0 37
Natural resources 23 21 313 80 0 360 797
Paper and forest products 23 17 1 0 0 4
Mining and supporting activities 0 4 5 0 0 10
Qil, gas and offshore 0 0 307 79 0 360 747
Consumer staples 5 20 5 0 0 35
Food processing and beverages 0 16 4 0 0 25
Household and personal products 3 2 0 0 0 5
Healthcare 3 2 0 0 0 5
Consumer discretionary and services 85 67 9 33 0 0 194
Consumer durables 37 6 0 0 0 47
Media and entertainment 1 27 1 0 0 37
Retail trade 44 25 6 19 0 0 94
Air transportation 0 0 2 0 0 3
Accomodation and leisure 8 2 0 0 0 13
Telecommunication services 0 0 1 0 0 1
Industrials 141 282 143 155 0 82 803
Materials 9 67 6 42 0 0 123
Capital goods 22 74 1 15 0 112
Commercial and professional
services 31 23 62 79 0 80 275
Construction 24 66 23 10 0 123
Wholesale trade 45 28 18 5 0 95
Land transportation 19 33 1 0 57
IT services 6 6 0 3 0 17
Maritime 49 6 406 0 0 245 706
Ship building 0 6 13 0 0 0 19
Shipping 49 0 392 0 0 244 686
Maritime services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Utilities and public service 2 2 28 2 0 0 35
Utilities distribution 0 1 28 0 0 0 30
Power production 0 0 0 0 0 1
Public services 1 1 2 0 0 4
Real estate 146 103 58 2 0 0 310
Other industries 3 0 4 0 0 0 7
Corporate by industry 1,071 532 1,019 291 0 688 3,601
Housing loans 304 440 134 56 0 0 934
Collateralised lending 188 182 67 7 0 0 444
Non-collateralised lending 49 178 Al 56 0 0 354
Household 541 799 272 119 0 0 1,731
Public sector 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total impaired loans 1,612 1,331 1,291 410 0 688 5,332
of which fair value 713 0 9 0 0 0 722
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G2. Risk and Liquidity management, cont.

Loans to the public measured at amortised cost

Loans
Net Impaired mesured
loan Loan loss loans Impairment Allowances Allowances Allowances Allowances Coverage at amor-
31 Dec 2020, EURm losses' ratio, bps  (stage 3) ratio, bps total (stage 1) (stage 2) (stage 3) ratio, % tised cost
Financial institutions 24 19 158 119 185 18 16 150 95 13,105
Agriculture 13 38 185 528 122 1" 17 95 51 3,381
Crops, plantations and
hunting 3 26 49 413 34 4 7 23 46 1154
Animal husbandry 4 53 131 1,485 82 3 9 70 54 803
Fishing and aquaculture 5 38 5 32 7 4 0 2 41 1,424
Natural resources 126 404 564 1,647 291 5 4 282 50 3134
Paper and forest products 15 86 36 201 28 3 4 21 60 1,752
Mining and supporting
activities 1 20 4 110 3 0 0 2 62 353
Oil, gas and offshore m 1,076 524 4,071 260 1 0 258 49 1,028
Consumer staples 25 82 27 89 40 5 20 15 55 3,027
Food processing and
beverages 5 43 7 59 1 2 5 4 64 1164
Household and personal
products 5 203 1 464 8 1 2 5 49 227
Healthcare 15 93 10 58 21 2 13 5 56 1,636
Consumer discretionary and
services 77 105 236 315 201 15 42 144 61 7273
Consumer durables 26 217 61 497 51 1 9 4 67 1180
Media and entertainment 13 90 34 226 31 2 25 73 1,492
Retail trade 21 77 93 326 75 5 23 46 50 2,771
Air transportation 2 81 14 668 10 0 1 9 60 204
Accomodation and leisure 20 208 32 317 29 2 5 22 70 969
Telecommunication services -6 -85 1 20 5 4 0 0 34 657
Industrials 160 52 666 213 446 65 127 254 38 30,858
Materials -9 =57 63 385 38 3 7 29 45 1,599
Capital goods 17 52 97 293 69 5 13 51 53 3,226
Commercial and professional
services 28 26 189 175 56 26 30 0 0 10,768
Construction 56 83 139 201 133 16 26 92 66 6,772
Wholesale trade Yl 86 85 174 86 9 35 43 50 4,788
Land transportation 19 77 81 319 46 4 1 31 38 2,498
IT services 7 59 12 102 18 3 6 9 73 1,207
Maritime 87 138 555 849 251 16 9 226 M 6,286
Ship building -2 =121 7 532 7 0 0 7 93 133
Shipping 88 149 546 887 242 15 9 218 40 5915
Maritime services 0 8 1 56 1 0 0 1 46 238
Utilities and public service 9 16 32 58 26 4 6 16 50 5,577
Utilities distribution 2 8 28 97 15 2 1 13 45 2,906
Power production 3 15 1 4 4 1 3 0 40 1,863
Public services 4 46 3 39 7 1 2 3 101 808
Real estate 81 21 253 66 177 32 33 m 44 38,161
Other industries =55 -872 7 103 12 10 1 1 21 634
Total Corporate 546 49 2,684 237 1,750 180 274 1,295 48 111,436
Housing loans 77 7 561 49 97 16 24 57 10 115,477
Collateralised lending 107 60 396 218 317 55 70 192 48 17,905
Non-collateralised lending 178 268 301 434 278 30 120 128 43 6,645
Household 362 26 1,258 89 692 101 214 377 30 140,027
Public sector 0 0 37 67 2 0 0 2 6 5,526
Loans to the public 908 35 3,979 153 2,444 281 489 1,674 42 256,989

1) Including provisions for off-balance sheet exposures.
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G2. Risk and Liquidity management, cont.
Loans to the public measured at amortised cost
Loans
Net Impaired mesured
loan Loan loss loans Impairment Allowances Allowances Allowances Allowances Coverage at amor-
31Dec 2019, EURmM losses' ratio, bps  (stage 3) ratio, bps total (stage 1) (stage 2) (stage 3) ratio, % tised cost
Financial institutions 31 24 127 97 87 9 20 58 46 13,010
Agriculture 40 138 285 941 161 4 20 138 48 2,863
Crops, plantations and
hunting 16 17 54 544 4 2 10 30 54 960
Animal husbandry 23 359 193 2,536 119 2 10 108 56 642
Fishing and aquaculture 0 1 37 295 1 0 1 0 1 1,261
Natural resources 126 319 791 1,856 323 2 3 317 40 3,942
Paper and forest products 3 21 35 223 20 1 3 16 47 1,539
Mining and supporting
activities -6 =131 10 203 4 0 3 34 464
Oil, gas and o